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Company Overview

Magna, the most diversifed global 
automotive supplier, designs, develops and 
manufactures technologically advanced 
automotive systems, assemblies, modules 
and components, and engineers and 
assembles complete vehicles, primarily for 
sale to original equipment manufacturers of 
cars and light trucks.

Our capabilities include:

n interior systems
n seating systems
n closure systems
n body & chassis systems
n vision systems
n electronic systems
n exterior systems
n powertrain systems
n roof systems
n vehicle engineering

& contract assembly
n hybrid & electric vehicles/systems

Magna has more than 96,000 employees in
256 manufacturing operations and 82 product
development, engineering and sales centres in
26 countries.

The all-new Ford Focus Electric, jointly developed by Ford and Magna.
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Magna's capabilities include: 

Exteriors & Interiors 
Exterior Systems 
Magna Exteriors & Interiors 
n Front & Rear Fascia Systems 
n Sealing Systems 
n Exterior Trim & Lighting 
n Class A Composite Panels 
n Modular Systems 
n Engineered Glass 
n Structural Components 
n Under Hood & Underbody Components 
n Sheet Molding Compound Material 

Interior Systems 
Magna Exteriors & Interiors 
n Sidewall & Trim Systems 
n Cockpit Systems 
n Cargo Management Systems 
n Overhead Systems 
n Carpet & Loadspace Systems 

Seating Systems 
Magna Seating 
n Complete Seating Solutions 
n Seat Structures & Mechanism Solutions 
n Foam & Trim Solutions 

Closure Systems 
Magna Closures 
n Door Modules 
n Window Systems 
n Power Closure Systems 
n Latching Systems 
n Handle Assemblies 
n Driver Controls 
n Electronics 

Vision Systems 
Magna Mirrors 
n Interior Mirrors 
n Exterior Mirrors 
n Actuators 
n Electronic Vision Systems 
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Vehicles & Roof Systems 

Vehicle Engineering 
& Contract Assembly 
Magna Steyr 
n Engineering Services 
n Contract Manufacturing 
n Fuel Systems 

Body & Chassis 
Systems 

Roof Systems 
Magna Steyr 
n Soft Tops 
n Retractable Hard Tops 
n Modular Roofs 
n Textile Folding Roofs 

Body & Chassis Systems 
Cosma International 
n Body Systems 
n Chassis Systems 
n Technology, Engineering 

& Tooling Systems 
n Renewable Energy Structures 

E-Car Systems 

Hybrid & Electric Vehicles/Systems 
Magna E-Car Systems* 
n Hybrid & Electric Vehicle 

Systems & Subsystems 
n Hybrid & Electric Vehicle 

Modules & Components 
n Services 
* Our partnership with the Stronach group 

Powertrain & Electronic Systems 

Powertrain Systems 
Magna Powertrain 
n Driveline & Chassis 

Controls 
n Fluid Pressure & Controls 
n Stampings 
n Die Castings 
n Engineering Services 

& System Integration 

Electronic Systems 
Magna Electronics 
n Driver Assistance & Safety 
n Intelligent Power Systems 
n Engine Electronics & Sensors 
n Industrial Products 
n Body Systems & HMI 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Operating Principles 

Magna's entrepreneurial corporate culture, highlighted in the principles 
shown below, is one of the main reasons for Magna's success and our greatest 
competitive advantage. 

Decentralized Operating Structure 
Magna's manufacturing divisions operate as independent proft centres aligned 
by geographic region in each of our product areas. This decentralized structure 
prevents bureaucracy and makes Magna more responsive to customer needs and 
changes within the global automotive industry, as well as within specifc regions. 

Employee Involvement 
By keeping operating units relatively small and fexible, Magna fosters greater 
employee involvement and initiative. This environment also allows Magna to 
recognize and reward individuals' contributions and maintain open communication. 

Entrepreneurial Managers 
Entrepreneurial, hands-on managers with strong tooling, engineering and 
manufacturing backgrounds run Magna's divisions. Division managers are 
responsible for ensuring proftability, achieving customer satisfaction and 
upholding the principles of the Magna Employee's Charter. 

Employee Proft Sharing and Ownership 
Through the Equity Participation and Proft Sharing Program, eligible employees 
receive ten percent of Magna's qualifying annual profts before tax. As part-owners 
working in an environment where productivity is rewarded, Magna employees are 
motivated to produce quality products at competitive prices. 

Global Operations 
(As of December 2010) 

Total Number 
of Employees 
(As of December 2010) 

North America: Canada 

United States 

Mexico 

44 11 

49 14 

29 1 

South America: Brazil 

Argentina 

5 2 

4 1 

Africa: South Africa 2 

Europe: Austria 

Belgium 

Czech Republic 

England 

France 

Germany 

Hungary 

Ireland 

Italy 

Poland 

Russia 

Slovak Republic 

Spain 

Sweden 

Turkey 

5 

5 1 

4 2 

8 1 

8 2 

16 8 

2 

3 2 

36 17 

1 

3 

3 

1 

1 

1 1 

Asia Pacifc: China 

India 

Japan 

Korea 

Thailand 

15 7 

5 4 

4 2 

2 

1 

4 

1 

Manufacturing Operations: 256 

Product Development, Engineering and Sales Centres: 82 

Asia Pacific – 
6,575 

North America – 
50,875 

Europe – 
36,150 

South America – 
2,900 

South Africa – 
100 



Frank Stronach 
Chairman of the Board 

The Chairman's Message 

Last year marked a major turning point for Magna and for me. After many decades as the 
founder and controlling shareholder of Magna International, I accepted – and Magna's 
Class A shareholders approved – a proposal that saw the Stronach Trust, Magna's controlling 
shareholder since 1978, relinquish voting control of Magna. 

I have invested many years of hard work and energy into Magna, and my number one 
priority has always been the growth and success of the Company. Today, Magna is bigger 
in size, stronger and healthier than it has ever been. The Company's proven operating 
principles and unique culture are deeply rooted and the day-to-day management of the 
firm is in good hands. It is therefore the right time for me to step down as Chairman, 
a position I have held for nearly 40 years. I will continue to be involved in an advisory 
capacity with the Company, including with respect to the long-term strategic direction of 
Magna, as well as in the management and operation of Magna E-Car Systems. 

One of the factors influencing the decision to give up voting control of Magna was the 
increasingly restrictive rules governing the management of companies. I believe regulators 
have put in place excessive rules that stifle the market's creative forces – namely, 
the innovative managers, entrepreneurs and inventors who are the engines of new 
wealth creation. We need to loosen the regulatory straightjacket and create a simpler, 
more clear-cut regulatory framework that allows business more room to innovate and expand. 

Over the years, one of the achievements I am proud of is the strong management team 
that I cultivated. The key members of Magna's executive management are seasoned, 
widely respected within the automotive industry, and committed to the principles that 
have made Magna a great company. I am confident this team will continue to manage 
the Company for the benefit of all stakeholders. 

I firmly believe that Magna will continue to do well provided that the Company adheres 
to the operating principles and unique corporate culture that are the foundation of our 
success. Furthermore, it is my opinion that the Company must continue to exercise caution 
in regard to taking on debt. As for who should own Magna in the years ahead, I hope that 
Magna will always have a significant Canadian shareholder base that includes institutions 
with a stake in Canada. Furthermore, I believe Magna should remain a public company. 
A public company structure is the best way for employees to have equity participation – 
the main reason why I merged my privately-held auto parts firm with publicly-traded 
Magna Electronics more than 40 years ago. Via stock ownership, employees not only 
share in the profits, but also own a portion of the company they work for – one of the 
cornerstones of Magna's Fair Enterprise culture. 

Magna International Inc. 2010 Annual Report 
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Going forward, much of my time and energy will be focused on growing Magna E-Car Systems, a partnership between 
Magna and the Stronach group. Working together with Ford Motor Co., we will launch the all-new Ford Focus Electric 
within the next 12 months, one of the world's first all-electric vehicles. Magna E-Car Systems initiated the prototype 
for the vehicle and has been closely collaborating with Ford ever since in preparing the vehicle for commercial production. 
Magna E-Car Systems recently opened a hybrid and electric vehicle system development centre and state-of-the-art 
battery/materials testing facility that will focus on new electric vehicle designs, advanced battery systems – the "heart" 
of the electric vehicle – as well as hybrid and electric vehicle components and complete hybrid and electric vehicle 
systems. This will allow Magna E-Car Systems to provide total electric vehicle capability and remain at the forefront 
of the industry. 

In closing, I wish to thank executive management for steering the Company through a very turbulent period. They made 
a lot of difficult decisions and took decisive action when needed, with the result that Magna is well positioned to 
rebound strongly now that the automotive industry is recovering. In addition, I would like to thank our employees, 
who doubled their efforts during the past few years to help the Company make it through the most severe downturn 
our industry has ever experienced. On behalf of management, I also wish to thank Belinda Stronach, who served 
Magna with great dedication and distinction during a career that spanned three decades, both as a member of the 
Board of Directors, and as a senior executive, guiding Magna through some of the best years in its history. And I wish 
to thank Siegfried Wolf for his enormous contributions over the years. Sigi was instrumental in building Magna Europe 
into one of the pillars of our Company. He expanded our customer base and manufacturing capability in one of the 
world's most important automotive markets. On behalf of our Board, I also wish to acknowledge the valuable 
contributions of Franz Vranitzky, one of Magna's longest-serving independent Directors, who will step down this year. 
Lastly, I wish to thank shareholders for their continued support through some trying times. 

The Stronach story at Magna is far from finished. I am starting from the beginning all over again, returning to my 
roots as an entrepreneur, and I look forward to growing Magna E-Car Systems into a company that will play a leading 
role in shaping and building the cars of the future. 

/s/ Frank Stronach 

Frank Stronach 
Chairman of the Board 
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The Magna Corporate Constitution 

Employee Equity and Profit Participation 

Ten percent of Magna’s qualifying profit before tax will be allocated to eligible employees. 
These funds will be used for the purchase of Magna shares in trust for eligible employees 

and for cash distributions to eligible employees, recognizing length of service. 

Shareholder Profit Participation 

Magna will distribute, on average over a three-year period, 
not less than 20 percent of its annual net profit after tax to shareholders. 

Management Profit Participation 

To obtain long-term contractual commitment, Magna provides a compensation arrangement 
to corporate management which allows for base salaries comparable to industry standards, 

plus incentive bonuses, in total, of up to six percent of its profit before tax. 

Research and Development 

Magna will allocate a minimum of seven percent of its profit before tax for research and development 
to ensure its long-term viability. 

Social Responsibility 

Magna will allocate a maximum of two percent of its profit before tax for charitable, cultural, 
educational and political purposes to support the basic fabric of society. 

Unrelated Investments 

Magna Common shareholders will have the right to approve any investment 
in an unrelated business in the event such investment together with all other investments 

in unrelated businesses exceeds 20 percent of Magna’s equity. 

Board of Directors 

Magna believes that outside directors provide independent counsel and discipline. 
A majority of the members of Magna’s Board of Directors will be outsiders. 

Constitutional Amendments 

A change to Magna’s Corporate Constitution will require the approval 
of its Common shareholders. 

Magna's Corporate Constitution publicly declares and defines the rights of employees and investors to participate in our profits 
and growth while also imposing certain disciplines on management. These features strike a balance between employees, 
investors and management while allowing us to maintain an entrepreneurial environment that encourages productivity. 

The simplified summary of Magna's Corporate Constitution (above) is qualified by the actual text of the Corporate Constitution as contained in Magna's 
Articles of Incorporation. 

Magna International Inc. 2010 Annual Report 
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The Magna Employee’s Charter 
Magna is committed to an operating philosophy which is based on fairness and concern for people. 

This philosophy is part of Magna’s Fair Enterprise culture in which employees and management share 
in the responsibility to ensure the success of the company. It includes these principles: 

Job Security 

Being competitive by making a better product for a better price is the best way to enhance job security. 
Magna is committed to working together with you to help protect your job security. 

To assist you, Magna will provide: 
• Job Counselling • Training • Employee Assistance Programs 

A Safe and Healthful Workplace 

Magna strives to provide you with a working environment which is safe and healthful. 

Fair Treatment 

Magna offers equal opportunities based on an individual’s qualifications and performance, 
free from discrimination or favouritism. 

Competitive Wages and Benefits 

Magna will provide you with information which will enable you to compare your total compensation, 
including total wages and total benefits, with those earned by employees of your competitors, 

as well as with other plants in your community. If your total compensation is found not to be competitive, 
then your wages will be adjusted. 

Employee Equity and Profit Participation 

Magna believes that every employee should share in the financial success of the company. 

Communication and Information 

Through regular monthly meetings between management and employees and through publications, 
Magna will provide you with information so that you will know what is going on in your company 

and within the industry. 

The Hotline 

Should you have a problem, or feel the above principles are not being met, we encourage you to call 
the Hotline or use the self-addressed Hotline Envelopes to register your complaints. You do not have 
to give your name, but if you do, it will be held in strict confidence. Hotline Investigators will answer 

your call. The Hotline is committed to investigate and resolve all concerns or complaints 
and must report the outcome to Magna’s Global Human Resources Department. 

Employee Relations Advisory Board 

The Employee Relations Advisory Board is a group of people who have proven recognition and credibility 
relating to humanitarian and social issues.This Board will monitor, advise and ensure that Magna operates 

within the spirit of the Magna Employee’s Charter and the principles of Magna’s Corporate Constitution. 
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Donald J. Walker 
Chief Executive Officer 

Vincent J. Galifi 
Executive Vice-President 
and Chief Financial Officer 

Management's Message to Shareholders 

Magna entered 2011 riding a wave of momentum that started in 2010 and has continued 
to build as the global automotive industry experiences a solid recovery in vehicle production 
and sales. Despite recent world events, we are confident that 2011 will be another strong 
year for our industry. 

The past year also saw a landmark change in regard to our capital structure, with shareholders 
voting to eliminate the dual-class share capital structure that had been in place since the 
late 1970s. We believe that the move to a single share structure has already unlocked 
significant share value for Magna shareholders and will continue to do so going forward. 

Also in 2010, as a result of our continuing strong operating and cash flow performance, 
our Board of Directors reinstated our quarterly dividend and subsequently increased the 
dividend three times since its reinstatement. In late 2010, we completed a two-for-one 
stock split, which was implemented by way of a stock dividend. We also initiated a normal 
course issuer bid to purchase up to 8 million of our issued and outstanding Common Shares 
(adjusted for the stock split), in place primarily to offset the dilution related to the exercise 
of stock options. 

Since the elimination of our dual-class share structure, we have also implemented a 
number of significant corporate governance initiatives, including the adoption of a majority 
voting policy beginning in 2012 and reconstitution of the Nominating Committee of our 
Board so that it is now comprised entirely of independent directors. Through the assistance 
of an internationally recognized firm, we have also identified two additional independent 
directors who are being nominated for election. 

We believe the change in our capital structure and the corporate governance initiatives 
we have enacted establish a strong foundation for the Company's long-term success. 

Operating Highlights 

Our 2010 sales rose sharply – largely due to increases in North American and European 
vehicle production volumes. Magna sales in 2010 were $24.1 billion, an increase of 39% 
compared to the previous year. Our Rest of World production sales surpassed the $1 billion 
level for the first time and continued to experience robust growth, up 53% compared to 
the year before. Magna's average dollar content per vehicle also continued to climb in 
both North America, where it rose 13% over the prior year, and in Europe, where it grew 
by 8% from 2009 levels. 

We are in a strong financial position, with net cash of $2 billion and little debt. With a new 
capital structure and a new global management structure in place, we believe we are 
now well-positioned to capitalize on business opportunities that arise in the year ahead. 

The following are some of the major operating highlights in 2010, including a number of 
acquisitions and investments in new facilities that expand Magna's manufacturing footprint 
in several key emerging markets: 

• We significantly expanded our presence in South America through acquisitions 
and greenfield operations. Two of our operating units – Cosma International and 
Magna Seating – announced plans to build manufacturing facilities in the São Paulo 
area to meet new customer requirements. We also acquired Brazilian automotive 
seating supplier Resil Minas, the largest supplier of seat frames in South America. 
The new entity will operate under the name Magna Seating Brazil with four 
manufacturing facilities. The Resil Minas acquisition was followed by the acquisition 
of Pabsa S.A., a vertically integrated supplier of complete seats, foam products, 
trim covers and seat structures based in Argentina. The new entity will operate as 
Magna Seating Argentina and includes three production facilities. These acquisitions 
position Magna as a leading supplier of automotive seating solutions in South 
America. 
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• We acquired convertible system supplier Karmann Japan Co. Ltd. and combined the operation with Magna 
Steyr's Car Top Systems operations in Japan. 

• We announced the opening of three new facilities near St. Petersburg, Russia. Two of the new facilities operate 
as a joint venture between Cosma International and a Korean-based supplier, and will produce body, chassis 
and energy-management systems for OEM customers such as Hyundai, General Motors, Nissan and 
Volkswagen. The third facility produces exterior and interior components for OEM customers including Ford 
and Nissan. 

• We were awarded significant new business. We received a contract from General Motors to supply the 
frame assembly for GM's next generation of full-size pickups and SUVs – the third generation of frames that 
Magna has been awarded by GM for this particular platform. In addition, four of our operating units were 
awarded major new business from Volkswagen Group of America. Magna is supplying a wide variety of 
components and systems on Volkswagen's new Passat, which is assembled in Chattanooga, Tennessee. 

• We launched the new Dynamax™ All-Wheel-Drive (AWD) system through a joint venture with a Korean-based 
supplier. The AWD system features an intelligent control unit that continuously monitors driving conditions 
and anticipates AWD system requirements. The new Kia Sportage is the first of several vehicles planned to 
feature the Dynamax™ AWD system. 

• Our operating units and manufacturing divisions won a number of major customer awards. Cosma International, 
our body and chassis systems unit, received the General Motors 2009 Supplier of the Year award for significant 
contributions to GM's global product and performance achievements. This was the 11th time Cosma has 
won the award. Three Magna divisions won Ford's World Excellence Awards, the company's highest supplier 
recognition. Our divisions also received supplier performance awards from American Honda Motor Co., 
Toyota Motor Engineering & Manufacturing North America, Inc. and Toyota Motor Europe, as well as an 
Excellent Technology Award from Toyota. 

• Magna Seating received an Innovation Award in the environmental category from the Society of Plastics 
Engineers (SPE) Automotive Division for a new technology that converts polyurethane foam scrap into 
renewed polyol. This groundbreaking innovation has its first commercial automotive application in the seats 
of the 2011 Jeep® Grand Cherokee. 

Going Forward 

Given the solid recovery of global vehicle sales and production during the past several quarters, we are confident that 
Magna will post strong results again in 2011. We remain focused on continuing to implement our global growth strategy, 
which includes further expansion in high-growth and developing markets, primarily in China, South America, Russia 
and India, in order to be well positioned to support our customers' global platforms and to capitalize on significant 
vehicle production growth in these markets. We will also continue to diversify our customer base and invest in product, 
process and material innovations to fuel new business. 

We also remain focused on increasing our profitability in Europe, through a combination of launching new programs 
and facilities, improving certain underperforming operations and increasing the competitiveness of our manufacturing 
footprint in Europe. 

In addition, we will continue to grow our business in non-traditional areas by leveraging our manufacturing capacity 
and know-how to service customers in other industries, including heavy truck, consumer durables and alternative energy. 

In closing, we wish to thank our stakeholders and customers for their ongoing support during a milestone year for 
Magna. We believe Magna is on the road to becoming one of the world's foremost automotive parts suppliers. 
We have all of the right ingredients, including an entrepreneurial corporate culture, a strong balance sheet, a solid 
global footprint and the most diverse capabilities of any supplier in the world. As we continue to grow globally, 
we will continue to implement the principles contained in our Corporate Constitution and our Employee's Charter. 
Our ability to attract and develop the best people, the result of our entrepreneurial culture, is what makes Magna 
strong. Our focus on innovation, together with best-in-class manufacturing and program management, ensures that 
we will remain a globally competitive, world-class partner for our customers. 

/s/ Donald J. Walker /s/ Vincent J. Galifi 

Donald J. Walker Vincent J. Galifi 
Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice-President 

and Chief Financial Officer 
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MAGNA INTERNATIONAL INC. 
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and 
Financial Position 

All amounts in this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position ("MD&A") are in U.S. 
dollars and all tabular amounts are in millions of U.S. dollars, except per share figures and average dollar content per vehicle, which 
are in U.S. dollars, unless otherwise noted. When we use the terms "we", "us", "our" or "Magna", we are referring to Magna 
International Inc. and its subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities, unless the context otherwise requires. 

This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 
which are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") as well as the "Forward-Looking 
Statements" on page 39. 

This MD&A has been prepared as at March 16, 2011. 

OVERVIEW 

We are the most diversified global automotive supplier. We design, develop and manufacture technologically advanced automotive 
systems, assemblies, modules and components, and engineer and assemble complete vehicles, primarily for sale to original 
equipment manufacturers ("OEMs") of cars and light trucks. Our capabilities include the design, engineering, testing and manufacture 
of automotive interior systems; seating systems; closure systems; body and chassis systems; vision systems; electronic systems; 
exterior systems; powertrain systems; roof systems; hybrid and electric vehicles/systems; as well as complete vehicle engineering 
and assembly. We follow a corporate policy of functional and operational decentralization, pursuant to which we conduct our 
operations through divisions, each of which is an autonomous business unit operating within pre-determined guidelines. As at 
December 31, 2010, we had 256 manufacturing operations and 82 product development, engineering and sales centres in 26 
countries. 

HIGHLIGHTS 

Operations 

2010 was a year of significant change for both the automotive industry and Magna. North American light vehicle production increased 
39% in 2010, compared to the historically low level of production experienced in 2009. The key reason for this increase in North 
American light vehicle production was the improvement in North American auto sales. 

In Western Europe, light vehicle production increased 12% in 2010, compared to 2009. The increased production in 2010 reflected 
relatively strong vehicle sales in certain European countries, as well as increased exports of European-built vehicles into other markets 
during 2010, particularly China. 

Our 2010 total sales increased 39% over 2009, with North American, European and Rest of World production sales, as well as 
complete vehicle assembly sales, and tooling and other sales all posting increases over 2009. Rest of World production sales exceeded 
the $1 billion mark for the first time, increasing 53% in 2010 to $1.031 billion, compared to $676 million in 2009. Operating income 
for 2010 increased $1.7 billion to $1.2 billion, compared to an operating loss of $511 million for 2009. Diluted earnings per share for 
2010 increased $6.39 to $4.18, compared to a diluted loss per share of $2.21 for 2009. Cash flow from operations for 2010 increased 
$1.3 billion to $1.87 billion, compared to $527 million for 2009. 

Our 2010 financial results reflect, among other things: 

• the improved level of light vehicle production in North America and Western Europe; 
• the benefits of our efforts over the last few years to restructure, right-size and otherwise reduce costs across the organization; 

and 
• the benefit of our efforts to improve underperforming operations around the world. 

Plan of Arrangement 

On August 31, 2010, following approval by our Class A Subordinate Voting and Class B Shareholders, we completed a court-approved 
plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement") in which our dual-class share structure was collapsed. In addition, the transaction: (i) set a 
termination date and declining fee schedule for the consulting, business development and business services contracts Magna has 
in place with our Chairman, Frank Stronach, and his affiliated entities; and (ii) established a partnership with the Stronach group to 
pursue opportunities in the vehicle electrification business. 
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[a] Capital Transaction 

We purchased for cancellation all 1,453,658 outstanding Class B Shares (restated to reflect the stock split discussed below), 
which were held indirectly by the Stronach group, for $300 million in cash and 18.0 million newly issued Class A Subordinate 
Voting Shares (restated to reflect the stock split discussed below). The newly issued shares held indirectly by the Stronach group 
represented an equal equity ownership and voting interest of 7.4% as of August 31, 2010. 

In addition, Magna's Articles were amended to remove the Class B Shares from the authorized capital and to make non-
substantive consequential changes, including renaming the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares as Common Shares and 
eliminating provisions which no longer apply due to the elimination of the Class B Shares. 

[b] Vehicle Electrification Partnership 

The partnership, Magna E-Car Systems ("E-Car"), involves the engineering, development and integration of electric vehicles of 
any type, the development, testing and manufacturing of batteries and battery packs for hybrid and electric vehicles and all 
ancillary activities in connection with electric vehicle technologies. Our original investment in the partnership included the assets 
of our recently established E-Car Systems vehicle electrification and battery business unit, certain other vehicle electrification 
assets, and $145 million in cash. On August 31, 2010, the Stronach group invested $80 million in cash for a 27% equity interest 
in the partnership, reducing our equity interest to 73%. The partnership is controlled by the Stronach group. 

Stock Split 

On November 24, 2010, we completed a two-for-one stock split, which was implemented by way of a stock dividend. In connection 
with the stock split, all equity-based compensation plans or arrangements were adjusted to reflect the issuance of additional Common 
Shares. 

Accordingly, all of our issued and outstanding Common Shares and our former Class A Subordinate Voting and Class B shares, 
including the shares issued in connection with the Arrangement, as well as incentive stock options, and stock appreciation rights 
("SARs") have been restated for all periods presented to reflect the stock split. In addition, earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class 
B Share, cash dividends paid per Common Share or Class B Share, weighted average exercise price for stock options and the weighted 
average fair value of options granted or modified have been restated for all periods presented to reflect the stock split. 

Dividends 

Due to continuing strong operating and cash flow performance, on February 23, 2011 our Board declared a dividend of U.S. $0.25 
per share in respect of the fourth quarter of 2010, representing an increase of 39% over the third quarter of 2010 dividend and the 
third consecutive dividend increase since the reintroduction of the dividend in the first quarter of 2010. 

Normal Course Issuer Bid 

On November 4, 2010, our Board of Directors approved a normal course issuer bid to purchase up to 8.0 million of our issued and 
outstanding Common Shares (adjusted to reflect the stock split), representing approximately 3.3% of our outstanding Common 
Shares. The primary purposes of the normal course issuer bid are purchases for cancellation to offset potential dilution resulting from 
the exercise of stock options and/or to fund our restricted stock unit program and our obligations to our deferred profit sharing plans. 
The normal course issuer bid will terminate in November 2011. 

Governance 

Since the elimination of our dual-class share structure effective August 31, 2010, we have implemented a number of significant 
corporate governance initiatives, including the: 

• adoption of a majority voting policy; 
• reconstitution of the Nominating Committee of our Board of Directors as a fully independent Committee; and 
• initiation of a search for additional independent directors with the assistance of an internationally recognized firm. 

Acquisitions 

Consistent with our strategy to expand in new regions, in December 2010, we acquired seating companies in Brazil and Argentina. 
Combined 2010 sales in the two seating companies amounted to $260 million. Also during December 2010, we acquired Erhard & 
Söhne GmbH, a manufacturer of fuel tanks. 
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Going Forward 

Following a strong rebound in 2010, we expect global light vehicle production to grow further in 2011, provided that overall economic 
conditions continue to improve. In North America, light vehicle production should experience strong growth in 2011, although 
production remains well off peak levels. In Western Europe, we expect light vehicle production to be approximately level with 2010. 

Our strategy includes: 

• continued expansion in high growth and developing markets; 
• increased investment in innovation to remain at the forefront of the automotive industry; 
• further diversification of sales by customer, by region and by vehicle segment; and 
• continued support of our existing customers globally. 

We expect this strategy to be implemented both through organic growth as well as targeted acquisitions. 

FINANCIAL RESULTS SUMMARY 

During 2010, we posted sales of $24.1 billion, an increase of 39% from 2009. This higher sales level was a result of increases in our 
North American, European and Rest of World production sales, complete vehicle assembly sales and tooling, engineering and other 
sales. Comparing 2010 to 2009: 

• North American vehicle production increased by 39% and average dollar content per vehicle increased 13%; 
• European vehicle production increased 12% and average dollar content per vehicle increased 8%; 
• Complete vehicle assembly sales increased 23% to $2.2 billion, as complete vehicle assembly volumes increased 52%; 
• Rest of World production sales increased 53% to $1.0 billion from $0.7 billion; and 
• Tooling, engineering and other sales increased 26% to $2.0 billion from $1.6 billion. 

During 2010, we earned operating income of $1.2 billion compared to an operating loss of $0.5 billion for 2009. Excluding the unusual 
items recorded in 2010 and 2009, as discussed in the "Unusual Items" section, the $1.6 billion increase in operating income was 
substantially due to increased margins earned on higher sales as a result of significantly higher vehicle production volumes. In addition, 
operating income was positively impacted by: 

• lower restructuring and downsizing costs and the benefit of prior year restructuring and downsizing activities; 
• a $32 million recovery, during 2010, of receivables that were fully provided for in 2009; 
• favourable settlement of certain commercial items; 
• the write-off of uncollectable pre-production costs incurred related to the cancellation of assembly programs in 2009; 
• higher equity income; 
• due diligence costs incurred in 2009 associated with our planned investment in Opel, which terminated during 2009; 
• the $20 million benefit related to the recovery of previously expensed engineering and design costs; 
• higher interest income; 
• incremental margin earned on acquisitions completed during or subsequent to 2009, including Cadence Innovation s.r.o. 

("Cadence"); 
• lower costs incurred related to launches at our Complete Vehicle Assembly operations; and 
• productivity and efficiency improvements at certain facilities. 

These factors were partially offset by: 

• higher incentive compensation; 
• higher costs related to launches at our components business; 
• operational inefficiencies and other costs at certain facilities, in particular at certain exteriors and interiors systems facilities in Europe; 
• employee profit sharing, as no profit sharing was recorded in 2009; 
• increased commodity costs; 
• a $20 million stock-based compensation charge as a result of modifying option agreements with three departing executives and 

a related $9 million contract termination payment; 
• increased stock-based compensation; 
• a $9 million favourable revaluation of our investment in asset-backed commercial paper ("ABCP") in 2009; and 
• net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009. 

During 2010, net income increased $1.5 billion to $1.0 billion compared to net loss of $0.5 billion for 2009. Excluding the unusual items 
recorded in 2010 and 2009, as discussed in the "Unusual Items" section, net income for 2010 increased $1.3 billion. The increase in 
net income was a result of the increase in operating income and minority interest recovery, partially offset by higher income taxes. 
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During 2010, our diluted earnings per share increased by $6.39 to $4.18 compared to loss per share of $2.21 for 2009. Excluding the 
unusual items recorded in 2010 and 2009, as discussed in the "Unusual Items" section, diluted earnings per share for 2010 increased 
by $5.66. The increase in diluted earnings per share is as a result of the increase in net income partially offset by an increase in the 
weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding during 2010. The increase in the weighted average number of diluted shares 
outstanding was primarily due to the net issue of shares during 2010 related primarily to the Arrangement and an increase in the 
number of diluted shares associated with stock options and restricted stock partially offset by the effect of the repurchase and 
cancellation of Common Shares pursuant to our normal course issuer bid. 

UNUSUAL ITEMS 

During the three months and year ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, we recorded certain unusual items as follows: 

Operating 
Income 

2010 
Diluted 

Net Earnings 
Income per Share 

Operating 
Income 

2009 

Net 
Income 

Diluted 
Earnings 

per Share 

Fourth Quarter 
Impairment charges (1) 

Restructuring charges (1) 

Sale of facility (2) 

$ (23) 
(8) 
– 

$ (21) $ (0.09) 
(6) (0.02) 
– – 

$ (108) 
(20) 
(8) 

$ (106) 
(20) 
(8) 

$ (0.47) 
(0.09) 
(0.04) 

Total fourth quarter unusual items (31) (27) (0.11) (136) (134) (0.60) 

Second Quarter 
Impairment charges (1) – – – (75) (75) (0.34) 
Restructuring charges (1) (24) (21) (0.09) (6) (6) (0.03) 
Curtailment gain (3) – – – 26 20 0.09 

Total second quarter unusual items (24) (21) (0.09) (55) (61) (0.28) 

First Quarter 
Sale of facility (2) 14 14 0.06 – – – 

Total first quarter unusual items 14 14 0.06 – – – 

Total full year unusual items $ (41) $ (34) $ (0.15) $ (191) $ (195) $ (0.88) 

(1) Restructuring and Impairment Charges 

During 2010 and 2009, we recorded long-lived asset and goodwill impairment charges as follows: 

2010 2009 
Operating Net Operating Net 

Income Income Income Income 

Fourth Quarter 
North America $ 7 $ 5 $ 38 $ 36 
Europe 16 16 70 70 

Total fourth quarter impairment charges 23 21 108 106 

Second Quarter 
North America – – 75 75 

Total second quarter impairment charges – – 75 75 

Total full year impairment charges $ 23 $ 21 $ 183 $ 181 

[a] For the year ended December 31, 2010 

(i) Long-lived Assets 

In conjunction with our annual business planning cycle, during the fourth quarter of 2010, we completed our annual 
goodwill impairment and long-lived asset analysis and recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $23 million. 

In North America, we recorded charges of $7 million related to fixed assets at a die casting facility in Canada and in 
Germany, we recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $16 million related to an interiors systems facility. 

Magna International Inc. 2010 Annual Report – MD&A 
11 



(ii) Restructuring Costs 

During 2010, we recorded restructuring and rationalization costs of $29 million in cost of goods sold and $3 million in 
selling, general and administrative expense related to the planned closure of a powertrain systems facility and two 
body & chassis systems facilities in North America. 

[b] For the year ended December 31, 2009 

(i) Goodwill 

In conjunction with our annual business planning cycle, during the fourth quarter of 2009 we determined that our Car 
Top Systems ("CTS") North America reporting unit could potentially be impaired, primarily as a result of: (i) a dramatic 
reduction in the market for soft tops, hard tops and modular retractable hard tops; and (ii) historical losses that are 
projected to continue throughout our business planning period. Based on the reporting unit's discounted forecast cash 
flows, we recorded a $25 million goodwill impairment charge. 

In addition, during the second quarter of 2009, after failing to reach a favourable labour agreement at a powertrain 
systems facility in Syracuse, New York, we decided to wind down these operations. Given the significance of the 
facility's cash flows in relation to the reporting unit, management determined that it was more likely than not that 
goodwill at the Powertrain North America reporting unit could potentially be impaired. Therefore, we recorded a $75 million 
goodwill impairment charge. 

The goodwill impairment charges were calculated by determining the implied fair value of goodwill in the same manner 
as if we had acquired the Powertrain and CTS reporting units as at June 30, 2009 and December 31, 2009, respectively. 

(ii) Long-lived Assets 

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $83 million. 

In North America, we recorded charges of $13 million related to fixed assets at a die casting facility in Canada and an 
anticipated under recovery of capitalized tooling costs at a stamping facility in the United States due to significantly lower 
volumes on certain SUV programs. 

In Europe, we recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $70 million related to our CTS and exterior systems 
operations in Germany. 

At our CTS operations, long-lived asset impairment charges of $59 million were recorded related to fixed and intangible 
assets. The impairment charge was calculated based on CTS' discounted forecast cashflows and was necessary 
primarily as a result of: (i) a dramatic reduction in the market for soft tops, hard tops and modular retractable hard tops; 
and (ii) historical losses that are projected to continue throughout our business planning period. 

At our interiors and exteriors operations, we recorded an $11 million asset impairment charge related to specific under-
utilized assets in Germany. 

(iii) Restructuring Costs 

During 2009, we recorded restructuring and rationalization costs of $23 million in cost of goods sold and $3 million in 
selling, general and administrative expense. During the second quarter, we recorded restructuring costs of $6 million 
related to the planned closure of a powertrain systems facility in Syracuse, New York and during the fourth quarter we 
recorded severance and other termination benefits related to the closure of powertrain and interior systems facilities 
in Germany. Substantially all of the $26 million will be paid subsequent to 2009. 

In addition, during 2009, we incurred costs related to downsizing various operations in our traditional markets. 

(2) Sale of Facilities 

During 2010, we sold our interest in an electronics systems joint venture in China and realized a $14 million gain. 

During 2009, we entered into an agreement to sell an engineering centre in Europe and, as a result, incurred a loss on disposition 
of the facility of $8 million. 
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(3) Curtailment Gain 

During the second quarter of 2009, we amended our Retiree Premium Reimbursement Plan in Canada and the United States, 
such that most employees retiring on or after August 1, 2009 would no longer participate in the plan. The amendment reduced 
service costs and retirement medical benefit expense in 2009 and future years. As a result of amending the plan, a curtailment 
gain of $26 million was recorded in cost of goods sold in the second quarter of 2009. 

INDUSTRY TRENDS AND RISKS 

A number of general trends which have been impacting the automotive industry and our business in recent years are expected to 
continue, including the following: 

• the exertion of pricing pressure by OEMs; 

• government incentives and consumer demand for, and industry focus on, more fuel-efficient and environmentally-friendly vehicles 
with alternative-energy fuel systems and additional safety features; 

• governmental regulation of fuel economy and emissions, vehicle recyclability and vehicle safety; 

• the long-term growth of the automotive industry in China, India, Brazil, Russia and other developing markets, including accelerated 
migration of component and vehicle design, development, engineering and manufacturing to certain of these markets; 

• the growth of the A to D vehicle segments (micro to mid-size cars), particularly in developing markets; 

• the consolidation of vehicle platforms; and 

• the growth of cooperative alliances and arrangements among competing automotive OEMs, including shared purchasing of 
components; joint engine, powertrain and/or platform development; engine, powertrain and platform sharing; and joint vehicle 
hybridization and electrification initiatives. 

The following are some of the more significant risks that could affect our ability to achieve our desired results: 

• The global automotive industry is cyclical and is sensitive to changes in economic and political conditions, including interest 
rates, energy prices and international conflicts. While the global automotive industry appears to be recovering from the severe 
economic downturn which began in the second half of 2008, the strength and speed of the recovery, as well as its consistency 
across geographic markets remains uncertain. This uncertainty creates planning risks for us. Additionally, as a result of 
restructuring actions taken by OEMs and suppliers during the recent downturn, automotive production levels are more closely 
aligned with actual automotive sales levels and, accordingly, may be more sensitive to overall economic conditions than in the 
years prior to 2008. A significant decline in production volumes from current levels could have a material adverse effect on our 
profitability. As a result of the restructuring actions taken by suppliers during the recent economic downturn, there is a risk that 
some suppliers may not have adequate capacity to timely accommodate increases in demand for their parts which result from 
a significant, rapid increase in production volumes. Such a failure by a supplier could lead to occasional components shortages 
or production disruptions, which could have an adverse effect on our operations and profitability. 

• The short-term viability of several of our OEM customers appears to have improved as a result of restructuring actions in the past 
few years, as well as direct government financial intervention in the automotive industry in 2008 and 2009. However, there can 
be no assurance that these restructuring actions will be successful in ensuring their long-term viability, nor can there be any 
assurance that government financial assistance will be made available at levels necessary to prevent OEM failures in the future. 
The bankruptcy of any of our major customers could have a material adverse effect on our profitability and financial condition. 

• We rely on a number of suppliers to supply us with a wide range of components required in connection with our business. While 
the automotive supply base appears to have stabilized following the economic downturn which commenced in the second half 
of 2008, the financial health of automotive suppliers was impacted by economic conditions, production volume cuts, intense 
pricing pressures and other factors. The insolvency or bankruptcy of a supplier could disrupt the supply of components to us or 
our customers, potentially causing the temporary shut-down of our or our customers' production lines. Any prolonged disruption 
in the supply of critical components to us or our customers, the inability to re-source or in-source production of a critical 
component from a financially distressed automotive components sub-supplier, or any temporary shut-down of one of our 
production lines or the production lines of one of our customers, could have a material adverse effect on our profitability. 
Additionally, the insolvency, bankruptcy or financial restructuring of any of our critical suppliers could result in us incurring 
unrecoverable costs related to the financial work-out of such suppliers and/or increased exposure for product liability, warranty 
or recall costs relating to the components supplied by such suppliers to the extent such supplier is not able to assume 
responsibility for such amounts, which could have an adverse effect on our profitability. 
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• The automotive parts supply industry is highly competitive. As a result of our diversified automotive business, we face a number 
of competitors possessing varying degrees of financial and operational strength in each of our product and service capabilities. 
Some of our competitors have a substantially greater market share than we have in certain product areas and are dominant in 
some of the markets in which we do business. In addition, restructuring actions taken by some of our competitors have provided 
them with improved financial and operational flexibility and could increase their competitive threat to our business. Failure to 
successfully compete with our existing competitors or with any new competitors could have an adverse effect on our operations 
and profitability. 

• We are dependent on the outsourcing of components, modules and assemblies, as well as complete vehicles, by OEMs. The extent 
of OEM outsourcing is influenced by a number of factors, including: relative cost, quality and timeliness of production by suppliers 
as compared to OEMs; capacity utilization; OEMs’ perceptions regarding the strategic importance of certain components/modules 
to them; labour relations among OEMs, their employees and unions; and other considerations. As a result of lower cost structures 
due to recent restructuring actions, some OEMs may in-source production which had previously been outsourced. Outsourcing 
of complete vehicle assembly is particularly dependent on the degree of unutilized capacity at the OEMs' own assembly facilities, 
in addition to the foregoing factors. A reduction in outsourcing by OEMs, or the loss of any material production or assembly 
programs coupled with the failure to secure alternative programs with sufficient volumes and margins, could have a material 
adverse effect on our profitability. 

• We continue to invest in technology and innovation which we believe will be critical to our long-term growth. Our ability to 
anticipate changes in technology and to successfully develop and introduce new and enhanced products and/or manufacturing 
processes on a timely basis will be a significant factor in our ability to remain competitive. If there is a shift away from the use 
of technologies in which we are investing, our costs may not be fully recovered. We may be placed at a competitive disadvantage 
if other technologies in which our investment is not as great, or our expertise is not as developed, emerge as the industry-
leading technologies. This could have a material adverse effect on our profitability and financial condition. 

• As part of our strategy of continuously seeking to optimize our global manufacturing footprint, we may further rationalize some 
of our production facilities. In the course of such rationalization, we may incur further restructuring, downsizing and/or other 
significant non-recurring costs related to plant closings, relocations and employee severance costs. Restructuring costs may be 
greater in certain jurisdictions than others as a result of the size and scope of the restructuring, differences in laws, and other 
factors. Such costs could have an adverse effect on our short-term profitability. In addition, we are working to turn around 
financially underperforming divisions; however, there is no guarantee that we will be successful in doing so with respect to 
some or all such divisions. 

• We recorded significant impairment charges related to goodwill, long-lived assets and future tax assets in recent years and may 
continue to do so in the future. The bankruptcy of a significant customer or the early termination, loss, renegotiation of the terms 
of, or delay in the implementation of, any significant production contract could be indicators of impairment. In addition, to the 
extent that forward-looking assumptions regarding: the impact of improvement plans on current operations; in-sourcing and 
other new business opportunities; program price and cost assumptions on current and future business; the timing of new 
program launches; and forecast production volumes; are not met, any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse 
effect on our profitability. 

• Although we supply parts to all of the leading OEMs, a significant majority of our sales are to six such customers. While we have 
diversified our customer base somewhat in recent years and continue to attempt to further diversify, particularly to increase our 
business with Asian-based OEMs, there is no assurance we will be successful. Our inability to successfully grow our sales to 
non-traditional customers could have a material adverse effect on our profitability. 

• While we supply parts for a wide variety of vehicles produced globally, we do not supply parts for all vehicles produced, nor is 
the number or value of parts evenly distributed among the vehicles for which we do supply parts. Shifts in market shares among 
vehicles or vehicle segments, particularly shifts away from vehicles on which we have significant content and shifts away from 
vehicle segments in which our sales may be more heavily concentrated, or the early termination, loss, renegotiation of the terms 
of, or delay in the implementation of, any significant production or assembly contract could have a material adverse effect on our 
profitability. 

• Many of our customers have sought, and will likely continue to seek to take advantage of lower operating costs and/or other 
advantages in China, India, Brazil, Russia and other developing markets. While we continue to expand our manufacturing footprint 
with a view to taking advantage of manufacturing opportunities in these markets, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to 
fully realize such opportunities. Additionally, the establishment of manufacturing operations in new markets carries its own risks, 
including those relating to political and economic instability; trade, customs and tax risks; currency exchange rates; currency 
controls; limitations on the repatriation of funds; insufficient infrastructure; and other risks associated with conducting business 
internationally. The inability to quickly adjust our manufacturing footprint to take advantage of manufacturing opportunities in 
these markets could harm our ability to compete with other suppliers operating in or from such markets, which could have an 
adverse effect on our profitability. 
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• Prices for certain key raw materials and commodities used in our parts, particularly resin and other oil-based items, have been 
escalating and may continue to do so. To the extent we are unable to mitigate commodity price increases through hedging 
strategies, by engineering products with reduced commodity content, by passing commodity price increases to our customers 
or otherwise, such additional commodity costs could have a material adverse effect on our profitability. 

• We currently have a global credit facility with a syndicate of lenders that is set to mature in July 2012. While we intend to seek 
a renewal of the credit facility prior to its maturity, the terms of any renewal are subject to a number of factors, including prevailing 
economic, financial and industry conditions. There is no guarantee that we will be successful in negotiating terms, including 
cost of borrowing and restrictive covenants, which are as favourable as those in our current credit facility. In addition, there can 
be no assurance that the aggregate borrowing limit under any renewed credit facility will be sufficient to meet our liquidity 
requirements and, as a result, we may be required to seek other sources of capital, which may be more costly, which could have 
an adverse effect on our financial condition. 

• The failure of any major financial institutions in the future could lead to significant disruptions in capital and credit markets and 
could adversely affect our and our customers' ability to access needed liquidity for working capital. In addition, in the event of a 
failure of a financial institution - in which we invest our cash reserves; that is a counterparty in a derivatives transaction (primarily 
currency and commodities hedges) with us; or that is a lender to us - we face the risk that our cash reserves and amounts owing 
to us pursuant to derivative transactions may not be fully recoverable, or the amount of credit available to us may be significantly 
reduced. All of these risks could have an adverse effect on our financial condition. 

• Europe is currently in the midst of a "sovereign debt" crisis as a result of widespread concern about the ability of several European 
governments to repay its outstanding indebtedness. The crisis has necessitated comprehensive financial rescue packages in an 
attempt to avert more serious financial turmoil. Despite the financial rescue efforts to date, additional actions may be required 
in the short-term and considerable uncertainty remains with respect to the economic condition of several European countries. 
A deepening of the sovereign debt crisis in Europe or a spread of the crisis beyond Europe could undermine credit markets, equity 
and bond markets, and consumer confidence, which in turn could have negative consequences for the global economy. In such 
circumstances, many of the risks faced by the automotive industry and our business could intensify, which could have a material 
adverse effect on our operations, financial condition and profitability. 

• Although our financial results are reported in U.S. dollars, a significant portion of our sales and operating costs are realized in 
Canadian dollars, euros, British pounds and other currencies. Our profitability is affected by movements of the U.S. dollar against 
the Canadian dollar, the euro, the British pound and other currencies in which we generate revenues and incur expenses. 
However, as a result of hedging programs employed by us, foreign currency transactions are not fully impacted by movements 
in exchange rates. We record foreign currency transactions at the hedged rate where applicable. Despite these measures, 
significant long-term fluctuations in relative currency values, in particular a significant change in the relative values of the U.S. 
dollar, Canadian dollar, euro or British pound, could have an adverse effect on our profitability and financial condition and any 
sustained change in such relative currency values could adversely impact our competitiveness in certain geographic regions. 

• We have completed a number of acquisitions and may continue to do so in the future. In those product areas in which we have 
identified acquisitions as a key aspect of our business strategy, we may not be able to identify suitable acquisition targets or 
successfully acquire any suitable targets which we identify. Additionally, we may not be able to successfully integrate or achieve 
anticipated synergies from those acquisitions which we do complete and such failure could have a material adverse effect on 
our profitability. 

• We face significant pricing pressure, as well as pressure to absorb costs related to product design, engineering and tooling, as 
well as other items previously paid for directly by OEMs. The continuation or intensification of these pricing pressures and 
pressure to absorb costs could have an adverse effect on our profitability. 

• Our customers continue to demand that we bear the cost of the repair and replacement of defective products which are either 
covered under their warranty or are the subject of a recall by them. Warranty provisions are established based on our best 
estimate of the amounts necessary to settle existing or probable claims on product defect issues. Recall costs are costs incurred 
when government regulators and/or our customers decide to recall a product due to a known or suspected performance issue 
and we are required to participate either voluntarily or involuntarily. Currently, under most customer agreements, we only account 
for existing or probable warranty claims. Under certain complete vehicle engineering and assembly contracts, we record an 
estimate of future warranty-related costs based on the terms of the specific customer agreements and the specific customer's 
warranty experience. While we possess considerable historical warranty and recall data and experience with respect to the 
products we currently produce, we have little or no warranty and recall data which allows us to establish accurate estimates of, 
or provisions for, future warranty or recall costs relating to new products, assembly programs or technologies being brought into 
production. The obligation to repair or replace such products could have a material adverse effect on our profitability and financial 
condition. 
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• Our vehicle electrification business is currently conducted through a partnership, E-Car, which is indirectly controlled by the 
Stronach group as a result of its right to appoint three of the five members of the management committee through which the 
business and affairs of the partnership are managed and controlled. Subject to our veto rights in respect of certain fundamental 
changes and specified business decisions, the Stronach group is able to cause E-Car to effect transactions without our consent. 
In addition, E-Car has an unrestricted right to compete with us, now or in the future, in the design, engineering, manufacture or 
sale of electric or hybrid-electric vehicle components. Despite the Stronach group's control of E-Car, our customers may continue 
to look to us for resolution of financial, operational, quality or warranty issues relating to programs for which E-Car is responsible. 

• We have no obligation to make additional investments in E-Car under the terms of the E-Car partnership agreement. However, 
there is no assurance that the initial capital contributions made by us and the Stronach group to E-Car will be sufficient to fund 
its ongoing operations. Subject to approval by the unconflicted members of our Board (which excludes Mr. Stronach, who would 
have a conflict of interest), we may or may not choose to make further investments in E-Car. That determination will be based 
on what will best serve Magna's long-term business. Our ability to recover our initial investment or any potential subsequent 
investment(s) in E-Car is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including E-Car's ability to successfully introduce and 
commercially provide its products and services. The failure to recover our investment in E-Car could adversely affect Magna's 
profitability. 

• We continue to pursue opportunities in areas that are complementary to our existing automotive design, engineering and 
manufacturing capabilities, such as structural elements and panels for solar panels, stamped components for consumer durables, 
including household appliances, and various components for heavy trucks, all in order to more efficiently use our capital assets, 
technological know-how and manufacturing capacity. Many of these "non-automotive" industries are subject to some of the 
same types of risks as our automotive business, including: sensitivity to economic conditions, cyclicality and technology risks. 
We also face a diverse number of competitors possessing varying degrees of financial and operational strength and experience 
in their industry. Failure to successfully compete in these and other non-automotive businesses could have an adverse effect on 
our operations and profitability. 

• From time to time, we may become liable for legal, contractual and other claims by various parties, including customers, suppliers, 
former employees, class action plaintiffs and others. On an ongoing basis, we attempt to assess the likelihood of any adverse 
judgments or outcomes to these claims, although it is difficult to predict final outcomes with any degree of certainty. At this time, 
we do not believe that any of the claims to which we are party will have a material adverse effect on our financial position; 
however, we cannot provide any assurance to this effect. 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Average Foreign Exchange 

For the three months For the year 
ended December 31, ended December 31, 

2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change 

1 Canadian dollar equals U.S. dollars 0.988 0.948 + 4% 0.971 0.882 + 10% 
1 euro equals U.S. dollars 1.361 1.477 - 8% 1.328 1.395 - 5% 
1 British pound equals U.S. dollars 1.582 1.635 - 3% 1.547 1.565 - 1% 

The preceding table reflects the average foreign exchange rates between the most common currencies in which we conduct business 
and our U.S. dollar reporting currency. The significant changes in these foreign exchange rates for the three months and year ended 
December 31, 2010 impacted the reported U.S. dollar amounts of our sales, expenses and income. 

The results of operations whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar are translated into U.S. dollars using the average exchange 
rates in the table above for the relevant period. Throughout this MD&A, reference is made to the impact of translation of foreign 
operations on reported U.S. dollar amounts where relevant. 

Our results can also be affected by the impact of movements in exchange rates on foreign currency transactions (such as raw material 
purchases or sales denominated in foreign currencies). However, as a result of hedging programs employed by us, foreign currency 
transactions in the current period have not been fully impacted by movements in exchange rates. We record foreign currency 
transactions at the hedged rate where applicable. 

Finally, holding gains and losses on foreign currency denominated monetary items, which are recorded in selling, general and 
administrative expenses, impact reported results. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 

Sales 

2010 2009 Change 

Vehicle Production Volumes (millions of units) 
North America 11.954 8.621 + 39% 
Europe 13.304 11.835 + 12% 

Average Dollar Content Per Vehicle 
North America $ 988 $ 872 + 13% 
Europe $ 536 $ 495 + 8% 

Sales 
External Production 

North America $ 11,816 $ 7,515 + 57% 
Europe 7,136 5,857 + 22% 
Rest of World 1,031 676 + 53% 

Complete Vehicle Assembly 2,163 1,764 + 23% 
Tooling, Engineering and Other 1,956 1,555 + 26% 

Total Sales $ 24,102 $ 17,367 + 39% 

External Production Sales - North America 

External production sales in North America increased 57% or $4.3 billion to $11.8 billion for 2010 compared to $7.5 billion for 2009. 
This increase in production sales reflects a 39% increase in North American vehicle production volumes combined with a 13% 
increase in our North American average dollar content per vehicle. 

Our average dollar content per vehicle grew by 13% or $116 to $988 for 2010 compared to $872 for 2009, primarily as a result of: 

• the launch of new programs during or subsequent to 2009, including the: 
• Chevrolet Equinox and GMC Terrain; 
• Jeep Grand Cherokee; 
• Ford Fiesta; 
• Chevrolet Cruze; and 
• Cadillac SRX; 

• favourable production (relative to industry volumes) and/or content on certain programs, including the: 
• Dodge Grand Caravan, Chrysler Town & Country and Volkswagen Routan; 
• GM full-sized pickups and SUVs; 
• Chevrolet Traverse, GMC Acadia and Buick Enclave; and 
• Jeep Wrangler; 

• an increase in reported U.S. dollar sales due to the strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar; and 
• the acquisition of several facilities from Meridian Automotive Systems Inc. ("Meridian") in the third quarter of 2009. 

These factors were partially offset by: 

• programs that ended production during or subsequent to 2009, including the Pontiac, Saturn and Mercury brands; 
• unfavourable production (relative to industry volumes) and/or content on certain programs, including the Ford Escape and Mazda 

Tribute; and 
• net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009. 
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External Production Sales - Europe 

External production sales in Europe increased 22% or $1.28 billion to $7.14 billion for 2010 compared to $5.86 billion for 2009. This increase 
in production sales reflects an 8% increase in our European average dollar content per vehicle combined with a 12% increase in 
European vehicle production volumes. 

Our average dollar content per vehicle grew by 8% or $41 to $536 for 2010 compared to $495 for 2009, primarily as a result of: 

• the launch of new programs during or subsequent to 2009, including the: 
• MINI Countryman; 
• Mercedes-Benz SLS; 
• Peugeot RCZ; 
• Porsche Panamera; and 
• Porsche Cayenne and Volkswagen Touareg; 

• favourable production (relative to industry volumes) and/or content on certain programs; and 
• acquisitions completed during or subsequent to 2009, including Cadence. 

These factors were partially offset by: 

• a decrease in reported U.S. dollar sales due to the weakening of the euro and British pound, each against the U.S. dollar; 
• unfavourable production (relative to industry volumes) and/or content on certain programs; 
• programs that ended production during or subsequent to 2009, including the BMW X3; and 
• net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009. 

External Production Sales - Rest of World 

External production sales in Rest of World increased 53% or $355 million to $1.03 billion for 2010 compared to $0.68 billion for 2009, 
primarily as a result of: 

• increased production and/or content on certain programs in China and Korea; 
• the acquisition of a Japanese roof systems facility in the first quarter of 2010; 
• the launch of new programs during or subsequent to 2009 in China and Korea; 
• an increase in reported U.S. dollar sales as a result of the strengthening of the Brazilian real and Korean Won, both against the 

U.S. dollar; and 
• production related to the launch of new facilities in Korea and India. 

These factors were partially offset by: 

• the sale of our interest in an electronics systems joint venture in China in the first quarter of 2010; and 
• net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009. 

Complete Vehicle Assembly Sales 

The terms of our various vehicle assembly contracts differ with respect to the ownership of components and supplies related to the 
assembly process and the method of determining the selling price to the OEM customer. Under certain contracts we are acting as 
principal, and purchased components and systems in assembled vehicles are included in our inventory and cost of sales. These costs 
are reflected on a full-cost basis in the selling price of the final assembled vehicle to the OEM customer. Other contracts provide that 
third-party components and systems are held on consignment by us, and the selling price to the OEM customer reflects a value-added 
assembly fee only. 

Production levels of the various vehicles assembled by us have an impact on the level of our sales and profitability. In addition, the 
relative proportion of programs accounted for on a full-cost basis and programs accounted for on a value-added basis also impacts 
our level of sales and operating margin percentage, but may not necessarily affect our overall level of profitability. Assuming no 
change in total vehicles assembled, a relative increase in the assembly of vehicles accounted for on a full-cost basis has the effect 
of increasing the level of total sales, however, because purchased components are included in cost of sales, profitability as a 
percentage of total sales is reduced. Conversely, a relative increase in the assembly of vehicles accounted for on a value-added basis 
has the effect of reducing the level of total sales and increasing profitability as a percentage of total sales. 
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2010 2009 Change 

Complete Vehicle Assembly Sales $ 2,163 $ 1,764 + 23% 

Complete Vehicle Assembly Volumes (Units) 
Full-Costed: 

BMW X3, MINI Countryman, Peugeot RCZ, 
Mercedes-Benz G-Class, Aston Martin Rapide and 
Saab 93 Convertible 

Value-Added: 
Chrysler 300, Jeep Grand Cherokee and Jeep Commander 

80,686 

5,497 
86,183 

51,244 

5,376 
56,620 + 52% 

Complete vehicle assembly sales increased 23% or $0.4 billion to $2.2 billion for 2010 compared to $1.8 billion for 2009, while 
assembly volumes increased 52% or 29,563 units. 

The increase in complete vehicle assembly sales is primarily as a result of: 

• the launch of new assembly programs during or subsequent to 2009, including the: 
• MINI Countryman; 
• Peugeot RCZ; and 
• Aston Martin Rapide; and 

• an increase in assembly volumes for the Mercedes-Benz G-Class. 

These factors were partially offset by the end of production on certain assembly programs at our Magna Steyr facility, including the: 

• BMW X3 in the third quarter of 2010; 
• Saab 93 Convertible in the fourth quarter of 2009; and 
• Chrysler 300 and Jeep Grand Cherokee in the second quarter of 2010. 

In addition, complete vehicle assembly sales were negatively impacted by a decrease in reported U.S. dollar sales due to the 
weakening of the euro against the U.S. dollar. 

Tooling, Engineering and Other 

Tooling, engineering and other sales increased 26% or $0.4 billion to $2.0 billion for 2010 compared to $1.6 billion for 2009. 

In 2010, the major programs for which we recorded tooling, engineering and other sales were the: 

• MINI Cooper and Countryman; 
• BMW X3; 
• Mercedes-Benz M-Class; 
• Ford Fiesta; 
• Jeep Grand Cherokee; 
• Volkswagen Touareg; 
• Chrysler 300C, Dodge Charger and Challenger; 
• Chevrolet Silverado and GMC Sierra; 
• Porsche Cayenne; and 
• Peugeot RCZ. 

In 2009, the major programs for which we recorded tooling, engineering and other sales were the: 

• MINI Cooper, Clubman and Crossman; 
• Chevrolet Silverado and GMC Sierra; 
• Porsche Panamera; 
• Opel/Vauxhall Astra; 
• Audi Q5; 
• BMW X3; 
• Porsche Boxster and Cayman; 
• Porsche Cayenne; 
• Mercedes-Benz M-Class; 
• Peugeot RCZ; 
• Cadillac SRX and Saab 9-4X; 
• Ford F-Series; and 
• Mercedes-Benz C-Class. 

In addition, tooling, engineering and other sales decreased as a result of the weakening of the euro against the U.S. dollar. 
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Gross Margin 

Gross margin increased $1.5 billion to $3.2 billion for 2010 compared to $1.7 billion for 2009 and gross margin as a percentage of 
total sales increased to 13.2% for 2010 compared to 9.6% for 2009. The unusual items discussed in the "Unusual Items" section 
negatively impacted gross margin as a percentage of total sales in 2010 by 0.1%. Excluding unusual items, gross margin as a 
percentage of total sales increased 3.7% substantially due to increased gross margin earned as a result of significantly higher vehicle 
production volumes. In addition, gross margin as a percentage of total sales was positively impacted by: 

• lower restructuring and downsizing costs and the benefit of prior year restructuring and downsizing activities; 
• productivity and efficiency improvements at certain facilities; 
• acquisitions completed during or subsequent to 2009; 
• favourable settlement of certain commercial items; 
• the write-off of uncollectable pre-production costs incurred related to the cancellation of assembly programs in 2009; 
• the $20 million benefit related to the recovery of previously expensed engineering and design costs; and 
• lower costs incurred related to launches at our Complete Vehicle Assembly operations. 

These factors were partially offset by: 

• higher costs incurred related to launches at our components business; 
• operational inefficiencies and other costs at certain facilities, in particular at certain exteriors and interiors systems facilities in Europe; 
• employee profit sharing, as no profit sharing was recorded in 2009; 
• increased commodity costs; 
• higher development and launch costs in E-Car; 
• an increase in complete vehicle assembly sales which have a lower gross margin than our consolidated average; 
• an increase in tooling sales that earn low or no margins; and 
• net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009. 

Depreciation and Amortization 

Depreciation and amortization costs decreased 10% or $76 million to $661 million for 2010 compared to $737 million for 2009. The decrease 
in depreciation and amortization was primarily as a result of: 

• the impairment of certain assets during or subsequent to 2009; 
• lower capital spending in recent years; and 
• the disposition of certain facilities subsequent to 2009. 

These factors were partially offset by an increase in reported U.S. dollar depreciation and amortization due to the strengthening of 
the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar. 

Selling, General and Administrative ("SG&A") 

SG&A expense as a percentage of sales was 5.6% for 2010, compared to 7.3% for 2009. The unusual items discussed in the "Unusual 
Items" section negatively impacted SG&A as a percentage of total sales by 0.1% in 2009. Excluding these unusual items, SG&A as 
a percentage of total sales decreased 1.6%. 

SG&A expense increased $79 million to $1.34 billion for 2010 compared to $1.26 billion for 2009. Excluding the unusual items 
recorded in 2010 and 2009 (as discussed in the "Unusual Items" section), SG&A expenses increased by $101 million primarily as a 
result of: 

• higher incentive compensation; 
• a $20 million stock-based compensation charge as a result of modifying option agreements with three departing executives and 

a related $9 million contract termination payment; 
• higher stock-based compensation; 
• a $9 million favourable revaluation of our investment in ABCP in 2009; 
• an increase in reported U.S. dollar SG&A due to the strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar; and 
• higher costs to support the increased sales level. 

These factors were partially offset by: 

• a $32 million recovery, during 2010, of receivables that were fully provided for in 2009; 
• lower restructuring and downsizing costs; 
• due diligence costs incurred in 2009 associated with our planned investment in Opel, which terminated during 2009; 
• loss on disposal of assets in 2009; 
• net gain on disposal of assets; and 
• the closure or disposition of certain facilities during or subsequent to 2009. 
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Impairment Charges 

Impairment charges decreased $160 million to $23 million for 2010 compared to $183 million for 2009 as discussed in the "Unusual 
Items" section. 

Earnings before Interest and Taxes ("EBIT") (1) 

External Sales EBIT 
2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change 

North America 
Europe 
Rest of World 
E-Car Systems 
Corporate and Other 
Total 

$ 

$ 

12,597 
10,327 
1,097 

18 
63 

24,102 

$ 

$ 

8,140 
8,461 

735 
12 
19 

17,367 

$ 

$ 

4,457 
1,866 

362 
6 

44 
6,735 

$ 

$ 

1,085 
102 
92 

(89) 
(3) 

1,187 

$ 

$ 

(72) 
(394) 

43 
(41) 
(40) 

(504) 

$ 

$ 

1,157 
496 
49 
(48) 
37 

1,691 

Included in EBIT for years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 were the following unusual items, which have been discussed in the 
"Unusual Items" section above. 

2010 2009 

North America 
Impairment charges $ (7) $ (113) 
Restructuring charges (32) (6) 
Curtailment gain – 26 

(39) (93) 
Europe 

Impairment charges (16) (70) 
Restructuring charges – (20) 
Sale of facility – (8) 

(16) (98) 
Rest of World 

Sale of facility 14 – 
$ (41) $ (191) 

North America 

EBIT in North America increased $1.2 billion to $1.1 billion for 2010 compared to a loss of $0.1 billion for 2009. Excluding the North 
American unusual items discussed in the "Unusual Items" section, the $1.1 billion increase in EBIT was substantially due to increased 
margins earned on higher sales as a result of higher vehicle production volumes. In addition, EBIT was positively impacted by: 

• lower restructuring and downsizing costs and the benefit of prior year restructuring and downsizing activities; 
• productivity and efficiency improvements at certain facilities; 
• lower warranty costs; 
• the launch of new facilities; 
• a $6 million recovery, during 2010, of receivables that were fully provided for in 2009; and 
• a gain on sale of an investment. 

These factors were partially offset by: 

• higher costs incurred related to launches; 
• higher affiliation fees paid to Corporate; 
• higher incentive compensation; 
• employee profit sharing, as no profit sharing was recorded in 2009; 
• increased commodity costs; 
• operational inefficiencies and other costs at certain facilities; and 
• net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009. 

(1) EBIT is defined as income (loss) from operations before income taxes and minority interest as presented on our audited 
consolidated financial statements before net interest (income) expense. 
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Europe 

EBIT in Europe increased $0.5 billion to $0.1 billion for 2010 compared to a loss of $0.4 billion for 2009. Excluding the European 
unusual items discussed in the "Unusual Items" section, the $0.4 billion increase in EBIT was substantially due to increased margins 
earned on higher sales as a result of higher vehicle production volumes. In addition, EBIT was positively impacted by: 

• lower restructuring and downsizing costs and the benefit of prior year restructuring and downsizing activities; 
• a $26 million recovery, during 2010, of receivables that were fully provided for in 2009; 
• favourable settlement of certain commercial items; 
• the write-off of uncollectable pre-production costs incurred related to the cancellation of assembly programs in 2009; 
• lower costs incurred related to launches at our Complete Vehicle Assembly operations; 
• the sale or closure of certain underperforming divisions during or subsequent to 2009; 
• incremental margin earned related to the acquisition of Cadence; and 
• productivity and efficiency improvements at certain facilities. 

These factors were partially offset by: 

• operational inefficiencies and other costs at certain facilities, in particular at certain exteriors and interiors systems facilities; 
• employee profit sharing, as no profit sharing was recorded in 2009; 
• higher costs incurred related to launches at our components business, including Russia; 
• higher affiliation fees paid to Corporate; 
• increased commodity costs; 
• higher warranty costs; 
• higher incentive compensation; and 
• net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009. 

Rest of World 

Rest of World EBIT increased $49 million to $92 million for 2010 compared to $43 million for 2009. Excluding the Rest of World 
unusual items discussed in the "Unusual Items" section, the $35 million increase was primarily as a result of: 

• additional margin earned on increased production sales; and 
• incremental margin earned on new programs that launched during or subsequent to 2009. 

These factors were partially offset by: 

• higher launch costs related to new facilities, primarily in Korea, Brazil and India; 
• the write-off of certain assets; 
• higher warranty costs; 
• higher affiliation fees paid to Corporate; 
• net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009; and 
• increased commodity costs. 

E-Car Systems 

E-Car Systems EBIT decreased $48 million to a loss of $89 million for 2010 compared to a loss of $41 million for 2009, primarily as 
a result of higher development and launch costs. 

Corporate and Other 

Corporate and Other EBIT increased $37 million to a loss of $3 million for 2010 compared to a loss of $40 million for 2009, primarily 
as a result of: 

• an increase in affiliation fees earned from our divisions; 
• the positive impact of foreign exchange; 
• due diligence costs incurred in 2009 associated with our planned investment in Opel, which terminated during 2009; 
• the $20 million benefit related to the recovery of previously expensed engineering and design costs; 
• an increase in equity income earned; and 
• loss on disposal of assets in 2009. 
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These factors were partially offset by: 

• higher incentive compensation; 
• a $20 million stock-based compensation charge as a result of modifying option agreements with three departing executives and 

a related $9 million contract termination payment; 
• higher stock-based compensation; 
• a $9 million favourable revaluation of our investment in ABCP in 2009; and 
• loss on disposal of assets. 

Interest (Income) Expense, net 

During 2010, we recorded net interest income of $10 million compared to $7 million of net interest expense for 2009. The $17 million 
increase in net interest income is as a result of: 

• a reduction in interest expense due to the repayment of our 7.08% Subordinated Debentures and our 6.5% Convertible 
Subordinated Debentures during 2009; 

• an increase in interest income earned. 

Operating Income 

Operating income increased $1.7 billion to income of $1.2 billion for 2010 compared to a loss of $0.5 billion for 2009. Excluding the 
unusual items discussed in the "Unusual items" section, operating income for 2010 increased $1.6 billion. The increase in operating 
income is the result of the increases in EBIT (excluding unusual items) and net interest income, both as discussed above. 

Income Taxes 

Our effective income tax rate on operating income (excluding equity income) was 20.3% for 2010 compared to a recovery of 3.5% 
for 2009. In 2010 and 2009, income tax rates were impacted by the items discussed in the unusual items section. Excluding the 
unusual items, our effective income tax rate was 20.2% for 2010 compared to a recovery of 6.7% for 2009. Our income tax rate for 
2010 reflected more traditional rates as a result of our return to profitability in most jurisdictions. In addition, our effective income tax 
rate for 2010 was favourably impacted by the utilization of losses previously not benefited, mainly in the United States. 

Minority Interest 

During 2010, we recorded $12 million of minority interest recovery with respect to the loss incurred by our E-Car Systems partnership. 

Net Income 

Net income increased $1.5 billion to $1.0 billion for 2010 compared to a loss of $0.5 billion for 2009. Excluding the unusual items 
discussed in the "Unusual items" section, net income increased $1.3 billion. The increase in net income is the result of the increase 
in operating income and minority interest recovery partially offset by higher income taxes, as discussed above. 

Earnings (Loss) per Share (restated) 

2010 2009 Change 

Earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share 
Basic $ 4.23 $ (2.21) $ 6.44 
Diluted $ 4.18 $ (2.21) $ 6.39 

Average number of Common Shares and Class B Shares 
outstanding (millions) 

Basic 230.0 223.6 + 3% 
Diluted 233.0 223.6 + 4% 

Diluted earnings per share increased $6.39 to $4.18 for 2010 compared to a loss of $2.21 for 2009. Excluding the unusual items 
discussed in the "Unusual items" section, diluted earnings per share increased $5.66 from 2009 as a result of the increase in net 
income (excluding unusual items), described above, partially offset by an increase in the weighted average number of diluted shares 
outstanding during the year. 

The increase in the weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding was primarily due to the net issue of shares during 2010 
related to the Arrangement and an increase in the number of diluted shares associated with stock options and restricted stock partially 
offset by the effect of the repurchase and cancellation of Common Shares in 2010 pursuant to our normal course issuer bid. 
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FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Cash Flow from Operations 

2010 2009 Change 

Net income (loss) 
Items not involving current cash flows 

Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities 
Cash provided from operating activities 

$ 

$ 

973 
722 

1,695 
177 

1,872 

$ 

$ 

(493) 
1,114 

621 
(94) 

527 

$ 

$ 

1,074 

1,345 

Cash flow from operations before changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities increased $1.1 billion to $1.7 billion for 2010 
compared to $0.6 billion for 2009. The increase in cash flow from operations was due to a $1.5 billion increase in net income, as 
discussed above, partially offset by a $0.4 billion decrease in items not involving current cash flows. Items not involving current cash 
flows are comprised of the following: 

2010 2009 Change 

Depreciation and amortization $ 661 $ 737 $ (76) 
Amortization of other assets included in cost of goods sold 69 83 (14) 
Long-lived asset impairments 23 183 (160) 
Amortization of employee wage buydown 19 27 (8) 
Other non-cash charges 7 61 (54) 
Future income taxes and non-cash portion of current taxes (12) 56 (68) 
Minority interest (12) – (12) 
Equity income (33) (7) (26) 
Curtailment gain – (26) 26 
Items not involving current cash flows $ 722 $ 1,114 $ (392) 

The decrease in items not involving current cash flows was primarily as a result of a $160 million decrease in long-lived asset 
impairments (as discussed above), a $76 million decrease in depreciation and amortization (as discussed above), a $68 million decrease 
in future income taxes and non-cash portion of current taxes and a $54 million decrease in other non-cash charges. The decrease in 
other non-cash charges includes both the previously discussed settlement of commercial items and the sale of facilities. 

Cash provided from non-cash operating assets and liabilities amounted to $177 million for 2010 compared to cash invested of $94 million 
for 2009. The change in non-cash operating assets and liabilities is comprised of the following sources (and uses) of cash: 

2010 2009 

Accounts receivable $ (611) $ (40) 
Inventories (178) 17 
Prepaid expenses and other (10) 6 
Accounts payable 579 241 
Accrued salaries and wages 97 (92) 
Other accrued liabilities 83 (108) 
Income taxes payable 221 (104) 
Deferred revenue (4) (14) 
Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities $ 177 $ (94) 

The increases in accounts receivable, inventories and accounts payable in 2010 was primarily due to the increase in production 
activities at the end of 2010 compared to the end of 2009, including the launch of new programs which includes complete vehicle 
assembly of the Peugeot RCZ in the fourth quarter of 2009 and the Aston Martin Rapide in the first quarter of 2010. The increase in 
income taxes payable was primarily due to a higher income tax provision, resulting from increased earnings, offset by current year 
tax payments and receipt of tax refunds for prior years. 
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Capital and Investment Spending 

2010 2009 Change 

Fixed asset additions 
Investments and other assets 
Fixed assets, investments and other assets additions 
Purchase of subsidiaries 
Proceeds from disposition 

$ (784) 
(141) 
(925) 
(106) 
287 

$ (629) 
(227) 
(856) 
(50) 
30 

Cash used for investing activities $ (744) $ (876) $ 

Fixed and other assets additions 

In 2010, we invested $784 million in fixed assets. While investments were made to refurbish or replace assets consumed in the 
normal course of business and for productivity improvements, a large portion of the investment in 2010 was for manufacturing 
equipment for programs that will be launching subsequent to 2010. Consistent with our strategy to expand in developing markets, 
approximately 19% (2009 - 18%) of this investment was in Russia, China, Brazil and India. 

In 2010, we invested $137 million in other assets related primarily to fully reimbursable tooling costs and planning and engineering 
costs for programs that will be launching subsequent to 2010. The tooling costs were incurred primarily at our body & chassis systems 
operations in North America. 

Purchase of subsidiaries 

During 2010, we invested $106 million to purchase subsidiaries, including the acquisition of: 

• Resil Minas, a supplier of seat frames and stampings. The acquired business is primarily located in Brazil with sales to various 
customers, including Fiat, Ford, General Motors, Volkswagen, IVECO and PSA; 

• Pabsa S.A., a supplier of complete seats, foam products, trim covers and seat structures. The acquired business has three 
production facilities in Argentina; and 

• Erhard & Söhne GmbH, a manufacturer of fuel tanks for commercial vehicles and other specialty tanks. The acquired business 
is located in Germany and has sales to various customers including MAN, Daimler and Scania. 

During 2009, we invested $50 million to purchase subsidiaries, including the acquisition of: 

• Cadence, a manufacturer of exterior and interior systems. The acquired business is primarily located in the Czech Republic with 
sales to various customers, including Skoda; and 

• several facilities from Meridian. The facilities are located in the United States and Mexico and manufacture composites for 
various customers. 

Proceeds from disposition 

Proceeds from disposition in 2010 were $287 million which included: 

• normal course reimbursement received in respect of planning and engineering costs that were capitalized in prior periods; 
• normal course fixed and other asset disposals; 
• a cash payment received on the sale of a long-term receivable related to fully reimbursable capitalized pre-production costs; 
• the cash proceeds received on the sale of an electronics facility; 
• a cash payment received on the sale of a long-term engineering receivable; 
• gain on sale of investment; and 
• a cash payment received with respect to our investment in ABCP. 
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Financing 

2010 2009 Change 

Decrease in bank indebtedness $ (4) $ (853) 
Repayments of debt (67) (296) 
Issues of debt 22 5 
Repurchase of Class B Shares (300) – 
Repurchase of Common Shares (23) – 
Issue of general partnership units by subsidiary 80 – 
Issues of Common Shares 49 2 
Settlement of stock options (12) – 
Settlement of stock appreciation rights – (1) 
Cash dividends paid (100) (21) 
Cash used for financing activities $ (355) $ (1,164) $ 809 

During 2010, we repaid $64 million of debt assumed on the acquisition of Cadence. 

In connection with the Arrangement, during 2010, we paid $300 million in cash in connection with the purchase for cancellation of 
all 1,453,658 (restated to reflect the stock split) outstanding Class B Shares. In addition, the Stronach group invested $80 million in 
E-Car. 

Due to continuing strong operating and cash flow performance, on February 23, 2011 our Board declared a dividend of U.S. $0.25 
per share in respect of the fourth quarter of 2010, representing an increase of 39% over the third quarter of 2010 dividend and the 
third consecutive dividend increase since the reintroduction of the dividend in the first quarter of 2010. 

Financing Resources 

As at As at 
December 31, December 31, 

2010 2009 Change 

Liabilities 
Bank indebtedness $ 26 $ 48 
Long-term debt due within one year 25 16 
Long-term debt 46 115 

97 179 
Minority interest 74 – 
Shareholders' equity 8,065 7,360 
Total capitalization $ 8,236 $ 7,539 $ 697 

Total capitalization increased by $0.7 billion to $8.2 billion at December 31, 2010 compared to $7.5 billion at December 31, 2009. The 
increase in capitalization was a result of a $0.7 billion increase in shareholders' equity and a $0.1 billion increase in minority interest 
partially offset by a $0.1 billion decrease in liabilities. 

The increase in shareholders' equity was primarily as a result of: 

• net income earned during 2010; 
• net unrealized gains on cash flow hedges, and the reclassification of net gains on cash flow hedges from accumulated other 

comprehensive income to net income; 
• Common Shares issued on the exercise of stock options; and 
• an increase in contributed surplus related to stock-based compensation expense. 

These factors were partially offset by: 

• the repurchase of Class B Shares in connection with the Arrangement; 
• dividends paid during 2010; and 
• the purchase for cancellation of Common Shares in connection with our normal course issuer bid. 

The increase in minority interest was as a result of the formation of E-Car. 

The decrease in liabilities is primarily as a result of the repayment in 2010 of debt assumed on the acquisition of Cadence. 
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Cash Resources 

During 2010, our cash resources increased by $0.8 billion to $2.1 billion primarily as a result of the cash provided from operating 
activities partially offset by cash used for investing activities and financing activities (including cash used for the Arrangement), as 
discussed above. In addition to our cash resources, we had term and operating lines of credit totalling $2.0 billion of which $1.9 billion 
was unused and available. 

Maximum Number of Shares Issuable 

The following table presents the maximum number of shares that would be outstanding if all of the outstanding options at March 14, 
2011 were exercised: 

Common Shares 242,771,789 
Stock options (i) 10,065,577 

252,837,366 

(i) Options to purchase Common Shares are exercisable by the holder in accordance with the vesting provisions and upon payment 
of the exercise price as may be determined from time to time pursuant to our stock option plans. 

On November 9, 2010, the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX") accepted our Notice of Intention to Make a Normal Course Issuer Bid 
relating to the purchase of up to 8,000,000 Magna Common Shares (the "Bid"), representing 3.3% of our issued and outstanding 
Common Shares. The Bid commenced on November 11, 2010 and will terminate no later than November 10, 2011. All purchases of 
Common Shares are made at the market price at the time of purchase in accordance with the rules and policies of the TSX. Purchases 
may also be made on the NYSE in compliance with Rule 10b-18 under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Financing 

A purchase obligation is defined as an agreement to purchase goods or services that is enforceable and legally binding on us and that 
specifies all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; 
and the approximate timing of the transaction. Consistent with our customer obligations, substantially all of our purchases are made 
under purchase orders with our suppliers which are requirements based and accordingly do not specify minimum quantities. Other 
long-term liabilities are defined as long-term liabilities that are recorded on our consolidated balance sheet. Based on this definition, 
the following table includes only those contracts which include fixed or minimum obligations. 

At December 31, 2010, we had contractual obligations requiring annual payments as follows: 

2011 2012-2013 2014-2015 Thereafter Total 

Operating leases with: 
MI Developments Inc. ("MID") $ 172 $ 339 $ 316 $ 452 $ 1,279 
Third parties 123 179 105 79 486 

Long-term debt 25 17 10 19 71 
Unconditional Purchase Obligations: 

Materials and Services 2,243 129 41 13 2,426 
Capital 283 60 – – 343 

Total contractual obligations $ 2,846 $ 724 $ 472 $ 563 $ 4,605 

Our unfunded obligations with respect to employee future benefit plans, which have been actuarially determined, were $306 million 
at December 31, 2010. These obligations are as follows: 

Termination and 
Pension Retirement Long Service 
Liability Liability Arrangements Total 

Projected benefit obligation $ 332 $ 43 $ 243 $ 618 
Less plan assets (253) – – (253) 
Unfunded amount 79 43 243 365 
Unrecognized past service costs and actuarial gains (losses) (40) 22 (41) (59) 
Amount recognized in other long-term liabilities $ 39 $ 65 $ 202 $ 306 

Our off-balance sheet financing arrangements are limited to operating lease contracts. 

Magna International Inc. 2010 Annual Report – MD&A 
27 



The majority of our facilities are subject to operating leases with MID or with third parties. Operating lease payments in 2010 for 
facilities leased from MID and third parties were $172 million and $132 million, respectively. Operating lease commitments in 2011 
for facilities leased from MID and third parties are expected to be $172 million and $123 million, respectively. Our existing leases with 
MID generally provide for periodic rent escalations based either on fixed-rate step increases, or on the basis of a consumer price index 
adjustment (subject to certain caps). 

We also have operating lease commitments for equipment. These leases are generally of shorter duration. Operating lease payments 
for equipment were $46 million for 2010, and are expected to be $40 million in 2011. 

Although our consolidated contractual annual lease commitments decline year by year, we expect that existing leases will either be 
renewed or replaced, or alternatively, we will incur capital expenditures to acquire equivalent capacity. 

Foreign Currency Activities 

Our North American operations negotiate sales contracts with OEMs for payment in both U.S. and Canadian dollars. Materials and 
equipment are purchased in various currencies depending upon competitive factors, including relative currency values. The North 
American operations use labour and materials which are paid for in both U.S. and Canadian dollars. Our Mexican operations generally 
use the U.S. dollar as the functional currency. 

Our European operations negotiate sales contracts with OEMs for payment principally in euros and British pounds. The European 
operations' material, equipment and labour are paid for principally in euros and British pounds. 

We employ hedging programs, primarily through the use of foreign exchange forward contracts, in an effort to manage our foreign 
exchange exposure, which arises when manufacturing facilities have committed to the delivery of products for which the selling 
price has been quoted in foreign currencies. These commitments represent our contractual obligations to deliver products over the 
duration of the product programs, which can last a number of years. The amount and timing of the forward contracts will be dependent 
upon a number of factors, including anticipated production delivery schedules and anticipated production costs, which may be paid 
in the foreign currency. In addition, we enter into foreign exchange contracts to manage foreign exchange exposure with respect to 
internal funding arrangements. Despite these measures, significant long-term fluctuations in relative currency values, in particular a 
significant change in the relative values of the U.S. dollar, Canadian dollar, euro or British pound, could have an adverse effect on our 
profitability and financial condition (as discussed throughout this MD&A). 

RELATED PARTIES 

Mr. Frank Stronach, together with three other members of the Stronach family, are trustees and members of the class of potential 
beneficiaries of the Stronach Trust. Prior to the completion of the Arrangement, the Stronach Trust indirectly controlled Magna through 
the right to direct the votes attaching to 100% of Magna's Class B Shares. In addition, the Stronach Trust controls MID and controlled 
Magna Entertainment Corp. ("MEC") prior to its bankruptcy, through the right to direct the votes attaching to approximately 66% of 
MID's Class B Shares. In the normal course of business, Magna leases various land and buildings from MID under operating lease 
agreements, which are effected on normal commercial terms. The leases are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount 
of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. Lease expense related to MID for 2010 was $172 million (2009 -
$149 million). Included in accounts payable are trade amounts owing to MID and its subsidiaries of $1.6 million (2009 - $0.5 million). 
Included in accounts receivable are amounts owed from MEC of $nil (2009 - $1.1 million). 

We have agreements with affiliates of the Chairman of the Board for the provision of business development and consulting services. 
In addition, we have an agreement with the Chairman of the Board for the provision of business development and other services. 
The cost of these agreements is measured at the exchange amount. In addition, the Arrangement set a termination date and declining 
fee schedule for the consulting, business development and business services contracts. The aggregate amount expensed under 
these agreements with respect to the year ended December 31, 2010 was $41 million (2009 - $nil). 

During 2010, we sold an office building located in Vienna, Austria to our former Co-Chief Executive Officer for $11.5 million (€8.4 
million). 

During 2009, we purchased approximately 100 acres of real estate located in Oberwaltersdorf, Austria from MEC for $6.0 million (€4.6 
million). 

During 2008, we purchased 225 acres of real estate located in Austria from MEC for $29 million (€20 million). 

These transactions were reviewed by the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee and approved by the independent 
members of Magna's Board of Directors following the unanimous recommendation of the Corporate Governance and Compensation 
Committee. 

During the year ended December 31, 2010, trusts, which exist to make orderly purchases of our shares for employees either for 
transfer to the Employee Equity and Profit Participation Program or to recipients of either bonuses or rights to purchase such shares 
from the trusts, borrowed up to $31 million (2009 - $30 million) from us to facilitate the purchase of Common Shares. At December 31, 
2010, the trusts' indebtedness to Magna was $31 million (2009 - $19 million). 
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Our discussion and analysis of our results of operations and financial position is based upon our 2010 audited consolidated financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. The preparation of the audited consolidated financial 
statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses, and the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and 
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable in the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making 
judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities. We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis, however, actual results 
may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. 

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of 
our audited consolidated financial statements. Management has discussed the development and selection of the following critical 
accounting policies with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee has reviewed our disclosure relating 
to critical accounting policies in this MD&A. 

Revenue Recognition 

[a] Separately Priced Tooling and Engineering Service Contracts 

With respect to our contracts with OEMs for particular vehicle programs, we perform multiple revenue-generating activities. 
The most common arrangement is where, in addition to contracting for the production and sale of parts, we also have a separately 
priced contract with the OEM for related tooling. Under these arrangements, we either construct the tools at our in-house tool 
shops or contract with third party tooling vendors to construct and supply tooling to be used by us in the production of parts for 
the OEM. On completion of the tooling build, and upon acceptance of the tooling by the OEM, we sell the separately priced 
tooling to the OEM pursuant to a separate tooling purchase order. 

In certain cases, such multiple element arrangements also include providing separately priced engineering services in addition 
to tooling and subsequent assembly or production activities. On completion, and upon acceptance by the OEM, we generally 
sell the separately priced engineering services to the OEM prior to the commencement of subsequent assembly or production 
activities. 

During 2004, we adopted CICA Emerging Issues Committee Abstract No. 142, "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple 
Deliverables" ("EIC-142") prospectively for new revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables entered into by us on or after 
January 1, 2004. Under EIC-142, separately priced tooling and engineering services are accounted for as a separate revenue 
element only in circumstances where the tooling and engineering has value to the customer on a standalone basis and there is 
objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the subsequent parts production or vehicle assembly. Based on the typical 
terms and process for the negotiation of separately priced tooling contracts, substantially all such tooling contracts are accounted 
for as separate revenue elements. However, because of the unique contracts related to multiple element arrangements involving 
engineering and subsequent assembly or production activities, all significant arrangements are evaluated in order to determine 
whether the engineering component of the arrangement qualifies as a separate revenue element. If the engineering component 
is not considered to be a separate revenue element, revenues and costs of sales on such activities are deferred and amortized 
on a gross basis over the subsequent assembly or production program. 

Revenues from significant engineering services and tooling contracts that qualify as separate revenue elements are recognized 
on a percentage of completion basis. The percentage of completion method recognizes revenue and cost of sales over the term 
of the contract based on estimates of the state of completion, total contract revenue and total contract costs. Under such 
contracts, the related receivables could be paid in full upon completion of the contract, in instalments or in fixed amounts per 
vehicle based on forecasted production volumes. In the event that actual production volumes are less than those forecasted, a 
reimbursement for any shortfall will be made either annually or at the end of the program life. 

Tooling and engineering contract prices are generally fixed; however, price changes, change orders and program cancellations 
may affect the ultimate amount of revenue recorded with respect to a contract. Contract costs are estimated at the time of 
signing the contract and are reviewed at each reporting date. Adjustments to the original estimates of total contract costs are 
often required as work progresses under the contract and as experience is gained, even though the scope of the work under 
the contract may not change. When the current estimates of total contract revenue and total contract costs indicate a loss, a 
provision for the entire loss on the contract is made. Factors that are considered in arriving at the forecasted loss on a contract 
include, amongst others, cost over-runs, non-reimbursable costs, change orders and potential price changes. 

For U.S. GAAP purposes, we adopted EITF 00-21, "Accounting for Revenue Arrangements With Multiple Deliverables" 
prospectively for new revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables entered into by us on or after January 1, 2004, which 
harmonized our Canadian and U.S. GAAP reporting for such arrangements. For separately priced in-house tooling and engineering 
services contracts provided in conjunction with subsequent production or assembly services entered into prior to January 1, 
2004, the revenues and costs of sales on such activities continue to be deferred and amortized on a gross basis over the 
remaining life of the production or assembly program for U.S. GAAP purposes. 
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[b] Contracts with Purchased Components 

Revenues and cost of sales from separately priced tooling and engineering services contracts are presented on a gross basis in 
the consolidated statements of income (loss) when we are acting as principal and are subject to significant risks and rewards of 
the business. Otherwise, components of revenue and related costs are presented on a net basis. To date, substantially all 
separately priced engineering services and tooling contracts have been recorded on a gross basis. 

As reported above, the reporting of sales and cost of sales for our vehicle assembly contracts is affected by the contractual 
terms of the arrangement. 

In addition to our assembly business, we also enter into production contracts where we are required to coordinate the design, 
manufacture, integration and assembly of a large number of individual parts and components into a modular system for delivery 
to the OEM's vehicle assembly plant. Under these contracts, we manufacture a portion of the products included in the module 
but also purchase components from various sub-suppliers and assemble such components into the completed module. We 
recognize module revenues and cost of sales on a gross basis when we have a combination of: 

• primary responsibility for providing the module to the OEM; 
• responsibility for styling and/or product design specifications; 
• latitude in establishing sub-supplier pricing; 
• responsibility for validation of sub-supplier part quality; 
• inventory risk on sub-supplier parts; 
• exposure to warranty; and 
• exposure to credit risk on the sale of the module to the OEM. 

To date, revenues and cost of sales on our module contracts have been reported on a gross basis. 

Amortized Engineering and Customer Owned Tooling Arrangements 

We incur pre-production engineering research and development ("ER&D") costs related to the products we produce for OEMs under 
long-term supply agreements. We expense ER&D costs, which are paid for as part of the subsequent related production and assembly 
program, as incurred unless a contractual guarantee for reimbursement exists. 

In addition, we expense all costs as incurred related to the design and development of moulds, dies and other tools that we will not 
own and that will be used in, and reimbursed as part of the piece price amount for, subsequent related production or assembly 
program unless the supply agreement provides us with a contractual guarantee for reimbursement of costs or the non-cancellable 
right to use the moulds, dies and other tools during the supply agreement, in which case the costs are capitalized. 

ER&D and customer-owned tooling costs capitalized in "Other assets" are amortized on a units of production basis over the related 
long-term supply agreement. 

Impairment of Goodwill and Other Long-lived Assets 

Goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test or more frequently when an event occurs that more likely than not reduces the fair 
value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. 

We evaluate fixed assets and other long-lived assets for impairment whenever indicators of impairment exist. Indicators of impairment 
include the bankruptcy of a significant customer or the early termination, loss, renegotiation of the terms of, or delay in the 
implementation of, any significant production contract. If the sum of the future cash flows expected to result from the asset, 
undiscounted and without interest charges, is less than the reported value of the asset, an asset impairment would be recognized 
in the consolidated financial statements. The amount of impairment to be recognized is calculated by subtracting the fair value of the 
asset from the reported value of the asset. 

We believe that accounting estimates related to goodwill and long-lived asset impairment assessments are "critical accounting 
estimates" because: (i) they are subject to significant measurement uncertainty and are susceptible to change as management is 
required to make forward-looking assumptions regarding the impact of improvement plans on current operations, in-sourcing and other 
new business opportunities, program price and cost assumptions on current and future business, the timing of new program launches 
and future forecasted production volumes; and (ii) any resulting impairment loss could have a material impact on our consolidated 
net income and on the amount of assets reported in our consolidated balance sheet. 

Warranty 

We record product warranty liabilities based on individual customer agreements. Under most customer agreements, we only account 
for existing or probable claims on product default issues when amounts related to such issues are probable and reasonably estimable. 
Under certain complete vehicle engineering and assembly contracts, we record an estimate of future warranty-related costs based 
on the terms of the specific customer agreements and the specific customers' warranty experience. 
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Product liability provisions are established based on our best estimate of the amounts necessary to settle existing claims on product 
default issues. Recall costs are costs incurred when government regulators and/or our customers decide to recall a product due to 
a known or suspected performance issue, and we are required to participate either voluntarily or involuntarily. Costs typically include 
the cost of the product being replaced, the customer's cost of the recall and labour to remove and replace the defective part. When 
a decision to recall a product has been made or is probable, our estimated cost of the recall is recorded as a charge to income in that 
period. In making this estimate, judgment is required as to the number of units that may be returned as a result of the recall, the total 
cost of the recall campaign, the ultimate negotiated sharing of the cost between us, the customer and, in some cases a supplier. 

Future Income Tax Assets 

At December 31, 2010 we had recorded future tax assets (net of related valuation allowances) in respect of loss carryforwards and 
other deductible temporary differences of $42 million and $108 million, respectively. The future tax assets in respect of loss 
carryforwards relate primarily to Mexican and Canadian subsidiaries. 

On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the realizability of future tax assets by assessing our valuation allowance and by adjusting the 
amount of such allowance as necessary. We have, and we continue to use tax planning strategies to realize future tax assets in order 
to avoid the potential loss of benefits. 

Accounting standards require that we assess whether valuation allowances should be established against our future income tax 
assets based on consideration of all available evidence using a "more likely than not" standard. The factors we use to assess the 
likelihood of realization are our history of losses, our forecasts of future taxable income and tax planning strategies that could be 
implemented to realize the future tax assets. 

At December 31, 2010, we had gross income tax loss carryforwards of approximately $1.5 billion, which relate primarily to operations 
in the United States, the United Kingdom, Belgium, Germany, Austria, Spain and China. The tax benefits of these losses have not 
been recognized in our consolidated financial statements. Of the total losses, $734 million expire between 2011 and 2030 while the 
remainder have no expiry date. 

Given our improved financial results in the United States in 2010 and assuming that the overall economic conditions continue to 
improve in that jurisdiction in 2011, the Company expects to reverse a portion of its valuation allowance against its future tax assets 
in the United States during 2011. The reversal, if any, will not affect our consolidated cash flows, as our tax payments continue to 
benefit from the utilization of loss carryforwards. 

Employee Benefit Plans 

The determination of the obligation and expense for defined benefit pension, termination and long service arrangements and other 
post retirement benefits, such as retiree healthcare and medical benefits, is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used 
by actuaries in calculating such amounts. Those assumptions include, among others, the discount rate, expected long-term rate of 
return on plan assets and rates of increase in compensation costs. Actual results that differ from the assumptions used are 
accumulated and amortized over future periods and therefore, impact the recognized expense and recorded obligation in future 
periods. Significant changes in assumptions or significant plan amendments could materially affect our future employee benefit 
obligations and future expense. 

During the second quarter of 2009, we amended our Retiree Premium Reimbursement Plan in Canada and the United States, such 
that most employees retiring on or after August 1, 2009 will no longer participate in the plan. The amendment will reduce service 
costs and retirement medical benefit expense in 2009 and future years. As a result of amending the plan, a curtailment gain of $26 million 
was recorded in cost of goods sold in the second quarter of 2009. 

At December 31, 2010, we had unrecognized past service costs and actuarial experience losses of $59 million that will be amortized 
to future employee benefit expense over the expected average remaining service life of employees. 

FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Adoption of United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board confirmed the transition from Canadian GAAP to International Financial 
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") for all publicly accountable entities no later than fiscal years commencing on or after January 1, 2011. 
As a result, we undertook a detailed review of the implications of having to report under IFRS and also examined the alternative 
available to us, as a Foreign Private Issuer in the United States, of filing its primary financial statements in Canada using U.S. GAAP, 
as permitted by the Canadian Securities Administrators' National Instrument 51-102, "Continuous Disclosure Obligations". 

In carrying out this evaluation, we considered many factors, including, but not limited to (i) the changes in accounting policies that 
would be required and the resulting impact on our reported results and key performance indicators, (ii) the reporting standards 
expected to be used by many of our industry comparables, and (iii) the financial reporting needs of our market participants, including 
shareholders, lenders, rating agencies and market analysts. 
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As a result of this analysis, we have determined that we will adopt U.S. GAAP as our primary basis of financial reporting with our first 
reporting period beginning after January 1, 2011 on a retrospective basis. The adoption of U.S. GAAP is not anticipated to have a 
material change on our accounting policies or financial results, except for the reporting differences disclosed in note 28 of our 2010 
consolidated financial statements. 

Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements 

In October 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2009-13, "Revenue Recognition (Topic 605) - Multiple-
Deliverable Revenue Arrangements". This ASU eliminates the requirement that undelivered elements must have objective and reliable 
evidence of fair value before a company can recognize the portion of the consideration that is attributable to items that already have 
been delivered. This may allow some companies to recognize revenue on transactions that involve multiple-deliverables earlier than 
under the current requirements. For us, this ASU is effective for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified on or after 
January 1, 2011. This change is not expected to have any material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

Other 

In October 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Sections 1582, "Business Combinations" ("CICA 1582"), 1601 "Consolidated Financial 
Statements" ("CICA 1601"), and 1602 "Non-controlling Interests" ("CICA 1602"). CICA 1582 establishes standards for the measurement 
of a business combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, CICA 1601 carries 
forward the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the preparation of consolidated financial statements subsequent to acquisition 
other than non-controlling interests, and CICA 1602 establishes guidance for the treatment of non-controlling interests subsequent 
to acquisition through a business combination. These new standards would be effective for us in the first quarter of 2011 with earlier 
adoption permitted. As at December 31, 2010, these new standards have not been adopted by us. 

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

From time to time, we may be contingently liable for litigation and other claims. 

Refer to note 26 of our 2010 audited consolidated financial statements, which describes these claims. 

For a discussion of risk factors relating to legal and other claims against us, refer to "Item 3. Description of the Business - Risk Factors" 
in our Annual Information Form and Annual Report on Form 40-F, each in respect of the year ended December 31, 2010. 

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that material information required 
to be publicly disclosed by a public company is communicated in a timely manner to senior management to enable them to make 
timely decisions regarding public disclosure of such information. We have conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and 
procedures as of December 31, 2010 under the supervision, and with the participation of, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief 
Financial Officer. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as this term is defined in the rules adopted by Canadian securities regulatory authorities and the 
United States Securities and Exchange Commission) are effective in providing reasonable assurance that material information relating 
to Magna is made known to them and information required to be disclosed by us is recorded, processed, summarized and reported 
within the time periods specified under applicable law. 

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Due to 
its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. Additionally, 
projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk 
that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate. Our management used the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO) framework to evaluate the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief 
Financial Officer have assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and concluded that, as at December 31, 
2010, such internal control over financial reporting is effective and that there were no material weaknesses. Our independent auditor, 
Ernst & Young LLP, has also issued a report on our consolidated financial statements and internal controls. This report precedes our 
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010. 

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 

There have been no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during 2010 that have materially affected, 
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 
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SELECTED ANNUAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA 

The following selected consolidated financial data has been derived from, and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010. 

2010 2009 2008 

Income Statement Data 

Vehicle Production Volumes (millions of units) 
North America 11.954 8.621 12.622 
Europe 13.304 11.835 14.596 

Average Dollar Content Per Vehicle 
North America 
Europe 

$ 
$ 

988 
536 

$ 
$ 

872 
495 

$ 
$ 

867 
486 

Sales 
External Production 

North America $ 11,816 $ 7,515 $ 10,938 
Europe 7,136 5,857 7,089 
Rest of World 1,031 676 515 

Complete Vehicle Assembly 2,163 1,764 3,306 
Tooling, Engineering and Other 1,956 1,555 1,856 

Total sales $ 24,102 $ 17,367 $ 23,704 

Net income (loss) $ 973 $ (493) $ 71 

Earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share (restated) 
Basic 
Diluted 

$ 
$ 

4.23 
4.18 

$ 
$ 

(2.21) 
(2.21) 

$ 
$ 

0.32 
0.31 

Cash dividends paid per Common Share 
or Class B Share (restated) $ 0.42 $ 0.09 $ 0.63 

Financial Position Data 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Working capital 
Total assets 

$ 
$ 
$ 

2,105 
2,614 

13,898 

$ 
$ 
$ 

1,334 
2,004 

12,303 

$ 
$ 
$ 

2,757 
2,258 

13,189 

Financing Resources 
Liabilities 

Bank indebtedness 
Long-term debt due within one year 
Long-term debt 

$ 26 
25 
46 

$ 48 
16 

115 

$ 909 
157 
143 

97 179 1,209 
Minority interest 74 – – 
Shareholders' equity 8,065 7,360 7,363 

Total capitalization $ 8,236 $ 7,539 $ 8,572 

Changes from 2009 to 2010 are explained in "Results of Operations - For the Year Ended December 31, 2010" section above. 
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2009 COMPARED TO 2008 

SALES 

External Production Sales - North America 

External production sales in North America decreased 31% or $3.4 billion to $7.5 billion for the year ended December 31, 2009 
compared to $10.9 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008. This decrease in production sales reflects a 32% decrease in North 
American vehicle production volumes partially offset by a 1% increase in our North American average dollar content per vehicle. 
More importantly, during 2009 our largest customers in North America continued to reduce vehicle production volumes compared 
to 2008. While North American vehicle production volumes declined 32% in 2009 compared to 2008, Chrysler and GM vehicle 
production declined 48% and 44%, respectively. On a positive note, Ford's vehicle production decline was only 16%. 

Our average dollar content per vehicle grew by 1% or $5 to $872 for the year ended December 31, 2009 compared to $867 for the 
year ended December 31, 2008, primarily as a result of: 

• the launch of new programs during or subsequent to 2008, including the: 
• Ford F-Series and Lincoln Mark LT; 
• Chevrolet Traverse; 
• Chevrolet Equinox and GMC Terrain; and 
• Chevrolet Camaro; 

• favourable production (relative to industry volumes) and/or increased content on certain programs, including the: 
• Ford Escape, Mercury Mariner and Mazda Tribute; and 
• Ford Fusion, Mercury Milan and Lincoln MKZ; 

• acquisitions completed during or subsequent to 2008, including: 
• a substantial portion of Plastech Engineered Products Inc.'s exteriors business ("Plastech"); 
• Meridian; and 
• a stamping and sub-assembly facility in Alabama from Ogihara America Corporation ("Ogihara"); and 

• takeover business that launched during or subsequent to 2008. 

These factors were partially offset by: 

• unfavourable production (relative to industry volumes) and/or lower content on certain programs, including the: 
• Chevrolet Cobalt; 
• Dodge Grand Caravan, Chrysler Town & Country and Volkswagen Routan; 
• Chrysler 300 and 300C and Dodge Charger; and 
• Buick Enclave and GMC Acadia; 

• programs that ended production during or subsequent to 2008, including the: 
• Saturn Vue, Aura and Outlook; 
• Chevrolet Trailblazer and GMC Envoy; and 
• Pontiac G5, G6, Solstice, Sky and GT; 

• a decrease in reported U.S. dollar sales due to the weakening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar; and 
• customer price concessions during or subsequent to 2008. 

External Production Sales - Europe 

External production sales in Europe decreased 17% or $1.2 billion to $5.9 billion for the year ended December 31, 2009 compared 
to $7.1 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008. This decrease in production sales reflects a 19% decrease in European vehicle 
production volumes partially offset by a 2% increase in our European average dollar content per vehicle. 

Our average dollar content per vehicle increased by 2% or $9 to $495 for the year ended December 31, 2009 compared to $486 for 
the year ended December 31, 2008, primarily as a result of: 

• the launch of new programs during or subsequent to 2008, including the: 
• Audi Q5; 
• Volkswagen Golf; 
• Porsche Panamera; 
• Opel/Vauxhall Insignia; 
• BMW One/Cooper Convertible; and 
• Volkswagen A5 Cabrio and Sportback; and 

• acquisitions completed during or subsequent to 2008, including Cadence. 
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These factors were partially offset by: 

• unfavourable production (relative to industry volumes) and/or lower content on certain programs, including the: 
• Mercedes-Benz C-Class; 
• Porsche Cayenne and Volkswagen Touareg; 
• Volkswagen Transporter; 
• BMW X3; 
• Ford Transit; 
• Opel/Vauxhall Vivaro, Nissan Primastar and Renault Trafic; 
• Opel Astra; 
• Audi Q7; and 
• Honda Civic; 

• a decrease in reported U.S. dollar sales due to the weakening of the euro and British pound, each against the U.S. dollar; 
• the sale of certain facilities during or subsequent to 2008; and 
• customer price concessions during or subsequent to 2008. 

External Production Sales - Rest of World 

External production sales in Rest of World increased 31% or $161 million to $676 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 
compared to $515 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, primarily as a result of: 

• increased production and/or content on certain programs in China and Brazil; 
• the launch of new programs during or subsequent to 2008 in China and Japan; and 
• an increase in reported U.S. dollar sales as a result of the strengthening of the Chinese Renminbi against the U.S. dollar. 

These factors were partially offset by: 

• a decrease in reported U.S. dollar sales as a result of the weakening of the Brazilian real, Korean Won and South African Rand, 
each against the U.S. dollar; and 

• decreased production and/or content on certain programs, particularly in South Africa. 

Complete Vehicle Assembly Sales 

Complete vehicle assembly sales decreased 47% or $1.5 billion to $1.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2009 compared to 
$3.3 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008 while assembly volumes decreased 55% or 68,816 units. The decrease in complete 
vehicle assembly volumes is due to a combination of general economic conditions as discussed previously; the natural decline in 
volumes as certain models that we assembled in 2008 approach their scheduled end of production; and a decrease in reported U.S. 
dollar sales due to the weakening of the euro against the U.S. dollar. Partially offsetting these decreases was the launch in the fourth 
quarter of 2009 of the Peugeot RCZ. 

Tooling, Engineering and Other 

Tooling, engineering and other sales decreased 16% or $0.3 billion to $1.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2009 compared 
to $1.9 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008. 

In the year ended December 31, 2009, the major programs for which we recorded tooling, engineering and other sales were the: 

• MINI Cooper, Clubman and Crossman; 
• Chevrolet Silverado and GMC Sierra; 
• Porsche Panamera; 
• Opel/Vauxhall Astra; 
• Audi Q5; 
• BMW X3; 
• Porsche Boxster and Cayman; 
• Porsche Cayenne; 
• Mercedes-Benz M-Class; 
• Peugeot RCZ; 
• Cadillac SRX and Saab 9-4X; 
• Ford F-Series; and 
• Mercedes-Benz C-Class. 
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Unusual Items 

During 2009 and 2008, we recorded certain unusual items as follows: 

2009 2008 
Diluted Diluted 

Operating Net Earnings Operating Net Earnings 
Income Income per Share Income Income per Share 

Impairment charges (1) $ (183) $ (181) $ (0.81) $ (283) $ (246) $ (1.08) 
Restructuring charges (1) (26) (26) (0.12) (84) (60) (0.26) 
Sale of facilities (8) (8) (0.04) – – – 
Curtailment gain 26 20 0.09 – – – 
Foreign currency gain – – – 116 116 0.51 
Valuation allowance on future tax assets (2) – – – – (123) (0.54) 
Total unusual items $ (191) $ (195) $ (0.88) $ (251) $ (313) $ (1.37) 

The unusual items for 2009 have been discussed in the "Unusual Items" section above. During 2008, unusual items were as follows: 

(1) Restructuring and Impairment Charges 

Long-lived Assets 

As a result of the significant and accelerated declines in vehicle production volumes, primarily in North America, we reviewed 
goodwill and long-lived assets for impairment during the third quarter of 2008. Based on this analysis, during 2008 we recorded 
long-lived asset impairment charges of $283 million related primarily to our powertrain, and interior and exterior systems 
operations in the United States and Canada. 

At our powertrain operations, particularly at a facility in Syracuse, New York, asset impairment charges of $189 million were 
recorded primarily as a result of: (i) a dramatic market shift away from truck programs, in particular four wheel drive pick-up 
trucks and SUVs; (ii) excess die-casting, machining and assembly capacity; and (iii) historical losses that were projected to 
continue throughout our business planning period. 

At our interiors and exteriors operations, we recorded $74 million of asset impairment charges primarily as a result of: (i) significantly 
lower volumes on certain pick-up truck and SUV programs; (ii) the loss of certain replacement business; (iii) capacity utilization 
that is not sufficient to support the existing overhead structure; and (iv) historical losses that were projected to continue 
throughout our business planning period. 

Additionally, in North America we recorded asset impairment charges of $12 million related to dedicated assets at a chassis 
systems facility in Canada and a seating systems facility in the United States. In Europe, we recorded an $8 million asset 
impairment related to specific assets at an interior systems facility in the United Kingdom and specific assets at a powertrain 
systems facility in Austria. 

Restructuring Charges 

During 2008, we recorded restructuring and rationalization costs in North America of $79 million in cost of goods sold and $5 million 
in selling, general and administrative expense. These restructuring and rationalization costs were primarily recorded during the 
fourth quarter of 2008 and relate to: (i) the consolidation of interiors and exteriors operations in Canada and the United States; 
(ii) the closure of a seating systems facility in St. Louis, Missouri; (iii) the consolidation of closure systems operations in Canada; 
and (iv) the consolidation of our powertrain die casting operations in Canada and the United States. 

(2) Income Taxes 

During the third quarter of 2008, we recorded a $123 million charge to establish valuation allowances against all of our future tax 
assets in the United States. 

The valuation allowances were required in the United States based on historical consolidated losses at our U.S. operations, that 
were expected to continue in the near-term, the accelerated deterioration of near-term automotive market conditions in the 
United States and the significant and inherent uncertainty as to the timing of when we would be able to generate the necessary 
level of earnings to recover these future tax assets. 
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Gross Margin 

Gross margin decreased $1.0 billion to $1.7 billion for 2009 compared to $2.7 billion for 2008 while gross margin as a percentage of 
total sales decreased to 9.6% for 2009 compared to 11.5% for 2008. The unusual items discussed above negatively impacted gross 
margin as a percentage of total sales in 2008 by 0.3%. Excluding unusual items, gross margin as a percentage of total sales decreased 
by 2.2%. Gross margin as a percentage of total sales was negatively impacted by: 

• lower gross margin earned due to the significant decline in vehicle production volumes; 
• downsizing and other restructuring activities that have not been included in unusual items (as discussed above); 
• costs incurred in preparation for upcoming launches primarily in Europe; 
• electric vehicle development costs; 
• operational inefficiencies and other costs at certain facilities; 
• a favourable revaluation of warranty accruals during 2008; 
• the write-off of uncollectable pre-production costs incurred related to the cancellation of an assembly program in 2009; 
• costs incurred to develop and grow our electronics capabilities; 
• additional supplier insolvency costs; 
• increased commodity costs; and 
• net customer price concessions subsequent to 2008. 

These factors were partially offset by: 

• the benefit of restructuring and downsizing activities and cost saving initiatives (including employee reductions, short work week 
schedules and benefit plan changes) undertaken during or subsequent to 2008; 

• productivity and efficiency improvements at certain facilities; 
• a decrease in complete vehicle assembly sales which have a lower gross margin than our consolidated average; 
• no employee profit sharing for 2009; 
• accelerated amortization of deferred wage buydown assets at a powertrain systems facility in the United States during 2008; 

and 
• the decrease in tooling and other sales that earn low or no margins. 

Depreciation and Amortization 

Depreciation and amortization costs decreased 16% or $136 million to $737 million for 2009 compared to $873 million for 2008. The decrease 
in depreciation and amortization was primarily as a result of: 

• the impairment of certain assets during 2008, in particular at a powertrain systems facility in the United States and certain 
interiors and exteriors systems facilities in North America; 

• the sale or disposition of certain facilities during or subsequent to 2008; and 
• a decrease in reported U.S. dollar depreciation and amortization due to the weakening of the Canadian dollar and euro, each 

against the U.S. dollar. 

These factors were partially offset by acquisitions and capital spending during or subsequent to 2008. 

Selling, General and Administrative 

SG&A expense as a percentage of sales was 7.3% for 2009, compared to 5.6% for 2008. The unusual items discussed in the "Unusual 
Items" section negatively impacted SG&A as a percentage of total sales in 2009 by 0.1% and positively impacted SG&A as a 
percentage of total sales in 2008 by 0.4%. Excluding these unusual items, SG&A as a percentage of total sales increased 1.2%. 

SG&A expense decreased 4% or $58 million to $1.26 billion for 2009 compared to $1.32 billion for 2008. Excluding the unusual items 
recorded in 2009 and 2008 (as discussed above), SG&A expenses decreased by $180 million primarily as a result of: 

• cost saving initiatives, including reduced discretionary spending, employee reductions, reduced bonuses, voluntary wage reductions 
and benefit plan changes; 

• reduced spending at certain facilities as a result of restructuring and downsizing activities that were initiated during or subsequent 
to 2008; 

• in 2009, a $9 million favourable adjustment (2008 - $41 million impairment) of our investment in ABCP; 
• a decrease in reported U.S. dollar SG&A expense due to the weakening of the Canadian dollar and euro, each against the U.S. 

dollar; and 
• the sale or disposition of certain facilities during or subsequent to 2008. 
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These factors were partially offset by: 

• downsizing and other restructuring activities that have not been included in unusual items (as discussed above); 
• accounts receivable valuation allowances recorded in 2009; 
• a favourable settlement on research and development incentives during 2008; 
• due diligence costs associated with our planned investment in Opel, which terminated during 2009; 
• acquisitions completed during or subsequent to 2008, including Cadence; and 
• other losses on disposal of assets. 

Net Income (Loss) 

Net income decreased $564 million to a net loss of $493 million for 2009 compared to net income of $71 million for 2008. Excluding the 
unusual items discussed above, net income decreased $682 million. This decrease in net income is the result of the decrease in 
operating income partially offset by lower income taxes, both as discussed above. 

Earnings (Loss) per Share (restated) 

Diluted earnings per share decreased $2.52 to a loss of $2.21 for 2009 compared to earnings of $0.31 for 2008. Excluding the unusual 
items, discussed above, diluted earnings per share decreased $3.02 from 2008 as a result of a decrease in net income (excluding 
unusual items) described above and a decrease in the weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding during 2009. 

The decrease in the weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding was primarily due to the effect of the repurchase and 
cancellation of Common Shares in 2008 pursuant to our normal course issuer bid and a decrease in the number of diluted shares 
associated with restricted stock and stock options since such shares were anti-dilutive in 2009. 

Financing Resources 

Total capitalization decreased by $1.03 billion to $7.54 billion at December 31, 2009 compared to $8.57 billion at December 31, 2008. 
The decrease in capitalization was a result of a $1.03 billion decrease in liabilities. 

The decrease in liabilities is primarily as a result of a $767 million repayment on our outstanding lines of credit in the first quarter of 
2009, the repayment of our 7.08% Subordinated Debentures during the third quarter of 2009 and the repayment of our 6.5% 
Convertible Subordinated Debentures during the fourth quarter of 2009. These decreases were partially offset by debt assumed on 
the acquisition of Cadence. 

The decrease in shareholders' equity was primarily as a result of: 

• the net loss incurred during 2009; and 
• dividends paid during the first quarter of 2009. 

These factors were partially offset by: 

• a $407 million increase in accumulated net unrealized gains on translation of our net investment in foreign operations, primarily 
as a result of the strengthening of the Canadian dollar, euro and British pound, each against the U.S. dollar between December 31, 
2008 and December 31, 2009; and 

• net unrealized gains on cash flow hedges and the reclassification of net losses on cash flow hedges from accumulated other 
comprehensive income to net loss. 

Cash Resources 

During 2009, our cash resources decreased by $1.4 billion to $1.3 billion primarily as a result of the net repayment of $0.9 billion on 
our outstanding lines of credit, cash used in investing activities, the repayment of our 7.08% Subordinated Debentures and the 
repayment of our 6.5% Convertible Subordinate Debentures, all as discussed previously. In addition to our cash resources, we had 
term and operating lines of credit totalling $2.1 billion. The unused and available portion of our lines of credit increased $0.9 billion to 
$1.9 billion during 2009 due to the net repayment on our operating lines. 

In addition, at December 31, 2009 we held Canadian third party ABCP with a face value of Cdn$134 million and a carrying value of 
Cdn$88 million, which was based on a valuation technique that estimates the fair value based on relevant current market indices for 
instruments of comparable credit quality, term and structure ("current market indices"). 

During 2009, we recorded a $9 million increase in the carrying value of our investment in ABCP due to a tightening of the spread 
between the anticipated return on the restructured notes and the current market indices. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 

The discussion of our results of operations for the three months ended December 31, 2010 contained in the MD&A attached to our 
press release dated February 23, 2011, as filed via the Canadian Securities Administrators' System for Electronic Document Analysis 
and Retrieval (SEDAR) (www.sedar.com), is incorporated by reference herein. 

SELECTED QUARTERLY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA 

The following selected consolidated financial data has been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. 

For the three month periods ended 
Mar 31, 

2010 
Jun 30, 

2010 
Sep 30, 

2010 
Dec 31, 

2010 

Sales $ 5,512 $ 6,050 $ 5,942 $ 6,598 

Net income $ 223 $ 293 $ 241 $ 216 

Earnings per Common Share or Class B Share (restated) 
Basic 
Diluted 

$ 
$ 

1.00 
0.99 

$ 
$ 

1.31 
1.29 

$ 
$ 

1.04 
1.03 

$ 
$ 

0.90 
0.88 

For the three month periods ended 
Mar 31, 

2009 
Jun 30, 

2009 
Sep 30, 

2009 
Dec 31, 

2009 

Sales $ 3,574 $ 3,705 $ 4,669 $ 5,419 

Net income (loss) $ (200) $ (205) $ 51 $ (139) 

Earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share (restated) 
Basic 
Diluted 

$ 
$ 

(0.90) 
(0.90) 

$ 
$ 

(0.91) 
(0.91) 

$ 
$ 

0.22 
0.22 

$ 
$ 

(0.62) 
(0.62) 

In general, sales increased from 2009 to 2010 as a result of a recovery in vehicle production during 2010, compared to the historically 
low level of production in 2009. The third quarter of 2010 is generally affected by the normal seasonal effects of lower vehicle production 
volumes as a result of OEM summer shutdowns. 

Included in the quarterly net income are the following unusual items that have been discussed above: 

For the three month periods ended 
Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30, Dec 31, 

2010 2010 2010 2010 

Impairment charges $ – $ – $ – $ (21) 
Restructuring charges – (21) – (6) 
Sale of facility 14 – – – 

$ 14 $ (21) $ – $ (27) 

Mar 31, 
2009 

For the three month periods ended 
Jun 30, Sep 30, 

2009 2009 
Dec 31, 

2009 

Impairment charges $ – $ (75) $ – $ (106) 
Restructuring charges – (6) – (20) 
Curtailment gain – 20 – – 
Sale of facility – – – (8) 

$ – $ (61) $ – $ (134) 

For more information regarding our quarter over quarter results, please refer to our first, second and third quarter 2010 quarterly 
reports which are available through the internet on the Canadian Securities Administrators' System for Electronic Document Analysis 
and Retrieval (SEDAR) which can be accessed at www.sedar.com. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

The previous discussion contains statements that constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of applicable securities 
legislation, including, but not limited to, statements relating to: future purchases of our Common Shares pursuant to our normal 
course issuer bid and any resultant offsetting of dilution; expected North American, European and global light vehicle production; 
implementation of our strategy, including through organic growth and targeted acquisitions; and renewal of our current credit facility. 
The forward-looking information in this MD&A is presented for the purpose of providing information about management's current 
expectations and plans and such information may not be appropriate for other purposes. Forward-looking statements may include 
financial and other projections, as well as statements regarding our future plans, objectives or economic performance, or the 
assumptions underlying any of the foregoing, and other statements that are not recitations of historical fact. We use words such as 
"may", "would", "could", "should", "will", "likely", "expect", "anticipate", "believe", "intend", "plan", "forecast", "outlook", "project", "estimate" 
and similar expressions suggesting future outcomes or events to identify forward-looking statements. Any such forward-looking 
statements are based on information currently available to us, and are based on assumptions and analyses made by us in light of our 
experience and our perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors we 
believe are appropriate in the circumstances. However, whether actual results and developments will conform with our expectations 
and predictions is subject to a number of risks, assumptions and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control, and the effects 
of which can be difficult to predict, including, without limitation: the potential for a slower than anticipated economic recovery or a 
deterioration of economic conditions; a significant decline in production volumes from current levels and sales levels which are below 
forecast levels; the inability of suppliers to timely accommodate significant, rapid increases in production volumes; our dependence 
on outsourcing by our customers; the termination or non renewal by our customers of any material contracts; our ability to identify 
and successfully exploit shifts in technology; restructuring, downsizing and/or other significant non-recurring costs; impairment 
charges; our ability to successfully grow our sales to non-traditional customers; unfavourable product or customer mix; risks of 
conducting business in foreign countries, including China, India, Brazil, Russia and other developing markets; our ability to quickly shift 
our manufacturing footprint to take advantage of lower cost manufacturing opportunities; our ability to secure sufficient amounts of 
capital to meet our liquidity requirements on favourable terms, disruptions in the capital and credit markets; the deteriorating economic 
condition of several European governments and the potential adverse effect on the global economy; fluctuations in relative currency 
values; exposure to escalating commodities prices; our ability to successfully identify, complete and integrate acquisitions; pricing 
pressures, including our ability to offset price concessions demanded by our customers; warranty and recall costs; the financial 
condition and credit worthiness of some of our OEM customers, including the potential that such customers may not make, or may 
seek to delay or reduce, payments owed to us; the financial condition of some of our suppliers and the risk of their insolvency, 
bankruptcy or financial restructuring; the highly competitive nature of the automotive parts supply business; product liability claims 
in excess of our insurance coverage; changes in our mix of earnings between jurisdictions with lower tax rates and those with higher 
tax rates, as well as our ability to fully benefit tax losses; other potential tax exposures; legal claims against us; work stoppages and 
labour relations disputes; changes in laws and governmental regulations; costs associated with compliance with environmental laws 
and regulations; risks associated with our pursuit of opportunities in complementary "non-automotive" businesses; risks associated 
with our partnership, Magna E-Car Systems, with the Stronach group to continue to pursue opportunities in the vehicle electrification 
business; and other factors set out in our Annual Information Form filed with securities commissions in Canada and our annual report 
on Form 40-F filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, and subsequent filings, including, without limitation, 
factors set out in our Management Information Circular/Proxy Statement, dated May 31, 2010 under the heading "Risks Relating to 
the Vehicle Electrification Joint Venture" and "Risks to Magna of the E-Car Business". In evaluating forward-looking statements, we 
caution readers not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements and readers should specifically consider the various 
factors which could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements. 
Unless otherwise required by applicable securities laws, we do not intend, nor do we undertake any obligation, to update or revise 
any forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent information, events, results or circumstances or otherwise. 
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MAGNA INTERNATIONAL INC. 
Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting 

Magna's management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements and all the 
information in the accompanying Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position ("MD&A"). 
The consolidated financial statements were prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

Where alternative accounting methods exist, management has selected those it considered to be most appropriate in the 
circumstances. Financial statements include certain amounts based on estimates and judgments. Management has determined such 
amounts on a reasonable basis designed to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly, in all material 
respects. Financial information presented in the accompanying MD&A has been prepared by management to ensure consistency with 
that in the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, 
audited by the independent auditors and approved by the Board of Directors of the Company. 

Management is responsible for the development and maintenance of systems of internal accounting and administrative cost controls 
of high quality, consistent with reasonable cost. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that financial information 
is accurate, relevant and reliable, and that the Company's activities are appropriately accounted for and assets are adequately 
safeguarded. In compliance with U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") requirements and Section 404 of the U.S. 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act ("SOX"), management has determined that as at December 31, 2010 internal control over financial reporting is, 
in all material respects, effective. The Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, in compliance with Section 302 
of SOX, provide a certification related to the Company's annual disclosure document in the U.S. (Form 40-F) to the SEC. According 
to Multilateral Instrument 52-109, the same certification is provided to the Canadian Securities Administrators. 

The Company's Audit Committee is appointed by its Board of Directors annually and is comprised solely of independent directors. 
The Audit Committee meets regularly with management, as well as with the independent auditors, to satisfy itself that each is 
properly discharging its responsibilities, to review the consolidated financial statements and the independent auditors' report and to 
discuss significant financial reporting issues and auditing matters. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors 
for consideration when approving the consolidated financial statements for issuance to the shareholders. 

The consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting have been audited by Ernst & 
Young LLP, the independent auditors, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) on behalf of the shareholders. The Independent Auditors' Reports on 
the consolidated financial statements and internal controls outline the nature of their examinations and their opinions. The independent 
auditors have full and unrestricted access to the Audit Committee. 

/s/ Donald J. Walker /s/ Vincent J. Galifi 

Donald J. Walker Vincent J. Galifi 
Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice-President 

and Chief Financial Officer 

Toronto, Canada, 
March 16, 2011 
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Independent Auditors' Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Shareholders of 
Magna International Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Magna International Inc. (the "Company"), which comprise 
the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated statements of income (loss) and 
comprehensive income (loss), retained earnings and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 
2010, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors' responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors 
consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements, evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as 
at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period 
ended December 31, 2010 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

Other matter 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on the criteria established in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated 
March 16, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting. 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 

Chartered Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
March 16, 2011 
Toronto, Canada 
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Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Controls Under Standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 

To the Shareholders of 
Magna International Inc. 

We have audited Magna International Inc.'s (the "Company") internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2010, based 
on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (the "COSO" criteria). The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over 
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying 
Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial 
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal 
control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We 
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to 
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of 
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 
2010, based on the COSO criteria. 

We also have audited, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
and the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), retained earnings and cash flows for each of the 
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2010 and our report dated March 16, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion 
thereon. 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 

Chartered Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
March 16, 2011 
Toronto, Canada 
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MAGNA INTERNATIONAL INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) 
and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

[U.S. dollars in millions, except per share figures] 

Years ended December 31, 

Note 2010 2009 2008 

Sales $ 24,102 $ 17,367 $ 23,704 

Costs and expenses 
Cost of goods sold 5, 17 20,924 15,697 20,982 
Depreciation and amortization 661 737 873 
Selling, general and administrative 5, 10, 18, 21 1,340 1,261 1,319 
Interest (income) expense, net 16 (10) 7 (62) 
Equity income (33) (7) (19) 
Impairment charges 5 23 183 283 

Income (loss) from operations before income taxes 
and minority interest 1,197 (511) 328 

Income taxes 13 236 (18) 257 
Minority interest (12) – – 
Net income (loss) 973 (493) 71 
Other comprehensive income (loss): 21 

Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) on translation 
of net investment in foreign operations 18 407 (881) 

Repurchase of shares 19 (3) – (32) 
Net unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges 81 41 (102) 
Reclassification of net (gains) losses on cash flow hedges 

to net income (loss) (28) 59 (1) 
Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale investments 11 – – 

Comprehensive income (loss) $ 1,052 $ 14 $ (945) 

Earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share 
[restated - note 3] 

Basic 
Diluted 

6 
$ 
$ 

4.23 
4.18 

$ 
$ 

(2.21) 
(2.21) 

$ 
$ 

0.32 
0.31 

Cash dividends paid per Common Share or Class B Share 
[restated - note 3] $ 0.42 $ 0.09 $ 0.63 

Average number of Common Shares and Class B Shares 
outstanding during the year [in millions] 
[restated - note 3]: 

Basic 
Diluted 

6 
230.0 
233.0 

223.6 
223.6 

225.6 
227.8 

See accompanying notes 
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MAGNA INTERNATIONAL INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Retained Earnings 

[U.S. dollars in millions] 

Years ended December 31, 

Note 2010 2009 2008 

Retained earnings, beginning of year $ 2,843 $ 3,357 $ 3,526 
Net income (loss) 973 (493) 71 
Dividends on Common Shares and Class B Shares (102) (21) (142) 
Repurchase of Class B Shares 4, 19 (976) – – 
Repurchase of Common Shares 19 (13) – (98) 
Retained earnings, end of year $ 2,725 $ 2,843 $ 3,357 

See accompanying notes 

MAGNA INTERNATIONAL INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

[U.S. dollars in millions] 

Years ended December 31, 

Note 2010 2009 2008 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net income (loss) $ 973 $ (493) $ 71 
Items not involving current cash flows 7 722 1,114 1,258 

1,695 621 1,329 
Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities 7 177 (94) (275) 
Cash provided from operating activities 1,872 527 1,054 

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES 
Fixed asset additions 
Purchase of subsidiaries 
Increase in investments and other assets 
Proceeds from disposition 
Cash used for investment activities 

8 
(784) 
(106) 
(141) 
287 

(744) 

(629) 
(50) 

(227) 
30 

(876) 

(739) 
(158) 
(231) 

65 
(1,063) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
(Decrease) increase in bank indebtedness 
Repayments of debt 
Issues of debt 
Issue of general partnership units by subsidiary 
Issues of Common Shares 
Settlement of stock appreciation rights 
Settlement of stock options 
Repurchase of Common Shares 
Repurchase of Class B Shares 
Dividends 
Cash (used for) provided from financing activities 

16 
16 
4 

19 
18 
18 
19 

4, 19 

(4) 
(67) 
22 
80 
49 

– 
(12) 
(23) 

(300) 
(100) 
(355) 

(853) 
(296) 

5 
– 
2 
(1) 
– 
– 
– 

(21) 
(1,164) 

827 
(354) 

3 
– 
– 
– 
– 

(247) 
– 

(140) 
89 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (2) 90 (277) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the year 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 

771 
1,334 
2,105 $ 

(1,423) 
2,757 
1,334 $ 

(197) 
2,954 
2,757 

See accompanying notes 
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MAGNA INTERNATIONAL INC. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

[U.S. dollars in millions] 

As at December 31, 

Note 2010 2009 

ASSETS 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 7 $ 2,105 $ 1,334 
Accounts receivable 3,645 3,062 
Inventories 9 1,896 1,721 
Income taxes receivable 13 – 50 
Prepaid expenses and other 168 136 

7,814 6,303 

Investments 10, 17 277 238 
Fixed assets, net 5, 11 3,889 3,811 
Goodwill 5, 12 1,188 1,132 
Future tax assets 13 150 168 
Other assets 5, 14 580 651 

$ 13,898 $ 12,303 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Current liabilities 
Bank indebtedness 16 $ 26 $ 48 
Accounts payable 3,586 3,001 
Accrued salaries and wages 462 372 
Other accrued liabilities 15 909 862 
Income taxes payable 192 – 
Long-term debt due within one year 16 25 16 

5,200 4,299 

Deferred revenue 15 19 
Long-term debt 16 46 115 
Other long-term liabilities 17 367 369 
Future tax liabilities 13 131 141 

5,759 4,943 

Minority interest 74 – 

Shareholders' equity 
Capital stock 3, 19 

Common Shares 
[issued: 242,564,616; 2009 - 223,866,062] [restated - note 3] 4,335 3,613 

Class B Shares 
[convertible into Common Shares] 
[issued: nil; December 31, 2009 - 1,453,658] [restated - note 3] – – 

Contributed surplus 20 85 63 
Retained earnings 19 2,725 2,843 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 21 920 841 

8,065 7,360 
$ 13,898 $ 12,303 

Commitments and contingencies [notes 16, 23 and 26] 

See accompanying notes 

On behalf of the Board: /s/ Donald Resnick /s/ Frank Stronach 

Donald Resnick Frank Stronach 
Director Chairman of the Board 
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MAGNA INTERNATIONAL INC. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

[All amounts in U.S. dollars and all tabular amounts in millions, except per share figures, unless otherwise noted] 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Magna International Inc. designs, develops and manufactures automotive systems, assemblies, modules and components, 
and engineers and assembles complete vehicles, primarily for sale to original equipment manufacturers ["OEMs"] of cars and 
light trucks in North America, Europe, Asia, South America and Africa. 

Basis of presentation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in U.S. dollars following Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles ["Canadian GAAP"]. These principles are also in conformity, in all material respects, with United States generally 
accepted accounting principles ["U.S. GAAP"], except as described in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Magna International Inc. and its subsidiaries [collectively "Magna" 
or the "Company"], some of which have a minority interest. The Company also consolidates variable interest entities in which 
the Company is designated as the primary beneficiary in accordance with Accounting Guideline ["AcG"] AcG-15, "Consolidation 
of Variable Interest Entities". The Company accounts for its interests in jointly controlled entities using the proportionate 
consolidation method. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. 

Financial instruments 

The Company classifies all of its financial assets and financial liabilities as held-for-trading, held-to-maturity investments, loans 
and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets, or other financial liabilities. Held-for-trading financial instruments, which 
include cash and cash equivalents and the Company's investment in asset-backed commercial paper ["ABCP"] are measured 
at fair value and all gains and losses are included in net income (loss) in the period in which they arise. Held-to-maturity 
investments, which include long-term interest bearing government securities held to partially fund certain Austrian lump sum 
termination and long service payment arrangements, are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
Loans and receivables, which include accounts receivable, long-term receivables and accounts payable, are recorded at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Available-for-sale financial instruments are recorded at cost and are 
subsequently measured at fair value with all revaluation gains and losses included in other comprehensive income. 

Foreign currency translation 

The Company operates globally, which gives rise to a risk that its earnings and cash flows may be adversely impacted by 
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. 

Assets and liabilities of the Company's operations having a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar are translated into 
U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect at year end, and revenues and expenses are translated at the average rate during 
the year. Exchange gains or losses on translation of the Company's net investment in these operations are included in 
comprehensive income (loss) and are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income. Foreign exchange gains or losses 
on non-U.S. dollar debt that was designated as a hedge of the Company's net investment in these operations are also recorded 
in accumulated other comprehensive income. The appropriate amounts of exchange gains or losses in accumulated other 
comprehensive income are reflected in income when there is a reduction, as a result of capital transactions, in the Company's 
net investment in the operations that gave rise to such exchange gains and losses. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses on transactions occurring in a currency other than an operation's functional currency are 
reflected in income, except for gains and losses on foreign exchange contracts used to hedge specific future commitments 
in foreign currencies and on intercompany balances which are designated as long-term investments. In particular, the Company 
uses foreign exchange forward contracts for the sole purpose of hedging certain of the Company's future committed Canadian 
dollar, U.S. dollar and euro ["€"] outflows and inflows. All derivative instruments, including foreign exchange contracts, are 
recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value. The fair values of derivatives are recorded in other assets or other 
liabilities. To the extent that cash flow hedges are effective, the change in their fair value is recorded in other comprehensive 
income (loss); any ineffective portion is recorded in net income (loss). Amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income 
(loss) are reclassified to net income (loss) in the period in which the hedged item affects net income (loss). 

If the Company's foreign exchange forward contracts ceased to be effective as hedges, for example, if projected foreign cash 
inflows or outflows declined significantly, gains or losses pertaining to the portion of the hedging transactions in excess of 
projected foreign currency denominated cash flows would be recognized in income at the time this condition was identified. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on account, demand deposits and short-term investments with remaining maturities 
of less than three months at acquisition. 

Inventories 

Production inventories and tooling inventories manufactured in-house are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, 
with cost being determined substantially on a first-in, first-out basis. Cost includes the cost of materials plus direct labour 
applied to the product and the applicable share of manufacturing overhead. 

Outsourced tooling inventories are valued at the lower of subcontracted costs and net realizable value. 

Investments 

The Company accounts for its investments in which it has significant influence on the equity basis. Investments also include 
the Company's investment in ABCP, public company shares and long-term interest bearing government securities held to 
partially fund certain Austrian lump sum termination and long service payment arrangements pursuant to local tax laws. 

Long-lived assets 

Fixed assets are recorded at historical cost. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
fixed assets at annual rates of 2½% to 5% for buildings, 7% to 10% for general purpose equipment and 10% to 30% for 
special purpose equipment. 

Definite-lived intangible assets, which have arisen principally through acquisitions, are amortized on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives, typically over periods not exceeding five years. 

The Company assesses fixed and other long-lived assets [excluding goodwill] for recoverability whenever indicators of 
impairment exist. If the carrying value of the asset exceeds the estimated undiscounted cash flows from the use of the asset, 
then an impairment loss is recognized to write the asset down to fair value. The fair value of the long-lived assets is generally 
determined using estimated discounted future cash flows. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired enterprise over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed less any subsequent writedowns for impairment. Goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test. Goodwill 
impairment is evaluated between annual tests upon the occurrence of certain events or circumstances. Goodwill impairment 
is assessed based on a comparison of the fair value of a reporting unit to the underlying carrying value of the reporting unit's 
net assets, including goodwill. When the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the fair value of the 
reporting unit's goodwill is compared with its carrying amount to measure the amount of impairment, if any. The fair value of 
goodwill is determined using the estimated discounted future cash flows of the reporting unit. 

Other assets 

Other assets include the long-term portion of certain receivables, which represent the recognized sales value of tooling and 
design and engineering services provided to customers under certain long-term contracts. The receivables will be paid in full 
upon completion of the contracts or in instalments based on forecasted production volumes. In the event that actual production 
volumes are less than those forecasted, a reimbursement for any shortfall will be made. 

Preproduction costs related to long-term supply agreements 

Pre-operating costs incurred in establishing new facilities that require substantial time to reach commercial production capability 
are expensed as incurred. 

Costs incurred [net of customer subsidies] related to design and engineering, which are paid for as part of subsequent 
production piece price amounts, are expensed as incurred unless a contractual guarantee for reimbursement exists. 

Costs incurred [net of customer subsidies] related to design and development costs for moulds, dies and other tools that the 
Company does not own [and that will be used in, and paid for as part of the piece price amount for, subsequent production] 
are expensed as incurred unless the supply agreement provides a contractual guarantee for reimbursement or the non-
cancellable right to use the moulds, dies and other tools during the supply agreement. 

Costs deferred in the above circumstances are included in other assets and amortized on a units-of-production basis to cost 
of goods sold over the anticipated term of the supply agreement. 
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Warranty 

The Company records product warranty liabilities based on its individual customer agreements. Under most customer 
agreements, the Company only accounts for existing or probable claims on product default issues when amounts related to 
such issues are probable and reasonably estimable. Under certain complete vehicle engineering and assembly contracts, the 
Company records an estimate of future warranty-related costs based on the terms of the specific customer agreements and 
the specific customer's warranty experience. 

Product liability provisions are established based on the Company's best estimate of the amounts necessary to settle existing 
claims on product default issues. Recall costs are costs incurred when government regulators and/or the customer decides 
to recall a product due to a known or suspected performance issue, and the Company is required to participate, either 
voluntarily or involuntarily. Costs typically include the cost of the product being replaced, the customer's cost of the recall and 
labour to remove and replace the defective part. When a decision to recall a product has been made or is probable, the 
Company's estimated cost of the recall is recorded as a charge to income in that period. In making this estimate, judgment 
is required as to the number of units that may be returned as a result of the recall, the total cost of the recall campaign and 
the ultimate negotiated sharing of the cost between the Company, the customer and, in some cases, a supplier to the 
Company. 

Employee future benefit plans 

The cost of providing benefits through defined benefit pensions, lump sum termination and long service payment 
arrangements, and post-retirement benefits other than pensions is actuarially determined and recognized in income using the 
projected benefit method pro-rated on service and management's best estimate of expected plan investment performance, 
salary escalation, retirement ages of employees and, with respect to medical benefits, expected health care costs. Differences 
arising from plan amendments, changes in assumptions and experience gains and losses that are greater than 10% of the 
greater of the accrued benefit obligation at the beginning of the year and the fair value, or market related value, of plan assets 
at the beginning of the year, are recognized in income over the expected average remaining service life of employees. Gains 
related to plan curtailments are recognized when the event giving rise to the curtailment has occurred. Plan assets are valued 
at fair value. The cost of providing benefits through defined contribution pension plans is charged to income in the period in 
respect of which contributions become payable. 

Asset retirement obligation 

The Company recognizes its obligation to restore leased premises at the end of the lease by recording at lease inception the 
estimated fair value of this obligation as other long-term liabilities with a corresponding amount recognized as fixed assets. 
The fixed asset amount is amortized over the period from lease inception to the time the Company expects to vacate the 
premises, resulting in both depreciation and interest charges. The estimated fair value of the obligation is assessed for changes 
in the expected timing and extent of expenditures with changes related to the time value of money recorded as interest 
expense. 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue from the sale of manufactured products is recognized when the price is fixed or determinable, collectability is 
reasonably assured and upon shipment to [or receipt by customers, depending on contractual terms], and acceptance by, 
customers. 

Separately priced tooling and engineering services are accounted for as a separate revenue element only in circumstances 
where the tooling and engineering has value to the customer on a standalone basis and there is objective and reliable evidence 
of the fair value of the subsequent parts production or vehicle assembly. Revenues from significant engineering services and 
tooling contracts that qualify as separate revenue elements are recognized on a percentage of completion basis. Percentage-
of-completion is generally determined based on the proportion of accumulated expenditures to date as compared to total 
anticipated expenditures. 

Revenue and cost of goods sold, including amounts from separately priced engineering and tooling contracts, are presented 
on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) when the Company is 
acting as principal and is subject to significant risks and rewards in connection with the process of bringing the product to its 
final state and in the post-sale dealings with its customers. Otherwise, components of revenues and related costs are 
presented on a net basis. With respect to vehicle assembly sales, where Magna is acting as principal with respect to purchased 
components and systems, the selling price to the customer includes the costs of such inputs. These programs are accounted 
for on a full-cost basis under which sales and cost of goods sold include these input costs. Where third-party components and 
systems are held on consignment by the Company, the selling price to the customer reflects a value-added assembly fee 
only and, accordingly, the costs of such consignment inputs are not included in sales and cost of goods sold. 
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Government financing 

The Company makes periodic applications for financial assistance under available government assistance programs in the 
various jurisdictions that the Company operates. Grants and tax credits relating to capital expenditures are reflected as a 
reduction of the cost of the related assets. Grants and tax credits relating to current operating expenditures are generally 
recorded as a reduction of the related expense at the time the eligible expenses are incurred. In the case of certain foreign 
subsidiaries, the Company receives tax super allowances, the benefits of which are recorded as a reduction of income tax 
expense. The Company also receives loans which are recorded as liabilities in amounts equal to the cash received. 

Research and development 

Research costs are expensed as incurred and development costs which meet certain criteria where future benefit is reasonably 
certain are deferred to the extent of their estimated recovery. As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, no development costs were 
deferred. 

Income taxes 

The Company uses the liability method of tax allocation to account for income taxes. Under the liability method of tax allocation, 
future tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and are measured using the substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences 
are expected to reverse. 

No future tax liability is recorded for taxes on undistributed earnings and translation adjustments of foreign subsidiaries. These 
items are either considered to be reinvested for the foreseeable future or if they are available for repatriation, are not subject 
to further tax on remittance in the current circumstances. Taxes will be recorded on such foreign undistributed earnings and 
translation adjustments when it becomes apparent that such earnings will be distributed in the foreseeable future and will incur 
further significant tax on remittance. 

Stock-based compensation 

Compensation expense is recognized for stock options based upon the fair value of the options at the grant or modification 
date. The fair value of the options is recognized over the vesting period of the options as compensation expense in selling, 
general and administrative expense with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. 

The fair value of stock options is estimated at the grant or modification date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. This 
model requires the input of a number of assumptions, including expected dividend yields, expected stock price volatility, 
expected time until exercise and risk-free interest rates. Although the assumptions used reflect management's best estimates, 
they involve inherent uncertainties based on market conditions generally outside the Company's control. If other assumptions 
are used, stock-based compensation expense could be significantly impacted. 

As stock options are exercised, the proceeds received on exercise, in addition to the portion of the contributed surplus balance 
related to those stock options, is credited to Common Shares and contributed surplus is reduced accordingly. 

The Company's restricted stock plans and restricted share unit plans are measured at fair value at the date of grant or 
modification and amortized to compensation expense from the effective date of the grant to the final vesting date in selling, 
general and administrative expense with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. As restricted stock or restricted 
share units are released under the plans, the portion of the contributed surplus balance relating to the restricted stock or 
restricted share units is credited to Common Shares and released from contributed surplus. 

Comprehensive income (loss) 

Other comprehensive income (loss) includes unrealized gains and losses on translation of the Company's net investment in 
self sustaining foreign operations, the change in fair value of available-for-sale investments, net of taxes and to the extent that 
cash flow hedges are effective, the change in their fair value, net of income taxes. Other comprehensive income (loss) is 
presented below net income (loss) on the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). 
Comprehensive income (loss) is composed of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). 

Accumulated other comprehensive income is a separate component of shareholders' equity which includes the accumulated 
balances of all components of other comprehensive income (loss) which are recognized in comprehensive income (loss) but 
excluded from net income (loss). 
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Earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share 

Basic earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share are calculated on net income (loss) using the weighted average 
number of Common Shares and Class B Shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share are calculated on the weighted average number of Common 
Shares and Class B Shares including an adjustment for stock options outstanding using the treasury stock method. 

Common Shares that have not been released under the Company's restricted stock plan or are being held in trust for purposes 
of the Company's restricted stock unit program have been excluded from the calculation of basic earnings (loss) per share but 
have been included in the calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per share. 

Use of estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

2. FUTURE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

Adoption of United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board confirmed the transition from Canadian GAAP to International 
Financial Reporting Standards ["IFRS"] for all publicly accountable entities no later than fiscal years commencing on or after 
January 1, 2011. As a result, management undertook a detailed review of the implications of Magna having to report under 
IFRS and also examined the alternative available to the Company, as a Foreign Private Issuer in the United States, of filing its 
primary financial statements in Canada using U.S. GAAP, as permitted by the Canadian Securities Administrators' National 
Instrument 51-102, "Continuous Disclosure Obligations". 

In carrying out this evaluation, management considered many factors, including, but not limited to (i) the changes in accounting 
policies that would be required and the resulting impact on the Company's reported results and key performance indicators, 
(ii) the reporting standards expected to be used by many of the Company's industry comparables, and (iii) the financial reporting 
needs of the Company's market participants, including shareholders, lenders, rating agencies and market analysts. 

As a result of this analysis, management has determined that Magna will adopt U.S. GAAP as its primary basis of financial 
reporting with our first reporting period beginning after January 1, 2011 on a retrospective basis. The adoption of U.S. GAAP 
is not anticipated to have a material change on the Company's accounting policies or financial results, except for the reporting 
differences disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements 

In October 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ["ASU"] 2009-13, "Revenue Recognition [Topic 605] - Multiple-
Deliverable Revenue Arrangements". This ASU eliminates the requirement that undelivered elements must have objective and 
reliable evidence of fair value before a company can recognize the portion of the consideration that is attributable to items that 
already have been delivered. This may allow some companies to recognize revenue on transactions that involve multiple-
deliverables earlier than under the current requirements. For Magna, this ASU is effective for revenue arrangements entered 
into or materially modified on or after January 1, 2011. This change is not expected to have any material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Other 

In October 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Sections 1582, "Business Combinations" ["CICA 1582"], 1601 "Consolidated 
Financial Statements" ["CICA 1601"], and 1602 "Non-controlling Interests" ["CICA 1602"]. CICA 1582 establishes standards for 
the measurement of a business combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, 
CICA 1601 carries forward the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
subsequent to acquisition other than non-controlling interests, and CICA 1602 establishes guidance for the treatment of non-
controlling interests subsequent to acquisition through a business combination. These new standards would be effective for 
Magna in the first quarter of 2011 with earlier adoption permitted. As at December 31, 2010, these new standards have not 
been adopted by the Company. 
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3. STOCK SPLIT 

On November 24, 2010, the Company completed a two-for-one stock split, which was implemented by way of a stock dividend, 
whereby shareholders received an additional Common Share for each Common Share held. All equity-based compensation 
plans or arrangements were adjusted to reflect the issuance of additional Common Shares. 

Accordingly, all of the Company's issued and outstanding Class A Subordinate Voting, Common and Class B shares, including 
those issued in relation to the Arrangement [note 4], incentive stock options, and stock appreciation rights ["SARs"] have been 
restated for all periods presented to reflect the stock split. In addition, earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share, 
Cash dividends paid per Common Share or Class B Share, weighted average number of Common Shares or Class B Shares 
outstanding, weighted average exercise price for stock options and the weighted average fair value of options granted or 
modified have been restated for all periods presented to reflect the stock split. 

4. PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT 

On August 31, 2010, following approval by the Class A Subordinate Voting and Class B Shareholders, the Company completed 
a court-approved plan of arrangement [the "Arrangement"] in which the Company's dual-class share structure was collapsed. 
In addition, the transaction: (i) set a termination date and declining fee schedule for the consulting, business development and 
business services contracts Magna has in place with its Chairman, Frank Stronach and his affiliated entities; and (ii) established 
a partnership with the Stronach group to pursue opportunities in the vehicle electrification business. 

[a] Capital Transaction 

The Company purchased for cancellation all 1,453,658 outstanding Class B Shares [restated to reflect the stock split], 
which were held indirectly by the Stronach group, for $300 million in cash and 18.0 million newly issued Class A 
Subordinate Voting Shares [restated to reflect the stock split]. The newly issued shares held indirectly by the Stronach 
group represented an equal equity ownership and voting interest of 7.4% as of August 31, 2010. The costs related to the 
Arrangement were $10 million, net of tax. 

In addition, Magna's Articles were amended to remove the Class B Shares from the authorized capital and to make non-
substantive consequential changes, including renaming the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares as Common Shares and 
eliminating provisions which no longer apply due to the elimination of the Class B Shares. 

[b] Vehicle Electrification Partnership 

The partnership, Magna E-Car Systems ["E-Car"], involves the engineering, development and integration of electric vehicles 
of any type, the development, testing and manufacturing of batteries and battery packs for hybrid and electric vehicles 
and all ancillary activities in connection with electric vehicle technologies. Magna's original investment in the partnership 
included the assets of the Company's recently established E-Car Systems vehicle electrification and battery business 
unit, certain other vehicle electrification assets, and $145 million in cash. On August 31, 2010, the Stronach group invested 
$80 million in cash for a 27% equity interest in the partnership, reducing Magna's equity interest to 73%. For accounting 
purposes, the partnership is a variable interest entity. Although voting control of the partnership is held by the Stronach 
group, Magna is considered the primary beneficiary; and as a result, continues to consolidate the partnership. 

The impact of the Arrangement on the August 31, 2010 consolidated balance sheet was as follows [restated to reflect 
the stock split]: 

Class A 
Subordinate 
Voting Share 

Issuance 

Class B 
Share 

Repurchase 

Stronach 
Group 

Investment 
in E-Car 

Net 
Impact 

Number of shares issued (repurchased) 18,000,000 (1,453,658) – 16,546,342 

Cash received (paid) (10) (300) 80 (230) 

Increase in minority interest – – 80 80 

Increase in capital stock 666 – – 666 
Decrease in retained earnings (676) (300) – (976) 
Decrease in shareholders' equity (10) (300) – (310) 
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5. RESTRUCTURING AND IMPAIRMENT CHARGES 

The Company completes its annual goodwill and long-lived asset impairment analyses in the fourth quarter of each year in 
conjunction with its annual business planning cycle. Based on this analysis and consideration of other indicators of impairment, 
the Company recorded goodwill and long-lived asset impairment charges as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

North America [a] 
Long-lived assets 
Goodwill 

$ 7 
– 
7 

$ 13 
100 
113 

$ 275 
– 

275 

Europe [b] 
Long-lived assets 

$ 
16 
23 $ 

70 
183 $ 

8 
283 

[a] North America 

For the year ended December 31, 2010 

During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $7 million [$5 million 
after tax] related to a die casting facility in Canada. 

In addition, during 2010, the Company recorded restructuring and rationalization costs of $29 million [$24 million after tax] 
in costs of goods sold and $3 million [$3 million after tax] in selling, general and administrative expense related to the 
planned closure of a powertrain systems facility and two body & chassis systems facilities in the United States, 
substantially all of which will be paid subsequent to 2010. 

For the year ended December 31, 2009 

In conjunction with its annual business planning cycle, during the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company determined that 
its Car Top Systems ["CTS"] North America reporting unit could potentially be impaired, primarily as a result of: (i) a dramatic 
reduction in the market for soft tops, hard tops and modular retractable hard tops; and (ii) historical losses that were 
projected to continue throughout the Company's business planning period. Based on the reporting unit's discounted 
forecast cash flows, the Company recorded a $25 million goodwill impairment charge. 

In addition, during the second quarter of 2009, after failing to reach a favourable labour agreement at a powertrain facility 
in Syracuse, New York, the Company decided to wind down these operations. Given the significance of the facility's cash 
flows in relation to the reporting unit, management determined that it was more likely than not that goodwill at its 
Powertrain North America reporting unit could potentially be impaired. Therefore, the Company recorded a $75 million 
goodwill impairment charge. 

The goodwill impairment charges were calculated by determining the implied fair value of goodwill in the same manner 
as if it had acquired the Powertrain and CTS reporting units as at June 30, 2009 and December 31, 2009, respectively. 

During the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $13 million [$11 million 
after tax] related to fixed assets at a die casting facility in Canada and an anticipated under recovery of capitalized tooling 
costs at a stamping facility in the United States due to significantly lower volumes on certain SUV programs. 

During the second quarter of 2009, the Company recorded restructuring costs of $6 million in cost of goods sold [$6 
million after tax] related to the planned closure of a powertrain facility in Syracuse, New York, substantially all of which 
remains to be paid subsequent to 2010. 

For the year ended December 31, 2008 

During 2008, the Company recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $275 million [$238 million after tax], related 
primarily to its powertrain and interior and exterior systems operations in the United States and Canada. 

At the Company's powertrain operations, particularly at a facility in Syracuse, New York, asset impairment charges of 
$189 million [$169 million after tax] were recorded primarily as a result of: (i) a dramatic market shift away from truck 
programs, in particular four wheel drive pick-up trucks and SUVs; (ii) excess die-casting, machining and assembly capacity; 
and (iii) historical losses that were projected to continue throughout the Company's business planning period. 
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At its interiors and exteriors operations, the Company recorded $74 million [$61 million after tax] of asset impairment 
charges primarily as a result of: (i) significantly lower volumes on certain pick-up truck and SUV programs; (ii) the loss of 
certain replacement business; and (iii) historical losses that were projected to continue throughout the Company's 
business planning period. 

In addition, the Company recorded asset impairment charges of $12 million [$8 million after tax] related to dedicated 
assets at a chassis systems facility in Canada and a seating systems facility in the United States. 

During 2008, the Company recorded restructuring and rationalization costs of $79 million in cost of goods sold and $5 
million in selling, general and administrative expense [$60 million after tax] related to the above long-lived asset 
impairments and other restructuring activities. Substantially all of the $84 million was paid during 2009. 

[b] Europe 

For the year ended December 31, 2010 

During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $16 million [$16 million 
after tax] related to an interiors systems facility in Germany. 

For the year ended December 31, 2009 

During 2009, the Company recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $70 million [$70 million after tax] related to 
its CTS and exterior systems operations in Germany. 

At the Company's CTS operations, long-lived asset impairment charges of $59 million [$59 million after tax] were recorded 
related to fixed and intangible assets. The impairment charge was calculated based on CTS' discounted forecast cash 
flows and was necessary primarily as a result of: (i) a dramatic reduction in the market for soft tops, hard tops and modular 
retractable hard tops; and (ii) historical losses that were projected to continue throughout the Company's business planning 
period. 

At its exteriors operations, the Company recorded an $11 million [$11 million after tax] asset impairment charge related 
to specific under-utilized assets in Germany. 

During 2009, the Company recorded restructuring and rationalization costs of $17 million in cost of goods sold and $3 
million in selling, general and administrative expense [$20 million after tax]. The charges consist primarily of severance 
and other termination benefits related to the closure of powertrain and interior systems facilities in Germany, substantially 
all of which was paid in 2010. 

For the year ended December 31, 2008 

During 2008, the Company recorded an $8 million [$8 million after tax] asset impairment related to the disposal of specific 
assets at an interior systems facility in the United Kingdom and specific assets at a powertrain facility in Austria. 
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6. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE 

Earnings (loss) per share are computed as follows [restated to reflect the stock split [note 3]]: 

2010 2009 2008 

Basic earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share: 

Net income (loss) $ 973 $ (493) $ 71 

Average number of Common and Class B Shares 
outstanding during the year 230.0 223.6 225.6 

Basic earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share $ 4.23 $ (2.21) $ 0.32 

Diluted earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share [a], [b]: 

Net income (loss) $ 973 $ (493) $ 71 

Average number of Common and Class B Shares 
outstanding during the year 230.0 223.6 225.6 

Adjustments 
Stock options and restricted stock [c] 3.0 – 2.2 

233.0 223.6 227.8 

Diluted earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share $ 4.18 $ (2.21) $ 0.31 

[a] Diluted earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share exclude Common Shares issuable, only at the Company's option, 
to settle €100 million of 7.08% Subordinated Debentures which matured during 2009 and were settled with cash. 

[b] During 2008, diluted earnings per Common or Class B Share excluded 1.1 million Common Shares issuable to settle 
Cdn$100 million of 6.5% Convertible Subordinated Debentures as the conversion of the debentures would have an anti-
dilutive impact to earnings per share. These debentures were redeemed for cash on December 27, 2009. 

[c] Diluted earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share exclude 3.9 million [2009 - 5.2 million; 2008 - 4.1 million] Common 
Shares issuable under the Company's Incentive Stock Option Plan because these options were not "in-the-money". 

7. DETAILS OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

[a] Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 

2010 2009 

Bank term deposits, bankers acceptances and government paper $ 1,565 $ 852 
Cash 316 417 
Cash in joint ventures and partnerships 224 65 

$ 2,105 $ 1,334 
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[b] Items not involving current cash flows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Depreciation and amortization 
Amortization of other assets included in cost of goods sold 
Goodwill and long-lived asset impairments [note 5] 
Amortization of employee wage buydown [note 14] 
Other non-cash charges 
Valuation allowance established against 

future tax assets [note 13] 
Reclassification of gain on translation of net investment 

in foreign operations from accumulated 
other comprehensive income [note 21] 

Curtailment gain [note 17] 
Future income taxes 
Minority interest 
Equity income 

$ 

$ 

661 
69 
23 
19 
7 

– 

– 
– 

(12) 
(12) 
(33) 
722 

$ 

$ 

737 
83 

183 
27 
61 

– 

– 
(26) 
56 

– 
(7) 

1,114 

$ 

$ 

873 
78 

283 
62 

105 

123 

(116) 
– 

(131) 
– 

(19) 
1,258 

[c] Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities: 

2010 2009 2008 

Accounts receivable 
Inventories 
Prepaid expenses and other [note 14] 
Accounts payable 
Accrued salaries and wages 
Other accrued liabilities 
Income taxes payable/receivable 
Deferred revenue 

$ 

$ 

(611) 
(178) 
(10) 
579 
97 
83 

221 
(4) 

177 

$ 

$ 

(40) 
17 
6 

241 
(92) 

(108) 
(104) 
(14) 
(94) 

$ 

$ 

826 
(124) 
(70) 

(475) 
(98) 
(76) 

(232) 
(26) 

(275) 

8. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS 

Acquisitions in the year ended December 31, 2010 

In December 2010, Magna completed the following acquisitions: 

[a] Resil Minas, a supplier of seat frames and stampings. The acquired business is primarily located in Brazil with sales to 
various customers, including Fiat, Ford, General Motors, Volkswagen, IVECO and PSA. 

[b] Pabsa S.A., a supplier of complete seats, foam products, trim covers and seat structures. The acquired business has 
three production facilities in Argentina. 

[c] Erhard & Söhne GmbH, a manufacturer of fuel tanks for commercial vehicles and other specialty tanks. The acquired 
business is located in Germany and has sales to various customers including MAN, Daimler and Scania. 

The total consideration for these acquisitions and certain other acquisitions was $120 million, consisting of $106 million paid 
in cash (net of cash acquired) and $14 million of assumed debt. 

The net effect of the acquisitions on the Company's 2010 consolidated balance sheet was a decrease in non-cash working 
capital of $45 million, and increases in fixed assets of $69 million, goodwill of $68 million, future tax assets of $4 million, other 
assets of $40 million, other long-term liabilities of $5 million, future tax liabilities of $8 million and minority interest of $3 million. 

The purchase price allocations for these acquisitions are preliminary and adjustments to the allocations may occur as a result 
of obtaining more information regarding asset valuations. 

Acquisitions in the year ended December 31, 2009 

On May 11, 2009, Magna acquired Cadence Innovation s.r.o., a manufacturer of exterior and interior systems. The acquired 
business is primarily located in the Czech Republic with sales to various customers, including Skoda. 
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On June 1, 2009, Magna acquired several facilities from Meridian Automotive Systems Inc. The facilities are located in the 
United States and Mexico and manufacture composites for various customers. 

The total consideration for these acquisitions and certain other acquisitions was $136 million, consisting of $50 million paid in 
cash and $86 million of assumed debt. 

The net effect of the acquisitions on the Company's 2009 consolidated balance sheet was a decrease in non-cash working 
capital of $3 million, and increases in fixed assets of $116 million, goodwill of $8 million, other assets of $4 million and future 
tax liabilities of $7 million. 

Acquisitions in the year ended December 31, 2008 

On May 30, 2008, Magna acquired a facility from Ogihara America Corporation. The facility in Alabama manufactures major 
exterior and structural welded assemblies for sales to various customers, including Mercedes-Benz. 

On June 16, 2008, Magna was the successful bidder to acquire a substantial portion of the exteriors business and related 
assets from Plastech Engineered Products Inc., in a Chapter 11 sale out of bankruptcy. The acquired business supplies parts 
to various customers, including Chrysler, Ford and General Motors, in the United States and Canada. 

On October 3, 2008, Magna acquired BluWav Systems LLC, a developer and supplier of electric and energy management 
systems for hybrid electric vehicles, plug-in hybrid vehicles and battery electric vehicles. 

On October 31, 2008, Magna acquired Technoplast, a supplier of plastic exterior and interior components. Technoplast is 
located in Nizhny Novgorod, Russia and supplies the GAZ Group with components for several programs. 

The total consideration for these and certain other acquisitions was $177 million, consisting of $158 million paid in cash and 
$19 million of assumed debt. 

The net effect of the acquisitions on the Company's 2008 consolidated balance sheet was increases in non-cash working 
capital of $23 million, fixed assets of $80 million, goodwill of $27 million, other assets of $50 million and future tax liabilities of 
$3 million. 

Pro forma impact [unaudited] 

If the acquisitions completed during 2010 and 2009 occurred on January 1, 2009, the Company's pro forma consolidated sales 
for the year ended December 31, 2010 would have been $24 billion [2009 - $18 billion] and the unaudited pro forma 
consolidated net income would have been $970 million [2009 - net loss $548 million]. 

9. INVENTORIES 

Inventories consist of: 

2010 2009 

Raw materials and supplies $ 756 $ 586 
Work-in-process 209 176 
Finished goods 252 219 
Tooling and engineering 679 740 

$ 1,896 $ 1,721 

Tooling and engineering inventory represents costs incurred on separately priced tooling and engineering services contracts 
in excess of billed and unbilled amounts included in accounts receivable. 
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10. INVESTMENTS 

At December 31, 2010, the Company held Canadian third party ABCP with a face value of Cdn$127 million. These investments 
did not settle at the scheduled maturity during the third quarter of 2007 due to ABCP market liquidity issues, and as a result 
the Company reclassified its ABCP to long-term investments from cash and cash equivalents. 

On January 16, 2009, a restructuring plan was finalized and new restructuring Notes [the "Notes"] were issued in exchange 
for existing investments. The Notes issued included: (i) notes in a Master Trust (MAV2 - A Notes), which are rated A by DBRS 
with a face amount value of Cdn$102 million; (ii) subordinate notes (MAV2 - B and C Notes) which are unrated with a face 
amount value of Cdn$9 million; and (iii) various tracking notes which were issued in exchange for assets deemed ineligible for 
inclusion in the Master Trust with a face amount value of Cdn$23 million. The criteria for eligibility into the Master Trust included 
credit quality, an expected return of the assets and arrangements with individual asset providers. The performance of the 
tracking notes is tied directly to actual performance of the specific assets. 

The following is a continuity of the Company's investment in ABCP: 

2010 2009 2008 

Balance, beginning of year $ 85 $ 65 $ 121 
Valuation adjustment (impairment) [i] – 9 (41) 
Cash receipts (5) – – 
Foreign exchange and other 4 11 (15) 

$ 84 $ 85 $ 65 

[i] The carrying value of this investment was based on a valuation technique estimating the fair value from the perspective 
of a market participant. For the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company recorded a $9 million increase in the carrying 
value of its investment in ABCP in selling, general and administrative expense, due to a reduction of the spread between 
the anticipated return on the restructured notes and current market indices. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the 
Company recorded a $41 million impairment charge in selling, general and administrative expense and $5 million of interest 
income on these investments. 

11. FIXED ASSETS 

Fixed assets consist of: 

2010 2009 

Cost 
Land $ 226 $ 233 
Buildings 1,169 1,078 
Machinery and equipment 9,042 8,718 

10,437 10,029 
Accumulated depreciation 

Buildings (434) (404) 
Machinery and equipment (6,114) (5,814) 

$ 3,889 $ 3,811 

Included in the cost of fixed assets above are construction in progress expenditures of $465 million [2009 - $523 million] that 
have not been depreciated. 
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12. GOODWILL 

The following is a continuity of the Company's goodwill by segment: 

North 
America Europe 

Rest of 
World 

Corporate 
and 

Other Total 

Balance, December 31, 2008 $ 675 $ 409 
Acquisitions [note 8] 6 – 
Impairments [note 5] (100) – 
Foreign exchange and other 53 12 
Balance, December 31, 2009 634 421 
Acquisitions [note 8] – 1 
Disposals (9) – 
Foreign exchange and other 21 (21) 
Balance, December 31, 2010 $ 646 $ 401 

$ 75 
2 
– 

(1) 
76 
67 
(5) 
2 

$ 140 

$ 1 
– 
– 
– 
1 
– 
– 
– 

$ 1 

$ 1,160 
8 

(100) 
64 

1,132 
68 
(14) 

2 
$ 1,188 

13. INCOME TAXES 

[a] The provision for income taxes differs from the expense that would be obtained by applying the Canadian statutory income 
tax rate as a result of the following: 

2010 2009 2008 

Canadian statutory income tax rate (recovery) 31.0% (33.0)% 33.5% 
Manufacturing and processing profits deduction (0.6) (0.1) (1.2) 
Foreign rate differentials (4.3) (4.6) (22.1) 
Losses not benefited 3.5 26.8 30.3 
Utilization of losses previously not benefited (9.3) (0.6) (1.0) 
Earnings of equity investees (0.9) (0.4) (2.0) 
Goodwill write-off – 6.8 – 
Valuation allowance on future tax assets [i] (0.3) – 37.5 
Other 0.6 1.6 3.3 
Effective income tax rate 19.7% (3.5)% 78.3% 

[i] Accounting standards require that the Company assess whether valuation allowances should be established against 
its future income tax assets based on the consideration of all available evidence using a "more likely than not" standard. 
The factors the Company uses to assess the likelihood of realization are its forecast of future taxable income and tax 
planning strategies that could be implemented to realize the future tax assets. On a quarterly basis, the Company 
evaluates the realizability of future tax assets by assessing its valuation allowance and adjusting the amount of such 
allowance as necessary. 

During 2008, the Company recorded a $123 million charge to establish valuation allowances against its remaining 
future tax assets in the United States. The Company determined that valuation allowances were required in the 
United States based on: (i) historical consolidated losses at its operations in the United States that are expected to 
continue in the near-term; (ii) the accelerated deterioration of near-term automotive market conditions in the United 
States; and (iii) significant and inherent uncertainty as to the timing of when the Company would be able to generate 
the necessary level of earnings to recover these future tax assets. 

Given the Company's improved financial results in the United States in 2010 and provided that overall economic 
conditions continue to improve in 2011, the Company expects to reverse a portion of its valuation allowance against 
its future tax assets in the United States during 2011. The reversal, if recorded, (i) will result in a decrease in our 
effective tax rate in 2011 and a return to a more normalized rate in 2012; and (ii) will not affect our tax payments which 
should remain lower during the period in which these losses are utilized. 
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[b] The details of income (loss) before income taxes by jurisdiction are as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Canadian $ 509 $ 47 $ 200 
Foreign 688 (558) 128 

$ 1,197 $ (511) $ 328 

[c] The details of the income tax provision (recovery) are as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Current 
Canadian federal taxes $ 54 $ (33) $ 101 
Provincial taxes 31 (20) 57 
Foreign taxes 162 58 107 

247 5 265 

Future 
Canadian federal taxes 
Provincial taxes 
Foreign taxes 

7 
5 

(23) 
(11) 

$ 236 $ 

20 
7 

(50) 
(23) 
(18) $ 

(38) 
(24) 
54 
(8) 

257 

[d] Future income taxes have been provided on temporary differences, which consist of the following: 

2010 2009 2008 

Book amortization (in excess of) less than tax amortization $ (20) $ (9) $ 11 
Tax depreciation less than book depreciation (12) (8) (46) 
Net tax losses utilized (benefited) 48 (23) (69) 
Change in valuation allowance on future tax assets (3) – 123 
Liabilities currently not deductible for tax (27) 4 (32) 
Reduction in enacted tax rates (2) – – 
Other 5 13 5 

$ (11) $ (23) $ (8) 

[e] Future tax assets and liabilities consist of the following temporary differences: 

2010 2009 

Assets 
Tax benefit of loss carryforwards 

Pre-acquisition 
Post-acquisition 

Other liabilities 
Tax credits carryforward 
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges 
Other 

Valuation allowance against tax benefit of loss carryforwards 
Pre-acquisition 
Post-acquisition 

Other valuation allowance 

$ 

$ 

49 
450 
163 
87 
7 

44 
800 

(44) 
(413) 
(193) 
150 

$ 

$ 

57 
596 
128 
69 
11 
77 

938 

(50) 
(535) 
(185) 
168 

Liabilities 
Tax depreciation in excess of book depreciation $ 86 $ 104 
Other assets book value in excess of tax value 22 24 
Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges 23 13 

131 141 
Net future tax assets $ 19 $ 27 
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[f] Income taxes paid in cash [net of refunds] were $6 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 [2009 - $16 million; 
2008 - $437 million]. 

[g] At December 31, 2010, the Company had gross income tax loss carryforwards of $1.5 billion which relate to certain 
foreign subsidiaries, including $118 million of losses obtained on acquisitions, the tax benefits of which have not been 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements. Of the total losses, $734 million expire between 2011 and 2030 while 
the remainder have no expiry date. 

14. OTHER ASSETS 

Other assets consist of: 

2010 2009 

Preproduction costs related to long-term supply agreements 
with contractual guarantee for reimbursement $ 329 $ 433 

Long-term receivables 77 50 
Patents and licenses, net 34 20 
Employee wage buydown, net [a] 6 25 
Other, net [note 8] 134 123 

$ 580 $ 651 

[a] Under the terms of a collective bargaining agreement, employees agreed to accept lump-sum cash payments in return 
for lower wages and benefits over the four-year term of the union contract at a powertrain facility. Given that the Company 
will benefit from these lump-sum payments over the term of the union contract, the committed amounts were capitalized 
in other assets. The capitalized amounts are being amortized over the term of the collective bargaining agreement based 
on estimated employment levels. 

15. WARRANTY 

The following is a continuity of the Company's warranty accruals: 

2010 2009 2008 

Balance, beginning of year 
Expense (income), net 
Settlements 
Foreign exchange and other 

$ 75 
33 

(37) 
(2) 

$ 69 

$ 75 
31 
(35) 

4 
$ 75 

$ 

$ 

103 
(2) 

(23) 
(3) 

75 

16. DEBT AND COMMITMENTS 

[a] The Company's long-term debt, which is substantially uncollateralized, consists of the following: 

2010 2009 

Bank term debt at a weighted average interest rate 
of approximately 10.7% [2009 - 3.4%], 
denominated primarily in euros 

Government loans at a weighted average interest rate 
of approximately 2.0% [2009 - 2.3%], denominated primarily in euros 

Other 

Less due within one year 

$ 13 

14 
44 
71 
25 

$ 46 

$ 

$ 

67 

20 
44 

131 
16 

115 
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[b] Future principal repayments on long-term debt are estimated to be as follows: 

2011 $ 25 
2012 11 
2013 6 
2014 7 
2015 3 
Thereafter 19 

$ 71 

[c] On October 12, 2005, the Company entered into a $2.0 billion five-year revolving term facility, of which $1.9 billion was 
unused and available at year end. In July 2007, the facility was extended to July 31, 2012. The facility has a North American 
tranche of $1.57 billion, a European tranche of €300 million and an Asian tranche of $50 million. 

Under the terms of the Company's operating and term credit agreements, it is permitted to make use of banker's 
acceptances and commercial paper to borrow at effective interest rates which are, from time to time, lower than those 
charged under the bank lines of credit. 

[d] Interest (income) expense, net includes: 

2010 2009 2008 

Interest expense 
Current $ 9 $ 11 $ 19 
Long-term 3 16 32 

12 27 51 
Interest income (22) (20) (113) 
Interest (income) expense, net $ (10) $ 7 $ (62) 

[e] Interest paid in cash was $12 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 [2009 - $27 million; 2008 - $43 million]. 

[f] At December 31, 2010, the Company had commitments under operating leases with MI Developments Inc. ["MID"] [note 25] 
and third parties requiring annual rental payments as follows: 

Third 
MID parties Total 

2011 $ 172 $ 123 $ 295 
2012 171 99 270 
2013 168 80 248 
2014 159 62 221 
2015 157 43 200 
Thereafter 452 79 531 

$ 1,279 $ 486 $ 1,765 

For the year ended December 31, 2010, operating lease expense was $304 million [2009 - $280 million; 2008 - $296 million], 
of which $172 million related to MID [2009 - $149 million; 2008 - $156 million]. 

[g] During 2003, one of the Company's German subsidiaries entered into an operating lease for a facility constructed at a cost 
of approximately $12 million. The lessor in this arrangement leased the assets from a partnership that is substantially 
debt financed, which is owned directly and indirectly by the lessor. Although the Company's German subsidiary has 
options to acquire either the facility under lease or the partnership, the Company's obligations under this arrangement are 
limited to those in its operating lease agreement. Although this arrangement qualifies as a variable interest entity, the 
Company has concluded that it is not the primary beneficiary under the agreement and has, therefore, not consolidated 
the entity. 
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17. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 

Other long-term liabilities consist of: 

2010 2009 2008 

Defined benefit pension plans and other [a] $ 39 $ 35 $ 29 
Termination and long service arrangements [b] 202 194 184 
Retirement medical benefits plans [c] 65 66 85 

306 295 298 
Asset retirement obligation 43 42 36 
Long-term portion of fair value of hedges 18 32 89 

$ 367 $ 369 $ 423 

[a] Defined benefit pension plans 

The Company sponsors a number of defined benefit pension plans and similar arrangements for its employees. All pension 
plans are funded to at least the minimum legal funding requirements, while European defined benefit pension plans are 
unfunded. 

The weighted average significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Company's obligations and costs are 
as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Projected benefit obligation 
Discount rate 5.5% 5.8% 6.3% 
Rate of compensation increase 2.6% 3.6% 3.6% 

Net periodic benefit cost 
Discount rate 5.9% 6.3% 6.4% 
Rate of compensation increase 3.5% 3.6% 3.7% 
Expected return on plan assets 7.7% 7.4% 7.8% 

Information about the Company's defined benefit pension plans is as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Projected benefit obligation 
Beginning of year $ 310 $ 254 $ 305 
Current service cost 11 9 19 
Interest cost 18 16 16 
Actuarial (gains) losses and changes in actuarial assumptions (5) 32 (16) 
Benefits paid (17) (14) (10) 
Special termination benefit 8 – – 
Acquisition 5 – – 
Divestitures – – (8) 
Settlement – – (35) 
Currency translation 2 13 (17) 

End of year $ 332 $ 310 $ 254 

Plan assets at fair value 
Beginning of year $ 218 $ 176 $ 279 
Return on plan assets 25 37 (54) 
Employer contributions 21 13 17 
Benefits paid (15) (13) (10) 
Divestiture – – (7) 
Settlement – (5) (35) 
Currency translation 4 10 (14) 

End of year $ 253 $ 218 $ 176 

Unfunded amount $ 79 $ 92 $ 78 
Unrecognized actuarial losses (40) (57) (49) 
Net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets $ 39 $ 35 $ 29 
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2010 2009 2008 

Net periodic benefit cost 
Current service cost $ 11 $ 9 $ 19 
Interest cost 18 16 16 
Return on plan assets (17) (14) (19) 
Actuarial losses (gains) 2 2 (1) 
Special termination benefit 8 – – 
Curtailment gain – – (2) 

Net periodic benefit cost $ 22 $ 13 $ 13 

[b] Termination and long service arrangements 

Pursuant to labour laws and national labour agreements in certain European countries and Mexico, the Company is 
obligated to provide lump sum termination payments to employees on retirement or involuntary termination, and long 
service payments contingent upon persons reaching a predefined number of years of service. 

All lump sum termination and long service payment arrangements are unfunded. However, pursuant to local tax laws, 
Austrian subsidiaries hold long-term government securities in connection with their unfunded obligations. Such assets 
amounted to $5 million at December 31, 2010 [2009 - $7 million] and are included in investments on the Company's 
consolidated balance sheets. 

The weighted average significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Company's projected termination and 
long service benefit obligations and net periodic benefit cost are as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Discount rate 
Rate of compensation increase 

4.9% 
3.9% 

6.2% 
4.1% 

6.2% 
3.9% 

Information about the Company's termination and long service arrangements is as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Projected benefit obligation 
Beginning of year 
Current service cost 
Interest cost 
Actuarial losses (gains) and changes in actuarial assumptions 
Benefits paid 
Currency translation 

End of year 

$ 210 
13 
11 
33 

(12) 
(12) 

$ 243 

$ 

$ 

208 
13 
12 
(4) 

(25) 
6 

210 

$ 

$ 

211 
17 
10 
11 
(27) 
(14) 

208 

Unfunded amount 
Unrecognized actuarial losses 
Net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets 

$ 243 
(41) 

$ 202 

$ 

$ 

210 
(16) 

194 

$ 

$ 

208 
(24) 

184 

Net periodic benefit cost 
Current service cost 
Interest cost 
Actuarial losses 

Net periodic benefit cost 

$ 13 
11 
1 

$ 25 

$ 

$ 

13 
12 
1 

26 

$ 

$ 

17 
10 

– 
27 

[c] Retirement medical benefits plans 

Historically, the Company sponsored a retirement medical benefits plan that covered eligible employees and retirees. 
Retirees age 60 or older with 10 or more years of service were eligible for benefits, and existing retirees as at August 1, 
2000 that met the above criteria were also eligible for benefits. Benefits were capped based on years of service. During 
2009, the Company amended these plans such that substantially all employees retiring on or after August 1, 2009 will no 
longer participate in the plan and a curtailment gain was recorded during 2009. 

In addition, the Company sponsors a number of retirement medical plans which were assumed on certain acquisitions in 
prior years. These plans are frozen to new employees and incur no current service costs. 
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The weighted average discount rates used in measuring the Company's projected retirement medical benefit obligations 
and net periodic benefit cost are as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Retirement medical benefit obligations 5.4% 5.7% 6.3% 
Net periodic benefit cost 5.7% 6.0% 6.3% 
Health care cost inflation 9.2% 9.3% 9.3% 

Information about the Company's retirement medical benefits plans is as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Projected benefit obligation 
Beginning of year $ 43 $ 73 $ 79 
Current service cost – 1 4 
Interest cost 2 3 5 
Actuarial losses (gains) and changes in actuarial assumptions 1 3 (7) 
Benefits paid (3) (3) (2) 
Curtailment – (36) – 
Currency translation – 2 (6) 

End of year $ 43 $ 43 $ 73 

Unfunded amount $ 43 $ 43 $ 73 
Unrecognized past service obligation 4 3 (9) 
Unrecognized actuarial gains 18 20 21 
Net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets $ 65 $ 66 $ 85 

Net periodic benefit cost 
Current service cost $ – $ 1 $ 4 
Interest cost 2 3 5 
Actuarial (gains) losses (1) 2 (2) 
Curtailment gain – (26) – 
Past service cost amortization – – 1 

Net periodic benefit cost $ 1 $ (20) $ 8 

The effect of a one-percentage point increase or decrease in health care trend rates would not have a significant impact 
on the Company's income. 

[d] Future benefit payments 

Defined 
benefit 

pension plans 

Termination 
and long 

service 
arrangements 

Retirement 
medical 

benefits plans Total 

Expected employer contributions - 2011 $ 10 $ 8 $ 2 $ 20 

Expected benefit payments: 
2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 
Thereafter 

$ 

$ 

10 
12 
12 
13 
13 
81 

141 

$ 

$ 

8 
9 

10 
14 
15 

100 
156 

$ 

$ 

2 
2 
2 
3 
3 

12 
24 

$ 

$ 

20 
23 
24 
30 
31 

193 
321 
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[e] Plan assets 

The asset allocation of the Company's defined benefit pension plans at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the target 
allocation for 2011 is as follows: 

2011 2010 2009 

Equity securities 50-75% 50% 65% 
Fixed income securities 5-45% 21% 33% 
Cash and cash equivalents 0-40% 29% 2% 

100% 100% 100% 

The expected rate of return on plan assets was determined by considering the Company's current investment mix, the 
historic performance of these investment categories and expected future performance of these investment categories. 

18. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 

[a] Incentive Stock Option Plan 

The Company currently has two incentive stock option plans in effect: (a) the 2009 Stock Option Plan, which was adopted 
by our shareholders on May 6, 2010; and (b) the Amended and Restated Incentive Stock Option Plan (the "1987 Stock 
Option Plan"), which was adopted by shareholders on December 10, 1987, and subsequently amended on May 18, 2000 
and May 10, 2007. 

Upon adoption of the 2009 Plan, new grants under the 1987 Plan were frozen, but all outstanding options were permitted 
to continue to vest and be exercisable in accordance with their terms. 

2009 Stock Option Plan 

Under the 2009 Stock Option Plan, the Company may grant options to purchase Common Shares to full-time employees, 
outside directors or consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries. The maximum number of shares that can be reserved 
for issuance under the option plan is 16,000,000 shares. The number of shares available to be granted at December 31, 
2010 was 9,659,000 [2009 - n/a]. All options granted are for terms of up to seven years from the grant date. Options 
issued under the 2009 Option Plan to employees and consultants generally vest as to one-third on each of the first three 
anniversaries of the date of grant. Options issued to outside directors vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant. 
All options allow the holder to purchase Common Shares at a price equal to or greater than the closing market price of 
such shares on the date prior to the date of the grant. 

1987 Stock Option Plan 

Under the 1987 Stock Option Plan, the Company granted options to purchase Common Shares to full-time employees, 
outside directors or consultants of the Company. The number of shares available to be granted at December 31, 2010 was 
230,824 [2009 - 62,824]. All options granted are for terms of up to seven years from the grant date except for the options 
granted prior to December 2003, which were generally for terms of up to 10 years from the grant date. Only options 
granted during 2009 remain unvested. Such options vest 33% on the first and second anniversaries of the date of grant 
and 34% on the third anniversary. All options allow the holder to purchase Common Shares at a price equal to or greater 
than the closing market price of such shares on the date prior to the date of the grant or modification. 
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The following is a continuity schedule of options outstanding [number of options in the table below are expressed in 
whole numbers and the entire table has been restated to reflect the stock split [note 3]]: 

Options outstanding 
Weighted 

average Number 
Number exercise of options 

of options price exercisable 

Outstanding at December 31, 2007 5,884,406 Cdn$41.33 5,825,754 
Granted 20,000 27.57 – 
Exercised (3,226) 27.50 (3,226) 
Cancelled (408,890) 45.18 (408,890) 
Vested – – 34,652 
Outstanding at December 31, 2008 5,492,290 Cdn$41.01 5,448,290 
Granted 2,150,000 16.55 – 
Exercised [i] (93,578) 31.51 (93,578) 
Cancelled [i] (398,168) 32.36 (378,168) 
Vested – – 12,000 
Outstanding at December 31, 2009 7,150,544 Cdn$34.26 4,988,544 
Granted 6,341,000 34.04 – 
Exercised (1,504,616) 34.31 (1,504,616) 
Cancelled [ii] (844,478) 33.04 (844,478) 
Vested – – 722,666 
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 11,142,450 Cdn$34.22 3,362,116 

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2010 was $14 million [2009 - $nil; 2008 - $nil]. 

[i] On August 12, 2009, following approval by the Company's Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee 
and in accordance with the Amended and Restated Incentive Stock Option Plan, the Company granted stock 
appreciation rights ["SARs"] to certain executives in respect of 383,400 previously granted and unexercised stock 
options. 

On August 14, 2009, 332,822 SARs were exercised and an equal number of previously granted and unexercised 
stock options were surrendered and cancelled. On exercise of the SARs, the executives received, in aggregate, cash 
of $1 million, representing an amount equal to the difference between the aggregate fair market value of the shares 
covered by the surrendered options and the aggregate exercise price of such surrendered options. Fair market value 
was determined based on the weighted average closing price of the Company's Common Shares on the NYSE for 
the five consecutive trading days ending on the trading day immediately prior to the date of exercise. 

In addition, during the third quarter of 2009, 50,578 SARs were cancelled upon exercise of the corresponding number 
of options. 

[ii] On November 8, 2010, options to acquire 386,666 Common Shares were surrendered for cancellation in exchange 
for payment of the in-the-money value of such options on such date. The aggregate in-the-money value of the options 
surrendered was $8 million and was charged to contributed surplus. 

On August 19, 2010, options to acquire 243,000 Common Shares were surrendered for cancellation in exchange for 
payment of the in-the-money value of such options on such date. The aggregate in-the-money value of the options 
surrendered was $4 million and was charged to contributed surplus. 
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At December 31, 2010, the outstanding options consist of [number of options in the table below are expressed in whole 
numbers and have been restated to reflect the stock split [note 3]]: 

Options outstanding 
Remaining Number 

Number contractual of options 
of options life [years] exercisable 

$15 to $20 1,796,670 5.2 363,336 
$20 to $25 – – – 
$25 to $30 5,384,700 5.8 334,700 
$30 to $35 54,016 1.5 54,016 
$35 to $40 81,320 6.0 9,320 
$40 to $45 327,778 1.8 325,778 
$45 to $50 2,225,000 1.0 2,223,000 
$50 to $55 1,241,000 6.9 20,000 
Over $55 31,966 1.5 31,966 

11,142,450 3,362,116 
Weighted average exercise price Cdn$34.22 Cdn$42.06 
Aggregate intrinsic value at December 31, 2010 $ 197 $ 33 

The weighted average assumptions used in measuring the fair value of stock options granted or modified and the 
compensation expense recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses are as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Risk-free interest rate 2.26% 1.66% 2.71% 
Expected dividend yield 2.00% 2.05% 2.02% 
Expected volatility 35% 31% 27% 
Expected time until exercise 4 years 4 years 4 years 

Weighted average fair value of options granted 
or modified in year (Cdn$) [restated - note 3] $ 10.00 $ 3.60 $ 5.38 

Compensation expense recorded in selling, 
general and administrative expense [iii] $ 43 $ 4 $ – 

[iii] During 2010, option agreements with three departing executives were modified resulting in a one-time charge to 
compensation expense of $20 million. These charges represent the fair value of the options at the date of modification 
net of originally measured compensation cost which has been reversed. 

[b] Long-term retention program 

The Company awarded certain executives an entitlement to Common Shares in the form of restricted stock. Such shares 
become available to the executives, subject to acceleration on death or disability, after an approximate four-year holding 
period, provided certain conditions are met, and are to be released in equal amounts over a 10-year period, subject to 
forfeiture under certain circumstances. The stock that has not been released to the executives is reflected as a reduction 
in the stated value of the Company's Common Shares. 

Information about the Company's long-term retention program is as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Common Shares awarded and not released [restated - note 3] 1,182,736 1,371,978 1,561,218 

Reduction in stated value of Common Shares $ 39 $ 45 $ 51 

Compensation expense recorded in selling, 
general and administrative expense $ 7 $ 8 $ 12 

Unamortized compensation expense recorded 
as a reduction of shareholders' equity $ 23 $ 30 $ 36 
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[c] Restricted stock unit program 

In a number of different circumstances, the Company awarded restricted stock units ["RSUs"] to certain executives and 
other employees as part of the Company's compensation program. These RSUs are notional units, each of which is 
equivalent to one Magna Common Share. In most cases, the RSUs are redeemable solely at the Company's option, either 
by delivery of the specified number of Common Shares or the cash value on the redemption date [based on the 20-day 
weighted average trading price]. Redemption of the RSUs generally occurs on December 15 of the second year after the 
date of grant, subject to earlier redemption or cancellation in specified circumstances. In some cases, RSUs are subject 
to vesting and other conditions and quarterly dividend equivalents are paid to the grantees. 

19. CAPITAL STOCK 

[a] At December 31, 2010, the Company's authorized, issued and outstanding capital stock is as follows: 

Preference shares - issuable in series -

The Company's authorized capital stock includes 99,760,000 preference shares, issuable in series. None of these shares 
are currently issued or outstanding. 

Common Shares and Class B Shares -

In accordance with the Arrangement [note 4], Magna's Articles were amended to remove the Class B Shares from the 
authorized capital and to make non-substantive consequential changes to its Articles, including renaming the Class A 
Subordinate Voting Shares as Common Shares and eliminating provisions which no longer apply due to the elimination of 
the Class B Shares. 

Common Shares without par value [unlimited amount authorized] have the following attributes: 

[i] Each share is entitled to one vote per share at all meetings of shareholders. 
[ii] Each share shall participate equally as to dividends. 

[b] On November 9, 2010, the TSX accepted the Company's Notice of Intention to Make a Normal Course Issuer Bid relating 
to the purchase for cancellation to offset dilution resulting from the exercise of stock options, as well as purchases to fund 
the Company's restricted stock unit program and/or the Company's obligations to its deferred profit sharing plans, of up 
to 8,000,000 Magna Common Shares [the "Bid"], representing 3.3% of the Company's issued and outstanding Common 
Shares. The Bid commenced on November 11, 2010 and will terminate no later than November 10, 2011. All purchases 
of Common Shares are made at the market price at the time of purchase in accordance with the rules and policies of the 
TSX. Purchases may also be made on the NYSE in compliance with Rule 10b-18 under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934. 

The Company previously had normal course issuer bids in place from November 10, 2007 to November 11, 2008 and from 
November 12, 2008 to November 11, 2009. 
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[c] Changes in capital stock consist of the following [number of shares in the following table are expressed in whole numbers 
and have been restated to reflect the stock split [note 3]]: 

Common 
Number of 

shares 
Stated 
value 

Class B 
Number of 

shares 
Stated 
value 

Issued and outstanding at December 31, 2007 230,688,368 $ 3,708 1,453,658 $ – 
Release of restricted stock – 10 
Issued under the RSU programs [i] – 5 
Issued under the DRIP [ii] 55,984 2 
Issued under the Incentive Stock Option Plan 3,226 – 
Repurchase for restricted stock 

and RSU programs [i] – (2) 
Repurchased – (4) 
Repurchase and cancellation under 

normal course issuer bid [iii] (6,989,460) (114) 
Issued and outstanding at December 31, 2008 223,758,118 3,605 1,453,658 – 
Release of restricted stock – 6 
Issued under the DRIP [ii] 14,366 – 
Issued under the Incentive Stock Option Plan 93,578 2 
Issued and outstanding at December 31, 2009 223,866,062 3,613 1,453,658 – 
Repurchase and cancellation under 

the Arrangement [note 4] – – (1,453,658) 
Issued under the Arrangement [note 4] 18,000,000 676 
Costs of the Arrangement [note 4] – (10) 
Release of restricted stock – 6 
Issued under the Incentive Stock Option Plan 1,504,616 59 
Issued under the DRIP [ii] 38,458 2 
Repurchase and cancellation (391,020) (3) 
Repurchase and cancellation under 

normal course issuer bid [iii] (453,500) (8) 
Issued and outstanding at December 31, 2010 242,564,616 $ 4,335 – $ – 

[i] During 2008, the Company purchased 65,304 Magna Common Shares for aggregate cash consideration of $2 million. 
A portion of these shares were awarded to certain executives under the restricted stock program and a portion of 
these shares are being held in trust for purposes of the Company's RSU program and are reflected as a reduction in 
the stated value of the Company's Common Shares. During 2008, the Company issued 99,208 Magna Common 
Shares from the trust to settle amounts owing under the Company's RSU program. 

[ii] The Company has a Dividend Reinvestment Plan ["DRIP"] whereby shareholders have the option to receive their 
dividends in the form of Common Shares in lieu of cash. 

[iii] During 2010, the Company purchased for cancellation 453,500 [2008 - 6,989,460] Common Shares under a normal 
course issuer bid for cash consideration of $23 million [2008 - $245 million]. The excess of cash paid over the book 
value of the Common Shares repurchased of $13 million [2008 - $98 million] was charged to retained earnings. 

[d] The following table presents the maximum number of shares that would be outstanding if all the dilutive instruments 
outstanding at March 14, 2011 were exercised or converted: 

Common Shares 242,771,789 
Stock options [note 18] 10,065,577 

252,837,366 
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20. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS 

Contributed surplus consists primarily of accumulated stock option compensation expense less the fair value of options at the 
grant date that have been exercised and credited to Common Shares and the accumulated restricted stock compensation 
expense. The following is a continuity schedule of contributed surplus: 

2010 2009 2008 

Balance, beginning of year $ 63 $ 67 $ 58 
Stock-based compensation expense [note 18] 51 10 19 
Exercise of options (11) – – 
Release of restricted stock (6) (6) (10) 
In-the-money value of surrendered options [note 18] (12) – – 
Redemption of restricted stock units – (7) – 
Exercise of stock appreciation rights [note 18] – (1) – 

$ 85 $ 63 $ 67 

21. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

The following is a continuity schedule of accumulated other comprehensive income: 

2010 2009 2008 

Accumulated net unrealized gains on translation 
of net investment in foreign operations 

Balance, beginning of year $ 854 $ 447 $ 1,360 
Net unrealized gains (losses) on translation 

of net investment in foreign operations 18 407 (765) 
Reclassification of gain on translation of net investment 

in foreign operations to net income [a] – – (116) 
Repurchase of shares [note 19] (3) – (32) 
Balance, end of year 869 854 447 

Accumulated net unrealized gains (losses) 
on cash flow hedges [b] 

Balance, beginning of year (13) (113) (10) 
Net unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges 81 41 (102) 
Reclassification of net (gains) losses on cash flow hedges 

to net income (loss) (28) 59 (1) 
Balance, end of year 40 (13) (113) 

Accumulated net unrealized gain 
on available-for-sale investments 

Balance, beginning of year – – – 
Net unrealized gain on investments 11 – – 
Balance, end of year 11 – – 

Total accumulated other comprehensive income [c] $ 920 $ 841 $ 334 

[a] In the normal course of business, the Company reviews its cash investment strategies, including where such funds are 
invested. As a result of these reviews, during 2008, the Company repatriated funds from Europe and as a result recorded 
foreign currency gains in selling, general and administrative expense of $116 million. 

[b] The amount of income tax (obligation) benefit that has been netted in the amounts above is as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Balance, beginning of year $ (2) $ 48 $ 4 
Net unrealized (gains) losses on cash flow hedges (23) (27) 42 
Reclassification of net (losses) gains on cash flow hedges 

to net income (loss) 8 (23) 2 
Balance, end of year $ (17) $ (2) $ 

[c] The amount of other comprehensive income that is expected to be reclassified to net income during 2011 is $35 million 
[net of income tax of $10 million]. 
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22. CAPITAL DISCLOSURES 

The Company manages capital in order to ensure it has adequate borrowing capacity and financial structure to allow financial 
flexibility and to provide an adequate return to shareholders. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company 
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, purchase shares for cancellation or increase or 
decrease the amount of debt outstanding. 

The Company monitors capital using the ratio of debt to total capitalization. Debt includes bank indebtedness and long-term 
debt as shown in the consolidated balance sheets. Total capitalization includes debt, minority interest and all components of 
shareholders' equity. 

The Company's capitalization and debt to total capitalization is as follows: 

2010 2009 

Liabilities 
Bank indebtedness $ 26 $ 48 
Long-term debt due within one year 25 16 
Long-term debt 46 115 

97 179 
Minority interest 74 – 
Shareholders' equity 8,065 7,360 
Total capitalization $ 8,236 $ 7,539 

Debt to total capitalization 1.2% 2.4% 

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

[a] Foreign exchange contracts 

At December 31, 2010, the Company had outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts representing commitments to 
buy and sell various foreign currencies. Significant commitments are as follows: 

For Canadian dollars For U.S. dollars 
U.S. Weighted Weighted Weighted 

Buy dollar average Euro average Peso average 
(Sell) amount rate amount rate amount rate 
2011 171 1.0282 15 1.3326 1,518 0.0736 
2011 (461) 1.0462 (68) 1.4314 (180) 0.0809 
2012 41 1.0551 9 1.3703 1,194 0.0708 
2012 (162) 1.0579 (31) 1.5366 – – 
2013 34 1.0649 3 1.3771 349 0.0719 
2013 (94) 1.0588 (12) 1.4276 – – 
2014 14 1.0698 1 1.3767 – – 

(457) (83) 2,881 

For euros 
U.S. Weighted Weighted Czech Weighted Polish Weighted 

Buy dollar average GBP average Koruna average Zlotys average 
(Sell) amount rate amount rate amount rate amount rate 
2011 130 0.7480 7 1.1760 91 0.0390 40 0.2383 
2011 (92) 0.7357 (58) 1.2327 (1,864) 0.0381 (130) 0.2443 
2012 42 0.7632 3 1.0992 – – 25 0.2314 
2012 (13) 0.7133 (37) 1.2011 (1,599) 0.0386 (92) 0.2389 
2013 20 0.7615 1 1.1447 – – – – 
2013 (10) 0.7208 (21) 1.1861 (686) 0.0396 (14) 0.2352 
2014 (8) 0.7460 – – – – (4) 0.2248 

69 (105) (4,058) (175) 

Based on forward foreign exchange rates as at December 31, 2010 for contracts with similar remaining terms to maturity, 
the gains and losses relating to the Company's foreign exchange forward contracts recognized in other comprehensive 
income are approximately $98 million and $30 million, respectively [note 21]. 

The Company does not enter into foreign exchange forward contracts for speculative purposes. 
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[b] Natural gas swap contracts 

The Company uses natural gas swap contracts to manage the cash flow risk of a portion of its forecasted natural gas 
purchases in Canada and the United States over the period to December 2014. Swaps outstanding at December 31, 2010 
have a total volume of 2.4 million Gigajoule ["GJ"] with a fixed price range of between $5.99 per GJ and $8.51 per GJ for 
Canada and a total volume of 1.8 million MMBTU ["Million British Thermal Units"] with a fixed price range of between $6.25 
per MMBTU and $8.32 per MMBTU for the United States. The unrealized losses on these natural gas swap contracts at 
December 31, 2010 were $11 million and are recognized in other comprehensive income [note 21]. 

The Company does not enter into natural gas swap contracts for speculative purposes. 

[c] Financial assets and liabilities 

The Company's financial assets and liabilities consist of the following: 

2010 2009 

Held-for-trading 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,105 $ 1,334 
Investment in ABCP [note 10] 84 85 

$ 2,189 $ 1,419 

Held-to-maturity investments 
Severance investments $ 5 $ 7 

Available-for-sale investments 
Equity investments $ 19 $ 5 

Loans and receivables 
Accounts receivable $ 3,645 $ 3,062 
Long-term receivables included in other assets [note 14] 77 50 

$ 3,722 $ 3,112 

Other financial liabilities 
Bank indebtedness $ 26 $ 48 
Long-term debt (including portion due within one year) 71 131 
Accounts payable 3,586 3,001 

$ 3,683 $ 3,180 

Derivatives designated as effective hedges, measured at fair value 
Foreign currency contracts 

Prepaid expenses $ 58 $ 49 
Other assets 40 14 
Other accrued liabilities (17) (42) 
Other long-term liabilities (13) (29) 

68 (8) 
Natural gas contracts 

Other accrued liabilities (6) (5) 
Other long-term liabilities (5) (3) 

(11) (8) 
$ 57 $ (16) 

[d] Fair value 

The Company determined the estimated fair values of its financial instruments based on valuation methodologies it 
believes are appropriate; however, considerable judgment is required to develop these estimates. Accordingly, these 
estimated fair values are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Company could realize in a current market exchange. 
The estimated fair value amounts can be materially affected by the use of different assumptions or methodologies. The methods 
and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments are described below: 

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, bank indebtedness and accounts payable. 

Due to the short period to maturity of the instruments, the carrying values as presented in the consolidated balance sheets 
are reasonable estimates of fair values. 
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Investments 

At December 31, 2010, the Company held Canadian third party asset-backed commercial paper ["ABCP"] with a face value 
of Cdn$127 million [December 31, 2009 - Cdn$134 million]. The carrying value and estimated fair value of this investment 
was Cdn$84 million [December 31, 2009 - Cdn$88 million]. As fair value information is not readily determinable for the 
Company's investment in ABCP, the fair value was based on a valuation technique estimating the fair value from the 
perspective of a market participant [note 10]. 

At December 31, 2010, the Company held available-for-sale equity investments in publicly traded companies. The carrying 
value and fair value of these investments was $19 million, which was based on the closing share prices of these 
investments on December 31, 2010. 

Term debt 

The Company's term debt includes $25 million due within one year. Due to the short period to maturity of this debt, the 
carrying value as presented in the consolidated balance sheets is a reasonable estimate of its fair value. The fair value of 
the Company's long-term debt, based on current rates for debt with similar terms and maturities, is not materially different 
from its carrying value. 

[e] Credit risk 

The Company's financial assets that are exposed to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable, long-term receivables, held-to-maturity investments and foreign exchange forward contracts with positive fair 
values. 

Cash and cash equivalents, which consist of short-term investments, are only invested in governments, bank term 
deposits and bank commercial paper with an investment grade credit rating. Credit risk is further reduced by limiting the 
amount which is invested in certain governments or any major financial institution. 

The Company's held-for-trading investments include an investment in ABCP [note 10]. Given the continuing uncertainties 
regarding the value of the underlying assets, the amount and timing of cash flows and the risk of collateral calls in the event 
that spreads widened considerably, the Company could be exposed to further losses on its investment. 

The Company is also exposed to credit risk from the potential default by any of its counterparties on its derivative 
instruments. The Company mitigates this credit risk by dealing with counterparties who are major financial institutions that 
the Company anticipates will satisfy their obligations under the contracts. 

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to credit risk from its customers, substantially all of which are 
in the automotive industry and are subject to credit risks associated with the automotive industry. For the year ended 
December 31, 2010, sales to the Company's six largest customers [including the Detroit 3] represented 81% of the 
Company's total sales; and substantially all of its sales are to customers in which the Company has ongoing contractual 
relationships. 

[f] Currency risk 

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates when manufacturing facilities have committed to the 
delivery of products for which the selling price has been quoted in currencies other than the facilities' functional currency, 
or when materials and equipment are purchased in currencies other than the facilities' functional currency. In an effort to 
manage this net foreign exchange exposure, the Company employs hedging programs, primarily through the use of 
foreign exchange forward contracts [note 23[a]]. 

As at December 31, 2010, the net foreign exchange exposure was not material. 

[g] Interest rate risk 

The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk due to the short-term maturity of its monetary current assets 
and current liabilities. In particular, the amount of interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents is impacted more 
by investment decisions made and the demands to have available cash on hand, than by movements in interest rates over 
a given period. 

In addition, the Company is not exposed to interest rate risk on its long-term debt instruments as the interest rates on 
these instruments are fixed. 
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24. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

The following is the Company's combined proportionate share of the major components of the financial statements of the 
jointly controlled entities in which the Company has an interest [before eliminations]: 

Balance Sheets 
2010 2009 

Current assets $ 269 $ 216 

Long-term assets $ 68 $ 73 

Current liabilities $ 132 $ 99 

Long-term liabilities $ 50 $ 39 

Statements of Income 
2010 2009 2008 

Sales 
Cost of goods sold, expenses and income taxes 
Net income 

$ 

$ 

709 
558 
151 

$ 

$ 

578 
473 
105 

$ 

$ 

757 
618 
139 

Statements of Cash Flows 
2010 2009 2008 

Cash provided from (used for): 
Operating activities $ 165 $ 117 $ 134 

Investment activities $ (7) $ (17) $ (7) 

Financing activities $ (133) $ (110) $ (126) 

The Company's share of equity in the jointly controlled entities includes undistributed earnings of $102 million [2009 - $104 million]. 

25. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

Mr. Frank Stronach, together with three other members of the Stronach family, are trustees and members of the class of 
potential beneficiaries of the Stronach Trust. Prior to the completion of the Arrangement [note 4], the Stronach Trust indirectly 
controlled Magna through the right to direct the votes attaching to 100% of Magna's Class B Shares. In addition, the Stronach 
Trust controls MID and controlled Magna Entertainment Corp. ["MEC"] prior to its bankruptcy, through the right to direct the 
votes attaching to approximately 66% of MID's Class B Shares. In the normal course of business, Magna leases various land 
and buildings from MID under operating lease agreements, which are effected on normal commercial terms [note 16]. The leases 
are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 
Lease expense related to MID for 2010 was $172 million [2009 - $149 million; 2008 - $156 million]. Included in accounts 
payable are trade amounts owing to MID and its subsidiaries of $1.6 million [2009 - $0.5 million]. Included in accounts receivable 
are amounts owed from MEC of $nil [2009 - $1.1 million]. 

The Company has agreements with affiliates of the Chairman of the Board for the provision of business development and 
consulting services. In addition, the Company has an agreement with the Chairman of the Board for the provision of business 
development and other services. The cost of these agreements is measured at the exchange amount. In addition, the 
Arrangement set a termination date and declining fee schedule for the consulting, business development and business services 
contracts. The aggregate amount expensed under these agreements with respect to the year ended December 31, 2010 was 
$41 million [2009 - $nil; 2008 - $10 million]. 

During 2010, the Company sold an office building located in Vienna, Austria to the Company's former Co-Chief Executive 
Officer for $11.5 million [€8.4 million]. 

During 2009, the Company purchased approximately 100 acres of real estate located in Oberwaltersdorf, Austria from MEC 
for $6.0 million [€4.6 million]. 

During 2008, the Company purchased 225 acres of real estate located in Austria from MEC for $29 million [€20 million]. 
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These transactions were reviewed by the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee and approved by the 
independent members of Magna's Board of Directors following the unanimous recommendation of the Corporate Governance 
and Compensation Committee. 

During the year ended December 31, 2010, trusts, which exist to make orderly purchases of the Company's shares for 
employees either for transfer to the Employee Equity and Profit Participation Program or to recipients of either bonuses or rights 
to purchase such shares from the trusts, borrowed up to $31 million [2009 - $30 million; 2008 - $35 million] from the Company 
to facilitate the purchase of Common Shares. At December 31, 2010, the trusts' indebtedness to the Company was $31 million 
[2009 - $19 million]. 

26. CONTINGENCIES 

[a] In the ordinary course of business activities, the Company may be contingently liable for litigation and claims with 
customers, suppliers, former employees and other parties. In addition, the Company may be, or could become, liable to 
incur environmental remediation costs to bring environmental contamination levels back within acceptable legal limits. On an 
ongoing basis, the Company assesses the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as 
potential ranges of probable costs and losses. 

A determination of the provision required, if any, for these contingencies is made after analysis of each individual issue. 
The required provision may change in the future due to new developments in each matter or changes in approach such 
as a change in settlement strategy in dealing with these matters. 

[i] In November 1997, the Company and two of its subsidiaries were sued by KS Centoco Ltd., an Ontario-based steering 
wheel manufacturer in which the Company has a 23% equity interest, and by Centoco Holdings Limited, the owner 
of the remaining 77% equity interest in KS Centoco Ltd. In March 1999, the plaintiffs were granted leave to make 
substantial amendments to the original statement of claim in order to add several new defendants and claim additional 
remedies, and in February 2006, the plaintiffs further amended their claim to add an additional remedy. The amended 
statement of claim alleges, among other things: 

• breach of fiduciary duty by the Company and two of its subsidiaries; 

• breach by the Company of its binding letter of intent with KS Centoco Ltd., including its covenant not to have 
any interest, directly or indirectly, in any entity that carries on the airbag business in North America, other than 
through MST Automotive Inc., a company to be 77% owned by Magna and 23% owned by Centoco Holdings 
Limited; 

• the plaintiff's exclusive entitlement to certain airbag technologies in North America pursuant to an exclusive 
licence agreement, together with an accounting of all revenues and profits resulting from the alleged use by the 
Company, TRW Inc. ["TRW"] and other unrelated third party automotive supplier defendants of such technology 
in North America; 

• a conspiracy by the Company, TRW and others to deprive KS Centoco Ltd. of the benefits of such airbag 
technology in North America and to cause Centoco Holdings Limited to sell to TRW its interest in KS Centoco 
Ltd. in conjunction with the Company's sale to TRW of its interest in MST Automotive GmbH and TEMIC Bayern-
Chemie Airbag GmbH; and 

• oppression by the defendants. 

The plaintiffs are seeking, amongst other things, damages of approximately Cdn$3.5 billion. The Company has filed 
an Amended Statement of Defence and Counterclaim. Document production, completion of undertakings and 
examinations for discovery are substantially complete, although limited additional examinations for discovery may 
occur. The trial is not expected to commence until late 2011, at the earliest. The Company believes it has valid 
defences to the plaintiff's claims and therefore intends to continue to vigorously defend this case. At this time, 
notwithstanding the amount of time which has transpired since the claim was filed, these legal proceedings remain 
at an early stage and, accordingly, it is not possible to predict their outcome. 

[b] In certain circumstances, the Company is at risk for warranty costs including product liability and recall costs. Due to the 
nature of the costs, the Company makes its best estimate of the expected future costs [note 15], however, the ultimate 
amount of such costs could be materially different. The Company continues to experience increased customer pressure 
to assume greater warranty responsibility. Currently, under most customer agreements, the Company only accounts for 
existing or probable claims. Under certain complete vehicle engineering and assembly contracts, the Company records 
an estimate of future warranty-related costs based on the terms of the specific customer agreements, and the specific 
customer's warranty experience. 
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27. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

[a] Magna, a diversified global automotive supplier, follows a corporate policy of functional and operational decentralization. 
It conducts its operations through divisions, which function as autonomous business units. As at December 31, 2010, 
Magna had 256 manufacturing operations and 82 product development, engineering and sales centres in 26 countries. 
Magna designs, develops and manufactures technologically advanced automotive systems, assemblies, modules and 
components, and engineers and assembles complete vehicles, primarily for sale to OEMs of cars and light trucks in North 
America, Europe and Rest of World [primarily Asia, South America and Africa]. The Company's capabilities include the 
design, engineering, testing and manufacture of automotive interior systems; seating systems; closure systems; body and 
chassis systems; vision systems; electronic systems; exterior systems; powertrain systems; roof systems; hybrid and 
electric vehicles/systems as well as complete vehicle engineering and assembly. 

Magna's success is directly dependent upon the levels of North American and European [and currently to a lesser extent 
on Rest of World] car and light truck production by its customers. OEM production volumes in each of North America and 
Europe may be impacted by a number of geographic factors, including general economic conditions, interest rates, 
consumer credit availability, fuel prices and availability, infrastructure, legislative changes, environmental emission and 
safety issues, and labour and/or trade relations. 

Given the differences between the regions in which the Company operates, Magna's operations are segmented on a 
geographic basis between North America, Europe and Rest of World. We maintain management teams in each of the 
Company's two primary markets, North America and Europe. The role of the North American and European management 
teams is to manage Magna's interests to ensure a coordinated effort across the Company's different product capabilities. 
In addition to maintaining key customer, supplier and government contacts in their respective markets, the regional 
management teams centrally manage key aspects of the Company's operations while permitting the divisions enough 
flexibility through Magna's decentralized structure to foster an entrepreneurial environment. 

In conjunction with the completion of the Arrangement, the Company's E-Car Systems partnership is managed separately 
from the Company's other operations. Consistent with the above, the Company's internal financial reporting has been 
revised to separately segment key internal operating performance measures between North America, Europe, Rest of 
World and E-Car Systems for purposes of presentation to the chief operating decision maker to assist in the assessment 
of operating performance, the allocation of resources, and the long-term strategic direction and future global growth of 
the Company. The Company's reporting to Magna's Corporate Executive Team, Board of Directors and shareholders has 
also been revised accordingly. 

The accounting policies of each segment are the same as those set out under "Significant Accounting Policies" [note 1] 
and intersegment sales and transfers are accounted for at fair market value. 

The following table shows certain information with respect to segment disclosures: 

2010 
Depreciation Fixed Fixed 

Total External and asset assets, 
sales sales amortization EBIT[i] Goodwill additions net 

North America 
Canada $ 5,486 $ 5,053 $ 133 $ 652 
United States 5,831 5,350 129 667 
Mexico 2,351 2,194 49 367 
Eliminations (911) – – – 

North America 12,757 12,597 $ 360 $ 1,085 $ 646 311 1,686 
Europe 

Euroland [ii] 8,389 8,219 180 999 
Great Britain 813 813 5 58 
Other European countries 1,395 1,295 131 479 
Eliminations (140) – – – 

Europe 10,457 10,327 241 102 401 316 1,536 
Rest of World 1,185 1,097 31 92 140 51 239 
E-Car 20 18 4 (89) – 47 76 
Corporate and Other [iii], [iv] (317) 63 25 (3) 1 59 352 
Total reportable segments $24,102 $24,102 $ 661 $ 1,187 $ 1,188 $ 784 3,889 
Current assets 7,814 
Investments, goodwill 

and other assets 2,195 
Consolidated total assets $13,898 
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2009 
Depreciation Fixed Fixed 

Total External and asset assets, 
sales sales amortization EBIT[i] Goodwill additions net 

North America 
Canada $ 3,597 $ 3,231 $ 65 $ 656 
United States 4,016 3,757 71 699 
Mexico 1,243 1,152 60 358 
Eliminations (550) – – – 

North America 8,306 8,140 $ 412 $ (72) $ 634 196 1,713 
Europe 

Euroland [ii] 6,835 6,687 187 1,067 
Great Britain 748 748 4 67 
Other European countries 1,145 1,026 103 367 
Eliminations (177) – – – 

Europe 8,551 8,461 274 (394) 421 294 1,501 
Rest of World 786 735 26 43 76 32 186 
E-Car 14 12 3 (41) – 13 20 
Corporate and Other [iii], [iv] (290) 19 22 (40) 1 94 391 
Total reportable segments $17,367 $17,367 $ 737 $ (504) $ 1,132 $ 629 3,811 
Current assets 6,303 
Investments, goodwill 

and other assets 2,189 
Consolidated total assets $12,303 

2008 
Depreciation Fixed Fixed 

Total External and asset assets, 
sales sales amortization EBIT[i] Goodwill additions net 

North America 
Canada $ 5,480 $ 5,134 $ 87 $ 682 
United States 5,250 5,043 139 806 
Mexico 1,840 1,649 56 374 
Eliminations (653) – – – 

North America 11,917 11,826 $ 535 $ (106) $ 675 282 1,862 
Europe 

Euroland [ii] 9,608 9,383 278 1,107 
Great Britain 1,160 1,157 13 66 
Other European countries 903 761 53 191 
Eliminations (240) – – – 

Europe 11,431 11,301 291 241 409 344 1,364 
Rest of World 611 560 23 32 75 47 173 
E-Car – – – – – – – 
Corporate and Other [iii], [iv] (255) 17 24 99 1 66 302 
Total reportable segments $23,704 $23,704 $ 873 $ 266 $ 1,160 $ 739 3,701 
Current assets 7,351 
Investments, goodwill 

and other assets 2,137 
Consolidated total assets $13,189 

Notes: 

[i] EBIT represents net income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest and interest (income) expense, net. 

[ii] For purposes of segmentation, Euroland has been defined as those European countries that have adopted the euro 
as their common currency. 

[iii] Included in Corporate and Other EBIT are intercompany fees charged to the automotive segments. 

[iv] During the year ended December 31, 2010, equity income of $23 million is included in the Corporate and Other 
segment [2009 - $7 million; 2008 - $19 million], $8 million is included in North America [2009 - $nil; 2008 - $nil] and 
$2 million is included in Rest of World [2009 - $nil; 2008 - $nil]. 
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[b] The following table aggregates external revenues by customer as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

General Motors $ 4,835 $ 3,209 $ 5,008 
Ford Motor Company 3,409 2,564 3,286 
Fiat / Chrysler Group 3,127 1,842 3,164 
BMW 3,029 2,763 4,442 
Volkswagen 2,725 2,139 1,899 
Daimler AG 2,271 1,792 2,335 
Other 4,706 3,058 3,570 

$ 24,102 $ 17,367 $ 23,704 

[c] The following table summarizes external revenues generated by automotive products and services: 

2010 2009 2008 

Exterior and interior systems $ 8,912 $ 6,092 $ 7,974 
Body systems and chassis systems 4,798 3,376 4,618 
Powertrain systems 3,630 2,560 3,361 
Complete vehicle assembly 2,163 1,764 3,306 
Tooling, engineering and other 1,956 1,555 1,856 
Vision and electronic systems 1,593 1,238 1,476 
E-Car systems 10 1 – 
Closure systems 1,040 781 1,113 

$ 24,102 $ 17,367 $ 23,704 

28. UNITED STATES GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 

The Company's accounting policies as reflected in these consolidated financial statements do not materially differ from U.S. 
GAAP except for: 

[a] Principles of consolidation 

The Company has certain interests in jointly controlled entities that have been proportionately consolidated in the 
Company's financial statements [note 24]. For U.S. GAAP, these interests would be accounted for by the equity method. 

As more fully described in note 4, the Company has a 73% equity interest in E-Car, but does not control the partnership. 
For accounting purposes, the partnership is a variable interest entity. Under Canadian GAAP, Magna is considered the 
primary beneficiary and as a result must consolidate the partnership. Under U.S. GAAP, Accounting Standards Codification 
810, "Consolidation" ["ASC 810"] the Company is not the primary beneficiary of E-Car and therefore would not consolidate 
the partnership. Under U.S. GAAP, the Company's interest in E-Car is accounted for using the equity method. 

The use of the equity method of accounting for the above entities under U.S. GAAP as opposed to consolidation or 
proportionate consolidation under Canadian GAAP has no impact on the Company's net income, earnings per share, and 
shareholders' equity. 

In addition, as a result of deconsolidating the E-Car partnership in accordance with ASC 810, the Company recorded its 
investment in the E-Car partnership at its fair value on August 31, 2010 and recognized a $16 million gain in income. 

[b] Financial instruments 

Prior to redemption, the Company's subordinated debentures were recorded in part as debt and in part as shareholders' 
equity. Under U.S. GAAP, the subordinated debentures would be recorded entirely as debt. 

[c] In-house tooling and engineering 

For U.S. GAAP purposes, in-house engineering service and tooling contracts entered into prior to January 1, 2004, provided 
in conjunction with subsequent assembly or production activities, were regarded as a single arrangement. The revenue 
and the related cost of goods sold for these activities are recognized over the estimated life of the assembly or production 
arrangement. 
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[d] Stock-based compensation 

Under U.S. GAAP rules contained in Accounting Standards Codification 718, "Compensation - Stock Compensation" ["ASC 
718"] the Company is required to measure and record compensation expense for stock options and other share-based 
payments based on the instruments' fair value on the grant date. The standard requires the cost of awards to be 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) over the vesting period. In 
addition, forfeitures are required to be estimated on the grant date. 

The Company had prospectively adopted the new Canadian GAAP recommendations related to stock-based compensation 
for all options granted to employees on or after January 1, 2003. The Canadian GAAP recommendations were substantially 
harmonized with the U.S. GAAP rules contained in ASC 718, which were also adopted by the Company prospectively for 
all options granted on or after January 1, 2003. 

For options granted prior to January 1, 2003, the Company measures compensation cost prior to January 1, 2006 under 
U.S. GAAP using the intrinsic value-based method of accounting as prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for 
Stock Issued to Employees" for awards granted to employees and the fair value-based method of accounting as prescribed 
by ASC 718 for awards granted to non-employees. The same treatment is applicable under Canadian GAAP but only for 
options granted between January 1, 2002 and December 31, 2002. 

Under U.S. GAAP, the Company's restricted stock plans and restricted share unit plans granted on or after January 1, 
2006 are amortized to compensation expense over the substantive vesting period. The substantive vesting period for the 
Company's restricted stock plans is the 4 year holding period, whereas under Canadian GAAP, the Company's restricted 
stock plans are amortized to compensation expense from the date of grant to the end of the four-year holding period and 
the 10 year release period. 

[e] Cumulative translation adjustment 

Under U.S. GAAP, Accounting Standards Codification 830, "Foreign Currency Matters" ["ASC 830"], the Company would 
only realize a gain or loss on the portion of the currency translation adjustment included as a separate component of the 
net investment in a foreign operation upon a sale or complete, or substantially complete, liquidation of the related 
investment. Under ASC 830, no gains or losses are recognized as a result of capital transactions, including the payment 
of dividends. Under Canadian GAAP, the Company is required to recognize a gain or loss equal to the appropriate portion 
of the cumulative translation adjustment account when there is a reduction in the Company's net investment in a foreign 
subsidiary resulting from capital transactions. 

[f] Accounting for uncertain tax positions 

For U.S. GAAP purposes, the Company applies Accounting Standards Codification 740, "Income Taxes" ["ASC 740"] which 
clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing a "more likely than not" minimum recognition threshold a tax 
position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements, and clearly scopes income taxes out of 
Accounting Standards Codification 450, "Contingencies" ["ASC 450"]. ASC 740 also provides guidance on derecognition, 
measurement, classification, interest and penalties, and disclosure. For Canadian GAAP purposes, the Company continues 
to use a policy consistent with the ASC 450 approach to accounting for uncertain tax positions. 

Under ASC 740, uncertain tax positions for which the timing of their resolution is not expected in the current year should 
be recognized as long-term liabilities. 

[g] Derivative instruments 

The Company reviewed its other commercial contracts outstanding as at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 in relation 
to Accounting Standards Codification 815, "Derivatives and Hedging" ["ASC 815"] and determined that there are no 
embedded derivatives as defined therein. 

[h] Pensions and post retirement benefits 

Under U.S. GAAP, Accounting Standards Codification 715, "Compensation - Retirement Benefits" ["ASC 715"] the Company is 
required to recognize the funded status of each defined benefit post employment plan on the balance sheet. The aggregated 
under funded plans are recognized as either a current liability or a non-current liability. The current liability is the amount 
by which the actuarial present value of benefits included in the benefit obligation in the next 12 months exceeds the fair 
value of plan assets, determined on a plan-by-plan basis. 
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[i] Change in reporting currency 

Effective December 31, 1998, the Company changed its reporting currency to the U.S. dollar. Under Canadian GAAP, the 
Company's consolidated financial statements for all periods presented through December 31, 1998 were translated from 
Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect at December 31, 1998, whereas for U.S. GAAP, the 
current rate method under ASC 830 was used. 

[j] Related party transactions 

For U.S. GAAP purposes, transfers of assets between entities under common control should be valued at historical cost 
or market, if lower. The difference between the carrying amount of the assets received and the consideration paid on 
acquisitions from MEC [note 25] is treated as a reduction in capital. 

[k] Business Combinations 

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the new accounting principles for business combinations in Accounting 
Standards Codification 805 "Business Combinations" ["ASC 805"]. The principles change how an acquirer recognizes and 
measures assets acquired, liabilities assumed, non-controlling interest and goodwill in a business combination. Key 
changes include: (i) recognition of transaction costs in current period earnings; (ii) recognition of the estimated fair value 
of all contingent consideration at the acquisition date and an adjustment to fair value at each reporting date with an offset 
to current period earnings; (iii) adjustments to deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income tax uncertainties 
recorded at the acquisition date to be recognized in current period earnings; (iv) acquisition method accounting is applied 
on the date that control is obtained in step acquisitions; and (v) re-measurement of previously acquired non-controlling 
equity investments at fair value as at the acquisition date with an offset to current period earnings; and (vi) any excess of 
fair value of acquired net assets over the acquisition consideration results in a bargain purchase. 

[l] The following tables present net income (loss) following U.S. GAAP: 

2010 
In-house Uncertain Business 

Canadian tooling and tax combi- Consoli- U.S. 
GAAP engineering positions nations dations Other GAAP 

Sales $24,102 $ 61 $ – $ – $ (721) $  –  $23,442 

Costs and expenses 
Cost of goods sold 20,924 49 – – (520) 9 20,462 
Depreciation and amortization 661 – – 8 (12) (1) 656 
Selling, general and administrative 1,340 – – – (59) (15) 1,266 
Interest (income) expense, net (10) – – – (1) – (11) 
Equity income (33) – – – (118) – (151) 
Impairment charges 23 – – – – – 23 

Income (loss) from operations 
before income taxes 1,197 12 – (8) (11) 7 1,197 

Income taxes 236 – (9) (1) (23) (9) 194 
Minority interest (12) – – – 12 – – 
Net income (loss) 973 12 9 (7) – 16 1,003 
Other comprehensive income (loss): 

Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) 
on translation of net investment in 
foreign operations 18 – – (1) – 3 20 

Repurchase of shares (3) – – – – – (3) 
Net unrealized gains (losses) 

on cash flow hedges 81 – – – – – 81 
Net unrealized gains on 

available-for-sale investments 11 – – – – – 11 
Reclassifcation of net (gains) losses on 

cash flow hedges to net income (loss) (28) – – – – – (28) 
Pension and post retirement benefits – – – – – (14) (14) 

Comprehensive income (loss) $ 1,052 $ 12 $ 9 $ (8) $ – $ 5 $ 1,070 

Magna International Inc. 2010 Annual Report – Financial Statements 
81 



2009 
In-house 

Canadian tooling and 
GAAP engineering 

Uncertain 
tax 

positions 

Business 
combi-
nations 

Consoli-
dations Other 

U.S. 
GAAP 

Sales $17,367 $ 87 $ – $ – $ (578) $  –  $16,876 

Costs and expenses 
Cost of goods sold 
Depreciation and amortization 
Selling, general and administrative 
Interest (income) expense, net 
Equity income 
Impairment charges 

15,697 
737 

1,261 
7 
(7) 

183 

72 
– 
– 
– 
– 
– 

– 
– 
– 
– 
– 
– 

– 
4 

(34) 
– 
– 
– 

(396) 
(14) 
(53) 

– 
(105) 

– 

7 
(2) 
(4) 
– 
– 
– 

15,380 
725 

1,170 
7 

(112) 
183 

Income (loss) from operations 
before income taxes (511) 15 – 30 (10) (1) (477) 

Income taxes (18) 6 – (1) (10) (1) (24) 
Minority interest – – – – – – – 
Net income (loss) (493) 9 – 31 – – (453) 
Other comprehensive income (loss): 

Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) 
on translation of net investment in 
foreign operations 407 (7) – 1 – (1) 400 

Repurchase of shares – – – – – – – 
Net unrealized gains (losses) 

on cash flow hedges 41 – – – – – 41 
Net unrealized gains on 

available-for-sale investments – – – – – – – 
Reclassifcation of net (gains) losses on 

cash flow hedges to net income (loss) 59 – – – – – 59 
Pension and post retirement benefits – – – – – 15 15 

Comprehensive income (loss) $ 14 $ 2 $ – $ 32 $ – $ 14 $ 62 

2008 
In-house Uncertain Cumulative 

Canadian tooling and tax translation Consoli- U.S. 
GAAP engineering positions adjustment dations Other GAAP 

Sales $23,704 $ 82 $ – $ – $ (758) $  –  $23,028 

Costs and expenses 
Cost of goods sold 20,982 76 – – (554) 58 20,562 
Depreciation and amortization 873 – – – (14) (1) 858 
Selling, general and administrative 1,319 – – 116 (38) – 1,397 
Interest (income) expense, net (62) – – – – – (62) 
Equity income (19) – – – (139) – (158) 
Impairment charges 283 – – – – – 283 

Income (loss) from operations 
before income taxes 328 6 – (116) (13) (57) 148 

Income taxes 257 1 2 – (13) (58) 189 
Minority interest – – – – – – – 
Net income (loss) 71 5 (2) (116) – 1 (41) 
Other comprehensive income (loss): 

Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) 
on translation of net investment in 
foreign operations (881) – – 116 – 2 (763) 

Repurchase of shares (32) – – – – – (32) 
Net unrealized gains (losses) 

on cash flow hedges (102) – – – – – (102) 
Net unrealized gains on 

available-for-sale investments – – – – – – – 
Reclassifcation of net (gains) losses on 

cash flow hedges to net income (loss) (1) – – – – – (1) 
Pension and post retirement benefits – – – – – (57) (57) 

Comprehensive income (loss) $ (945) $ 5 $ (2) $ – $ – $ (54) $ (996) 
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[m] The following table presents earnings (loss) per share information [restated to reflect the stock split [note 3]] following U.S. 
GAAP: 

2010 2009 2008 

Earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share under U.S. GAAP: 
Basic 
Diluted 

$ 
$ 

4.36 
4.30 

$ 
$ 

(2.03) 
(2.03) 

$ 
$ 

(0.18) 
(0.18) 

Earnings (loss) per share data were computed as follows: 

Basic earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share: 

Net (loss) income under U.S. GAAP $ 1,003 $ (453) $ (41) 

Average number of Common and Class B Shares 
outstanding during the year 230.0 223.6 225.6 

Basic earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share $ 4.36 $ (2.03) $ (0.18) 

Diluted earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share: 

Net income (loss) under U.S. GAAP $ 1,003 $ (453) $ (41) 

Average number of Common and Class B Shares 
outstanding during the year 230.0 223.6 225.6 

Adjustment for stock options 3.0 – – 
233.0 223.6 225.6 

Diluted earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share $ 4.30 $ (2.03) $ (0.18) 

[n] The following tables present cash flows following U.S. GAAP: 

Canadian 
GAAP 

2010 

Consolidations 
U.S. 

GAAP 

Cash from operating activities $ 1,872 $ (103) $ 1,769 

Cash used for investment activities (744) 106 (638) 

Cash used for financing activities (355) (160) (515) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (2) (2) (4) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 

771 
1,334 

$ 2,105 $ 

(159) 
(65) 

(224) $ 

612 
1,269 
1,881 

Canadian 
GAAP 

2009 

Consolidations 
U.S. 

GAAP 

Cash from operating activities $ 527 $ (12) $ 515 

Cash used for investment activities (876) 17 (859) 

Cash used for financing activities (1,164) 7 (1,157) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 90 (7) 83 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the year 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 

(1,423) 
2,757 

$ 1,334 $ 

5 
(70) 
(65) $ 

(1,418) 
2,687 
1,269 
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2008 
Canadian U.S. 

GAAP Consolidations GAAP 

Cash from operating activities $ 1,054 $ (2) $ 1,052 

Cash used for investment activities (1,063) 7 (1,056) 

Cash provided from financing activities 89 (5) 84 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (277) 8 (269) 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the year (197) 8 (189) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 2,954 (78) 2,876 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 2,757 $ (70) $ 2,687 

[o] The following tables indicate the significant items in the consolidated balance sheets that would have been affected had 
the consolidated financial statements been prepared under U.S. GAAP: 

2010 
Pensions 

In-house Uncertain and post 
Canadian tooling and tax retirement Consoli- U.S. 

GAAP engineering positions benefits dations Other GAAP 

ASSETS 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,105 $ – $ – $ – $ (224) $ – $ 1,881 
Accounts receivable 3,645 – – – (117) – 3,528 
Inventories 1,896 – – – (74) – 1,822 
Income taxes receivable – – – – – – – 
Prepaid expenses and other 168 – – – (6) – 162 

7,814 – – – (421) – 7,393 

Investments 277 – – – 282 16 575 
Fixed assets, net 3,889 – – – (141) (6) 3,742 
Goodwill 1,188 – – – – 6 1,194 
Future tax assets 150 – (4) 2 – – 148 
Other assets 580 – – 22 30 – 632 

$13,898 $ – $ (4) $ 24 $ (250) $ 16 $13,684 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
Current liabilities 
Bank indebtedness $ 26 $ – $ – $ – $ (6) $ – $ 20 
Accounts payable 3,586 – – – (107) – 3,479 
Accrued salaries and wages 462 – – – (17) – 445 
Other accrued liabilities 909 1 – 8 (20) – 898 
Income taxes payable 192 – (129) – (8) – 55 
Long-term debt due within one year 25 – – – (6) – 19 

5,200 1 (129) 8 (164) – 4,916 

Deferred revenue 15 – – – – – 15 
Long-term debt 46 – – – (5) – 41 
Other long-term liabilities 367 – 116 73 (4) – 552 
Future tax liabilities 131 – – 5 (6) 4 134 

5,759 1 (13) 86 (179) 4 5,658 

Minority interest 74 – – – (71) (3) – 

Shareholders' equity 
Common Shares 4,335 – – – – 165 4,500 
Contributed surplus 85 – – – – (29) 56 
Retained earnings 2,725 7 9 (4) – (22) 2,715 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 920 (8) – (58) – (102) 752 

8,065 (1) 9 (62) – 12 8,023 
Non-controlling interest – – – – – 3 3 

8,065 (1) 9 (62) – 15 8,026 
$13,898 $ – $ (4) $ 24 $ (250) $ 16 $13,684 
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2009 
Pensions 

In-house Uncertain and post 
Canadian tooling and tax retirement 

GAAP engineering positions benefits 
Consoli-
dations Other 

U.S. 
GAAP 

ASSETS 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable 
Inventories 
Income taxes receivable 
Prepaid expenses and other 

$ 1,334 $ – $ – $ – 
3,062 – – – 
1,721 – – – 

50 – 125 – 
136 – – – 

6,303 – 125 – 

$ (65) 
(79) 
(56) 

4 
(4) 

(200) 

$ – 
– 
– 
– 
– 
– 

$ 1,269 
2,983 
1,665 

179 
132 

6,228 

Investments 
Fixed assets, net 
Goodwill 
Future tax assets 
Other assets 

238 – – – 
3,811 – – – 
1,132 – – – 

168 – (3) 6 
651 – – 23 

$12,303 $ – $ 122 $ 29 

145 
(69) 

– 
– 

32 
$ (92) 

– 
(1) 
6 
– 
– 

$ 5 

383 
3,741 
1,138 

171 
706 

$12,367 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
Current liabilities 
Bank indebtedness 
Accounts payable 
Accrued salaries and wages 
Other accrued liabilities 
Income taxes payable 
Long-term debt due within one year 

$ 48 $ – $ – $ – 
3,001 – – – 

372 – – – 
862 13 – 6 

– – – – 
16 – – – 

4,299 13 – 6 

$ (3) 
(56) 
(11) 
(14) 

– 
(2) 

(86) 

$ – 
– 
– 
– 
– 
– 
– 

$ 45 
2,945 

361 
867 

– 
14 

4,232 

Deferred revenue 
Long-term debt 
Other long-term liabilities 
Future tax liabilities 

19 – – – 
115 – – – 
369 – 122 67 
141 – – 4 

4,943 13 122 77 

– 
(5) 
(1) 
– 

(92) 

– 
– 
– 
5 
5 

19 
110 
557 
150 

5,068 

Minority interest – – – – – – – 

Shareholders' equity 
Common Shares 
Contributed surplus 
Retained earnings 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 

3,613 – – – 
63 – – – 

2,843 (5) – (4) 
841 (8) – (44) 

– 
– 
– 
– 

166 
(31) 
(31) 

(104) 

3,779 
32 

2,803 
685 

7,360 (13) – (48) – – 7,299 
Non-controlling interest – – – – – – – 

7,360 (13) – (48) – – 7,299 
$12,303 $ – $ 122 $ 29 $ (92) $  5  $12,367 

29. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

On February 8, 2011, the majority shareholder of a company in which Magna has a 40% equity interest, exercised its option 
to purchase Magna's equity interest. During 2010, Magna recorded equity income of $23 million from this investment and as 
at December 31, 2010 the carrying value of Magna's 40% investment was $125 million. Proceeds from disposition are 
projected to exceed Magna's carrying value and closing of the transaction is expected to occur during the first half of 2011. 

30. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's method of presentation. 
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MAGNA INTERNATIONAL INC. 
Supplementary Financial and Share Information 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY 

(U.S. dollars in millions, except per share figures) 
(unaudited) 

Years ended December 31, 

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 

Total sales 24,102 17,367 23,704 26,067 24,180 22,811 20,653 15,345 12,422 10,507 

Depreciation and amortization 661 737 873 872 790 711 598 506 423 399 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations 973 (493) 71 663 528 639 676 567 556 511 

Net income (loss) 973 (493) 71 663 528 639 676 500 540 515 

Diluted earnings (loss) per Share 

from continuing operations (restated) 4.18 (2.21) 0.31 2.93 2.39 2.95 3.48 2.95 3.12 3.03 

Diluted earnings (loss) per Share (restated) 4.18 (2.21) 0.31 2.93 2.39 2.95 3.48 2.60 3.03 3.05 

Average number of shares outstanding (restated) 230.0 223.6 225.6 222.8 217.2 213.4 193.4 191.8 177.4 160.2 

Cash dividends paid per share (restated) 0.42 0.09 0.63 0.58 0.76 0.76 0.74 0.68 0.68 0.68 

Cash flow from operations 1,872 527 1,054 1,593 1,596 1,698 1,381 1,184 1,404 934 

Capital expenditures 784 629 739 741 793 848 859 801 833 486 

Working capital 2,614 2,004 2,258 3,112 2,277 2,215 2,183 1,937 1,433 1,314 

Fixed assets, net 3,889 3,811 3,701 4,307 4,114 4,124 3,967 3,313 3,676 3,020 

Total assets 13,898 12,303 13,189 15,343 13,154 12,321 11,615 9,871 8,910 6,939 

Long-term debt 46 115 143 337 605 700 984 766 608 945 

Shareholders' equity 8,065 7,360 7,363 8,642 7,157 6,565 5,335 4,533 5,095 3,829 

Long-term debt to equity ratio 0.01:1 0.02:1 0.02:1 0.04:1 0.08:1 0.11:1 0.18:1 0.17:1 0.12:1 0.25:1 
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Share Information 

The Common Shares are listed and traded in Canada on the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX") and in the United States on the New York 
Stock Exchange ("NYSE"). As of February 28, 2011, there were 1,693 registered holders of Common Shares. 

Distribution of Shares held by Registered Shareholders 
Common 

Canada 84.8% 
United States 14.8% 
Other 0.4% 

Dividends 

Dividends for 2010 on Magna's Common Shares [formerly Class A Subordinate Voting Shares] were paid on each of June 15, 
September 15 and December 15, 2010, at the rate of US$0.18, US$0.30 and US$0.18 [post-stock split]. Dividends for 2010 on 
Magna's Class B Shares were paid on June 15, 2010 only, at the rate of US$0.18. Magna's Class B Shares were cancelled on 
August 31, 2010, and were therefore not eligible for any further dividends. Magna's dividends have been designated as "eligible dividends" 
for purposes of subsection 89(1) of the Income Tax Act (Canada) and, accordingly, are eligible for an enhanced tax credit. Additional 
details are found on Magna's website (www.magna.com), under "Investors - Dividends & Interest". 

Price Range of Shares 

The following table sets forth, for the years indicated, the high and low sale prices and volumes of Common Shares traded in each 
case as reported by the TSX and NYSE, respectively. 

Common Shares (TSX) (Cdn$) 
Year ended December 31, 2010 Year ended December 31, 2009 

Quarter Volume High Low Volume High Low 
1st 38,306,240 32.42 26.55 40,554,134 21.16 12.72 
2nd 54,752,790 39.41 31.23 46,892,510 24.69 16.24 
3rd 41,300,522 44.97 32.75 38,452,210 27.63 21.84 
4th 32,649,723 53.88 41.49 38,348,792 27.33 21.02 

Common Shares (NYSE) (U.S.$) 
Year ended December 31, 2010 Year ended December 31, 2009 

Quarter Volume High Low Volume High Low 
1st 80,628,814 31.82 25.58 130,770,298 17.92 9.82 
2nd 126,099,390 38.23 30.84 144,994,694 21.25 12.81 
3rd 89,129,494 43.11 30.98 96,810,818 25.98 20.04 
4th 65,690,113 52.98 40.52 91,780,676 25.98 19.50 

Magna's Common Shares began trading on a 2-for-1 split basis on November 12, 2010 on the TSX and on November 26, 2010 on 
the NYSE. 

All numbers have been restated to reflect trading prices and volumes, as if the stock split applied for the entire years 2009 and 2010. 
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Magna's capabilities include:

Vehicles & Roof Systems

Vehicle Engineering
& Contract Assembly
Magna Steyr
n Engineering Services
n Contract Manufacturing
n Fuel Systems

Powertrain Systems
Magna Powertrain
n Driveline & Chassis

Controls
n Fluid Pressure & Controls
n Stampings
n Die Castings
n Engineering Services

& System Integration

Roof Systems
Magna Steyr
n Soft Tops
n Retractable Hard Tops
n Modular Roofs
n Textile Folding Roofs

Exterior Systems
Magna Exteriors & Interiors
n Front & Rear Fascia Systems
n Sealing Systems
n Exterior Trim & Lighting
n Class A Composite Panels
n Modular Systems
n Engineered Glass
n Structural Components
n Under Hood & Underbody Components
n Sheet Molding Compound Material

Interior Systems
Magna Exteriors & Interiors
n Sidewall & Trim Systems
n Cockpit Systems
n Cargo Management Systems
n Overhead Systems
n Carpet & Loadspace Systems

Seating Systems
Magna Seating
n Complete Seating Solutions
n Seat Structures & Mechanism Solutions
n Foam & Trim Solutions

Closure Systems
Magna Closures
n Door Modules
n Window Systems
n Power Closure Systems
n Latching Systems
n Handle Assemblies
n Driver Controls
n Electronics

Vision Systems
Magna Mirrors
n Interior Mirrors
n Exterior Mirrors
n Actuators
n Electronic Vision Systems

Body & Chassis
Systems

Body & Chassis Systems
Cosma International
n Body Systems
n Chassis Systems
n Technology, Engineering

& Tooling Systems
n Renewable Energy Structures

Hybrid & Electric Vehicles/Systems
Magna E-Car Systems*
n Hybrid & Electric Vehicle 

Systems & Subsystems
n Hybrid & Electric Vehicle 

Modules & Components
n Services
* Our partnership with the Stronach group

E-Car Systems

Electronic Systems
Magna Electronics
n Driver Assistance & Safety
n Intelligent Power Systems
n Engine Electronics & Sensors
n Industrial Products
n Body Systems & HMI

Powertrain & Electronic Systems

Exteriors & Interiors
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As a "foreign private issuer" listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), Magna is required to disclose the signifcant ways in which our corporate 
governance practices differ from those to be followed by U.S. domestic issuers under the NYSE listing standards. Please see the corporate governance 
section of our website (www.magna.com) for our Statement of Signifcant Corporate Governance Differences (NYSE). Additionally, please refer to the 
Management Information Circular/Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders for a description of our corporate governance practices 
in comparison with the requirements and guidelines of the Canadian securities administrators. 

Shareholders wishing to communicate with the non-management members of the Magna Board of Directors may do so by contacting the Lead Director 
through the offce of Magna's Secretary at 337 Magna Drive, Aurora, Ontario, Canada L4G 7K1 (905) 726-7072.  

Shareholders wishing to obtain a copy of Magna's Notice of Intention to Make a Normal Course Issuer Bid, referred to in Note 19 to the consolidated 
fnancial statements contained in this Annual Report may also do so by contacting Magna's Corporate Secretary.  

The 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders 
The 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at Hilton Suites Toronto/Markham Conference Centre, 

8500 Warden Avenue, Markham, Ontario, Canada on Wednesday, May 4, 2011 commencing at 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) 

2010 Annual Report 

Additional copies of this 2010 Annual Report or copies of our quarterly reports may be obtained from: The Secretary, Magna International Inc., 
337 Magna Drive, Aurora, Ontario, Canada L4G 7K1 or www.magna.com. Copies of fnancial data and other publicly fled documents are available through 

the internet on the Canadian Securities Administrators' System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) which can be accessed at 
www.sedar.com and on the United States Securities and Exchange Commission's Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval System (EDGAR) 

which can be accessed at www.sec.gov. 

©Magna International Inc. 2011. Magna and the  logo are registered trademarks of Magna International Inc. 

www.sec.gov
www.sedar.com
www.magna.com
www.magna.com
www.magna.com


2 0 1 0  A N N UA L  R E P O RT

Financial Highlights
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Company Overview

Magna, the most diversifed global 
automotive supplier, designs, develops and 
manufactures technologically advanced 
automotive systems, assemblies, modules 
and components, and engineers and 
assembles complete vehicles, primarily for 
sale to original equipment manufacturers of 
cars and light trucks.

Our capabilities include:

n interior systems
n seating systems
n closure systems
n body & chassis systems
n vision systems
n electronic systems
n exterior systems
n powertrain systems
n roof systems
n vehicle engineering

& contract assembly
n hybrid & electric vehicles/systems

Magna has more than 96,000 employees in
256 manufacturing operations and 82 product
development, engineering and sales centres in
26 countries.

The all-new Ford Focus Electric, jointly developed by Ford and Magna.
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	Financial Highlights2010Company Overview Magna, the most diversified global automotive supplier, designs, develops and manufactures technologically advanced automotive systems, assemblies, modules and components, and engineers and assembles complete vehicles, primarily for sale to original equipment manufacturers of cars and light trucks. Our capabilities include: n interior systems n seating systems n closure systems n body & chassis systems n vision systems n electronic systems n exterior systems n powert
	Magna's capabilities include: 
	Exteriors & Interiors 
	Exteriors & Interiors 
	Exteriors & Interiors 
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	Exterior Systems 
	Exterior Systems 
	Magna Exteriors & Interiors 
	n Front & Rear Fascia Systems n Sealing Systems n Exterior Trim & Lighting n Class A Composite Panels n Modular Systems n Engineered Glass n Structural Components n Under Hood & Underbody Components n Sheet Molding Compound Material 
	Interior Systems 
	Magna Exteriors & Interiors 
	n Sidewall & Trim Systems n Cockpit Systems n Cargo Management Systems n Overhead Systems n Carpet & Loadspace Systems 
	Seating Systems 
	Magna Seating 
	n Complete Seating Solutions n Seat Structures & Mechanism Solutions n Foam & Trim Solutions 
	Closure Systems 
	Magna Closures 
	n Door Modules n Window Systems n Power Closure Systems n Latching Systems n Handle Assemblies n Driver Controls n Electronics 
	Vision Systems 
	Magna Mirrors 
	n Interior Mirrors n Exterior Mirrors n Actuators n Electronic Vision Systems 


	Vehicles & Roof Systems 
	Vehicles & Roof Systems 
	Vehicles & Roof Systems 
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	Vehicle Engineering & Contract Assembly 
	Vehicle Engineering & Contract Assembly 
	Vehicle Engineering & Contract Assembly 
	Vehicle Engineering & Contract Assembly 


	Magna Steyr 
	Magna Steyr 
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	n Engineering Services n Contract Manufacturing n Fuel Systems 
	n Engineering Services n Contract Manufacturing n Fuel Systems 
	n Engineering Services n Contract Manufacturing n Fuel Systems 
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	Roof Systems 
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	n Soft Tops n Retractable Hard Tops n Modular Roofs n Textile Folding Roofs 
	n Soft Tops n Retractable Hard Tops n Modular Roofs n Textile Folding Roofs 
	n Soft Tops n Retractable Hard Tops n Modular Roofs n Textile Folding Roofs 
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	Body & Chassis Systems 
	Cosma International 
	n Body Systems 
	n Chassis Systems 
	n Technology, Engineering & Tooling Systems 
	n Renewable Energy Structures 
	E-Car Systems 
	Hybrid & Electric Vehicles/Systems 
	Magna E-Car Systems* 
	n Hybrid & Electric Vehicle Systems & Subsystems n Hybrid & Electric Vehicle Modules & Components n Services 
	* Our partnership with the Stronach group 
	* Our partnership with the Stronach group 

	Powertrain & Electronic Systems 
	Powertrain Systems 
	Magna Powertrain 
	n Driveline & Chassis 
	Controls n Fluid Pressure & Controls n Stampings n Die Castings n Engineering Services 
	& System Integration 
	Figure
	Electronic Systems 
	Magna Electronics 
	n Driver Assistance & Safety n Intelligent Power Systems n Engine Electronics & Sensors n Industrial Products n Body Systems & HMI 
	Operating Principles Magna's entrepreneurial corporate culture, highlighted in the principles shown below, is one of the main reasons for Magna's success and our greatest competitive advantage. Decentralized Operating Structure Magna's manufacturing divisions operate as independent profit centres aligned by geographic region in each of our product areas. This decentralized structure prevents bureaucracy and makes Magna more responsive to customer needs and changes within the global automotive industry, as w
	Figure
	FrankStronach 
	FrankStronach 
	Chairman of the Board 


	TheChairman'sMessage 
	Last year marked a major turning point for Magna and for me. After many decades as the founder and controlling shareholder of Magna International, I accepted – and Magna's ClassAshareholdersapproved –aproposalthatsawtheStronachTrust,Magna'scontrolling shareholder since 1978, relinquish voting control of Magna. 
	I have invested many years of hard work and energy into Magna, and my number one priority has always been the growth and success of the Company. Today, Magna is bigger in size, stronger and healthier than it has ever been. The Company's proven operating principles and unique culture are deeply rooted and the day-to-day management of the firm is in good hands. It is therefore the right time for me to step down as Chairman, a position I have held for nearly 40 years. I will continue to be involved in an advis
	One of the factors influencing the decision to give up voting control of Magna was the increasingly restrictive rules governing the management of companies. I believe regulators have put in place excessive rules that stifle the market's creative forces – namely, the innovative managers, entrepreneurs and inventors who are the engines of new wealth creation. We need to loosen the regulatory straightjacket and create a simpler, moreclear-cutregulatoryframeworkthatallowsbusinessmoreroomtoinnovateandexpand. 
	Over the years, one of the achievements I am proud of is the strong management team that I cultivated. The key members of Magna's executive management are seasoned, widely respected within the automotive industry, and committed to the principles that have made Magna a great company. I am confident this team will continue to manage the Company for the benefit of all stakeholders. 
	I firmly believe that Magna will continue to do well provided that the Company adheres to the operating principles and unique corporate culture that are the foundation of our success. Furthermore, itis my opinionthatthe Company mustcontinue toexercise caution in regard to taking on debt. As for who should own Magna in the years ahead, I hope that Magna will always have a significant Canadian shareholder base that includes institutions with a stake in Canada. Furthermore, I believe Magna should remain a publ
	Going forward, much of my time and energy will be focused on growing Magna E-Car Systems, a partnership between Magna and the Stronach group. Working together with Ford Motor Co., we will launch the all-new Ford Focus Electric within the next 12 months, one of the world's first all-electric vehicles. Magna E-Car Systems initiated the prototype for the vehicleandhas been closelycollaboratingwith Ford ever since in preparing thevehiclefor commercial production. Magna E-Car Systems recently opened a hybrid and
	In closing, I wish to thank executive management for steering the Company through a very turbulent period. They made a lot of difficult decisions and took decisive action when needed, with the result that Magna is well positioned to rebound strongly now that the automotive industry is recovering. In addition, I would like to thank our employees, who doubled their efforts during the past few years to help the Company make it through the most severe downturn our industry has ever experienced. On behalf of man
	The Stronach story at Magna is far from finished. I am starting from the beginning all over again, returning to my roots as an entrepreneur, and I look forward to growing Magna E-Car Systems into a company that will play a leading role in shaping and building the cars of the future. 
	/s/ Frank Stronach 
	FrankStronach 
	Chairman of the Board 
	The Magna Corporate Constitution 
	Employee Equity and Profit Participation 
	TenpercentofMagna’squalifyingprofitbeforetaxwillbeallocatedtoeligibleemployees. ThesefundswillbeusedforthepurchaseofMagnasharesintrustforeligibleemployees andforcashdistributionstoeligibleemployees,recognizinglengthofservice. 
	Shareholder Profit Participation 
	Magnawilldistribute,onaverageoverathree-yearperiod, notlessthan20percentofitsannualnetprofitaftertaxtoshareholders. 
	Management Profit Participation 
	Toobtainlong-termcontractualcommitment,Magnaprovidesacompensationarrangement tocorporatemanagementwhichallowsforbasesalariescomparabletoindustrystandards, plusincentivebonuses,intotal,ofuptosixpercentofitsprofitbeforetax. 
	Research and Development 
	Magnawillallocateaminimumofsevenpercentofitsprofitbeforetaxforresearchanddevelopment toensureitslong-termviability. 
	Social Responsibility 
	Magnawillallocateamaximumoftwopercentofitsprofitbeforetaxforcharitable,cultural, educationalandpoliticalpurposestosupportthebasicfabricofsociety. 
	Unrelated Investments 
	MagnaCommonshareholderswillhavetherighttoapproveanyinvestment inanunrelatedbusinessintheeventsuchinvestmenttogetherwithallotherinvestments inunrelatedbusinessesexceeds20percentofMagna’sequity. 
	Board of Directors 
	Magnabelievesthatoutsidedirectorsprovideindependentcounselanddiscipline. AmajorityofthemembersofMagna’sBoardofDirectorswillbeoutsiders. 
	Constitutional Amendments 
	AchangetoMagna’sCorporateConstitutionwillrequiretheapproval ofitsCommonshareholders. 
	Magna's Corporate Constitution publicly declares and defines the rights of employees and investors to participate in our profits and growth while also imposing certain disciplines on management. These features strike a balance between employees, investors and management while allowing us to maintain an entrepreneurial environment that encourages productivity. 
	ThesimplifiedsummaryofMagna'sCorporateConstitution(above)isqualifiedbytheactualtextoftheCorporateConstitutionascontainedinMagna's Articles of Incorporation. 
	The Magna Employee’s Charter 
	Magna is committed to an operating philosophy which is based on fairness and concern for people. This philosophy is part of Magna’s Fair Enterprise culture in which employees and management share in the responsibility to ensure the success of the company. It includes these principles: 
	Job Security 
	Beingcompetitivebymakingabetterproductforabetterpriceisthebestwaytoenhancejobsecurity. Magnaiscommittedtoworkingtogetherwithyoutohelpprotectyourjobsecurity. Toassistyou,Magnawillprovide: •JobCounselling•Training•EmployeeAssistancePrograms 
	A Safe and Healthful Workplace 
	Magnastrivestoprovideyouwithaworkingenvironmentwhichissafeandhealthful. 
	Fair Treatment 
	Magnaoffersequalopportunitiesbasedonanindividual’squalificationsandperformance, freefromdiscriminationorfavouritism. 
	Competitive Wages and Benefits 
	Magnawillprovideyouwithinformationwhichwillenableyoutocompareyourtotalcompensation, includingtotalwagesandtotalbenefits,withthoseearnedbyemployeesofyourcompetitors, aswellaswithotherplantsinyourcommunity.Ifyourtotalcompensationisfoundnottobecompetitive, thenyourwageswillbeadjusted. 
	Employee Equity and Profit Participation 
	Magnabelievesthateveryemployeeshouldshareinthefinancialsuccessofthecompany. 
	Communication and Information 
	Throughregularmonthlymeetingsbetweenmanagementandemployeesandthroughpublications, Magnawillprovideyouwithinformationsothatyouwillknowwhatisgoingoninyourcompany andwithintheindustry. 
	The Hotline 
	Shouldyouhaveaproblem,orfeeltheaboveprinciplesarenotbeingmet,weencourageyoutocall theHotlineorusetheself-addressedHotlineEnvelopestoregisteryourcomplaints.Youdonothave togiveyourname,butifyoudo,itwillbeheldinstrictconfidence.HotlineInvestigatorswillanswer yourcall.TheHotlineiscommittedtoinvestigateandresolveallconcernsorcomplaints andmustreporttheoutcometoMagna’sGlobalHumanResourcesDepartment. 
	Employee Relations Advisory Board 
	TheEmployeeRelationsAdvisoryBoardisagroupofpeoplewhohaveprovenrecognitionandcredibility relatingtohumanitarianandsocialissues.ThisBoardwillmonitor,adviseandensurethatMagnaoperates withinthespiritoftheMagnaEmployee’sCharterandtheprinciplesofMagna’sCorporateConstitution. 
	Figure
	DonaldJ.Walker 
	Chief Executive Officer 
	Figure
	VincentJ.Galifi 
	VincentJ.Galifi 
	Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer 


	Management'sMessagetoShareholders 
	Magna entered 2011 riding a wave of momentum that started in 2010 and has continued tobuild astheglobalautomotive industry experiencesa solidrecoveryinvehicleproduction and sales. Despite recent world events, we are confident that 2011 will be another strong year for our industry. 
	Thepastyearalsosawalandmarkchangeinregardtoourcapitalstructure,withshareholders voting to eliminate the dual-class share capital structure that had been in place since the late 1970s. We believe that the move to a single share structure has already unlocked significant share value for Magna shareholders and will continue to do so going forward. 
	Also in 2010, as a result of our continuing strong operating and cash flow performance, our Board of Directors reinstated our quarterly dividend and subsequently increased the dividend three times since its reinstatement. In late 2010, we completed a two-for-one stock split, which was implemented by way of a stock dividend. We also initiated a normal courseissuerbid to purchaseupto8million ofourissuedand outstandingCommonShares (adjusted for the stock split), in place primarily to offset the dilution relate
	Since the elimination of our dual-class share structure, we have also implemented a number of significant corporate governance initiatives, including the adoption of a majority voting policy beginning in 2012 and reconstitution of the Nominating Committee of our Boardsothatit isnowcomprisedentirely ofindependent directors. Throughtheassistance of an internationally recognized firm, we have also identified two additional independent directors who are being nominated for election. 
	We believe the change in our capital structure and the corporate governance initiatives we have enacted establish a strong foundation for the Company's long-term success. 
	OperatingHighlights 
	Our 2010 sales rose sharply – largely due to increases in North American and European vehicle production volumes. Magna sales in 2010 were $24.1 billion, an increase of 39% compared to the previous year. Our Rest of World production sales surpassed the $1 billion level for the first time and continued to experience robust growth, up 53% compared to the year before. Magna's average dollar content per vehicle also continued to climb in both North America, where it rose 13% over the prior year, and in Europe, 
	We are in a strong financial position, with net cash of $2 billion and little debt. With a new capital structure and a new global management structure in place, we believe we are now well-positioned to capitalize on business opportunities that arise in the year ahead. 
	The following are some of the major operating highlights in 2010, including a number of acquisitions and investments in new facilities that expand Magna's manufacturing footprint in several key emerging markets: 
	• We significantly expanded our presence in South America through acquisitions and greenfield operations. Two of our operating units – Cosma International and Magna Seating – announced plans to build manufacturing facilities in the São Paulo area to meet new customer requirements. We also acquired Brazilian automotive seating supplier Resil Minas, the largest supplier of seat frames in South America. The new entity will operate under the name Magna Seating Brazil with four manufacturingfacilities. The Resil
	• 
	• 
	• 
	We acquired convertible system supplier Karmann Japan Co. Ltd. and combined the operation with Magna Steyr's Car Top Systems operations in Japan. 

	• 
	• 
	We announced the opening of three new facilities near St. Petersburg, Russia. Two of the new facilities operate as a joint venture between Cosma International and a Korean-based supplier, and will produce body, chassis and energy-management systems for OEM customers such as Hyundai, General Motors, Nissan and Volkswagen. The third facility produces exterior and interior components for OEM customers including Ford and Nissan. 

	• 
	• 
	We were awarded significant new business. We received a contract from General Motors to supply the frame assembly for GM's next generation of full-size pickups and SUVs – the third generation of frames that Magna has been awarded by GM for this particular platform. In addition, four of our operating units were awarded major new business from Volkswagen Group of America. Magna is supplying a wide variety of components and systems on Volkswagen's new Passat, which is assembled in Chattanooga, Tennessee. 

	• 
	• 
	We launched the new Dynamax™ All-Wheel-Drive (AWD) system through a joint venture with a Korean-based supplier. The AWD system features an intelligent control unit that continuously monitors driving conditions and anticipates AWD system requirements. The new Kia Sportage is the first of several vehicles planned to feature the Dynamax™ AWD system. 

	• 
	• 
	Our operating units and manufacturing divisions won a number of major customer awards. Cosma International, our body and chassis systems unit, received the General Motors 2009 Supplier of the Year award for significant contributions to GM's global product and performance achievements. This was the 11th time Cosma has won the award. Three Magna divisions won Ford's World Excellence Awards, the company's highest supplier recognition. Our divisions also received supplier performance awards from American Honda 

	• 
	• 
	Magna Seating received an Innovation Award in the environmental category from the Society of Plastics Engineers (SPE) Automotive Division for a new technology that converts polyurethane foam scrap into renewed polyol. This groundbreaking innovation has its first commercial automotive application in the seats of the 2011 Jeep® Grand Cherokee. 


	GoingForward 
	Given the solid recovery of global vehicle sales and production during the past several quarters, we are confident that Magnawill poststrong resultsagainin2011. Weremainfocusedoncontinuingtoimplement ourglobal growth strategy, which includes further expansion in high-growth and developing markets, primarily in China, South America, Russia and India, in order to be well positioned to support our customers' global platforms and to capitalize on significant vehicle production growth in these markets. We will a
	We also remain focused on increasing our profitability in Europe, through a combination of launching new programs and facilities, improving certain underperforming operations and increasing the competitiveness of our manufacturing footprint in Europe. 
	In addition, we will continue to grow our business in non-traditional areas by leveraging our manufacturing capacity andknow-how to service customersinotherindustries, including heavy truck, consumerdurables and alternative energy. 
	In closing, we wish to thank our stakeholders and customers for their ongoing support during a milestone year for Magna. We believe Magna is on the road to becoming one of the world's foremost automotive parts suppliers. We have all of the right ingredients, including an entrepreneurial corporate culture, a strong balance sheet, a solid global footprint and the most diverse capabilities of any supplier in the world. As we continue to grow globally, we will continue to implement the principles contained in o
	/s/ Donald J. Walker /s/ Vincent J. Galifi 
	DonaldJ.Walker VincentJ.Galifi 
	Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer 
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	MAGNAINTERNATIONALINC. 
	Management'sDiscussionandAnalysisofResultsofOperationsand FinancialPosition 
	All amounts in this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position ("MD&A") are in U.S. dollars and all tabular amounts are in millions of U.S. dollars, except per share figures and average dollar content per vehicle, which are in U.S. dollars, unless otherwise noted. When we use the terms "we", "us", "our" or "Magna", we are referring to Magna International Inc. and its subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities, unless the context otherwise requires. 
	ThisMD&AshouldbereadinconjunctionwiththeauditedconsolidatedfinancialstatementsfortheyearendedDecember31, 2010 which are prepared inaccordance with Canadiangenerally accepted accountingprinciples("GAAP") as well as the "Forward-Looking Statements" on page 39. 
	This MD&A has been prepared as at March 16, 2011. 
	OVERVIEW 
	We are the most diversified global automotive supplier. We design, develop and manufacture technologically advanced automotive systems, assemblies, modules and components, and engineer and assemble complete vehicles, primarily for sale to original equipmentmanufacturers("OEMs")ofcarsandlighttrucks. Ourcapabilitiesincludethedesign, engineering,testingandmanufacture of automotive interior systems; seating systems; closure systems; body and chassis systems; vision systems; electronic systems; exterior systems;
	HIGHLIGHTS 
	Operations 
	2010wasayearofsignificantchangeforboththeautomotiveindustryandMagna. NorthAmericanlightvehicleproductionincreased 39% in 2010, compared to the historically low level of production experienced in 2009. The key reason for this increase in North American light vehicle production was the improvement in North American auto sales. 
	In Western Europe, light vehicle production increased 12% in 2010, compared to 2009. The increased production in 2010 reflected relativelystrongvehiclesalesincertainEuropeancountries,aswellasincreasedexportsofEuropean-builtvehiclesintoothermarkets during 2010, particularly China. 
	Our 2010 total sales increased 39% over 2009, with North American, European and Rest of World production sales, as well as completevehicleassemblysales,andtoolingandothersalesallpostingincreasesover2009. RestofWorldproductionsalesexceeded the $1 billion mark for the first time, increasing 53% in 2010 to $1.031 billion, compared to $676 million in 2009. Operating income for 2010 increased $1.7 billion to $1.2 billion, compared to an operating loss of $511 million for 2009. Diluted earnings per share for 2010
	Our 2010 financial results reflect, among other things: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	the improved level of light vehicle production in North America and Western Europe; 

	• 
	• 
	the benefits of our efforts over the last few years to restructure, right-size and otherwise reduce costs across the organization; and 

	• 
	• 
	the benefit of our efforts to improve underperforming operations around the world. 


	Plan of Arrangement 
	OnAugust31,2010, followingapprovalbyourClassASubordinateVotingandClassBShareholders, wecompletedacourt-approved plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement") in which our dual-class share structure was collapsed. In addition, the transaction: (i) set a termination date and declining fee schedule for the consulting, business development and business services contracts Magna has in place with our Chairman, Frank Stronach, and his affiliated entities; and (ii) established a partnership with the Stronach group to pur
	[a] CapitalTransaction 
	We purchased for cancellation all 1,453,658 outstanding Class B Shares (restated to reflect the stock split discussed below), which were held indirectly by the Stronach group, for $300 million in cash and 18.0 million newly issued Class A Subordinate VotingShares(restatedtoreflectthestocksplitdiscussedbelow). ThenewlyissuedsharesheldindirectlybytheStronachgroup represented an equal equity ownership and voting interest of 7.4% as of August 31, 2010. 
	In addition, Magna's Articles were amended to remove the Class B Shares from the authorized capital and to make non-substantive consequential changes, including renaming the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares as Common Shares and eliminating provisions which no longer apply due to the elimination of the Class B Shares. 
	[b] VehicleElectrificationPartnership 
	The partnership, Magna E-Car Systems ("E-Car"), involves the engineering, development and integration of electric vehicles of any type, the development, testing and manufacturing of batteries and battery packs for hybrid and electric vehicles and all ancillaryactivitiesinconnectionwithelectricvehicletechnologies. Ouroriginalinvestmentinthepartnershipincludedtheassets of our recently established E-Car Systems vehicle electrification and battery business unit, certain other vehicle electrification assets, and
	Stock Split 
	On November 24, 2010, we completed a two-for-one stock split, which was implemented by way of a stock dividend. In connection withthestocksplit,allequity-basedcompensationplansorarrangementswereadjustedtoreflecttheissuanceofadditionalCommon Shares. 
	Accordingly, all of our issued and outstanding Common Shares and our former Class A Subordinate Voting and Class B shares, including the shares issued in connection with the Arrangement, as well as incentive stock options, and stock appreciation rights ("SARs")havebeenrestatedforallperiodspresentedtoreflectthestocksplit. Inaddition,earnings(loss)perCommonShareorClass BShare,cashdividendspaidperCommonShareorClassBShare,weightedaverageexercisepriceforstockoptionsandtheweighted average fair value of options gr
	Dividends 
	Due to continuing strong operating and cash flow performance, on February 23, 2011 our Board declared a dividend of U.S. $0.25 per share in respect of the fourth quarter of 2010, representing an increase of 39% over the third quarter of 2010 dividend and the third consecutive dividend increase since the reintroduction of the dividend in the first quarter of 2010. 
	Normal Course Issuer Bid 
	On November 4, 2010, our Board of Directors approved a normal course issuer bid to purchase up to 8.0 million of our issued and outstanding Common Shares (adjusted to reflect the stock split), representing approximately 3.3% of our outstanding Common Shares. Theprimarypurposesofthenormalcourseissuerbidarepurchasesforcancellationtooffsetpotentialdilutionresultingfrom theexercise of stockoptions and/ortofundourrestrictedstockunitprogram and ourobligationstoour deferred profit sharingplans. The normal course i
	Governance 
	Since the elimination of our dual-class share structure effective August 31, 2010, we have implemented a number of significant corporate governance initiatives, including the: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	adoption of a majority voting policy; 

	• 
	• 
	reconstitution of the Nominating Committee of our Board of Directors as a fully independent Committee; and 

	• 
	• 
	initiation of a search for additional independent directors with the assistance of an internationally recognized firm. 


	Acquisitions 
	Consistent with our strategy to expand in new regions, in December 2010, we acquired seating companies in Brazil and Argentina. Combined 2010 sales in the two seating companies amounted to $260 million. Also during December 2010, we acquired Erhard & Söhne GmbH, a manufacturer of fuel tanks. 
	Going Forward 
	Followingastrongreboundin2010,weexpectgloballightvehicleproductiontogrowfurtherin2011,providedthatoveralleconomic conditions continue to improve. In North America, light vehicle production should experience strong growth in 2011, although production remains well off peak levels. In Western Europe, we expect light vehicle production to be approximately level with 2010. 
	Our strategy includes: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	continued expansion in high growth and developing markets; 

	• 
	• 
	increased investment in innovation to remain at the forefront of the automotive industry; 

	• 
	• 
	further diversification of sales by customer, by region and by vehicle segment; and 

	• 
	• 
	continued support of our existing customers globally. 


	We expect this strategy to be implemented both through organic growth as well as targeted acquisitions. 
	FINANCIALRESULTSSUMMARY 
	During 2010, we posted sales of $24.1 billion, an increase of 39% from 2009. This higher sales level was a result of increases in our North American, European and Rest of World production sales, complete vehicle assembly sales and tooling, engineering and other sales. Comparing 2010 to 2009: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	North American vehicle production increased by 39% and average dollar content per vehicle increased 13%; 

	• 
	• 
	European vehicle production increased 12% and average dollar content per vehicle increased 8%; 

	• 
	• 
	Complete vehicle assembly sales increased 23% to $2.2 billion, as complete vehicle assembly volumes increased 52%; 

	• 
	• 
	Rest of World production sales increased 53% to $1.0 billion from $0.7 billion; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	Tooling, engineering and other sales increased 26% to $2.0 billion from $1.6 billion. 

	During2010, weearnedoperatingincomeof$1.2billioncomparedtoanoperatinglossof$0.5billionfor2009. Excludingtheunusual items recorded in 2010 and 2009, as discussed in the "Unusual Items" section, the $1.6 billion increase in operating income was substantiallyduetoincreasedmarginsearnedonhighersalesasaresultofsignificantlyhighervehicleproductionvolumes. Inaddition, operating income was positively impacted by: 

	• 
	• 
	lower restructuring and downsizing costs and the benefit of prior year restructuring and downsizing activities; 

	• 
	• 
	a $32 million recovery, during 2010, of receivables that were fully provided for in 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	favourable settlement of certain commercial items; 

	• 
	• 
	the write-off of uncollectable pre-production costs incurred related to the cancellation of assembly programs in 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	higher equity income; 

	• 
	• 
	due diligence costs incurred in 2009 associated with our planned investment in Opel, which terminated during 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	the $20 million benefit related to the recovery of previously expensed engineering and design costs; 

	• 
	• 
	higher interest income; 

	• 
	• 
	incremental margin earned on acquisitions completed during or subsequent to 2009, including Cadence Innovation s.r.o. ("Cadence"); 

	• 
	• 
	lower costs incurred related to launches at our Complete Vehicle Assembly operations; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	productivity and efficiency improvements at certain facilities. 

	These factors were partially offset by: 

	• 
	• 
	higher incentive compensation; 

	• 
	• 
	higher costs related to launches at our components business; • operationalinefficienciesandothercostsatcertainfacilities,inparticularatcertainexteriorsandinteriorssystemsfacilitiesinEurope; 

	• 
	• 
	employee profit sharing, as no profit sharing was recorded in 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	increased commodity costs; 

	• 
	• 
	a$20millionstock-basedcompensationchargeasaresultofmodifyingoptionagreementswiththreedepartingexecutivesand a related $9 million contract termination payment; 

	• 
	• 
	increased stock-based compensation; 

	• 
	• 
	a $9 million favourable revaluation of our investment in asset-backed commercial paper ("ABCP") in 2009; and 

	• 
	• 
	net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009. 


	During2010,netincomeincreased$1.5billionto$1.0billioncomparedtonetlossof$0.5billionfor2009. Excludingtheunusualitems recorded in 2010 and 2009, as discussed in the "Unusual Items" section, net income for 2010 increased $1.3 billion. The increase in net income was a result of the increase in operating income and minority interest recovery, partially offset by higher income taxes. 
	During2010, our dilutedearnings pershareincreasedby $6.39 to $4.18 comparedto losspershare of $2.21 for 2009. Excluding the unusualitemsrecordedin2010and2009, asdiscussedinthe "UnusualItems" section, dilutedearningspersharefor2010increased by $5.66. The increase in diluted earnings per share is as a result of the increase in net income partially offset by an increase in the weightedaveragenumberofdilutedsharesoutstandingduring2010. Theincreaseintheweightedaveragenumberofdilutedshares outstanding was primari
	UNUSUALITEMS 
	During the three months and year ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, we recorded certain unusual items as follows: 
	Table
	TR
	Operating Income 
	2010 Diluted Net Earnings Income perShare 
	Operating Income 
	2009 Net Income 
	Diluted Earnings per Share 

	FourthQuarter Impairment charges (1) Restructuring charges (1) Sale of facility (2) 
	FourthQuarter Impairment charges (1) Restructuring charges (1) Sale of facility (2) 
	$ (23) (8) – 
	$ (21) $ (0.09) (6) (0.02) – – 
	$ (108) (20) (8) 
	$ (106) (20) (8) 
	$ (0.47) (0.09) (0.04) 


	Totalfourthquarterunusualitems (31) (27) (0.11) (136) (134) (0.60) 
	SecondQuarter Impairment charges ––– (75) (75) (0.34) Restructuring charges (24) (21) (0.09) (6) (6) (0.03) Curtailment gain ––– 26 20 0.09 
	(1) 
	(1) 
	(3) 

	Totalsecondquarterunusualitems 
	Totalsecondquarterunusualitems 
	Totalsecondquarterunusualitems 
	(24) 
	(21) 
	(0.09) 
	(55) 
	(61) 
	(0.28) 

	FirstQuarter 
	FirstQuarter 

	Sale of facility (2) 
	Sale of facility (2) 
	14 
	14 
	0.06 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	Totalfirstquarterunusualitems 
	Totalfirstquarterunusualitems 
	14 
	14 
	0.06 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	Totalfullyearunusualitems 
	Totalfullyearunusualitems 
	$ 
	(41) 
	$ 
	(34) 
	$ 
	(0.15) 
	$ 
	(191) 
	$ 
	(195) 
	$ 
	(0.88) 

	(1) RestructuringandImpairmentCharges 
	(1) RestructuringandImpairmentCharges 

	During 2010 and 2009, we recorded long-lived asset and goodwill impairment charges as follows: 
	During 2010 and 2009, we recorded long-lived asset and goodwill impairment charges as follows: 

	2010 
	2010 
	2009 

	Operating 
	Operating 
	Net 
	Operating 
	Net 

	Income 
	Income 
	Income 
	Income 
	Income 

	FourthQuarter 
	FourthQuarter 

	North America 
	North America 
	$ 
	7 
	$ 
	5 
	$ 38 
	$ 36 

	Europe 
	Europe 
	16 
	16 
	70 
	70 

	Totalfourthquarterimpairmentcharges 
	Totalfourthquarterimpairmentcharges 
	23 
	21 
	108 
	106 

	SecondQuarter 
	SecondQuarter 

	North America 
	North America 
	– 
	– 
	75 
	75 


	Totalsecondquarterimpairmentcharges 
	Totalsecondquarterimpairmentcharges 
	Totalsecondquarterimpairmentcharges 
	– 
	– 
	75 
	75 

	Totalfullyearimpairmentcharges 
	Totalfullyearimpairmentcharges 
	$ 23 
	$ 21 
	$ 183 
	$ 181 

	[a] FortheyearendedDecember31,2010 
	[a] FortheyearendedDecember31,2010 

	(i) Long-livedAssets 
	(i) Long-livedAssets 


	In conjunction with our annual business planning cycle, during the fourth quarter of 2010, we completed our annual goodwill impairment and long-lived asset analysis and recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $23 million. 
	In North America, we recorded charges of $7 million related to fixed assets at a die casting facility in Canada and in Germany, we recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $16 million related to an interiors systems facility. 
	(ii) RestructuringCosts 
	During 2010, we recorded restructuring and rationalization costs of $29 million in cost of goods sold and $3 million in selling, general and administrative expense related to the planned closure of a powertrain systems facility and two body & chassis systems facilities in North America. 
	[b] FortheyearendedDecember31,2009 
	(i) Goodwill 
	In conjunction with our annual business planning cycle, during the fourth quarter of 2009 we determined that our Car Top Systems ("CTS") North America reporting unit could potentially be impaired, primarily as a result of: (i) a dramatic reduction in the market for soft tops, hard tops and modular retractable hard tops; and (ii) historical losses that are projected tocontinuethroughoutour business planning period. Based on the reportingunit's discounted forecast cash flows, we recorded a $25 million goodwil
	In addition, during the second quarter of 2009, after failing to reach a favourable labour agreement at a powertrain systems facility in Syracuse, New York, we decided to wind down these operations. Given the significance of the facility's cash flows in relation to the reporting unit, management determined that it was more likely than not that goodwillatthePowertrainNorthAmericareportingunitcouldpotentiallybeimpaired.Therefore,werecordeda$75million goodwill impairment charge. 
	Thegoodwillimpairmentchargeswerecalculatedbydeterminingtheimpliedfairvalueofgoodwillinthesamemanner asifwehadacquiredthePowertrainandCTSreportingunitsasatJune30,2009andDecember31, 2009, respectively. 
	(ii) Long-livedAssets 
	During the fourth quarter of 2009, we recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $83 million. 
	In North America, we recorded charges of $13 million related to fixed assets at a die casting facility in Canada and an anticipatedunderrecoveryofcapitalizedtoolingcostsatastampingfacilityintheUnitedStatesduetosignificantlylower volumes on certain SUV programs. 
	In Europe, we recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $70 million related to our CTS and exterior systems operations in Germany. 
	AtourCTSoperations,long-livedassetimpairmentchargesof$59millionwererecordedrelatedtofixedandintangible assets. The impairment charge was calculated based on CTS' discounted forecast cashflows and was necessary primarily as a result of: (i) a dramatic reduction in the market for soft tops, hard tops and modular retractable hard tops; and (ii) historical losses that are projected to continue throughout our business planning period. 
	Atourinteriorsandexteriorsoperations, werecordedan$11millionassetimpairmentchargerelatedtospecificunderutilized assets in Germany. 
	-

	(iii) RestructuringCosts 
	During 2009, we recorded restructuring and rationalization costs of $23 million in cost of goods sold and $3 million in selling, general and administrative expense. During the second quarter, we recorded restructuring costs of $6 million related to the planned closure of a powertrain systems facility in Syracuse, New York and during the fourth quarter we recorded severance and other termination benefits related to the closure of powertrain and interior systems facilities in Germany. Substantially all of the
	In addition, during 2009, we incurred costs related to downsizing various operations in our traditional markets. 
	(2) SaleofFacilities 
	During 2010, we sold our interest in an electronics systems joint venture in China and realized a $14 million gain. 
	During2009, weenteredintoanagreementtosellanengineeringcentreinEuropeand,asaresult,incurredalossondisposition of the facility of $8 million. 
	(3) CurtailmentGain 
	During the second quarter of 2009, we amended our Retiree Premium Reimbursement Plan in Canada and the United States, such that most employees retiring on or after August 1, 2009 would no longer participate in the plan. The amendment reduced service costs and retirement medical benefit expense in 2009 and future years. As a result of amending the plan, a curtailment gain of $26 million was recorded in cost of goods sold in the second quarter of 2009. 
	INDUSTRYTRENDSANDRISKS 
	A number of general trends which have been impacting the automotive industry and our business in recent years are expected to continue, including the following: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	the exertion of pricing pressure by OEMs; 

	• 
	• 
	governmentincentivesandconsumerdemandfor,andindustryfocuson,morefuel-efficientandenvironmentally-friendlyvehicles with alternative-energy fuel systems and additional safety features; 

	• 
	• 
	governmental regulation of fuel economy and emissions, vehicle recyclability and vehicle safety; 

	• 
	• 
	thelong-termgrowthoftheautomotiveindustryinChina,India,Brazil,Russiaandotherdevelopingmarkets,includingaccelerated migration of component and vehicle design, development, engineering and manufacturing to certain of these markets; 

	• 
	• 
	the growth of the A to D vehicle segments (micro to mid-size cars), particularly in developing markets; 

	• 
	• 
	the consolidation of vehicle platforms; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	the growth of cooperative alliances and arrangements among competing automotive OEMs, including shared purchasing of components; joint engine, powertrain and/or platform development; engine, powertrain and platform sharing; and joint vehicle hybridization and electrification initiatives. 

	The following are some of the more significant risks that could affect our ability to achieve our desired results: 

	• 
	• 
	The global automotive industry is cyclical and is sensitive to changes in economic and political conditions, including interest rates, energy prices and international conflicts. While the global automotive industry appears to be recovering from the severe economic downturn which began in the second half of 2008, the strength and speed of the recovery, as well as its consistency across geographic markets remains uncertain. This uncertainty creates planning risks for us. Additionally, as a result of restructu

	• 
	• 
	Theshort-termviabilityofseveralofourOEMcustomersappearstohaveimprovedasaresultofrestructuringactionsinthepast few years, as well as direct government financial intervention in the automotive industry in 2008 and 2009. However, there can be no assurance that these restructuring actions will be successful in ensuring their long-term viability, nor can there be any assurance thatgovernmentfinancial assistancewillbemade availableatlevels necessarytopreventOEMfailures inthefuture. The bankruptcy of any of our ma

	• 
	• 
	• 
	Werelyonanumberofsupplierstosupplyuswithawiderangeofcomponentsrequiredinconnectionwithourbusiness. While the automotive supply base appears to have stabilized following the economic downturn which commenced in the second half of 2008, the financial health of automotive suppliers was impacted by economic conditions, production volume cuts, intense pricing pressures and other factors. The insolvency or bankruptcy of a supplier could disrupt the supply of components to us or ourcustomers,potentiallycausingthet

	• 
	• 
	• 
	Theautomotivepartssupplyindustryishighlycompetitive. Asaresultofourdiversifiedautomotivebusiness, wefaceanumber of competitors possessing varying degrees of financial and operational strength in each of our product and service capabilities. Some of our competitors have a substantially greater market share than we have in certain product areas and are dominant in someofthemarketsinwhichwedobusiness. Inaddition,restructuringactionstakenbysomeofourcompetitorshaveprovided them with improved financial and operat

	• 
	• 
	Wearedependentontheoutsourcingofcomponents,modulesandassemblies,aswellascompletevehicles,byOEMs.Theextent ofOEMoutsourcingisinfluencedbyanumberoffactors,including:relativecost,qualityandtimelinessofproductionbysuppliers ascomparedtoOEMs;capacityutilization;OEMs’ perceptionsregardingthestrategicimportanceofcertaincomponents/modules tothem;labourrelationsamongOEMs,theiremployeesandunions;andotherconsiderations. Asaresultoflowercoststructures due to recent restructuring actions, some OEMs may in-source product

	• 
	• 
	We continue to invest in technology and innovation which we believe will be critical to our long-term growth. Our ability to anticipate changes in technology and to successfully develop and introduce new and enhanced products and/or manufacturing processes on a timely basis will be a significant factor in our ability to remain competitive. If there is a shift away from the use oftechnologiesinwhichweareinvesting,ourcostsmaynotbefullyrecovered. Wemaybeplacedatacompetitivedisadvantage if other technologies in

	• 
	• 
	As part of our strategy of continuously seeking to optimize our global manufacturing footprint, we may further rationalize some of our production facilities. In the course of such rationalization, we may incur further restructuring, downsizing and/or other significant non-recurring costs related to plant closings, relocations and employee severance costs. Restructuring costs may be greater in certain jurisdictions than others as a result of the size and scope of the restructuring, differences in laws, and o

	• 
	• 
	Werecordedsignificantimpairmentchargesrelatedtogoodwill, long-livedassetsandfuturetaxassetsinrecentyearsandmay continuetodosointhefuture. Thebankruptcyofasignificantcustomerortheearlytermination,loss,renegotiationoftheterms of, or delay in the implementation of, any significant production contract could be indicators of impairment. In addition, to the extent that forward-looking assumptions regarding: the impact of improvement plans on current operations; in-sourcing and other new business opportunities; pr

	• 
	• 
	AlthoughwesupplypartstoalloftheleadingOEMs,asignificantmajorityofoursalesaretosixsuchcustomers. Whilewehave diversified our customer base somewhat in recent years and continue toattemptto further diversify, particularly to increase our business with Asian-based OEMs, there is no assurance we will be successful. Our inability to successfully grow our sales to non-traditional customers could have a material adverse effect on our profitability. 

	• 
	• 
	While we supply parts for a wide variety of vehicles produced globally, we do not supply parts for all vehicles produced, nor is thenumberorvalueofpartsevenlydistributedamongthevehiclesforwhichwedosupplyparts. Shiftsinmarketsharesamong vehicles or vehicle segments, particularly shifts away from vehicles on which we have significant content and shifts away from vehiclesegmentsinwhichoursalesmaybemoreheavilyconcentrated,ortheearlytermination,loss, renegotiationoftheterms of, ordelayintheimplementationof,anysi

	• 
	• 
	Many of our customers have sought, and will likely continue to seek to take advantage of lower operating costs and/or other advantagesinChina, India,Brazil,Russiaandotherdevelopingmarkets. Whilewecontinuetoexpandourmanufacturingfootprint with a view to taking advantage of manufacturing opportunities in these markets, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to fullyrealizesuchopportunities. Additionally, theestablishmentofmanufacturingoperationsinnewmarketscarriesitsownrisks, including those relating to pol



	• 
	• 
	Prices for certain key raw materials and commodities used in our parts, particularly resin and other oil-based items, have been escalating and may continue to do so. To the extent we are unable to mitigate commodity price increases through hedging strategies, by engineering products with reduced commodity content, by passing commodity price increases to our customers or otherwise, such additional commodity costs could have a material adverse effect on our profitability. 

	• 
	• 
	We currently have a global credit facility with a syndicate of lenders that is set to mature in July 2012. While we intend to seek arenewalofthecreditfacilitypriortoitsmaturity,thetermsofanyrenewalaresubjecttoanumberoffactors,includingprevailing economic, financial and industry conditions. There is no guarantee that we will be successful in negotiating terms, including cost of borrowing and restrictive covenants, which are as favourable as those in our current credit facility. In addition, there can be no a

	• 
	• 
	The failure of any major financial institutions in the future could lead to significant disruptions in capital and credit markets and could adversely affect our and our customers' ability to access needed liquidity for working capital. In addition, in the event of a failureofafinancialinstitution -inwhichweinvestourcashreserves;thatisacounterpartyinaderivativestransaction(primarily currencyandcommoditieshedges)withus;orthatisalendertous -wefacetheriskthatourcashreservesandamountsowing touspursuanttoderivati

	• 
	• 
	Europeiscurrentlyinthemidstofa "sovereigndebt" crisisasaresultofwidespreadconcernabouttheabilityofseveralEuropean governments torepayitsoutstanding indebtedness. Thecrisishasnecessitatedcomprehensive financial rescue packagesinan attempt to avert more serious financial turmoil. Despite the financial rescue efforts to date, additional actions may be required in the short-term and considerable uncertainty remains with respect to the economic condition of several European countries. Adeepeningofthesovereigndeb

	• 
	• 
	Although our financial results are reported in U.S. dollars, a significant portion of our sales and operating costs are realized in Canadiandollars,euros, Britishpoundsandothercurrencies. OurprofitabilityisaffectedbymovementsoftheU.S. dollaragainst the Canadian dollar, the euro, the British pound and other currencies in which we generate revenues and incur expenses. However, as a result of hedging programs employed by us, foreign currency transactions are not fully impacted by movements in exchange rates. W

	• 
	• 
	We have completed a number of acquisitions and may continue to do so in the future. In those product areas in which we have identified acquisitions as a key aspect of our business strategy, we may not be able to identify suitable acquisition targets or successfullyacquireanysuitabletargetswhichweidentify. Additionally,wemaynotbeabletosuccessfullyintegrateorachieve anticipated synergies from those acquisitions which we do complete and such failure could have a material adverse effect on our profitability. 

	• 
	• 
	We face significant pricing pressure, as well as pressure to absorb costs related to product design, engineering and tooling, as well as other items previously paid for directly by OEMs. The continuation or intensification of these pricing pressures and pressure to absorb costs could have an adverse effect on our profitability. 

	• 
	• 
	Our customers continue to demand that we bear the cost of the repair and replacement of defective products which are either covered under their warranty or are the subject of a recall by them. Warranty provisions are established based on our best estimateoftheamountsnecessarytosettleexistingorprobableclaimsonproductdefectissues. Recallcostsarecostsincurred when government regulators and/or our customers decide to recall a product due to a known or suspected performance issue andwearerequiredtoparticipateeit


	• 
	• 
	• 
	Our vehicle electrification business is currently conducted through a partnership, E-Car, which is indirectly controlled by the Stronach group as a result of its right to appoint three of the five members of the management committee through which the business and affairs of the partnership are managed and controlled. Subject to our veto rights in respect of certain fundamental changesandspecifiedbusinessdecisions, theStronachgroup isable tocause E-Carto effecttransactionswithoutourconsent. In addition, E-Ca

	• 
	• 
	We have no obligation to make additional investments in E-Car under the terms of the E-Car partnership agreement. However, there is no assurance that the initial capital contributions made by us and the Stronach group to E-Car will be sufficient to fund itsongoingoperations. SubjecttoapprovalbytheunconflictedmembersofourBoard(whichexcludesMr. Stronach,whowould have a conflict of interest), we may or may not choose to make further investments in E-Car. That determination will be based on what will best serve

	• 
	• 
	We continue to pursue opportunities in areas that are complementary to our existing automotive design, engineering and manufacturingcapabilities,suchasstructuralelementsandpanelsforsolarpanels,stampedcomponentsforconsumerdurables, including household appliances, and various components for heavy trucks, all in order to more efficiently use our capital assets, technological know-how and manufacturing capacity. Many of these "non-automotive" industries are subject to some of the same types of risks as our auto

	• 
	• 
	Fromtimetotime,wemaybecomeliableforlegal,contractualandotherclaimsbyvariousparties,includingcustomers,suppliers, former employees, class action plaintiffs and others. On an ongoing basis, we attempt to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgmentsoroutcomestotheseclaims,althoughitisdifficulttopredictfinaloutcomeswithanydegreeofcertainty. Atthistime, we do not believe that any of the claims to which we are party will have a material adverse effect on our financial position; however, we cannot provide any as


	RESULTSOFOPERATIONS 
	AverageForeignExchange 
	AverageForeignExchange 
	AverageForeignExchange 

	Forthethreemonths Fortheyear endedDecember31, endedDecember31, 2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change 
	Forthethreemonths Fortheyear endedDecember31, endedDecember31, 2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change 

	1 Canadian dollar equals U.S. dollars 0.988 0.948 + 4% 0.971 0.882 + 10% 1 euro equals U.S. dollars 1.361 1.477 -8% 1.328 1.395 -5% 1 British pound equals U.S. dollars 1.582 1.635 -3% 1.547 1.565 -1% 
	1 Canadian dollar equals U.S. dollars 0.988 0.948 + 4% 0.971 0.882 + 10% 1 euro equals U.S. dollars 1.361 1.477 -8% 1.328 1.395 -5% 1 British pound equals U.S. dollars 1.582 1.635 -3% 1.547 1.565 -1% 


	Theprecedingtablereflectstheaverageforeignexchangeratesbetweenthemostcommoncurrenciesinwhichweconductbusiness and our U.S. dollar reporting currency. The significant changes in these foreign exchange rates for the three months and year ended December 31, 2010 impacted the reported U.S. dollar amounts of our sales, expenses and income. 
	Theresults of operations whosefunctionalcurrencyis not theU.S. dollar are translated intoU.S. dollarsusing the averageexchange rates in the table above for the relevant period. Throughout this MD&A, reference is made to the impact of translation of foreign operations on reported U.S. dollar amounts where relevant. 
	Ourresultscanalsobeaffectedbytheimpactofmovementsinexchangeratesonforeigncurrencytransactions(suchasrawmaterial purchases or sales denominated in foreign currencies). However, as a result of hedging programs employed by us, foreign currency transactions in the current period have not been fully impacted by movements in exchange rates. We record foreign currency transactions at the hedged rate where applicable. 
	Finally, holding gains and losses on foreign currency denominated monetary items, which are recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses, impact reported results. 
	RESULTSOFOPERATIONS–FORTHEYEARENDEDDECEMBER31,2010 
	Sales 
	2010 2009 Change 
	VehicleProductionVolumes(millions of units) North America 11.954 8.621 + 39% Europe 13.304 11.835 + 12% 
	AverageDollarContentPerVehicle North America $ 988 $ 872 + 13% Europe $ 536 $ 495 + 8% 
	Sales 
	External Production North America $ 11,816 $ 7,515 + 57% Europe 7,136 5,857 + 22% Rest of World 1,031 676 + 53% 
	Complete Vehicle Assembly 2,163 1,764 + 23% Tooling, Engineering and Other 1,956 1,555 + 26% 
	Total Sales $ 24,102 $ 17,367 + 39% 
	ExternalProductionSales-NorthAmerica 
	External production sales in North America increased 57% or $4.3 billion to $11.8 billion for 2010 compared to $7.5 billion for 2009. This increase in production sales reflects a 39% increase in North American vehicle production volumes combined with a 13% increase in our North American average dollar content per vehicle. 
	Our average dollar content per vehicle grew by 13% or $116 to $988 for 2010 compared to $872 for 2009, primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	the launch of new programs during or subsequent to 2009, including the: 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	Chevrolet Equinox and GMC Terrain; 

	• 
	• 
	Jeep Grand Cherokee; 

	• 
	• 
	Ford Fiesta; 

	• 
	• 
	Chevrolet Cruze; and 

	• 
	• 
	Cadillac SRX; 



	• 
	• 
	• 
	favourable production (relative to industry volumes) and/or content on certain programs, including the: 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	Dodge Grand Caravan, Chrysler Town & Country and Volkswagen Routan; 

	• 
	• 
	GM full-sized pickups and SUVs; 

	• 
	• 
	Chevrolet Traverse, GMC Acadia and Buick Enclave; and 

	• 
	• 
	Jeep Wrangler; 



	• 
	• 
	an increase in reported U.S. dollar sales due to the strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	the acquisition of several facilities from Meridian Automotive Systems Inc. ("Meridian") in the third quarter of 2009. 

	These factors were partially offset by: 

	• 
	• 
	programs that ended production during or subsequent to 2009, including the Pontiac, Saturn and Mercury brands; 

	• 
	• 
	unfavourableproduction(relativetoindustryvolumes)and/orcontentoncertainprograms,includingtheFordEscapeandMazda Tribute; and 

	• 
	• 
	net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009. 


	ExternalProductionSales-Europe 
	ExternalproductionsalesinEuropeincreased22%or$1.28billionto$7.14billionfor2010comparedto$5.86billionfor2009.Thisincrease in production sales reflects an 8% increase in our European average dollar content per vehicle combined with a 12% increase in European vehicle production volumes. 
	Our average dollar content per vehicle grew by 8% or $41 to $536 for 2010 compared to $495 for 2009, primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	the launch of new programs during or subsequent to 2009, including the: 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	MINI Countryman; 

	• 
	• 
	Mercedes-Benz SLS; 

	• 
	• 
	Peugeot RCZ; 

	• 
	• 
	Porsche Panamera; and 

	• 
	• 
	Porsche Cayenne and Volkswagen Touareg; 



	• 
	• 
	favourable production (relative to industry volumes) and/or content on certain programs; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	acquisitions completed during or subsequent to 2009, including Cadence. 

	These factors were partially offset by: 

	• 
	• 
	a decrease in reported U.S. dollar sales due to the weakening of the euro and British pound, each against the U.S. dollar; 

	• 
	• 
	unfavourable production (relative to industry volumes) and/or content on certain programs; 

	• 
	• 
	programs that ended production during or subsequent to 2009, including the BMW X3; and 

	• 
	• 
	net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009. 


	ExternalProductionSales-RestofWorld 
	ExternalproductionsalesinRestofWorldincreased53%or$355millionto$1.03billionfor2010comparedto$0.68billionfor2009, primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	increased production and/or content on certain programs in China and Korea; 

	• 
	• 
	the acquisition of a Japanese roof systems facility in the first quarter of 2010; 

	• 
	• 
	the launch of new programs during or subsequent to 2009 in China and Korea; 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	an increase in reported U.S. dollar sales as a result of the strengthening of the Brazilian real and Korean Won, both against the 

	U.S. dollar; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	production related to the launch of new facilities in Korea and India. 

	These factors were partially offset by: 

	• 
	• 
	the sale of our interest in an electronics systems joint venture in China in the first quarter of 2010; and 

	• 
	• 
	net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009. 


	CompleteVehicleAssemblySales 
	The terms of our various vehicle assembly contracts differ with respect to the ownership of components and supplies related to the assembly process and the method of determining the selling price to the OEM customer. Under certain contracts we are acting as principal,andpurchasedcomponentsandsystemsinassembledvehiclesareincludedinourinventoryandcostofsales. Thesecosts arereflectedonafull-costbasisinthesellingpriceofthefinalassembledvehicletotheOEMcustomer. Othercontractsprovidethat third-partycomponentsands
	Production levels of the various vehicles assembled by us have an impact on the level of our sales and profitability. In addition, the relative proportion of programs accounted for on a full-cost basis and programs accounted for on a value-added basis also impacts our level of sales and operating margin percentage, but may not necessarily affect our overall level of profitability. Assuming no change in total vehicles assembled, a relative increase in the assembly of vehicles accounted for on a full-cost bas
	2010 
	2010 
	2010 
	2009 
	Change 

	CompleteVehicleAssemblySales 
	CompleteVehicleAssemblySales 
	$ 
	2,163 
	$ 
	1,764 
	+ 
	23% 

	CompleteVehicleAssemblyVolumes(Units) Full-Costed: BMW X3, MINI Countryman, Peugeot RCZ, Mercedes-Benz G-Class, Aston Martin Rapide and Saab 93 Convertible Value-Added: Chrysler 300, Jeep Grand Cherokee and Jeep Commander 
	CompleteVehicleAssemblyVolumes(Units) Full-Costed: BMW X3, MINI Countryman, Peugeot RCZ, Mercedes-Benz G-Class, Aston Martin Rapide and Saab 93 Convertible Value-Added: Chrysler 300, Jeep Grand Cherokee and Jeep Commander 
	80,686 5,497 86,183 
	51,244 5,376 56,620 
	+ 
	52% 


	Complete vehicle assembly sales increased 23% or $0.4 billion to $2.2 billion for 2010 compared to $1.8 billion for 2009, while assembly volumes increased 52% or 29,563 units. 
	The increase in complete vehicle assembly sales is primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	the launch of new assembly programs during or subsequent to 2009, including the: 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	MINI Countryman; 

	• 
	• 
	Peugeot RCZ; and 

	• 
	• 
	Aston Martin Rapide; and 



	• 
	• 
	• 
	an increase in assembly volumes for the Mercedes-Benz G-Class. 

	These factors were partially offset by the end of production on certain assembly programs at our Magna Steyr facility, including the: 

	• 
	• 
	BMW X3 in the third quarter of 2010; 

	• 
	• 
	Saab 9Convertible in the fourth quarter of 2009; and 
	3 


	• 
	• 
	Chrysler 300 and Jeep Grand Cherokee in the second quarter of 2010. 


	In addition, complete vehicle assembly sales were negatively impacted by a decrease in reported U.S. dollar sales due to the weakening of the euro against the U.S. dollar. 
	Tooling,EngineeringandOther 
	Tooling, engineering and other sales increased 26% or $0.4 billion to $2.0 billion for 2010 compared to $1.6 billion for 2009. 
	In 2010, the major programs for which we recorded tooling, engineering and other sales were the: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	MINI Cooper and Countryman; • BMW X3; 

	• 
	• 
	Mercedes-Benz M-Class; 

	• 
	• 
	Ford Fiesta; 

	• 
	• 
	Jeep Grand Cherokee; 

	• 
	• 
	Volkswagen Touareg; 

	• 
	• 
	Chrysler 300C, Dodge Charger and Challenger; 

	• 
	• 
	Chevrolet Silverado and GMC Sierra; 

	• 
	• 
	Porsche Cayenne; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	Peugeot RCZ. 

	In 2009, the major programs for which we recorded tooling, engineering and other sales were the: 

	• 
	• 
	MINI Cooper, Clubman and Crossman; 

	• 
	• 
	Chevrolet Silverado and GMC Sierra; 

	• 
	• 
	Porsche Panamera; 

	• 
	• 
	Opel/Vauxhall Astra; • Audi Q5; • BMW X3; 

	• 
	• 
	Porsche Boxster and Cayman; 

	• 
	• 
	Porsche Cayenne; 

	• 
	• 
	Mercedes-Benz M-Class; 

	• 
	• 
	Peugeot RCZ; 

	• 
	• 
	Cadillac SRX and Saab 9-4X; 

	• 
	• 
	Ford F-Series; and 

	• 
	• 
	Mercedes-Benz C-Class. 


	In addition, tooling, engineering and other sales decreased as a result of the weakening of the euro against the U.S. dollar. 
	Gross Margin 
	Gross margin increased $1.5 billion to $3.2 billion for 2010 compared to $1.7 billion for 2009 and gross margin as a percentage of total sales increased to 13.2% for 2010 compared to 9.6% for 2009. The unusual items discussed in the "Unusual Items" section negatively impacted gross margin as a percentage of total sales in 2010 by 0.1%. Excluding unusual items, gross margin as a percentageoftotalsalesincreased3.7%substantiallyduetoincreasedgrossmarginearnedasaresultofsignificantlyhighervehicle production vol
	• 
	• 
	• 
	lower restructuring and downsizing costs and the benefit of prior year restructuring and downsizing activities; 

	• 
	• 
	productivity and efficiency improvements at certain facilities; 

	• 
	• 
	acquisitions completed during or subsequent to 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	favourable settlement of certain commercial items; 

	• 
	• 
	the write-off of uncollectable pre-production costs incurred related to the cancellation of assembly programs in 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	the $20 million benefit related to the recovery of previously expensed engineering and design costs; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	lower costs incurred related to launches at our Complete Vehicle Assembly operations. 

	These factors were partially offset by: 

	• 
	• 
	higher costs incurred related to launches at our components business; • operationalinefficienciesandothercostsatcertainfacilities,inparticularatcertainexteriorsandinteriorssystemsfacilitiesinEurope; 

	• 
	• 
	employee profit sharing, as no profit sharing was recorded in 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	increased commodity costs; 

	• 
	• 
	higher development and launch costs in E-Car; 

	• 
	• 
	an increase in complete vehicle assembly sales which have a lower gross margin than our consolidated average; 

	• 
	• 
	an increase in tooling sales that earn low or no margins; and 

	• 
	• 
	net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009. 


	Depreciation and Amortization 
	Depreciationandamortizationcostsdecreased10%or$76millionto$661millionfor2010comparedto$737millionfor2009.Thedecrease in depreciation and amortization was primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	the impairment of certain assets during or subsequent to 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	lower capital spending in recent years; and 

	• 
	• 
	the disposition of certain facilities subsequent to 2009. 


	These factors were partially offset by an increase in reported U.S. dollar depreciation and amortization due to the strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar. 
	Selling, General and Administrative ("SG&A") 
	SG&Aexpenseasapercentageofsaleswas5.6%for2010,comparedto7.3%for2009. Theunusualitemsdiscussedinthe "Unusual Items" section negatively impacted SG&A as a percentage of total sales by 0.1% in 2009. Excluding these unusual items, SG&A as a percentage of total sales decreased 1.6%. 
	SG&A expense increased $79 million to $1.34 billion for 2010 compared to $1.26 billion for 2009. Excluding the unusual items recorded in 2010 and 2009 (as discussed in the "Unusual Items" section), SG&A expenses increased by $101 million primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	higher incentive compensation; 

	• 
	• 
	a$20millionstock-basedcompensationchargeasaresultofmodifyingoptionagreementswiththreedepartingexecutivesand a related $9 million contract termination payment; 

	• 
	• 
	higher stock-based compensation; 

	• 
	• 
	a $9 million favourable revaluation of our investment in ABCP in 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	an increase in reported U.S. dollar SG&A due to the strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	higher costs to support the increased sales level. 

	These factors were partially offset by: 

	• 
	• 
	a $32 million recovery, during 2010, of receivables that were fully provided for in 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	lower restructuring and downsizing costs; 

	• 
	• 
	due diligence costs incurred in 2009 associated with our planned investment in Opel, which terminated during 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	loss on disposal of assets in 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	net gain on disposal of assets; and 

	• 
	• 
	the closure or disposition of certain facilities during or subsequent to 2009. 


	Impairment Charges 
	Impairment charges decreased $160 million to $23 million for 2010 compared to $183 million for 2009 as discussed in the "Unusual Items" section. 
	Earnings before Interest and Taxes ("EBIT") 
	(1) 

	ExternalSales EBIT 
	Table
	TR
	2010 
	2009 
	Change 
	2010 
	2009 
	Change 

	North America Europe Rest of World E-Car Systems Corporate and Other Total 
	North America Europe Rest of World E-Car Systems Corporate and Other Total 
	$ $ 
	12,597 10,327 1,097 18 63 24,102 
	$ $ 
	8,140 8,461 735 12 19 17,367 
	$ $ 
	4,457 1,866 362 6 44 6,735 
	$ $ 
	1,085 102 92 (89) (3) 1,187 
	$ $ 
	(72) (394) 43 (41) (40) (504) 
	$ $ 
	1,157 496 49 (48) 37 1,691 


	Included in EBITfor yearsended December31, 2010and 2009 were the followingunusual items, whichhave beendiscussed in the "Unusual Items" section above. 
	2010 2009 
	NorthAmerica 
	NorthAmerica 
	NorthAmerica 

	Impairment charges 
	Impairment charges 
	$ 
	(7) 
	$ 
	(113) 

	Restructuring charges 
	Restructuring charges 
	(32) 
	(6) 

	Curtailment gain 
	Curtailment gain 
	– 
	26 

	TR
	(39) 
	(93) 

	Europe 
	Europe 

	Impairment charges 
	Impairment charges 
	(16) 
	(70) 

	Restructuring charges 
	Restructuring charges 
	– 
	(20) 

	Sale of facility 
	Sale of facility 
	– 
	(8) 


	(16) 
	(16) 
	(16) 
	(98) 

	RestofWorld 
	RestofWorld 

	Sale of facility 
	Sale of facility 
	14 
	– 


	$ (41) $ (191) 
	NorthAmerica 
	EBIT in North America increased $1.2 billion to $1.1 billion for 2010 compared to a loss of $0.1 billion for 2009. Excluding the North Americanunusualitemsdiscussedinthe "UnusualItems" section, the$1.1billionincreaseinEBITwassubstantiallyduetoincreased margins earned on higher sales as a result of higher vehicle production volumes. In addition, EBIT was positively impacted by: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	lower restructuring and downsizing costs and the benefit of prior year restructuring and downsizing activities; 

	• 
	• 
	productivity and efficiency improvements at certain facilities; 

	• 
	• 
	lower warranty costs; 

	• 
	• 
	the launch of new facilities; 

	• 
	• 
	a $6 million recovery, during 2010, of receivables that were fully provided for in 2009; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	a gain on sale of an investment. 

	These factors were partially offset by: 

	• 
	• 
	higher costs incurred related to launches; 

	• 
	• 
	higher affiliation fees paid to Corporate; 

	• 
	• 
	higher incentive compensation; 

	• 
	• 
	employee profit sharing, as no profit sharing was recorded in 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	increased commodity costs; • operational inefficiencies and other costs at certain facilities; and 

	• 
	• 
	net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009. 


	(1) EBIT is defined as income (loss) from operations before income taxes and minority interest as presented on our audited consolidated financial statements before net interest (income) expense. 
	Europe 
	EBIT in Europe increased $0.5 billion to $0.1 billion for 2010 compared to a loss of $0.4 billion for 2009. Excluding the European unusual items discussed in the "Unusual Items" section, the $0.4 billion increase in EBIT was substantially due to increased margins earned on higher sales as a result of higher vehicle production volumes. In addition, EBIT was positively impacted by: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	lower restructuring and downsizing costs and the benefit of prior year restructuring and downsizing activities; 

	• 
	• 
	a $26 million recovery, during 2010, of receivables that were fully provided for in 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	favourable settlement of certain commercial items; 

	• 
	• 
	the write-off of uncollectable pre-production costs incurred related to the cancellation of assembly programs in 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	lower costs incurred related to launches at our Complete Vehicle Assembly operations; 

	• 
	• 
	the sale or closure of certain underperforming divisions during or subsequent to 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	incremental margin earned related to the acquisition of Cadence; and 

	• 
	• 
	productivity and efficiency improvements at certain facilities. 


	These factors were partially offset by: 
	• operational inefficiencies and other costs at certain facilities, in particular at certain exteriors and interiors systems facilities; 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	employee profit sharing, as no profit sharing was recorded in 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	higher costs incurred related to launches at our components business, including Russia; 

	• 
	• 
	higher affiliation fees paid to Corporate; 

	• 
	• 
	increased commodity costs; 

	• 
	• 
	higher warranty costs; 

	• 
	• 
	higher incentive compensation; and 

	• 
	• 
	net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009. 


	RestofWorld 
	Rest of World EBIT increased $49 million to $92 million for 2010 compared to $43 million for 2009. Excluding the Rest of World unusual items discussed in the "Unusual Items" section, the $35 million increase was primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	additional margin earned on increased production sales; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	incremental margin earned on new programs that launched during or subsequent to 2009. 

	These factors were partially offset by: 

	• 
	• 
	higher launch costs related to new facilities, primarily in Korea, Brazil and India; 

	• 
	• 
	the write-off of certain assets; 

	• 
	• 
	higher warranty costs; 

	• 
	• 
	higher affiliation fees paid to Corporate; 

	• 
	• 
	net customer price concessions subsequent to 2009; and 

	• 
	• 
	increased commodity costs. 


	E-CarSystems 
	E-Car Systems EBIT decreased $48 million to a loss of $89 million for 2010 compared to a loss of $41 million for 2009, primarily as a result of higher development and launch costs. 
	CorporateandOther 
	Corporate and Other EBIT increased $37 million to a loss of $3 million for 2010 compared to a loss of $40 million for 2009, primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	an increase in affiliation fees earned from our divisions; 

	• 
	• 
	the positive impact of foreign exchange; 

	• 
	• 
	due diligence costs incurred in 2009 associated with our planned investment in Opel, which terminated during 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	the $20 million benefit related to the recovery of previously expensed engineering and design costs; 

	• 
	• 
	an increase in equity income earned; and 

	• 
	• 
	loss on disposal of assets in 2009. 


	These factors were partially offset by: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	higher incentive compensation; 

	• 
	• 
	a$20millionstock-basedcompensationchargeasaresultofmodifyingoptionagreementswiththreedepartingexecutivesand a related $9 million contract termination payment; 

	• 
	• 
	higher stock-based compensation; 

	• 
	• 
	a $9 million favourable revaluation of our investment in ABCP in 2009; and 

	• 
	• 
	loss on disposal of assets. 


	Interest (Income) Expense, net 
	During2010,werecordednetinterestincomeof$10millioncomparedto$7millionofnetinterestexpensefor2009. The$17million increase in net interest income is as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	a reduction in interest expense due to the repayment of our 7.08% Subordinated Debentures and our 6.5% Convertible Subordinated Debentures during 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	an increase in interest income earned. 


	Operating Income 
	Operating income increased $1.7 billion to income of $1.2 billion for 2010 compared to a loss of $0.5 billion for 2009. Excluding the unusual items discussed in the "Unusual items" section, operating income for 2010 increased $1.6 billion. The increase in operating income is the result of the increases in EBIT (excluding unusual items) and net interest income, both as discussed above. 
	Income Taxes 
	Our effective income tax rate on operating income (excluding equity income) was 20.3% for 2010 compared to a recovery of 3.5% for 2009. In 2010 and 2009, income tax rates were impacted by the items discussed in the unusual items section. Excluding the unusual items, our effective income tax rate was 20.2% for 2010 compared to a recovery of 6.7% for 2009. Our income tax rate for 2010reflectedmoretraditionalratesasaresultofourreturntoprofitabilityinmostjurisdictions. Inaddition, oureffectiveincometax rate for
	Minority Interest 
	During2010,werecorded$12millionofminorityinterestrecoverywithrespecttothelossincurredbyourE-CarSystemspartnership. 
	Net Income 
	Net income increased $1.5 billion to $1.0 billion for 2010 compared to a loss of $0.5 billion for 2009. Excluding the unusual items discussed in the "Unusual items" section, net income increased $1.3 billion. The increase in net income is the result of the increase in operating income and minority interest recovery partially offset by higher income taxes, as discussed above. 
	Earnings (Loss) per Share (restated) 
	2010 2009 Change 
	Earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share 
	Earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share 
	Earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share 

	Basic 
	Basic 
	$ 
	4.23 
	$ 
	(2.21) 
	$ 
	6.44 

	Diluted 
	Diluted 
	$ 
	4.18 
	$ 
	(2.21) 
	$ 
	6.39 


	Average number of Common Shares and Class B Shares 
	outstanding (millions) Basic 230.0 223.6 + 3% Diluted 233.0 223.6 + 4% 
	Diluted earnings per share increased $6.39 to $4.18 for 2010 compared to a loss of $2.21 for 2009. Excluding the unusual items discussed in the "Unusual items" section, diluted earnings per share increased $5.66 from 2009 as a result of the increase in net income(excludingunusual items), describedabove, partiallyoffset byanincrease in the weighted average number of dilutedshares outstanding during the year. 
	Theincreaseintheweightedaveragenumberofdilutedsharesoutstandingwasprimarilyduetothenetissueofsharesduring2010 relatedtotheArrangementandanincreaseinthenumberofdilutedsharesassociatedwithstockoptionsandrestrictedstockpartially offset by the effect of the repurchase and cancellation of Common Shares in 2010 pursuant to our normal course issuer bid. 
	FINANCIALCONDITION,LIQUIDITYANDCAPITALRESOURCES 
	Cash Flow from Operations 
	Cash Flow from Operations 
	Cash Flow from Operations 

	TR
	2010 
	2009 
	Change 

	Net income (loss) Items not involving current cash flows Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities Cash provided from operating activities 
	Net income (loss) Items not involving current cash flows Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities Cash provided from operating activities 
	$ $ 
	973 722 1,695 177 1,872 
	$ $ 
	(493) 1,114 621 (94) 527 
	$ $ 
	1,074 1,345 


	Cash flow from operations before changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities increased $1.1 billion to $1.7 billion for 2010 compared to $0.6 billion for 2009. The increase in cash flow from operations was due to a $1.5 billion increase in net income, as discussedabove, partially offsetbya $0.4 billion decreaseinitemsnot involvingcurrentcashflows. Itemsnot involvingcurrentcash flows are comprised of the following: 
	2010 2009 Change 
	Depreciation and amortization 
	Depreciation and amortization 
	Depreciation and amortization 
	$ 
	661 
	$ 
	737 
	$ 
	(76) 

	Amortization of other assets included in cost of goods sold 
	Amortization of other assets included in cost of goods sold 
	69 
	83 
	(14) 

	Long-lived asset impairments 
	Long-lived asset impairments 
	23 
	183 
	(160) 

	Amortization of employee wage buydown 
	Amortization of employee wage buydown 
	19 
	27 
	(8) 

	Other non-cash charges 
	Other non-cash charges 
	7 
	61 
	(54) 

	Future income taxes and non-cash portion of current taxes 
	Future income taxes and non-cash portion of current taxes 
	(12) 
	56 
	(68) 

	Minority interest 
	Minority interest 
	(12) 
	– 
	(12) 

	Equity income 
	Equity income 
	(33) 
	(7) 
	(26) 

	Curtailment gain 
	Curtailment gain 
	– 
	(26) 
	26 

	Items not involving current cash flows 
	Items not involving current cash flows 
	$ 
	722 
	$ 
	1,114 
	$ 
	(392) 


	The decrease in items not involving current cash flows was primarily as a result of a $160 million decrease in long-lived asset impairments(asdiscussedabove),a$76milliondecreaseindepreciationandamortization(asdiscussedabove),a$68milliondecrease in future income taxes and non-cash portion of current taxes and a $54 million decrease in other non-cash charges. The decrease in other non-cash charges includes both the previously discussed settlement of commercial items and the sale of facilities. 
	Cashprovidedfromnon-cashoperatingassetsandliabilitiesamountedto$177millionfor2010comparedtocashinvestedof$94million for 2009. The change in non-cash operating assets and liabilities is comprised of the following sources (and uses) of cash: 
	2010 2009 
	Accounts receivable 
	Accounts receivable 
	Accounts receivable 
	$ 
	(611) 
	$ 
	(40) 

	Inventories 
	Inventories 
	(178) 
	17 

	Prepaid expenses and other 
	Prepaid expenses and other 
	(10) 
	6 

	Accounts payable 
	Accounts payable 
	579 
	241 

	Accrued salaries and wages 
	Accrued salaries and wages 
	97 
	(92) 

	Other accrued liabilities 
	Other accrued liabilities 
	83 
	(108) 

	Income taxes payable 
	Income taxes payable 
	221 
	(104) 

	Deferred revenue 
	Deferred revenue 
	(4) 
	(14) 

	Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities 
	Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities 
	$ 
	177 
	$ 
	(94) 


	The increases in accounts receivable, inventories and accounts payable in 2010 was primarily due to the increase in production activities at the end of 2010 compared to the end of 2009, including the launch of new programs which includes complete vehicle assembly of the Peugeot RCZ in the fourth quarter of 2009 and the Aston Martin Rapide in the first quarter of 2010. The increase in income taxes payable was primarily due to a higher income tax provision, resulting from increased earnings, offset by current
	Capital and Investment Spending 
	Capital and Investment Spending 
	Capital and Investment Spending 

	TR
	2010 
	2009 
	Change 

	Fixed asset additions Investments and other assets Fixed assets, investments and other assets additions Purchase of subsidiaries Proceeds from disposition 
	Fixed asset additions Investments and other assets Fixed assets, investments and other assets additions Purchase of subsidiaries Proceeds from disposition 
	$ 
	(784) (141) (925) (106) 287 
	$ 
	(629) (227) (856) (50) 30 


	Cash used for investing activities $ (744) $ (876) $ 
	Fixedandotherassetsadditions 
	In 2010, we invested $784 million in fixed assets. While investments were made to refurbish or replace assets consumed in the normal course of business and for productivity improvements, a large portion of the investment in 2010 was for manufacturing equipment for programs that will be launching subsequent to 2010. Consistent with our strategy to expand in developing markets, approximately 19% (2009 -18%) of this investment was in Russia, China, Brazil and India. 
	In 2010, we invested $137 million in other assets related primarily to fully reimbursable tooling costs and planning and engineering costsforprogramsthatwillbelaunchingsubsequentto2010. Thetoolingcostswereincurredprimarilyatourbody&chassissystems operations in North America. 
	Purchaseofsubsidiaries 
	During 2010, we invested $106 million to purchase subsidiaries, including the acquisition of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	Resil Minas, a supplier of seat frames and stampings. The acquired business is primarily located in Brazil with sales to various customers, including Fiat, Ford, General Motors, Volkswagen, IVECO and PSA; 

	• 
	• 
	Pabsa S.A., a supplier of complete seats, foam products, trim covers and seat structures. The acquired business has three production facilities in Argentina; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	Erhard & Söhne GmbH, a manufacturer of fuel tanks for commercial vehicles and other specialty tanks. The acquired business is located in Germany and has sales to various customers including MAN, Daimler and Scania. 

	During 2009, we invested $50 million to purchase subsidiaries, including the acquisition of: 

	• 
	• 
	Cadence, amanufacturerofexteriorandinteriorsystems. TheacquiredbusinessisprimarilylocatedintheCzechRepublicwith sales to various customers, including Skoda; and 

	• 
	• 
	several facilities from Meridian. The facilities are located in the United States and Mexico and manufacture composites for various customers. 


	Proceedsfromdisposition 
	Proceeds from disposition in 2010 were $287 million which included: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	normal course reimbursement received in respect of planning and engineering costs that were capitalized in prior periods; 

	• 
	• 
	normal course fixed and other asset disposals; 

	• 
	• 
	a cash payment received on the sale of a long-term receivable related to fully reimbursable capitalized pre-production costs; 

	• 
	• 
	the cash proceeds received on the sale of an electronics facility; 

	• 
	• 
	a cash payment received on the sale of a long-term engineering receivable; 

	• 
	• 
	gain on sale of investment; and 

	• 
	• 
	a cash payment received with respect to our investment in ABCP. 


	Financing 
	2010 2009 Change 
	Decrease in bank indebtedness 
	Decrease in bank indebtedness 
	Decrease in bank indebtedness 
	$ 
	(4) 
	$ 
	(853) 

	Repayments of debt 
	Repayments of debt 
	(67) 
	(296) 

	Issues of debt 
	Issues of debt 
	22 
	5 

	Repurchase of Class B Shares 
	Repurchase of Class B Shares 
	(300) 
	– 

	Repurchase of Common Shares 
	Repurchase of Common Shares 
	(23) 
	– 

	Issue of general partnership units by subsidiary 
	Issue of general partnership units by subsidiary 
	80 
	– 

	Issues of Common Shares 
	Issues of Common Shares 
	49 
	2 

	Settlement of stock options 
	Settlement of stock options 
	(12) 
	– 

	Settlement of stock appreciation rights 
	Settlement of stock appreciation rights 
	– 
	(1) 

	Cash dividends paid 
	Cash dividends paid 
	(100) 
	(21) 

	Cash used for financing activities 
	Cash used for financing activities 
	$ 
	(355) 
	$ 
	(1,164) 
	$ 809 


	During 2010, we repaid $64 million of debt assumed on the acquisition of Cadence. 
	In connection with the Arrangement, during 2010, we paid $300 million in cash in connection with the purchase for cancellation of all 1,453,658 (restated to reflect the stock split) outstanding Class B Shares. In addition, the Stronach group invested $80 million in E-Car. 
	Due to continuing strong operating and cash flow performance, on February 23, 2011 our Board declared a dividend of U.S. $0.25 per share in respect of the fourth quarter of 2010, representing an increase of 39% over the third quarter of 2010 dividend and the third consecutive dividend increase since the reintroduction of the dividend in the first quarter of 2010. 
	Financing Resources 
	Asat As at December31, December 31, 
	2010 2009 Change 
	Liabilities 
	Liabilities 
	Liabilities 

	Bank indebtedness 
	Bank indebtedness 
	$ 
	26 
	$ 
	48 

	Long-term debt due within one year 
	Long-term debt due within one year 
	25 
	16 

	Long-term debt 
	Long-term debt 
	46 
	115 

	TR
	97 
	179 

	Minority interest 
	Minority interest 
	74 
	– 

	Shareholders' equity 
	Shareholders' equity 
	8,065 
	7,360 

	Total capitalization 
	Total capitalization 
	$ 
	8,236 
	$ 
	7,539 $ 697 


	Total capitalizationincreasedby$0.7billionto$8.2billionatDecember 31, 2010comparedto$7.5billionat December31, 2009. The increase in capitalization was a result of a $0.7 billion increase in shareholders' equity and a $0.1 billion increase in minority interest partially offset by a $0.1 billion decrease in liabilities. 
	The increase in shareholders' equity was primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	net income earned during 2010; 

	• 
	• 
	net unrealized gains on cash flow hedges, and the reclassification of net gains on cash flow hedges from accumulated other comprehensive income to net income; 

	• 
	• 
	Common Shares issued on the exercise of stock options; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	an increase in contributed surplus related to stock-based compensation expense. 

	These factors were partially offset by: 

	• 
	• 
	the repurchase of Class B Shares in connection with the Arrangement; 

	• 
	• 
	dividends paid during 2010; and 

	• 
	• 
	the purchase for cancellation of Common Shares in connection with our normal course issuer bid. 


	The increase in minority interest was as a result of the formation of E-Car. 
	The decrease in liabilities is primarily as a result of the repayment in 2010 of debt assumed on the acquisition of Cadence. 
	Cash Resources 
	During 2010, our cash resources increased by $0.8 billion to $2.1 billion primarily as a result of the cash provided from operating activities partially offset by cash used for investing activities and financing activities (including cash used for the Arrangement), as discussedabove. Inaddition toourcashresources, wehad termandoperatinglinesofcredittotalling$2.0 billionofwhich$1.9billion was unused and available. 
	Maximum Number of Shares Issuable 
	The following table presents the maximum number of shares that would be outstanding if all of the outstanding options at March 14, 2011 were exercised: 
	Common Shares 242,771,789 Stock options 10,065,577 
	(i) 

	252,837,366 
	(i) OptionstopurchaseCommonSharesareexercisablebytheholderinaccordancewiththevestingprovisionsanduponpayment of the exercise price as may be determined from time to time pursuant to our stock option plans. 
	On November 9, 2010, the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX") accepted our Notice of Intention to Make a Normal Course Issuer Bid relating to the purchase of up to 8,000,000 Magna Common Shares (the "Bid"), representing 3.3% of our issued and outstanding Common Shares. The Bid commenced onNovember 11, 2010and willterminate no laterthan November 10, 2011. All purchasesof CommonSharesaremadeatthemarketpriceatthetimeofpurchaseinaccordancewiththerulesandpoliciesoftheTSX. Purchases may also be made on the NYSE in comp
	Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Financing 
	Apurchaseobligationisdefinedasanagreementtopurchasegoodsorservicesthatisenforceableandlegallybindingonusandthat specifies all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction. Consistent with ourcustomer obligations, substantially all of our purchases are made under purchase orders with our suppliers which are requirements based and accordingly do not specify minimum quantities. Other long-te
	At December 31, 2010, we had contractual obligations requiring annual payments as follows: 
	2011 2012-2013 2014-2015 Thereafter Total 
	Operating leases with: MI Developments Inc. ("MID") $ 172 $ 339 $ 316 $ 452 $ 1,279 Third parties 123 179 105 79 486 
	Long-term debt 25 17 10 19 71 
	Unconditional Purchase Obligations: Materials and Services 2,243 129 41 13 2,426 Capital 283 60 – – 343 
	Total contractual obligations $ 2,846 $ 724 $ 472 $ 563 $ 4,605 
	Our unfunded obligations with respect to employee future benefitplans, which have been actuarially determined, were $306 million at December 31, 2010. These obligations are as follows: 
	Termination and Pension Retirement Long Service Liability Liability Arrangements Total 
	Projected benefit obligation 
	Projected benefit obligation 
	Projected benefit obligation 
	$ 
	332 
	$ 
	43 
	$ 
	243 
	$ 
	618 

	Less plan assets 
	Less plan assets 
	(253) 
	– 
	– 
	(253) 

	Unfunded amount 
	Unfunded amount 
	79 
	43 
	243 
	365 

	Unrecognized past service costs and actuarial gains (losses) 
	Unrecognized past service costs and actuarial gains (losses) 
	(40) 
	22 
	(41) 
	(59) 

	Amount recognized in other long-term liabilities 
	Amount recognized in other long-term liabilities 
	$ 
	39 
	$ 
	65 
	$ 
	202 
	$ 
	306 


	Our off-balance sheet financing arrangements are limited to operating lease contracts. 
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	The majority of our facilities are subject to operating leases with MID or with third parties. Operating lease payments in 2010 for facilities leased from MID and third parties were $172 million and $132 million, respectively. Operating lease commitments in 2011 forfacilitiesleasedfromMIDandthirdpartiesareexpectedtobe$172millionand$123million,respectively. Ourexistingleaseswith MIDgenerallyprovideforperiodicrentescalationsbasedeitheronfixed-ratestepincreases,oronthebasisofaconsumerpriceindex adjustment (sub
	Wealsohaveoperatingleasecommitmentsforequipment. Theseleasesaregenerallyofshorterduration. Operatingleasepayments for equipment were $46 million for 2010, and are expected to be $40 million in 2011. 
	Although our consolidated contractual annual lease commitments decline year by year, we expect that existing leases will either be renewed or replaced, or alternatively, we will incur capital expenditures to acquire equivalent capacity. 
	Foreign Currency Activities 
	Our North American operations negotiate sales contracts with OEMs for payment in both U.S. and Canadian dollars. Materials and equipment are purchased in various currencies depending upon competitive factors, including relative currency values. The North AmericanoperationsuselabourandmaterialswhicharepaidforinbothU.S. andCanadiandollars. OurMexicanoperationsgenerally use the U.S. dollar as the functional currency. 
	Our European operations negotiate sales contracts with OEMs for payment principally in euros and British pounds. The European operations' material, equipment and labour are paid for principally in euros and British pounds. 
	We employ hedging programs, primarily through the use of foreign exchange forward contracts, in an effort to manage our foreign exchange exposure, which arises when manufacturing facilities have committed to the delivery of products for which the selling price has been quoted in foreign currencies. These commitments represent our contractual obligations to deliver products over the durationoftheproductprograms,whichcanlastanumberofyears. Theamountandtimingoftheforwardcontractswillbedependent upon a number o
	RELATEDPARTIES 
	Mr. Frank Stronach, together with three other members of the Stronach family, are trustees and members of the class of potential beneficiariesoftheStronachTrust. PriortothecompletionoftheArrangement,theStronachTrustindirectlycontrolledMagnathrough therighttodirectthevotesattachingto100%ofMagna'sClassBShares. Inaddition, theStronachTrustcontrolsMIDandcontrolled Magna Entertainment Corp. ("MEC") prior to its bankruptcy, through the right to direct the votes attaching to approximately 66% of MID's Class B Shar
	-

	WehaveagreementswithaffiliatesoftheChairmanoftheBoardfortheprovisionofbusinessdevelopmentandconsultingservices. In addition, we have an agreement with the Chairman of the Board for the provision of business development and other services. Thecostoftheseagreementsismeasuredattheexchangeamount. Inaddition,theArrangementsetaterminationdateanddeclining fee schedule for the consulting, business development and business services contracts. The aggregate amount expensed under these agreements with respect to the y
	During 2010, we sold an office building located in Vienna, Austria to our former Co-Chief Executive Officer for $11.5 million (€8.4 million). 
	During2009,wepurchasedapproximately100acresofrealestatelocatedinOberwaltersdorf,AustriafromMECfor$6.0million(€4.6 million). 
	During 2008, we purchased 225 acres of real estate located in Austria from MEC for $29 million (€20 million). 
	These transactions were reviewed by the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee and approved by the independent membersofMagna'sBoardofDirectorsfollowingtheunanimousrecommendationoftheCorporateGovernanceandCompensation Committee. 
	During the year ended December 31, 2010, trusts, which exist to make orderly purchases of our shares for employees either for transfer to the Employee Equity and Profit Participation Program or to recipients of either bonuses or rights to purchase such shares fromthetrusts,borrowedupto$31million(2009 -$30million)fromustofacilitatethepurchaseofCommonShares. AtDecember31, 2010, the trusts' indebtedness to Magna was $31 million (2009 -$19 million). 
	CRITICALACCOUNTINGPOLICIES 
	Our discussion and analysis of our results of operations and financial position is based upon our 2010 audited consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. The preparation of the audited consolidated financial statementsrequiresmanagementtomakeestimatesandjudgmentsthataffectthereportedamountsofassets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and various 
	We believe the following critical accounting policies affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our audited consolidated financial statements. Management has discussed the development and selection of the following critical accountingpolicieswiththeAuditCommitteeoftheBoardofDirectorsandtheAuditCommitteehasreviewedourdisclosurerelating to critical accounting policies in this MD&A. 
	Revenue Recognition 
	[a] SeparatelyPricedToolingandEngineeringServiceContracts 
	With respect to our contracts with OEMs for particular vehicle programs, we perform multiple revenue-generating activities. Themostcommonarrangementiswhere,inadditiontocontractingfortheproductionandsaleofparts,wealsohaveaseparately priced contract with the OEM for related tooling. Under these arrangements, we either construct the tools at our in-house tool shops or contract with third party tooling vendors to construct and supply tooling to be used by us in the production of parts for the OEM. On completion
	In certain cases, such multiple element arrangements also include providing separately priced engineering services in addition to tooling and subsequent assembly or production activities. On completion, and upon acceptance by the OEM, we generally sell the separately priced engineering services to the OEM prior to the commencement of subsequent assembly or production activities. 
	During 2004, we adopted CICA Emerging Issues Committee Abstract No. 142, "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables" ("EIC-142") prospectively for new revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables entered into by us on or after January 1, 2004. Under EIC-142, separately priced tooling and engineering services are accounted for as a separate revenue element only in circumstances where the tooling and engineering has value to the customer on a standalone basis and there is objective and reliable evide
	Revenues from significant engineering services and tooling contracts that qualify as separate revenue elements are recognized onapercentageofcompletionbasis. Thepercentageofcompletionmethodrecognizesrevenueandcostofsalesovertheterm of the contract based on estimates of the state of completion, total contract revenue and total contract costs. Under such contracts, the related receivables could be paid in full upon completion of the contract, in instalments or in fixed amounts per vehicle based on forecasted 
	Tooling and engineering contract prices are generally fixed; however, price changes, change orders and program cancellations may affect the ultimate amount of revenue recorded with respect to a contract. Contract costs are estimated at the time of signing the contract and are reviewed at each reporting date. Adjustments to the original estimates of total contract costs are often required as work progresses under the contract and as experience is gained, even though the scope of the work under the contract m
	For U.S. GAAP purposes, we adopted EITF 00-21, "Accounting for Revenue Arrangements With Multiple Deliverables" prospectively for new revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables entered into by us on or after January 1, 2004, which harmonizedourCanadianandU.S. GAAPreportingforsucharrangements. Forseparatelypricedin-housetoolingandengineering services contracts provided in conjunction with subsequent production or assembly services entered into prior to January 1, 2004, the revenues and costs of sales on
	[b] ContractswithPurchasedComponents 
	Revenues and cost of sales from separately priced tooling and engineering services contracts are presented on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of income (loss) when we are acting as principal andaresubject to significant risks and rewardsof the business. Otherwise, components of revenue and related costs are presented on a net basis. To date, substantially all separately priced engineering services and tooling contracts have been recorded on a gross basis. 
	As reported above, the reporting of sales and cost of sales for our vehicle assembly contracts is affected by the contractual terms of the arrangement. 
	In addition to our assembly business, we also enter into production contracts where we are required to coordinate the design, manufacture, integrationand assembly ofa large numberof individual parts and components into a modularsystem for delivery to the OEM's vehicle assembly plant. Under these contracts, we manufacture a portion of the products included in the module but also purchase components from various sub-suppliers and assemble such components into the completed module. We recognize module revenues
	• 
	• 
	• 
	primary responsibility for providing the module to the OEM; 

	• 
	• 
	responsibility for styling and/or product design specifications; 

	• 
	• 
	latitude in establishing sub-supplier pricing; 

	• 
	• 
	responsibility for validation of sub-supplier part quality; 

	• 
	• 
	inventory risk on sub-supplier parts; 

	• 
	• 
	exposure to warranty; and 

	• 
	• 
	exposure to credit risk on the sale of the module to the OEM. 


	To date, revenues and cost of sales on our module contracts have been reported on a gross basis. 
	Amortized Engineering and Customer Owned Tooling Arrangements 
	We incur pre-production engineering research and development ("ER&D") costs related to the products we produce for OEMs under long-termsupplyagreements. WeexpenseER&Dcosts,whicharepaidforaspartofthesubsequentrelatedproductionandassembly program, as incurred unless a contractual guarantee for reimbursement exists. 
	In addition, we expense all costs as incurred related to the design and development of moulds, dies and other tools that we will not own and that will be used in, and reimbursed as part of the piece price amount for, subsequent related production or assembly program unless the supply agreement provides us with a contractual guarantee for reimbursement of costs or the non-cancellable right to use the moulds, dies and other tools during the supply agreement, in which case the costs are capitalized. 
	ER&D and customer-owned tooling costs capitalized in "Other assets" are amortized on a units of production basis over the related long-term supply agreement. 
	Impairment of Goodwill and Other Long-lived Assets 
	Goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test or more frequently when an event occurs that more likely than not reduces the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. 
	Weevaluatefixedassetsandotherlong-livedassetsforimpairmentwheneverindicatorsofimpairmentexist. Indicatorsofimpairment include the bankruptcy of a significant customer or the early termination, loss, renegotiation of the terms of, or delay in the implementation of, any significant production contract. If the sum of the future cash flows expected to result from the asset, undiscounted and without interest charges, is less than the reported value of the asset, an asset impairment would be recognized intheconso
	We believe that accounting estimates related to goodwill and long-lived asset impairment assessments are "critical accounting estimates" because: (i) they are subject to significant measurement uncertainty and are susceptible to change as management is requiredtomakeforward-lookingassumptionsregardingtheimpactofimprovementplansoncurrentoperations,in-sourcingandother newbusinessopportunities,programpriceandcostassumptionsoncurrentandfuturebusiness,thetimingofnewprogramlaunches and future forecasted productio
	Warranty 
	Werecordproductwarrantyliabilitiesbasedonindividualcustomeragreements. Undermostcustomeragreements,weonlyaccount forexistingorprobableclaimsonproductdefaultissueswhenamountsrelatedtosuchissuesareprobableandreasonablyestimable. Under certain complete vehicle engineering and assembly contracts, we record an estimate of future warranty-related costs based on the terms of the specific customer agreements and the specific customers' warranty experience. 
	Product liability provisions are established basedonourbestestimateof theamounts necessaryto settleexistingclaimsonproduct default issues. Recall costs are costs incurred when government regulators and/or our customers decide to recall a product due to aknown or suspectedperformance issue, and wearerequired to participate either voluntarily orinvoluntarily. Coststypically include the cost of the product being replaced, the customer's cost of the recall and labour to remove and replace the defective part. Wh
	Future Income Tax Assets 
	At December 31, 2010 we had recorded future tax assets (net of related valuation allowances) in respect of loss carryforwards and other deductible temporary differences of $42 million and $108 million, respectively. The future tax assets in respect of loss carryforwards relate primarily to Mexican and Canadian subsidiaries. 
	On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the realizability of future tax assets by assessing our valuation allowance and by adjusting the amountofsuchallowanceasnecessary. Wehave,andwecontinuetousetaxplanningstrategiestorealizefuturetaxassetsinorder to avoid the potential loss of benefits. 
	Accounting standards require that we assess whether valuation allowances should be established against our future income tax assets based on consideration of all available evidence using a "more likely than not" standard. The factors we use to assess the likelihood of realization are our history of losses, our forecasts of future taxable income and tax planning strategies that could be implemented to realize the future tax assets. 
	AtDecember31,2010, wehadgrossincometaxlosscarryforwardsofapproximately$1.5billion, whichrelateprimarilytooperations in the United States, the United Kingdom, Belgium, Germany, Austria, Spain and China. The tax benefits of these losses have not been recognized in our consolidated financial statements. Of the total losses, $734 million expire between 2011 and 2030 while the remainder have no expiry date. 
	Given our improved financial results in the United States in 2010 and assuming that the overall economic conditions continue to improve in that jurisdiction in 2011, the Company expects to reverse a portion of its valuation allowance against its future tax assets in the United States during 2011. The reversal, if any, will not affect our consolidated cash flows, as our tax payments continue to benefit from the utilization of loss carryforwards. 
	Employee Benefit Plans 
	The determination of the obligation and expense for defined benefit pension, termination and long service arrangements and other postretirementbenefits,suchasretireehealthcareandmedicalbenefits, isdependentontheselectionofcertainassumptionsused by actuaries in calculating such amounts. Those assumptions include, among others, the discount rate, expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and rates of increase in compensation costs. Actual results that differ from the assumptions used are accumulated an
	During the second quarter of 2009, we amended our Retiree Premium Reimbursement Plan in Canada and the United States, such that most employees retiring on or after August 1, 2009 will no longer participate in the plan. The amendment will reduce service costsandretirementmedicalbenefitexpensein2009andfutureyears.Asaresultofamendingtheplan,acurtailmentgainof$26million was recorded in cost of goods sold in the second quarter of 2009. 
	AtDecember 31, 2010, we had unrecognized past service costsand actuarial experience losses of $59millionthat willbeamortized to future employee benefit expense over the expected average remaining service life of employees. 
	FUTURECHANGESINACCOUNTINGPOLICIES 
	Adoption of United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
	In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board confirmed the transition from Canadian GAAP to International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") for all publicly accountable entities no later than fiscal years commencing on or after January 1, 2011. As a result, we undertook a detailed review of the implications of having to report under IFRS and also examined the alternative available to us, as a Foreign Private Issuer in the United States, of filing its primary financial statements in Canada 
	In carrying out this evaluation, we considered many factors, including, but not limited to (i) the changes in accounting policies that would be required and the resulting impact on our reported results and key performance indicators, (ii) the reporting standards expected to be used by many of our industry comparables, and (iii) the financial reporting needs of our market participants, including shareholders, lenders, rating agencies and market analysts. 
	Asaresultofthisanalysis, wehavedeterminedthatwewilladoptU.S. GAAPasourprimarybasisoffinancialreportingwithourfirst reporting period beginning after January 1, 2011 on a retrospective basis. The adoption of U.S. GAAP is not anticipated to have a material change on our accounting policies or financial results, except for the reporting differences disclosed in note 28 of our 2010 consolidated financial statements. 
	Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements 
	In October 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2009-13, "Revenue Recognition (Topic 605) -Multiple-DeliverableRevenueArrangements". ThisASUeliminatestherequirementthatundeliveredelementsmusthaveobjectiveandreliable evidence of fair value before a company can recognize the portion of the consideration that is attributable to items that already have been delivered. This may allow some companies to recognize revenue on transactions that involve multiple-deliverables earlier than underthec
	Other 
	In October 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Sections 1582, "Business Combinations" ("CICA 1582"), 1601 "Consolidated Financial Statements" ("CICA1601"), and1602 "Non-controllingInterests" ("CICA1602"). CICA1582establishesstandardsforthemeasurement of a business combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, CICA 1601 carries forwardtheexistingCanadianguidanceonaspectsofthepreparationofconsolidatedfinancialstatementssubsequenttoacquisition other than non-controlling
	COMMITMENTSANDCONTINGENCIES 
	From time to time, we may be contingently liable for litigation and other claims. Refer to note 26 of our 2010 audited consolidated financial statements, which describes these claims. Foradiscussionofriskfactorsrelatingtolegalandotherclaimsagainstus,referto "Item3. DescriptionoftheBusiness -RiskFactors" 
	in our Annual Information Form and Annual Report on Form 40-F, each in respect of the year ended December 31, 2010. 
	CONTROLSANDPROCEDURES 
	DisclosureControlsandProcedures 
	Disclosurecontrolsandproceduresaredesignedtoprovidereasonable,butnotabsolute,assurancethatmaterialinformationrequired to be publicly disclosed by a public company is communicated in a timely manner to senior management to enable them to make timely decisions regarding public disclosure of such information. We have conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2010 under the supervision, and with the participation of, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial 
	Management'sAnnualReportonInternalControloverFinancialReporting 
	Internalcontroloverfinancialreportingisaprocessdesignedtoprovidereasonable,butnotabsolute,assuranceregardingthereliability offinancialreportingandpreparationoffinancialstatementsforexternalpurposesinaccordancewithgenerallyacceptedaccounting principles. Ourmanagement is responsiblefor establishing andmaintaining adequateinternalcontrol over financial reporting. Dueto itsinherentlimitations,internalcontroloverfinancialreportingmaynotpreventordetectmisstatementsonatimelybasis. Additionally, projections of any 
	ChangesinInternalControlsoverFinancialReporting 
	There have been no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during 2010 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 
	SELECTEDANNUALCONSOLIDATEDFINANCIALDATA 
	The following selected consolidated financial data has been derived from, and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010. 
	2010 
	2010 
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 

	Income Statement Data 
	Income Statement Data 

	VehicleProductionVolumes(millions of units) 
	VehicleProductionVolumes(millions of units) 

	North America 
	North America 
	11.954 
	8.621 
	12.622 

	Europe 
	Europe 
	13.304 
	11.835 
	14.596 


	AverageDollarContentPerVehicle North America Europe 
	AverageDollarContentPerVehicle North America Europe 
	AverageDollarContentPerVehicle North America Europe 
	$ $ 
	988 536 
	$ $ 
	872 495 
	$ $ 
	867 486 

	Sales 
	Sales 

	External Production 
	External Production 

	North America 
	North America 
	$ 
	11,816 
	$ 
	7,515 
	$ 
	10,938 

	Europe 
	Europe 
	7,136 
	5,857 
	7,089 

	Rest of World 
	Rest of World 
	1,031 
	676 
	515 

	Complete Vehicle Assembly 
	Complete Vehicle Assembly 
	2,163 
	1,764 
	3,306 

	Tooling, Engineering and Other 
	Tooling, Engineering and Other 
	1,956 
	1,555 
	1,856 

	Total sales 
	Total sales 
	$ 
	24,102 
	$ 
	17,367 
	$ 
	23,704 


	Netincome(loss) 
	Netincome(loss) 
	Netincome(loss) 
	$ 
	973 
	$ 
	(493) 
	$ 
	71 

	Earnings(loss)perCommonShareorClassBShare(restated) Basic Diluted 
	Earnings(loss)perCommonShareorClassBShare(restated) Basic Diluted 
	$ $ 
	4.23 4.18 
	$ $ 
	(2.21) (2.21) 
	$ $ 
	0.32 0.31 

	CashdividendspaidperCommonShare orClassBShare(restated) 
	CashdividendspaidperCommonShare orClassBShare(restated) 
	$ 
	0.42 
	$ 
	0.09 
	$ 
	0.63 

	Financial Position Data 
	Financial Position Data 

	Cash and cash equivalents Working capital Total assets 
	Cash and cash equivalents Working capital Total assets 
	$ $ $ 
	2,105 2,614 13,898 
	$ $ $ 
	1,334 2,004 12,303 
	$ $ $ 
	2,757 2,258 13,189 

	FinancingResources Liabilities Bank indebtedness Long-term debt due within one year Long-term debt 
	FinancingResources Liabilities Bank indebtedness Long-term debt due within one year Long-term debt 
	$ 
	26 25 46 
	$ 
	48 16 115 
	$ 
	909 157 143 


	97 
	97 
	97 
	179 
	1,209 

	Minorityinterest 
	Minorityinterest 
	74 
	– 
	– 

	Shareholders'equity 
	Shareholders'equity 
	8,065 
	7,360 
	7,363 

	Totalcapitalization 
	Totalcapitalization 
	$ 8,236 
	$ 7,539 
	$ 8,572 


	Changes from 2009 to 2010 are explained in "Results of Operations -For the Year Ended December 31, 2010" section above. 
	2009COMPAREDTO2008 
	SALES 
	ExternalProductionSales-NorthAmerica 
	External production sales in North America decreased 31% or $3.4 billion to $7.5 billion for the year ended December 31, 2009 comparedto$10.9billionfortheyearendedDecember31,2008. Thisdecreaseinproductionsalesreflectsa32%decreaseinNorth American vehicle production volumes partially offset by a 1% increase in our North American average dollar content per vehicle. More importantly, during 2009 our largest customers in North America continued to reduce vehicle production volumes compared to 2008. While North A
	Our average dollar content per vehicle grew by 1% or $5 to $872 for the year ended December 31, 2009 compared to $867 for the year ended December 31, 2008, primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	the launch of new programs during or subsequent to 2008, including the: 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	Ford F-Series and Lincoln Mark LT; 

	• 
	• 
	Chevrolet Traverse; 

	• 
	• 
	Chevrolet Equinox and GMC Terrain; and 

	• 
	• 
	Chevrolet Camaro; 



	• 
	• 
	• 
	favourable production (relative to industry volumes) and/or increased content on certain programs, including the: 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	Ford Escape, Mercury Mariner and Mazda Tribute; and 

	• 
	• 
	Ford Fusion, Mercury Milan and Lincoln MKZ; 



	• 
	• 
	• 
	acquisitions completed during or subsequent to 2008, including: 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	a substantial portion of Plastech Engineered Products Inc.'s exteriors business ("Plastech"); 

	• 
	• 
	Meridian; and 

	• 
	• 
	a stamping and sub-assembly facility in Alabama from Ogihara America Corporation ("Ogihara"); and 



	• 
	• 
	takeover business that launched during or subsequent to 2008. 


	These factors were partially offset by: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	unfavourable production (relative to industry volumes) and/or lower content on certain programs, including the: 

	• 
	• 
	Chevrolet Cobalt; 

	• 
	• 
	Dodge Grand Caravan, Chrysler Town & Country and Volkswagen Routan; 

	• 
	• 
	Chrysler 300 and 300C and Dodge Charger; and 

	• 
	• 
	Buick Enclave and GMC Acadia; 


	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	programs that ended production during or subsequent to 2008, including the: 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	Saturn Vue, Aura and Outlook; 

	• 
	• 
	Chevrolet Trailblazer and GMC Envoy; and 

	• 
	• 
	Pontiac G5, G6, Solstice, Sky and GT; 



	• 
	• 
	a decrease in reported U.S. dollar sales due to the weakening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar; and 

	• 
	• 
	customer price concessions during or subsequent to 2008. 


	ExternalProductionSales-Europe 
	External production sales in Europe decreased 17% or $1.2 billion to $5.9 billion for the year ended December 31, 2009 compared to$7.1billionfortheyearendedDecember31,2008. Thisdecreaseinproductionsalesreflectsa19%decreaseinEuropeanvehicle production volumes partially offset by a 2% increase in our European average dollar content per vehicle. 
	Our average dollar content per vehicle increased by 2% or $9 to $495 for the year ended December 31, 2009 compared to $486 for the year ended December 31, 2008, primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	the launch of new programs during or subsequent to 2008, including the: • Audi Q5; 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	Volkswagen Golf; 

	• 
	• 
	Porsche Panamera; 

	• 
	• 
	Opel/Vauxhall Insignia; 

	• 
	• 
	BMW One/Cooper Convertible; and 

	• 
	• 
	Volkswagen A5 Cabrio and Sportback; and 



	• 
	• 
	acquisitions completed during or subsequent to 2008, including Cadence. 


	These factors were partially offset by: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	unfavourable production (relative to industry volumes) and/or lower content on certain programs, including the: 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	Mercedes-Benz C-Class; 

	• 
	• 
	Porsche Cayenne and Volkswagen Touareg; 

	• 
	• 
	Volkswagen Transporter; • BMW X3; 

	• 
	• 
	Ford Transit; 

	• 
	• 
	Opel/Vauxhall Vivaro, Nissan Primastar and Renault Trafic; 

	• 
	• 
	Opel Astra; 

	• 
	• 
	Audi Q7; and 

	• 
	• 
	Honda Civic; 



	• 
	• 
	a decrease in reported U.S. dollar sales due to the weakening of the euro and British pound, each against the U.S. dollar; 

	• 
	• 
	the sale of certain facilities during or subsequent to 2008; and 

	• 
	• 
	customer price concessions during or subsequent to 2008. 


	ExternalProductionSales-RestofWorld 
	External production sales in Rest of World increased 31% or $161 million to $676 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 compared to $515 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	increased production and/or content on certain programs in China and Brazil; 

	• 
	• 
	the launch of new programs during or subsequent to 2008 in China and Japan; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	an increase in reported U.S. dollar sales as a result of the strengthening of the Chinese Renminbi against the U.S. dollar. 

	These factors were partially offset by: 

	• 
	• 
	a decrease in reported U.S. dollar sales as a result of the weakening of the Brazilian real, Korean Won and South African Rand, each against the U.S. dollar; and 

	• 
	• 
	decreased production and/or content on certain programs, particularly in South Africa. 


	CompleteVehicleAssemblySales 
	Complete vehicle assembly sales decreased 47% or $1.5 billion to $1.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2009 compared to $3.3billionfortheyearendedDecember31,2008whileassemblyvolumesdecreased55%or68,816units. Thedecreaseincomplete vehicle assembly volumes is due to a combination of general economic conditions as discussed previously; the natural decline in volumes as certain models that we assembled in 2008 approach their scheduled end of production; and a decrease in reported U.S. dollarsalesdueto th
	Tooling,EngineeringandOther 
	Tooling, engineering and other sales decreased 16% or $0.3 billion to $1.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2009 compared to $1.9 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008. 
	In the year ended December 31, 2009, the major programs for which we recorded tooling, engineering and other sales were the: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	MINI Cooper, Clubman and Crossman; 

	• 
	• 
	Chevrolet Silverado and GMC Sierra; 

	• 
	• 
	Porsche Panamera; 

	• 
	• 
	Opel/Vauxhall Astra; • Audi Q5; • BMW X3; 

	• 
	• 
	Porsche Boxster and Cayman; 

	• 
	• 
	Porsche Cayenne; 

	• 
	• 
	Mercedes-Benz M-Class; 

	• 
	• 
	Peugeot RCZ; 

	• 
	• 
	Cadillac SRX and Saab 9-4X; 

	• 
	• 
	Ford F-Series; and 

	• 
	• 
	Mercedes-Benz C-Class. 


	Unusual Items 
	During 2009 and 2008, we recorded certain unusual items as follows: 
	During 2009 and 2008, we recorded certain unusual items as follows: 
	During 2009 and 2008, we recorded certain unusual items as follows: 

	TR
	2009 
	2008 

	TR
	Diluted 
	Diluted 

	Operating 
	Operating 
	Net 
	Earnings 
	Operating 
	Net 
	Earnings 

	Income 
	Income 
	Income 
	perShare 
	Income 
	Income 
	per Share 

	Impairment charges (1) 
	Impairment charges (1) 
	$ 
	(183) 
	$ 
	(181) 
	$ 
	(0.81) 
	$ 
	(283) 
	$ 
	(246) 
	$ 
	(1.08) 

	Restructuring charges (1) 
	Restructuring charges (1) 
	(26) 
	(26) 
	(0.12) 
	(84) 
	(60) 
	(0.26) 

	Sale of facilities 
	Sale of facilities 
	(8) 
	(8) 
	(0.04) 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	Curtailment gain 
	Curtailment gain 
	26 
	20 
	0.09 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	Foreign currency gain 
	Foreign currency gain 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	116 
	116 
	0.51 

	Valuation allowance on future tax assets (2) 
	Valuation allowance on future tax assets (2) 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(123) 
	(0.54) 


	Totalunusualitems $ (191) $ (195) $ (0.88) $ (251) $ (313) $ (1.37) 
	Theunusualitems for 2009 have been discussedinthe "Unusual Items" section above. During 2008, unusualitemswereas follows: 
	(1) RestructuringandImpairmentCharges 
	Long-livedAssets 
	As a result of the significant and accelerated declines in vehicle production volumes, primarily in North America, we reviewed goodwill and long-lived assets for impairment during the third quarter of 2008. Based on this analysis, during 2008 we recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $283 million related primarily to our powertrain, and interior and exterior systems operations in the United States and Canada. 
	At our powertrain operations, particularly at a facility in Syracuse, New York, asset impairment charges of $189 million were recorded primarily as a result of: (i) a dramatic market shift away from truck programs, in particular four wheel drive pick-up trucks and SUVs; (ii) excess die-casting, machining and assembly capacity; and (iii) historical losses that were projected to continue throughout our business planning period. 
	Atourinteriorsandexteriorsoperations,werecorded$74millionofassetimpairmentchargesprimarilyasaresultof:(i)significantly lower volumes on certain pick-up truck and SUV programs; (ii) the loss of certain replacement business; (iii) capacity utilization that is not sufficient to support the existing overhead structure; and (iv) historical losses that were projected to continue throughout our business planning period. 
	Additionally, in North America we recorded asset impairment charges of $12 million related to dedicated assets at a chassis systems facility in Canada and a seating systems facility in the United States. In Europe, we recorded an $8 million asset impairment related to specific assets at an interior systems facility in the United Kingdom and specific assets at a powertrain systems facility in Austria. 
	RestructuringCharges 
	During2008,werecordedrestructuringandrationalizationcostsinNorthAmericaof$79millionincostofgoodssoldand$5million in selling, general and administrative expense. These restructuring and rationalization costs were primarily recorded during the fourth quarter of 2008 and relate to: (i) the consolidation of interiors and exteriors operations in Canada and the United States; 
	(ii) the closure of a seatingsystemsfacilityinSt. Louis, Missouri; (iii) the consolidation of closuresystems operationsinCanada; and (iv) the consolidation of our powertrain die casting operations in Canada and the United States. 
	(2) IncomeTaxes 
	Duringthethirdquarterof2008, werecordeda$123millionchargetoestablishvaluationallowancesagainstallofourfuturetax 
	assets in the United States. 
	The valuationallowances were required inthe United States based onhistorical consolidated losses at our U.S. operations, that were expected to continue in the near-term, the accelerated deterioration of near-term automotive market conditions in the UnitedStates andthe significantandinherentuncertaintyas to thetimingofwhen wewould beabletogeneratethe necessary level of earnings to recover these future tax assets. 
	Gross Margin 
	Gross margin decreased $1.0 billion to $1.7 billion for 2009 compared to $2.7 billion for 2008 while gross margin as a percentage of totalsales decreased to 9.6% for 2009 comparedto 11.5% for 2008. Theunusual items discussed abovenegativelyimpacted gross marginasapercentageoftotalsalesin2008by0.3%. Excludingunusualitems,grossmarginasapercentageoftotalsalesdecreased by 2.2%. Gross margin as a percentage of total sales was negatively impacted by: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	lower gross margin earned due to the significant decline in vehicle production volumes; 

	• 
	• 
	downsizing and other restructuring activities that have not been included in unusual items (as discussed above); 

	• 
	• 
	costs incurred in preparation for upcoming launches primarily in Europe; 

	• 
	• 
	electric vehicle development costs; • operational inefficiencies and other costs at certain facilities; 

	• 
	• 
	a favourable revaluation of warranty accruals during 2008; 

	• 
	• 
	the write-off of uncollectable pre-production costs incurred related to the cancellation of an assembly program in 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	costs incurred to develop and grow our electronics capabilities; 

	• 
	• 
	additional supplier insolvency costs; 

	• 
	• 
	increased commodity costs; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	net customer price concessions subsequent to 2008. 

	These factors were partially offset by: 

	• 
	• 
	thebenefitofrestructuringanddownsizingactivitiesandcostsavinginitiatives(includingemployeereductions,shortworkweek schedules and benefit plan changes) undertaken during or subsequent to 2008; 

	• 
	• 
	productivity and efficiency improvements at certain facilities; 

	• 
	• 
	a decrease in complete vehicle assembly sales which have a lower gross margin than our consolidated average; 

	• 
	• 
	no employee profit sharing for 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	accelerated amortization of deferred wage buydown assets at a powertrain systems facility in the United States during 2008; and 

	• 
	• 
	the decrease in tooling and other sales that earn low or no margins. 


	Depreciation and Amortization 
	Depreciationandamortizationcostsdecreased16%or$136millionto$737millionfor2009comparedto$873millionfor2008.Thedecrease in depreciation and amortization was primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	the impairment of certain assets during 2008, in particular at a powertrain systems facility in the United States and certain interiors and exteriors systems facilities in North America; 

	• 
	• 
	the sale or disposition of certain facilities during or subsequent to 2008; and 

	• 
	• 
	a decrease in reported U.S. dollar depreciation and amortization due to the weakening of the Canadian dollar and euro, each against the U.S. dollar. 


	These factors were partially offset by acquisitions and capital spending during or subsequent to 2008. 
	Selling, General and Administrative 
	SG&Aexpenseasapercentageofsaleswas7.3%for2009,comparedto5.6%for2008. Theunusualitemsdiscussedinthe "Unusual Items" section negatively impacted SG&A as a percentage of total sales in 2009 by 0.1% and positively impacted SG&A as a percentage of total sales in 2008 by 0.4%. Excluding these unusual items, SG&A as a percentage of total sales increased 1.2%. 
	SG&Aexpensedecreased4%or$58millionto$1.26billionfor2009comparedto$1.32billionfor2008. Excludingtheunusualitems recorded in 2009 and 2008 (as discussed above), SG&A expenses decreased by $180 million primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	costsavinginitiatives,includingreduceddiscretionaryspending,employeereductions,reducedbonuses,voluntarywagereductions and benefit plan changes; 

	• 
	• 
	reducedspendingatcertainfacilitiesasaresultofrestructuringanddownsizingactivitiesthatwereinitiatedduringorsubsequent to 2008; 

	• 
	• 
	in 2009, a $9 million favourable adjustment (2008 -$41 million impairment) of our investment in ABCP; 

	• 
	• 
	a decrease in reported U.S. dollar SG&A expense due to the weakening of the Canadian dollar and euro, each against the U.S. dollar; and 

	• 
	• 
	the sale or disposition of certain facilities during or subsequent to 2008. 


	These factors were partially offset by: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	downsizing and other restructuring activities that have not been included in unusual items (as discussed above); 

	• 
	• 
	accounts receivable valuation allowances recorded in 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	a favourable settlement on research and development incentives during 2008; 

	• 
	• 
	due diligence costs associated with our planned investment in Opel, which terminated during 2009; 

	• 
	• 
	acquisitions completed during or subsequent to 2008, including Cadence; and • other losses on disposal of assets. 


	Net Income (Loss) 
	Netincomedecreased$564milliontoanetlossof$493millionfor2009comparedtonetincomeof$71millionfor2008. Excludingthe unusual items discussed above, net income decreased $682 million. This decrease in net income is the result of the decrease in operating income partially offset by lower income taxes, both as discussed above. 
	Earnings (Loss) per Share (restated) 
	Dilutedearningspersharedecreased$2.52toalossof$2.21for2009comparedtoearningsof$0.31for2008. Excludingtheunusual items, discussed above, diluted earnings per share decreased $3.02 from 2008 as a result of a decrease in net income (excluding unusual items) described above and a decrease in the weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding during 2009. 
	The decrease in the weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding was primarily due to the effect of the repurchase and cancellation of Common Shares in 2008 pursuant to our normal course issuer bid and a decrease in the number of diluted shares associated with restricted stock and stock options since such shares were anti-dilutive in 2009. 
	Financing Resources 
	Totalcapitalizationdecreasedby$1.03billionto$7.54billionatDecember31, 2009comparedto$8.57billionatDecember31, 2008. The decrease in capitalization was a result of a $1.03 billion decrease in liabilities. 
	The decrease in liabilities is primarily as a result of a $767 million repayment on our outstanding lines of credit in the first quarter of 2009, the repayment of our 7.08% Subordinated Debentures during the third quarter of 2009 and the repayment of our 6.5% Convertible Subordinated Debentures during the fourth quarter of 2009. These decreases were partially offset by debt assumed on the acquisition of Cadence. 
	The decrease in shareholders' equity was primarily as a result of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	the net loss incurred during 2009; and 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	dividends paid during the first quarter of 2009. 

	These factors were partially offset by: 

	• 
	• 
	a $407 million increase in accumulated net unrealized gains on translation of our net investment in foreign operations, primarily asaresultofthestrengtheningoftheCanadiandollar,euroandBritishpound, eachagainsttheU.S. dollarbetweenDecember31, 2008 and December 31, 2009; and 

	• 
	• 
	net unrealized gains on cash flow hedges and the reclassification of net losses on cash flow hedges from accumulated other comprehensive income to net loss. 


	Cash Resources 
	During 2009, our cash resources decreased by $1.4 billion to $1.3 billion primarily as a result of the net repayment of $0.9 billion on our outstanding lines of credit, cash used in investing activities, the repayment of our 7.08% Subordinated Debentures and the repayment of our 6.5% Convertible Subordinate Debentures, all as discussed previously. In addition to our cash resources, we had term and operating lines of credit totalling $2.1 billion. The unused and available portion of our lines of credit incre
	In addition, at December 31, 2009 we held Canadian third party ABCP with a face value of Cdn$134 million and a carrying value of Cdn$88 million, which was based on a valuation technique that estimates the fair value based on relevant current market indices for instruments of comparable credit quality, term and structure ("current market indices"). 
	During 2009, we recorded a $9 million increase in the carrying value of our investment in ABCP due to a tightening of the spread between the anticipated return on the restructured notes and the current market indices. 
	RESULTSOFOPERATIONS–FORTHETHREEMONTHSENDEDDECEMBER31,2010 
	The discussion of our results of operations for the three months ended December 31, 2010 contained in the MD&A attached to our pressreleasedatedFebruary23,2011,asfiledviatheCanadianSecuritiesAdministrators' SystemforElectronicDocumentAnalysis is incorporated by reference herein. 
	and Retrieval (SEDAR) (www.sedar.com), 

	SELECTEDQUARTERLYCONSOLIDATEDFINANCIALDATA 
	The following selected consolidated financial data has been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. 
	Forthethreemonthperiodsended 
	Mar31, 2010 
	Mar31, 2010 
	Mar31, 2010 
	Jun30, 2010 
	Sep30, 2010 
	Dec31, 2010 

	Sales 
	Sales 
	$ 
	5,512 
	$ 
	6,050 
	$ 
	5,942 
	$ 
	6,598 

	Net income 
	Net income 
	$ 
	223 
	$ 
	293 
	$ 
	241 
	$ 
	216 

	Earnings per Common Share or Class B Share (restated) Basic Diluted 
	Earnings per Common Share or Class B Share (restated) Basic Diluted 
	$ $ 
	1.00 0.99 
	$ $ 
	1.31 1.29 
	$ $ 
	1.04 1.03 
	$ $ 
	0.90 0.88 


	For the three month periods ended 
	Mar 31, 2009 
	Mar 31, 2009 
	Mar 31, 2009 
	Jun 30, 2009 
	Sep 30, 2009 
	Dec 31, 2009 

	Sales 
	Sales 
	$ 
	3,574 
	$ 
	3,705 
	$ 
	4,669 
	$ 
	5,419 

	Net income (loss) 
	Net income (loss) 
	$ 
	(200) 
	$ 
	(205) 
	$ 
	51 
	$ 
	(139) 

	Earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share (restated) Basic Diluted 
	Earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share (restated) Basic Diluted 
	$ $ 
	(0.90) (0.90) 
	$ $ 
	(0.91) (0.91) 
	$ $ 
	0.22 0.22 
	$ $ 
	(0.62) (0.62) 


	In general, sales increased from 2009 to 2010 as a result of a recovery in vehicle production during 2010, compared to the historically lowlevelofproductionin2009. Thethirdquarterof2010isgenerallyaffectedbythenormalseasonaleffectsoflowervehicleproduction volumes as a result of OEM summer shutdowns. 
	Included in the quarterly net income are the following unusual items that have been discussed above: 
	Forthethreemonthperiodsended 
	Mar31, Jun30, Sep30, Dec31, 2010 2010 2010 2010 
	Impairment charges $ –$ –$ –$ (21) Restructuring charges – (21) – (6) Sale of facility 14 – – – 
	$ 
	$ 
	$ 
	14 
	$ 
	(21) 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	(27) 

	TR
	Mar 31, 2009 
	For the three month periods ended Jun 30, Sep 30, 2009 2009 
	Dec 31, 2009 


	Impairment charges $ – $ (75) $ – $ (106) Restructuring charges – (6) – (20) Curtailment gain – 20 – – Sale of facility – – – (8) 
	$ – $ (61) $ – $ (134) 
	For more information regarding our quarter over quarter results, please refer to our first, second and third quarter 2010 quarterly reportswhichareavailablethroughtheinternetontheCanadianSecuritiesAdministrators' SystemforElectronicDocumentAnalysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) which can be accessed at . 
	www.sedar.com

	FORWARD-LOOKINGSTATEMENTS 
	Thepreviousdiscussioncontainsstatementsthatconstitute "forward-lookingstatements" withinthemeaningofapplicablesecurities legislation, including, but not limited to, statements relating to: future purchases of our Common Shares pursuant to our normal course issuer bid and any resultant offsetting of dilution; expected North American, European and global light vehicle production; implementation ofour strategy, includingthroughorganicgrowthandtargeted acquisitions;andrenewalofourcurrentcreditfacility. The forw
	MAGNAINTERNATIONALINC. 
	Management'sResponsibilityforFinancialReporting 
	Magna's management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements and all the information in the accompanying Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position ("MD&A"). The consolidated financial statements were prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 
	Where alternative accounting methods exist, management has selected those it considered to be most appropriate in the circumstances. Financialstatementsincludecertainamountsbasedonestimatesandjudgments. Managementhasdeterminedsuch amounts on a reasonable basis designed to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. FinancialinformationpresentedintheaccompanyingMD&Ahasbeenpreparedbymanagementtoensureconsistencywith that in the consolidated financial state
	Managementisresponsibleforthedevelopmentandmaintenanceofsystemsofinternalaccountingandadministrativecostcontrols ofhighquality,consistentwithreasonablecost. Suchsystemsaredesignedtoprovidereasonableassurancethatfinancialinformation is accurate, relevant and reliable, and that the Company's activities are appropriately accounted for and assets are adequately safeguarded. In compliance with U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") requirements and Section 404 of the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act ("SOX"), man
	The Company's Audit Committee is appointed by its Board of Directors annually and is comprised solely of independent directors. The Audit Committee meets regularly with management, as well as with the independent auditors, to satisfy itself that each is properly discharging its responsibilities, to review the consolidated financial statements and the independent auditors' report and to discusssignificantfinancialreportingissuesandauditingmatters. TheAuditCommitteereportsitsfindingstotheBoardofDirectors for 
	The consolidated financial statements andthe effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the independent auditors, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) on behalf of the shareholders. The Independent Auditors' Reports on theconsolidatedfinancialstatementsandinternalcontrolsoutlinethenatureoftheirexaminationsandtheiropinions. Theindependent audi
	/s/ Donald J. Walker /s/ Vincent J. Galifi 
	DonaldJ.Walker VincentJ.Galifi 
	Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer 
	Toronto, Canada, March 16, 2011 
	IndependentAuditors'ReportofRegisteredPublicAccountingFirm 
	IndependentAuditors'ReportofRegisteredPublicAccountingFirm 

	To the Shareholders of 
	MagnaInternationalInc. 
	We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Magna International Inc. (the "Company"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), retained earnings and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2010, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
	Management'sresponsibilityfortheconsolidatedfinancialstatements 
	Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
	Auditors'responsibility 
	Our responsibility is to express anopinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
	An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatementoftheconsolidatedfinancialstatements, whetherduetofraudorerror. Inmakingthoseriskassessments, theauditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design 
	Webelievethattheauditevidencewehaveobtainedinourauditsissufficientandappropriatetoprovideabasisforourauditopinion. 
	Opinion 
	In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2010 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 
	Othermatter 
	We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 16, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting. 
	-

	/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
	Chartered Accountants Licensed Public Accountants March 16, 2011 Toronto, Canada 
	IndependentAuditors'ReportonInternalControlsUnderStandards 
	ofthePublicCompanyAccountingOversightBoard(UnitedStates) 

	To the Shareholders of 
	MagnaInternationalInc. 
	WehaveauditedMagna InternationalInc.'s (the "Company") internal controlover financial reporting as at December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control -Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TreadwayCommission(the "COSO" criteria). TheCompany'smanagementisresponsibleformaintainingeffectiveinternalcontrolover financialreportingandforitsassessmentoftheeffectivenessofinternalcontroloverfinancialreportingincludedintheaccompanying Management's Responsi
	WeconductedourauditinaccordancewiththestandardsofthePublicCompanyAccountingOversightBoard(UnitedStates).Thosestandards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,assessingtheriskthatamaterialweaknessexists,testingandevaluatingthedesignandoperatingeffectivenessofinternal control base
	A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositi
	Becauseofitsinherentlimitations,internalcontroloverfinancialreportingmaynotpreventordetectmisstatements. Also,projections ofanyevaluation of effectivenesstofutureperiodsaresubjecttothe risk thatcontrolsmaybecome inadequatebecause ofchanges in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
	Inouropinion,theCompanymaintained,inallmaterialrespects, effectiveinternalcontroloverfinancialreportingasatDecember31, 2010, based on the COSO criteria. 
	We also have audited, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, andtheconsolidatedstatementsofincome(loss)andcomprehensiveincome(loss),retainedearningsandcashflowsforeachofthe years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2010 and our report dated March 16, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 
	/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
	Chartered Accountants Licensed Public Accountants March 16, 2011 Toronto, Canada 
	MAGNAINTERNATIONALINC. 
	ConsolidatedStatementsofIncome(Loss) andComprehensiveIncome(Loss) 
	[U.S. dollars in millions, except per share figures] 
	Years ended December 31, 
	Note 2010 2009 2008 
	Sales 
	Sales 
	Sales 
	$ 24,102 
	$ 17,367 
	$ 23,704 

	Costsandexpenses 
	Costsandexpenses 

	Cost of goods sold 
	Cost of goods sold 
	5, 17 
	20,924 
	15,697 
	20,982 

	Depreciation and amortization 
	Depreciation and amortization 
	661 
	737 
	873 

	Selling, general and administrative 
	Selling, general and administrative 
	5, 10, 18, 21 
	1,340 
	1,261 
	1,319 

	Interest (income) expense, net 
	Interest (income) expense, net 
	16 
	(10) 
	7 
	(62) 

	Equity income 
	Equity income 
	(33) 
	(7) 
	(19) 

	Impairment charges 
	Impairment charges 
	5 
	23 
	183 
	283 

	Income (loss) from operations before income taxes 
	Income (loss) from operations before income taxes 

	and minority interest 
	and minority interest 
	1,197 
	(511) 
	328 

	Income taxes 
	Income taxes 
	13 
	236 
	(18) 
	257 

	Minority interest 
	Minority interest 
	(12) 
	– 
	– 

	Net income (loss) 
	Net income (loss) 
	973 
	(493) 
	71 

	Other comprehensive income (loss): 
	Other comprehensive income (loss): 
	21 

	Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) on translation 
	Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) on translation 

	of net investment in foreign operations 
	of net investment in foreign operations 
	18 
	407 
	(881) 

	Repurchase of shares 
	Repurchase of shares 
	19 
	(3) 
	– 
	(32) 

	Net unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges 
	Net unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges 
	81 
	41 
	(102) 

	Reclassification of net (gains) losses on cash flow hedges 
	Reclassification of net (gains) losses on cash flow hedges 

	to net income (loss) 
	to net income (loss) 
	(28) 
	59 
	(1) 

	Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale investments 
	Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale investments 
	11 
	– 
	– 


	Comprehensiveincome(loss) 
	Comprehensiveincome(loss) 
	Comprehensiveincome(loss) 
	$ 
	1,052 
	$ 
	14 
	$ 
	(945) 

	Earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share [restated -note 3] Basic Diluted 
	Earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share [restated -note 3] Basic Diluted 
	6 
	$ $ 
	4.23 4.18 
	$ $ 
	(2.21) (2.21) 
	$ $ 
	0.32 0.31 

	Cash dividends paid per Common Share or Class B Share [restated -note 3] 
	Cash dividends paid per Common Share or Class B Share [restated -note 3] 
	$ 
	0.42 
	$ 
	0.09 
	$ 
	0.63 

	Average number of Common Shares and Class B Shares outstanding during the year [in millions] [restated -note 3]: Basic Diluted 
	Average number of Common Shares and Class B Shares outstanding during the year [in millions] [restated -note 3]: Basic Diluted 
	6 
	230.0 233.0 
	223.6 223.6 
	225.6 227.8 


	See accompanying notes 
	MAGNAINTERNATIONALINC. 
	ConsolidatedStatementsofRetainedEarnings 
	[U.S. dollars in millions] 
	Years ended December 31, 
	Note 2010 2009 2008 
	Retainedearnings,beginningofyear $ 2,843 $ 3,357 $ 3,526 Net income (loss) 973 (493) 71 Dividends on Common Shares and Class B Shares (102) (21) (142) Repurchase of Class B Shares 4, 19 (976) –– Repurchase of Common Shares 19 (13) – (98) Retainedearnings,endofyear $ 2,725 $ 2,843 $ 3,357 
	See accompanying notes 
	MAGNAINTERNATIONALINC. 
	ConsolidatedStatementsofCashFlows 

	[U.S. dollars in millions] 
	[U.S. dollars in millions] 
	Years ended December 31, 
	Note 2010 2009 2008 
	OPERATINGACTIVITIES 
	OPERATINGACTIVITIES 
	OPERATINGACTIVITIES 

	Net income (loss) 
	Net income (loss) 
	$ 
	973 
	$ 
	(493) 
	$ 
	71 

	Items not involving current cash flows 
	Items not involving current cash flows 
	7 
	722 
	1,114 
	1,258 

	TR
	1,695 
	621 
	1,329 

	Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities 
	Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities 
	7 
	177 
	(94) 
	(275) 


	Cashprovidedfromoperatingactivities 
	Cashprovidedfromoperatingactivities 
	Cashprovidedfromoperatingactivities 
	1,872 
	527 
	1,054 

	INVESTMENTACTIVITIES Fixed asset additions Purchase of subsidiaries Increase in investments and other assets Proceeds from disposition Cashusedforinvestmentactivities 
	INVESTMENTACTIVITIES Fixed asset additions Purchase of subsidiaries Increase in investments and other assets Proceeds from disposition Cashusedforinvestmentactivities 
	8 
	(784) (106) (141) 287 (744) 
	(629) (50) (227) 30 (876) 
	(739) (158) (231) 65 (1,063) 

	FINANCINGACTIVITIES (Decrease) increase in bank indebtedness Repayments of debt Issues of debt Issue of general partnership units by subsidiary Issues of Common Shares Settlement of stock appreciation rights Settlement of stock options Repurchase of Common Shares Repurchase of Class B Shares Dividends Cash(usedfor)providedfromfinancingactivities 
	FINANCINGACTIVITIES (Decrease) increase in bank indebtedness Repayments of debt Issues of debt Issue of general partnership units by subsidiary Issues of Common Shares Settlement of stock appreciation rights Settlement of stock options Repurchase of Common Shares Repurchase of Class B Shares Dividends Cash(usedfor)providedfromfinancingactivities 
	16 16 4 19 18 18 19 4, 19 
	(4) (67) 22 80 49 – (12) (23) (300) (100) (355) 
	(853) (296) 5 – 2 (1) – – – (21) (1,164) 
	827 (354) 3 – – – – (247) – (140) 89 

	Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
	Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
	(2) 
	90 
	(277) 

	Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the year Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year Cashandcashequivalents,endofyear 
	Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the year Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year Cashandcashequivalents,endofyear 
	$ 
	771 1,334 2,105 
	$ 
	(1,423) 2,757 1,334 
	$ 
	(197) 2,954 2,757 

	See accompanying notes 
	See accompanying notes 


	MAGNAINTERNATIONALINC. 
	ConsolidatedBalanceSheets 
	[U.S. dollars in millions] 
	As at December 31, 
	Note 2010 2009 
	ASSETS 
	ASSETS 
	ASSETS 

	Currentassets 
	Currentassets 

	Cash and cash equivalents 
	Cash and cash equivalents 
	7 
	$ 
	2,105 
	$ 
	1,334 

	Accounts receivable 
	Accounts receivable 
	3,645 
	3,062 

	Inventories 
	Inventories 
	9 
	1,896 
	1,721 

	Income taxes receivable 
	Income taxes receivable 
	13 
	– 
	50 

	Prepaid expenses and other 
	Prepaid expenses and other 
	168 
	136 

	TR
	7,814 
	6,303 

	Investments 
	Investments 
	10, 17 
	277 
	238 

	Fixed assets, net 
	Fixed assets, net 
	5, 11 
	3,889 
	3,811 

	Goodwill 
	Goodwill 
	5, 12 
	1,188 
	1,132 

	Future tax assets 
	Future tax assets 
	13 
	150 
	168 

	Other assets 
	Other assets 
	5, 14 
	580 
	651 


	$ 13,898 $ 12,303 
	LIABILITIESANDSHAREHOLDERS'EQUITY 
	LIABILITIESANDSHAREHOLDERS'EQUITY 
	LIABILITIESANDSHAREHOLDERS'EQUITY 

	Currentliabilities 
	Currentliabilities 

	Bank indebtedness 
	Bank indebtedness 
	16 
	$ 
	26 
	$ 
	48 

	Accounts payable 
	Accounts payable 
	3,586 
	3,001 

	Accrued salaries and wages 
	Accrued salaries and wages 
	462 
	372 

	Other accrued liabilities 
	Other accrued liabilities 
	15 
	909 
	862 

	Income taxes payable 
	Income taxes payable 
	192 
	– 

	Long-term debt due within one year 
	Long-term debt due within one year 
	16 
	25 
	16 

	TR
	5,200 
	4,299 

	Deferred revenue 
	Deferred revenue 
	15 
	19 

	Long-term debt 
	Long-term debt 
	16 
	46 
	115 

	Other long-term liabilities 
	Other long-term liabilities 
	17 
	367 
	369 

	Future tax liabilities 
	Future tax liabilities 
	13 
	131 
	141 


	5,759 4,943 
	Minority interest 74 – 
	Shareholders'equity 
	Shareholders'equity 
	Shareholders'equity 

	Capital stock 
	Capital stock 
	3, 19 

	Common Shares 
	Common Shares 

	[issued: 242,564,616; 2009 -223,866,062] [restated -note 3] 
	[issued: 242,564,616; 2009 -223,866,062] [restated -note 3] 
	4,335 
	3,613 

	Class B Shares 
	Class B Shares 

	[convertible into Common Shares] 
	[convertible into Common Shares] 

	[issued: nil; December 31, 2009 -1,453,658] [restated -note 3] 
	[issued: nil; December 31, 2009 -1,453,658] [restated -note 3] 
	– 
	– 

	Contributed surplus 
	Contributed surplus 
	20 
	85 
	63 

	Retained earnings 
	Retained earnings 
	19 
	2,725 
	2,843 

	Accumulated other comprehensive income 
	Accumulated other comprehensive income 
	21 
	920 
	841 

	TR
	8,065 
	7,360 


	$ 13,898 $ 12,303 
	Commitments and contingencies [notes 16, 23 and 26] 
	See accompanying notes 
	See accompanying notes 
	See accompanying notes 

	On behalf of the Board: 
	On behalf of the Board: 
	/s/ Donald Resnick 
	/s/ Frank Stronach 

	TR
	DonaldResnick 
	FrankStronach 

	TR
	Director 
	Chairman of the Board 


	MAGNAINTERNATIONALINC. 
	NotestotheConsolidatedFinancialStatements 
	[All amounts in U.S. dollars and all tabular amounts in millions, except per share figures, unless otherwise noted] 
	1. SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES 
	Magna International Inc. designs, develops and manufactures automotive systems, assemblies, modules and components, and engineers and assembles complete vehicles, primarily for sale to original equipment manufacturers ["OEMs"] of cars and light trucks in North America, Europe, Asia, South America and Africa. 
	Basisofpresentation 
	The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in U.S. dollars following Canadian generally accepted accounting principles ["Canadian GAAP"]. These principles are also in conformity, in all material respects, with United States generally accepted accounting principles ["U.S. GAAP"], except as described in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. 
	Principlesofconsolidation 
	TheconsolidatedfinancialstatementsincludetheaccountsofMagnaInternationalInc. anditssubsidiaries[collectively"Magna" or the "Company"], some of which have a minority interest. The Company also consolidates variable interest entities in which theCompanyisdesignatedastheprimarybeneficiaryinaccordancewithAccountingGuideline["AcG"]AcG-15, "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities". The Company accounts for its interests in jointly controlled entities using the proportionate consolidation method. All significa
	Financialinstruments 
	TheCompanyclassifiesallofitsfinancialassetsandfinancialliabilitiesasheld-for-trading, held-to-maturityinvestments, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets, or other financial liabilities. Held-for-trading financial instruments, which include cash and cash equivalents and the Company's investment in asset-backed commercial paper ["ABCP"] are measured at fair value and all gains and losses are included in net income (loss) in the period in which they arise. Held-to-maturity investments, whi
	Foreigncurrencytranslation 
	The Company operates globally, which gives rise to a risk that its earnings and cash flows may be adversely impacted by fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. 
	Assets and liabilities of the Company's operations having a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar are translated into 
	U.S. dollarsusingtheexchangerateineffectatyearend, andrevenuesandexpensesaretranslatedattheaveragerateduring the year. Exchange gains or losses on translation of the Company's net investment in these operations are included in comprehensiveincome(loss)andaredeferredinaccumulatedothercomprehensiveincome. Foreignexchangegainsorlosses onnon-U.S. dollardebtthatwasdesignatedasahedgeoftheCompany'snetinvestmentintheseoperationsarealsorecorded in accumulated other comprehensive income. The appropriate amounts of ex
	Foreign exchange gains and losses on transactions occurring in a currency other than an operation's functional currency are reflected in income, except for gains and losses on foreign exchange contracts used to hedge specific future commitments inforeigncurrenciesandonintercompanybalanceswhicharedesignatedaslong-terminvestments. Inparticular,theCompany usesforeignexchangeforwardcontractsforthesolepurposeofhedgingcertainoftheCompany'sfuturecommittedCanadian dollar, U.S. dollar and euro ["€"] outflows and inf
	IftheCompany'sforeignexchangeforwardcontractsceasedtobeeffectiveashedges,forexample,ifprojectedforeigncash inflows or outflows declined significantly, gains or losses pertaining to the portion of the hedging transactions in excess of projected foreign currency denominated cash flows would be recognized in income at the time this condition was identified. 
	Cashandcashequivalents 
	Cash and cash equivalents include cash on account, demand deposits and short-term investments with remaining maturities of less than three months at acquisition. 
	Inventories 
	Production inventories and tooling inventories manufacturedin-house are valued atthelowerofcost andnet realizable value, with cost being determined substantially on a first-in, first-out basis. Cost includes the cost of materials plus direct labour applied to the product and the applicable share of manufacturing overhead. 
	Outsourced tooling inventories are valued at the lower of subcontracted costs and net realizable value. 
	Investments 
	The Company accounts for its investments in which it has significant influence on the equity basis. Investments also include the Company's investment in ABCP, public company shares and long-term interest bearing government securities held to partially fund certain Austrian lump sum termination and long service payment arrangements pursuant to local tax laws. 
	Long-livedassets 
	Fixed assets are recorded at historicalcost. Depreciation isprovidedona straight-linebasis over the estimated usefullives of fixed assets at annual rates of 2½% to 5% for buildings, 7% to 10% for general purpose equipment and 10% to 30% for special purpose equipment. 
	Definite-lived intangible assets, which have arisen principally through acquisitions, are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, typically over periods not exceeding five years. 
	The Company assesses fixed and other long-lived assets [excluding goodwill] for recoverability whenever indicators of impairmentexist. Ifthecarryingvalueoftheassetexceedstheestimatedundiscountedcashflowsfromtheuseoftheasset, then an impairment loss is recognized to write the asset down to fair value. The fair value of the long-lived assets is generally determined using estimated discounted future cash flows. 
	Goodwill 
	Goodwillrepresentstheexcessofthecostofanacquiredenterpriseoverthefairvalueoftheidentifiableassetsacquiredand liabilitiesassumedlessanysubsequentwritedownsforimpairment. Goodwillissubjecttoanannualimpairmenttest. Goodwill impairment is evaluated between annual tests uponthe occurrence of certain events or circumstances. Goodwill impairment is assessed based on a comparison of the fair value of a reporting unit to the underlying carrying value of the reporting unit's net assets, including goodwill. When the c
	Otherassets 
	Other assets include the long-term portion of certain receivables, which represent the recognized sales value of tooling and design and engineering services provided to customers under certain long-term contracts. The receivables will be paid in full uponcompletionofthecontractsorininstalmentsbasedonforecastedproductionvolumes. Intheeventthatactualproduction volumes are less than those forecasted, a reimbursement for any shortfall will be made. 
	Preproductioncostsrelatedtolong-termsupplyagreements 
	Pre-operatingcostsincurredinestablishingnewfacilitiesthatrequiresubstantialtimetoreachcommercialproductioncapability are expensed as incurred. 
	Costs incurred [net of customer subsidies] related to design and engineering, which are paid for as part of subsequent production piece price amounts, are expensed as incurred unless a contractual guarantee for reimbursement exists. 
	Costs incurred [net of customer subsidies] related to design and development costs for moulds, dies and other tools that the Company does not own [and that will be used in, and paid for as part of the piece price amount for, subsequent production] are expensed as incurred unless the supply agreement provides a contractual guarantee for reimbursement or the noncancellable right to use the moulds, dies and other tools during the supply agreement. 
	-

	Costs deferred in the above circumstances are included in other assets and amortized on a units-of-production basis to cost of goods sold over the anticipated term of the supply agreement. 
	Warranty 
	The Company records product warranty liabilities based on its individual customer agreements. Under most customer agreements, the Company only accounts for existing or probable claims on product default issues when amounts related to such issues are probable and reasonably estimable. Under certain complete vehicle engineering and assembly contracts, the Company records an estimate of future warranty-related costs based on the terms of the specific customer agreements and the specific customer's warranty exp
	ProductliabilityprovisionsareestablishedbasedontheCompany'sbestestimateoftheamountsnecessarytosettleexisting claims on product default issues. Recall costs are costs incurred when government regulators and/or the customer decides to recall a product due to a known or suspected performance issue, and the Company is required to participate, either voluntarilyorinvoluntarily. Costs typicallyincludethecostofthe product beingreplaced, the customer's costoftherecalland labour to remove and replace the defective p
	Employeefuturebenefitplans 
	The cost of providing benefits through defined benefit pensions, lump sum termination and long service payment arrangements, andpost-retirementbenefitsotherthanpensionsisactuariallydeterminedandrecognizedinincomeusingthe projected benefit method pro-rated on service and management's best estimate of expected plan investment performance, salaryescalation,retirementagesofemployeesand,withrespecttomedicalbenefits,expectedhealthcarecosts. Differences arising from plan amendments, changes in assumptions and expe
	Assetretirementobligation 
	The Company recognizes its obligation to restore leased premises at the end of the lease by recording at lease inception the estimated fair value of this obligation as other long-term liabilities with a corresponding amount recognized as fixed assets. The fixed asset amount is amortized over the period from lease inception to the time the Company expects to vacate the premises,resultinginbothdepreciationandinterestcharges. Theestimatedfairvalueoftheobligationisassessedforchanges in the expected timing and e
	Revenuerecognition 
	Revenue from the sale of manufactured products is recognized when the price is fixed or determinable, collectability is reasonably assured and upon shipment to [or receipt by customers, depending on contractual terms], and acceptance by, customers. 
	Separately priced tooling and engineering services are accounted for as a separate revenue element only in circumstances wherethetoolingandengineeringhasvaluetothecustomeronastandalonebasisandthereisobjectiveandreliableevidence of the fair value of the subsequent parts production or vehicle assembly. Revenues from significant engineering services and tooling contracts that qualify as separate revenue elements are recognized on a percentage of completion basis. Percentage-of-completion is generally determine
	Revenue and cost of goods sold, including amounts from separately priced engineering and tooling contracts, are presented on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) when the Company is acting as principal and is subject to significant risks and rewards in connection with the process of bringing the product to its final state and in the post-sale dealings with its customers. Otherwise, components of revenues and related costs are presentedonanetbasis. Wit
	Governmentfinancing 
	The Company makes periodic applications for financial assistance under available government assistance programs in the various jurisdictions that the Company operates. Grants and tax credits relating to capital expenditures are reflected as a reduction of the cost of the related assets. Grants and tax credits relating to current operating expenditures are generally recorded as a reduction of the related expense at the time the eligible expenses are incurred. In the case of certain foreign subsidiaries, the 
	Researchanddevelopment 
	Researchcostsareexpensedasincurredanddevelopmentcostswhichmeetcertaincriteriawherefuturebenefitisreasonably certainaredeferredtotheextentoftheirestimatedrecovery. AsatDecember31,2010and2009,nodevelopmentcostswere deferred. 
	Incometaxes 
	TheCompanyusestheliabilitymethodoftaxallocationtoaccountforincometaxes. Undertheliabilitymethodoftaxallocation, future tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the substantively enacted tax rates and laws thatwill be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. 
	Nofuturetaxliabilityisrecordedfortaxesonundistributedearningsandtranslationadjustmentsofforeignsubsidiaries. These items are either considered to be reinvested for the foreseeable future or if they are available for repatriation, are not subject to further tax on remittance in the current circumstances. Taxes will be recorded on such foreign undistributed earnings and translationadjustmentswhenitbecomesapparentthatsuchearningswillbedistributedintheforeseeablefutureandwillincur further significant tax on rem
	Stock-basedcompensation 
	Compensation expense is recognized for stock options based upon the fair value of the options at the grant or modification date. The fair value of the options is recognized over the vesting period of the options as compensation expense in selling, general and administrative expense with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. 
	ThefairvalueofstockoptionsisestimatedatthegrantormodificationdateusingtheBlack-Scholesoptionpricingmodel. This model requires the input of a number of assumptions, including expected dividend yields, expected stock price volatility, expectedtimeuntilexerciseandrisk-freeinterestrates. Althoughtheassumptionsusedreflectmanagement'sbestestimates, theyinvolveinherentuncertaintiesbasedonmarketconditionsgenerallyoutsidetheCompany'scontrol. Ifotherassumptions are used, stock-based compensation expense could be sign
	Asstockoptionsareexercised,theproceedsreceivedonexercise, inadditiontotheportionofthecontributedsurplusbalance related to those stock options, is credited to Common Shares and contributed surplus is reduced accordingly. 
	The Company's restricted stock plans and restricted share unit plans are measured at fair value at the date of grant or modification and amortized to compensation expense from the effective date of the grant to the final vesting date in selling, general and administrative expense with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. As restricted stock or restricted share units are released under the plans, the portion of the contributed surplus balance relating to the restricted stock or restricted share u
	Comprehensiveincome(loss) 
	Other comprehensive income (loss) includes unrealized gains and losses on translation of the Company's net investment in selfsustainingforeignoperations, thechangeinfairvalueofavailable-for-saleinvestments,netoftaxesandtotheextentthat cash flow hedges are effective, the change in their fair value, net of income taxes. Other comprehensive income (loss) is presented below net income (loss) on the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). Comprehensive income (loss) is composed 
	Accumulated other comprehensive income is a separate component of shareholders' equity whichincludes the accumulated balances of all components of other comprehensive income (loss) which are recognized in comprehensive income (loss) but excluded from net income (loss). 
	Earnings(loss)perCommonShareorClassBShare 
	Basic earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share are calculated on net income (loss) using the weighted average number of Common Shares and Class B Shares outstanding during the year. 
	Diluted earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share are calculated on the weighted average number of Common Shares and Class B Shares including an adjustment for stock options outstanding using the treasury stock method. 
	CommonSharesthathavenotbeenreleasedundertheCompany'srestrictedstockplanorarebeingheldintrustforpurposes oftheCompany'srestrictedstockunitprogramhavebeenexcludedfromthecalculationofbasicearnings(loss)persharebut have been included in the calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per share. 
	Useofestimates 
	The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
	2. FUTUREACCOUNTINGSTANDARDS 
	AdoptionofUnitedStatesGenerallyAcceptedAccountingPrinciples 
	In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board confirmed the transition from Canadian GAAP to International Financial Reporting Standards ["IFRS"] for all publicly accountable entities no later than fiscal years commencing on or after January 1, 2011. As a result, management undertook a detailed review of the implications of Magna having to report under IFRS and also examined the alternative available to the Company, as a Foreign Private Issuer in the United States, of filing its primary financia
	Incarryingoutthisevaluation,managementconsideredmanyfactors,including, butnotlimitedto(i)thechangesinaccounting policies that would be required and the resulting impact on the Company's reported results and key performance indicators, 
	(ii)thereportingstandardsexpectedtobeusedbymanyoftheCompany'sindustrycomparables,and(iii)thefinancialreporting needs of the Company's market participants, including shareholders, lenders, rating agencies and market analysts. 
	As a result of this analysis, management has determined that Magna will adopt U.S. GAAP as its primary basis of financial reporting with our first reporting period beginning after January 1, 2011 on a retrospective basis. The adoption of U.S. GAAP isnotanticipatedtohaveamaterialchangeontheCompany'saccountingpoliciesorfinancialresults, exceptforthereporting differences disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. 
	Multiple-DeliverableRevenueArrangements 
	InOctober2009,theFASBissuedAccountingStandardsUpdate["ASU"]2009-13, "RevenueRecognition[Topic605] -Multiple-DeliverableRevenueArrangements". ThisASUeliminatestherequirementthatundeliveredelementsmusthaveobjectiveand reliableevidenceoffairvaluebeforeacompanycanrecognizetheportionoftheconsiderationthatisattributabletoitemsthat already have been delivered. This may allow some companies to recognize revenue on transactions that involve multiple-deliverables earlier than under the current requirements. For Magna
	Other 
	In October 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Sections 1582, "Business Combinations" ["CICA 1582"], 1601 "Consolidated Financial Statements" ["CICA 1601"], and 1602 "Non-controlling Interests" ["CICA 1602"]. CICA 1582 establishes standards for themeasurementofabusinesscombinationandtherecognitionandmeasurementofassetsacquiredandliabilitiesassumed, CICA 1601 carries forward the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the preparation of consolidated financial statements subsequent to acquisition other than non-c
	3. STOCKSPLIT 
	OnNovember24,2010,theCompanycompletedatwo-for-onestocksplit,whichwasimplementedbywayofastockdividend, whereby shareholders received an additional Common Share for each Common Share held. All equity-based compensation plans or arrangements were adjusted to reflect the issuance of additional Common Shares. 
	Accordingly, all oftheCompany'sissuedandoutstandingClass ASubordinateVoting, CommonandClass Bshares, including thoseissuedinrelationtotheArrangement [note4],incentivestockoptions,andstockappreciationrights["SARs"]havebeen restated for all periods presented to reflect the stock split. In addition, earnings (loss) per Common Share or Class B Share, Cash dividends paid per Common Share or Class B Share, weighted average number of Common Shares or Class B Shares outstanding, weighted average exercise price for 
	4. PLANOFARRANGEMENT 
	OnAugust31,2010, followingapprovalbytheClassASubordinateVotingandClassBShareholders,theCompanycompleted a court-approved plan of arrangement [the "Arrangement"] in which the Company's dual-class share structure was collapsed. Inaddition,thetransaction:(i)setaterminationdateanddecliningfeeschedulefortheconsulting,businessdevelopmentand businessservicescontractsMagnahasinplacewithitsChairman,FrankStronachandhisaffiliatedentities;and(ii)established a partnership with the Stronach group to pursue opportunities 
	[a] CapitalTransaction 
	The Company purchased for cancellation all 1,453,658 outstanding Class B Shares [restated to reflect the stock split], which were held indirectly by the Stronach group, for $300 million in cash and 18.0 million newly issued Class A Subordinate Voting Shares [restated to reflect the stock split]. The newly issued shares held indirectly by the Stronach grouprepresentedanequalequityownershipandvotinginterestof7.4%asofAugust31, 2010. Thecostsrelatedtothe Arrangement were $10 million, net of tax. 
	In addition, Magna's Articles were amended to remove the Class B Shares from the authorized capital and to make non-substantive consequential changes, including renaming the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares as Common Shares and eliminating provisions which no longer apply due to the elimination of the Class B Shares. 
	[b] VehicleElectrificationPartnership 
	Thepartnership,MagnaE-CarSystems["E-Car"],involvestheengineering,developmentandintegrationofelectricvehicles of any type, the development, testing and manufacturing of batteries and battery packs for hybrid and electric vehicles and all ancillary activities in connection with electric vehicle technologies. Magna's original investment in the partnership included the assets of the Company's recently established E-Car Systems vehicle electrification and battery business unit,certainothervehicleelectrificationa
	The impact of the Arrangement on the August 31, 2010 consolidated balance sheet was as follows [restated to reflect 
	the stock split]: 
	the stock split]: 
	the stock split]: 

	ClassA Subordinate VotingShare Issuance 
	ClassA Subordinate VotingShare Issuance 
	ClassB Share Repurchase 
	Stronach Group Investment inE-Car 
	Net Impact 

	Number of shares issued (repurchased) 
	Number of shares issued (repurchased) 
	18,000,000 
	(1,453,658) 
	– 
	16,546,342 


	Cash received (paid) (10) (300) 80 (230) 
	Increase in minority interest – – 80 80 
	Increase in capital stock 
	Increase in capital stock 
	Increase in capital stock 
	666 
	– 
	– 
	666 

	Decrease in retained earnings 
	Decrease in retained earnings 
	(676) 
	(300) 
	– 
	(976) 

	Decrease in shareholders' equity 
	Decrease in shareholders' equity 
	(10) 
	(300) 
	– 
	(310) 


	5. RESTRUCTURINGANDIMPAIRMENTCHARGES 
	The Company completes its annual goodwill and long-lived asset impairment analyses in the fourth quarter of each year in conjunctionwithitsannualbusinessplanningcycle. Basedonthisanalysisandconsiderationofotherindicatorsofimpairment, the Company recorded goodwill and long-lived asset impairment charges as follows: 
	2010 2009 2008 
	NorthAmerica[a] Long-lived assets Goodwill 
	NorthAmerica[a] Long-lived assets Goodwill 
	NorthAmerica[a] Long-lived assets Goodwill 
	$ 
	7 – 7 
	$ 
	13 100 113 
	$ 
	275 – 275 

	Europe[b] Long-lived assets 
	Europe[b] Long-lived assets 
	$ 
	16 23 
	$ 
	70 183 
	$ 
	8 283 


	[a] NorthAmerica 
	FortheyearendedDecember31,2010 
	During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $7 million [$5 million after tax] related to a die casting facility in Canada. 
	Inaddition,during2010,theCompanyrecordedrestructuringandrationalizationcostsof$29million[$24millionaftertax] in costs of goods sold and $3 million [$3 million after tax] in selling, general and administrative expense related to the planned closure of a powertrain systems facility and two body & chassis systems facilities in the United States, substantially all of which will be paid subsequent to 2010. 
	FortheyearendedDecember31,2009 
	In conjunction with its annual business planning cycle, during the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company determined that itsCarTopSystems["CTS"]NorthAmericareportingunitcouldpotentiallybeimpaired,primarilyasaresultof:(i)adramatic reduction in the market for soft tops, hard tops and modular retractable hard tops; and (ii) historical losses that were projected to continue throughout the Company's business planning period. Based on the reporting unit's discounted forecast cash flows, the Company recorded a $25 m
	In addition, during the second quarter of 2009, after failing toreacha favourable labour agreementat a powertrainfacility inSyracuse,NewYork,theCompanydecidedtowinddowntheseoperations. Giventhesignificanceofthefacility'scash flows in relation to the reporting unit, management determined that it was more likely than not that goodwill at its Powertrain North America reporting unit could potentially be impaired. Therefore, the Company recorded a $75 million goodwill impairment charge. 
	The goodwill impairment charges were calculated by determining the implied fair value of goodwill in the same manner as if it had acquired the Powertrain and CTS reporting units as at June 30, 2009 and December 31, 2009, respectively. 
	During the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $13 million[$11 million after tax] related to fixed assets at a die casting facility in Canada and an anticipated under recovery of capitalized tooling costs at a stamping facility in the United States due to significantly lower volumes on certain SUV programs. 
	During the second quarter of 2009, the Company recorded restructuring costs of $6 million in cost of goods sold [$6 million after tax] related to the planned closure of a powertrain facility in Syracuse, New York, substantially all of which remains to be paid subsequent to 2010. 
	FortheyearendedDecember31,2008 
	During 2008, the Company recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $275 million [$238 million after tax], related primarily to its powertrain and interior and exterior systems operations in the United States and Canada. 
	At the Company's powertrain operations, particularly at a facility in Syracuse, New York, asset impairment charges of $189 million [$169 million after tax] were recorded primarily as a result of: (i) a dramatic market shift away from truck programs,inparticularfourwheeldrivepick-uptrucksandSUVs;(ii)excessdie-casting,machiningandassemblycapacity; and (iii) historical losses that were projected to continue throughout the Company's business planning period. 
	At its interiors and exteriors operations, the Company recorded $74 million [$61 million after tax] of asset impairment charges primarily as a result of: (i) significantly lower volumes on certain pick-up truck and SUV programs; (ii) the loss of certain replacement business; and (iii) historical losses that were projected to continue throughout the Company's business planning period. 
	In addition, the Company recorded asset impairment charges of $12 million [$8 million after tax] related to dedicated assets at a chassis systems facility in Canada and a seating systems facility in the United States. 
	During 2008, the Company recorded restructuring and rationalization costs of $79 million in cost of goods sold and $5 million in selling, general and administrative expense [$60 million after tax] related to the above long-lived asset impairments and other restructuring activities. Substantially all of the $84 million was paid during 2009. 
	[b] Europe 
	FortheyearendedDecember31,2010 
	During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $16 million [$16 million after tax] related to an interiors systems facility in Germany. 
	FortheyearendedDecember31,2009 
	During 2009, the Company recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $70 million [$70 million after tax] related to its CTS and exterior systems operations in Germany. 
	AttheCompany'sCTSoperations,long-livedassetimpairmentchargesof$59million[$59millionaftertax]wererecorded related to fixed and intangible assets. The impairment charge was calculated based on CTS' discounted forecast cash flowsandwasnecessaryprimarilyasaresultof:(i)adramaticreductioninthemarketforsofttops,hardtopsandmodular retractablehardtops;and(ii)historicallossesthatwereprojectedtocontinuethroughouttheCompany'sbusinessplanning period. 
	At its exteriors operations, the Company recorded an $11 million [$11 million after tax] asset impairment charge related to specific under-utilized assets in Germany. 
	During 2009, the Company recorded restructuring and rationalization costs of $17 million in cost of goods sold and $3 million in selling, general and administrative expense [$20 million after tax]. The charges consist primarily of severance andotherterminationbenefitsrelatedtotheclosureofpowertrainandinteriorsystemsfacilitiesinGermany,substantially all of which was paid in 2010. 
	FortheyearendedDecember31,2008 
	During2008,theCompanyrecordedan$8million[$8millionaftertax]assetimpairmentrelatedtothedisposalofspecific assets at an interior systems facility in the United Kingdom and specific assets at a powertrain facility in Austria. 
	6. 
	6. 
	6. 
	EARNINGS(LOSS)PERSHARE 

	TR
	Earnings (loss) per share are computed as follows [restated to reflect the stock split [note 3]]: 

	TR
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 

	TR
	Basicearnings(loss)perCommonorClassBShare: 

	TR
	Net income (loss) 
	$ 973 
	$ 
	(493) 
	$ 
	71 

	TR
	Average number of Common and Class B Shares 

	TR
	outstanding during the year 
	230.0 
	223.6 
	225.6 

	TR
	Basic earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share 
	$ 4.23 
	$ 
	(2.21) 
	$ 
	0.32 

	TR
	Dilutedearnings(loss)perCommonorClassBShare[a],[b]: 

	TR
	Net income (loss) 
	$ 973 
	$ 
	(493) 
	$ 
	71 


	Average number of Common and Class B Shares 
	Average number of Common and Class B Shares 
	Average number of Common and Class B Shares 

	outstanding during the year 
	outstanding during the year 
	230.0 
	223.6 
	225.6 

	Adjustments 
	Adjustments 

	Stock options and restricted stock [c] 
	Stock options and restricted stock [c] 
	3.0 
	– 
	2.2 

	TR
	233.0 
	223.6 
	227.8 


	Diluted earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share $ 4.18 $ (2.21) $ 0.31 
	[a] Diluted earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share exclude Common Shares issuable, only at the Company's option, to settle €100 million of 7.08% Subordinated Debentures which matured during 2009 and were settled with cash. 
	[b] During 2008, diluted earnings per Common or Class B Share excluded 1.1 million Common Shares issuable to settle Cdn$100 million of 6.5% Convertible Subordinated Debentures as the conversion of the debentures would have an anti-dilutive impact to earnings per share. These debentures were redeemed for cash on December 27, 2009. 
	[c] Diluted earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share exclude 3.9 million [2009 -5.2 million; 2008 -4.1 million] Common Shares issuable under the Company's Incentive Stock Option Plan because these options were not "in-the-money". 
	7. DETAILSOFCONSOLIDATEDSTATEMENTSOFCASHFLOWS 
	[a] Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 
	2010 2009 
	Bank term deposits, bankers acceptances and government paper 
	Bank term deposits, bankers acceptances and government paper 
	Bank term deposits, bankers acceptances and government paper 
	$ 
	1,565 
	$ 
	852 

	Cash 
	Cash 
	316 
	417 

	Cash in joint ventures and partnerships 
	Cash in joint ventures and partnerships 
	224 
	65 

	TR
	$ 
	2,105 
	$ 
	1,334 


	[b] 
	[b] 
	[b] 
	Items not involving current cash flows: 

	TR
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 

	TR
	Depreciation and amortization Amortization of other assets included in cost of goods sold Goodwill and long-lived asset impairments [note 5] Amortization of employee wage buydown [note 14] Other non-cash charges Valuation allowance established against future tax assets [note 13] Reclassification of gain on translation of net investment in foreign operations from accumulated other comprehensive income [note 21] Curtailment gain [note 17] Future income taxes Minority interest Equity income 
	$ $ 
	661 69 23 19 7 – – – (12) (12) (33) 722 
	$ $ 
	737 83 183 27 61 – – (26) 56 – (7) 1,114 
	$ $ 
	873 78 283 62 105 123 (116) – (131) – (19) 1,258 

	[c] Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities: 
	[c] Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities: 

	TR
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 

	Accounts receivable Inventories Prepaid expenses and other [note 14] Accounts payable Accrued salaries and wages Other accrued liabilities Income taxes payable/receivable Deferred revenue 
	Accounts receivable Inventories Prepaid expenses and other [note 14] Accounts payable Accrued salaries and wages Other accrued liabilities Income taxes payable/receivable Deferred revenue 
	$ $ 
	(611) (178) (10) 579 97 83 221 (4) 177 
	$ $ 
	(40) 17 6 241 (92) (108) (104) (14) (94) 
	$ $ 
	826 (124) (70) (475) (98) (76) (232) (26) (275) 

	8. 
	8. 
	BUSINESSACQUISITIONS 


	AcquisitionsintheyearendedDecember31,2010 
	In December 2010, Magna completed the following acquisitions: 
	[a] Resil Minas, a supplier of seat frames and stampings. The acquired business is primarily located in Brazil with sales to various customers, including Fiat, Ford, General Motors, Volkswagen, IVECO and PSA. 
	[b] Pabsa S.A., a supplier of complete seats, foam products, trim covers and seat structures. The acquired business has three production facilities in Argentina. 
	[c] Erhard & Söhne GmbH, a manufacturer of fuel tanks for commercial vehicles and other specialty tanks. The acquired business is located in Germany and has sales to various customers including MAN, Daimler and Scania. 
	The total consideration for these acquisitions and certain other acquisitions was $120 million, consisting of $106 million paid in cash (net of cash acquired) and $14 million of assumed debt. 
	The net effect of the acquisitions on the Company's 2010 consolidated balance sheet was a decrease in non-cash working capitalof$45million, andincreasesinfixedassetsof$69million,goodwillof$68million, futuretaxassetsof$4million, other assetsof$40million,otherlong-termliabilitiesof$5million,futuretaxliabilitiesof$8millionandminorityinterestof$3million. 
	The purchase price allocations for these acquisitions are preliminary and adjustments to the allocations may occur as a result of obtaining more information regarding asset valuations. 
	AcquisitionsintheyearendedDecember31,2009 
	On May 11, 2009, Magna acquired Cadence Innovation s.r.o., a manufacturer of exterior and interior systems. The acquired business is primarily located in the Czech Republic with sales to various customers, including Skoda. 
	On June 1, 2009, Magna acquired several facilities from Meridian Automotive Systems Inc. The facilities are located in the United States and Mexico and manufacture composites for various customers. 
	The total considerationfor these acquisitions and certain other acquisitions was $136million, consisting of $50 million paidin cash and $86 million of assumed debt. 
	The net effect of the acquisitions on the Company's 2009 consolidated balance sheet was a decrease in non-cash working capital of $3 million, and increases in fixed assets of $116 million, goodwill of $8 million, other assets of $4 million and future tax liabilities of $7 million. 
	AcquisitionsintheyearendedDecember31,2008 
	On May 30, 2008, Magna acquired a facility from Ogihara America Corporation. The facility in Alabama manufactures major exterior and structural welded assemblies for sales to various customers, including Mercedes-Benz. 
	On June 16, 2008, Magna was the successful bidder to acquire a substantial portion of the exteriors business and related assets from Plastech Engineered Products Inc., in a Chapter 11 sale out of bankruptcy. The acquired business supplies parts to various customers, including Chrysler, Ford and General Motors, in the United States and Canada. 
	On October 3, 2008, Magna acquired BluWav Systems LLC, a developer and supplier of electric and energy management systems for hybrid electric vehicles, plug-in hybrid vehicles and battery electric vehicles. 
	On October 31, 2008, Magna acquired Technoplast, a supplier of plastic exterior and interior components. Technoplast is located in Nizhny Novgorod, Russia and supplies the GAZ Group with components for several programs. 
	The total consideration for these and certain other acquisitions was $177 million, consisting of $158 million paid in cash and $19 million of assumed debt. 
	The net effect of the acquisitions on the Company's 2008 consolidated balance sheet was increases in non-cash working capital of $23 million, fixed assets of $80 million, goodwill of $27 million, other assets of $50 million and future tax liabilities of $3 million. 
	Proformaimpact[unaudited] 
	Iftheacquisitionscompletedduring2010and2009occurredonJanuary1, 2009, theCompany'sproformaconsolidatedsales for the year ended December 31, 2010 would have been $24 billion [2009 -$18 billion] and the unaudited pro forma consolidated net income would have been $970 million [2009 -net loss $548 million]. 
	9. INVENTORIES 
	Inventories consist of: 
	2010 2009 
	Raw materials and supplies $ 756 $ 586 Work-in-process 209 176 Finished goods 252 219 Tooling and engineering 679 740 
	$ 1,896 $ 1,721 
	Tooling and engineering inventory represents costs incurred on separately priced tooling and engineering services contracts in excess of billed and unbilled amounts included in accounts receivable. 
	10. INVESTMENTS 
	AtDecember31,2010, theCompanyheldCanadianthirdpartyABCPwithafacevalueofCdn$127million. Theseinvestments did not settle at the scheduled maturity during the third quarter of 2007 due to ABCP market liquidity issues, and as a result the Company reclassified its ABCP to long-term investments from cash and cash equivalents. 
	On January 16, 2009, a restructuring plan was finalized and new restructuring Notes [the "Notes"] were issued in exchange for existing investments. The Notes issued included: (i) notes in a Master Trust (MAV2 -A Notes), which are rated A by DBRS with a face amount value of Cdn$102 million; (ii) subordinate notes (MAV2 -B and C Notes) which are unrated with a face amountvalueofCdn$9million;and(iii)varioustracking noteswhichwereissuedinexchangeforassetsdeemedineligible for inclusionintheMasterTrustwithafaceam
	The following is a continuity of the Company's investment in ABCP: 
	2010 2009 2008 
	Balance, beginning of year 
	Balance, beginning of year 
	Balance, beginning of year 
	$ 
	85 
	$ 
	65 
	$ 
	121 

	Valuation adjustment (impairment) [i] 
	Valuation adjustment (impairment) [i] 
	– 
	9 
	(41) 

	Cash receipts 
	Cash receipts 
	(5) 
	– 
	– 

	Foreign exchange and other 
	Foreign exchange and other 
	4 
	11 
	(15) 

	TR
	$ 
	84 
	$ 
	85 
	$ 
	65 


	[i] The carrying value of this investment was based on a valuation technique estimating the fair value from the perspective ofamarketparticipant. FortheyearendedDecember31,2009,theCompanyrecordeda$9millionincreaseinthecarrying value of its investment in ABCP in selling, general andadministrative expense, due to a reduction of the spread between theanticipatedreturnontherestructurednotesandcurrentmarketindices. FortheyearendedDecember31, 2008, the Companyrecordeda$41millionimpairmentchargeinselling,generalan
	11. FIXEDASSETS 
	Fixed assets consist of: 
	Fixed assets consist of: 
	Fixed assets consist of: 
	2010 
	2009 

	Cost 
	Cost 

	Land 
	Land 
	$ 
	226 
	$ 
	233 

	Buildings 
	Buildings 
	1,169 
	1,078 

	Machinery and equipment 
	Machinery and equipment 
	9,042 
	8,718 

	TR
	10,437 
	10,029 

	Accumulated depreciation 
	Accumulated depreciation 

	Buildings 
	Buildings 
	(434) 
	(404) 

	Machinery and equipment 
	Machinery and equipment 
	(6,114) 
	(5,814) 

	TR
	$ 
	3,889 
	$ 
	3,811 


	Included in the cost of fixed assets above are construction in progress expenditures of $465 million [2009 -$523 million] that have not been depreciated. 
	12. GOODWILL 
	The following is a continuity of the Company's goodwill by segment: 
	The following is a continuity of the Company's goodwill by segment: 
	The following is a continuity of the Company's goodwill by segment: 

	North America Europe 
	North America Europe 
	Rest of World 
	Corporate and Other 
	Total 

	Balance, December 31, 2008 $ 675 $ 409 Acquisitions [note 8] 6 – Impairments [note 5] (100) – Foreign exchange and other 53 12 Balance, December 31, 2009 634 421 Acquisitions [note 8] – 1 Disposals (9) – Foreign exchange and other 21 (21) Balance,December31,2010 $ 646 $ 401 
	Balance, December 31, 2008 $ 675 $ 409 Acquisitions [note 8] 6 – Impairments [note 5] (100) – Foreign exchange and other 53 12 Balance, December 31, 2009 634 421 Acquisitions [note 8] – 1 Disposals (9) – Foreign exchange and other 21 (21) Balance,December31,2010 $ 646 $ 401 
	$ 75 2 – (1) 76 67 (5) 2 $ 140 
	$ 1 – – – 1 – – – $ 1 
	$ 1,160 8 (100) 64 1,132 68 (14) 2 $ 1,188 


	13. INCOMETAXES 
	[a] TheprovisionforincometaxesdiffersfromtheexpensethatwouldbeobtainedbyapplyingtheCanadianstatutoryincome tax rate as a result of the following: 
	2010 2009 2008 
	Canadian statutory income tax rate (recovery) 31.0% (33.0)% 33.5% Manufacturing and processing profits deduction (0.6) (0.1) (1.2) Foreign rate differentials (4.3) (4.6) (22.1) Losses not benefited 3.5 26.8 30.3 Utilization of losses previously not benefited (9.3) (0.6) (1.0) Earnings of equity investees (0.9) (0.4) (2.0) Goodwill write-off – 6.8 – Valuation allowance on future tax assets [i] (0.3) – 37.5 Other 0.6 1.6 3.3 
	Effective income tax rate 19.7% (3.5)% 78.3% 
	[i] AccountingstandardsrequirethattheCompanyassesswhethervaluationallowancesshouldbeestablishedagainst itsfutureincometaxassetsbasedontheconsiderationofallavailableevidenceusinga "morelikelythannot"standard. ThefactorstheCompanyuses to assessthe likelihoodofrealization areitsforecastoffuturetaxableincomeandtax planning strategies that could be implemented to realize the future tax assets. On a quarterly basis, the Company evaluates the realizability of future tax assets by assessing its valuation allowance 
	During 2008, the Company recorded a $123 million charge to establish valuation allowances against its remaining future tax assets in the United States. The Company determined that valuation allowances were required in the United States based on: (i) historical consolidated losses at its operations in the United States that are expected to continue in the near-term; (ii) the accelerated deterioration of near-term automotive market conditions in the United States; and (iii)significant andinherentuncertaintyas
	Given the Company's improved financial results in the United States in 2010 and provided that overall economic conditions continue to improve in 2011, the Company expects to reverse a portion of its valuation allowance against its future tax assets in the United States during 2011. The reversal, if recorded, (i) will result in a decrease in our effectivetaxratein2011andareturntoamorenormalizedratein2012;and(ii)willnotaffectourtaxpaymentswhich should remain lower during the period in which these losses are u
	[b] The details of income (loss) before income taxes by jurisdiction are as follows: 
	2010 2009 2008 
	Canadian $ 509 $ 47 $ 200 Foreign 688 (558) 128 
	Table
	TR
	$ 
	1,197 
	$ 
	(511) 
	$ 
	328 

	[c] The details of the income tax provision (recovery) are as follows: 
	[c] The details of the income tax provision (recovery) are as follows: 

	TR
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 


	Current 
	Current 
	Current 

	Canadian federal taxes 
	Canadian federal taxes 
	$ 
	54 
	$ 
	(33) 
	$ 
	101 

	Provincial taxes 
	Provincial taxes 
	31 
	(20) 
	57 

	Foreign taxes 
	Foreign taxes 
	162 
	58 
	107 

	TR
	247 
	5 
	265 


	Future Canadian federal taxes Provincial taxes Foreign taxes 
	Future Canadian federal taxes Provincial taxes Foreign taxes 
	Future Canadian federal taxes Provincial taxes Foreign taxes 
	7 5 (23) (11) $ 236 
	$ 
	20 7 (50) (23) (18) 
	$ 
	(38) (24) 54 (8) 257 

	[d] 
	[d] 
	Future income taxes have been provided on temporary differences, which consist of the following: 

	TR
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 


	Book amortization (in excess of) less than tax amortization $ (20) $ (9) $ 11 Tax depreciation less than book depreciation (12) (8) (46) Net tax losses utilized (benefited) 48 (23) (69) Change in valuation allowance on future tax assets (3) – 123 Liabilities currently not deductible for tax (27) 4 (32) Reduction in enacted tax rates (2) –– Other 5 13 5 
	$ 
	$ 
	$ 
	(11) 
	$ 
	(23) 
	$ 
	(8) 

	[e] 
	[e] 
	Future tax assets and liabilities consist of the following temporary differences: 

	TR
	2010 
	2009 

	TR
	Assets Tax benefit of loss carryforwards Pre-acquisition Post-acquisition Other liabilities Tax credits carryforward Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges Other Valuation allowance against tax benefit of loss carryforwards Pre-acquisition Post-acquisition Other valuation allowance 
	$ $ 
	49 450 163 87 7 44 800 (44) (413) (193) 150 
	$ $ 
	57 596 128 69 11 77 938 (50) (535) (185) 168 


	Liabilities 
	Liabilities 
	Liabilities 

	Tax depreciation in excess of book depreciation 
	Tax depreciation in excess of book depreciation 
	$ 
	86 
	$ 
	104 

	Other assets book value in excess of tax value 
	Other assets book value in excess of tax value 
	22 
	24 

	Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges 
	Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges 
	23 
	13 

	TR
	131 
	141 

	Net future tax assets 
	Net future tax assets 
	$ 
	19 
	$ 
	27 


	[f] Income taxes paid in cash [net of refunds] were $6 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 [2009 -$16 million; 2008 -$437 million]. 
	[g] At December 31, 2010, the Company had gross income tax loss carryforwards of $1.5 billion which relate to certain foreign subsidiaries, including $118 million of losses obtained on acquisitions, the tax benefits of which have not been recognizedintheconsolidatedfinancialstatements. Ofthetotallosses,$734millionexpirebetween2011and2030while the remainder have no expiry date. 
	14. OTHERASSETS 
	Other assets consist of: 
	2010 2009 
	Preproduction costs related to long-term supply agreements 
	Preproduction costs related to long-term supply agreements 
	Preproduction costs related to long-term supply agreements 

	with contractual guarantee for reimbursement 
	with contractual guarantee for reimbursement 
	$ 
	329 
	$ 
	433 

	Long-term receivables 
	Long-term receivables 
	77 
	50 

	Patents and licenses, net 
	Patents and licenses, net 
	34 
	20 

	Employee wage buydown, net [a] 
	Employee wage buydown, net [a] 
	6 
	25 

	Other, net [note 8] 
	Other, net [note 8] 
	134 
	123 

	TR
	$ 
	580 
	$ 
	651 


	[a] Under the terms of a collective bargaining agreement, employees agreed to accept lump-sum cash payments in return forlowerwagesandbenefitsoverthefour-yeartermoftheunioncontractatapowertrainfacility. GiventhattheCompany willbenefitfromtheselump-sumpaymentsoverthetermoftheunioncontract,thecommittedamountswerecapitalized in other assets. The capitalized amounts are being amortized over the term of the collective bargaining agreement based on estimated employment levels. 
	15. WARRANTY 
	The following is a continuity of the Company's warranty accruals: 
	The following is a continuity of the Company's warranty accruals: 
	The following is a continuity of the Company's warranty accruals: 

	TR
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 

	Balance, beginning of year Expense (income), net Settlements Foreign exchange and other 
	Balance, beginning of year Expense (income), net Settlements Foreign exchange and other 
	$ 75 33 (37) (2) $ 69 
	$ 75 31 (35) 4 $ 75 
	$ $ 
	103 (2) (23) (3) 75 

	16. 
	16. 
	DEBTANDCOMMITMENTS 

	TR
	[a] 
	The Company's long-term debt, which is substantially uncollateralized, consists of the following: 

	TR
	2010 
	2009 

	TR
	Bank term debt at a weighted average interest rate of approximately 10.7% [2009 -3.4%], denominated primarily in euros Government loans at a weighted average interest rate of approximately 2.0% [2009 -2.3%], denominated primarily in euros Other Less due within one year 
	$ 13 14 44 71 25 $ 46 
	$ $ 
	67 20 44 131 16 115 


	[b] Future principal repayments on long-term debt are estimated to be as follows: 
	2011 
	2011 
	2011 
	$ 
	25 

	2012 
	2012 
	11 

	2013 
	2013 
	6 

	2014 
	2014 
	7 

	2015 
	2015 
	3 

	Thereafter 
	Thereafter 
	19 

	TR
	$ 
	71 


	[c] On October 12, 2005, the Company entered into a $2.0 billion five-year revolving term facility, of which $1.9 billion was unusedandavailableatyearend. InJuly2007,thefacilitywasextendedtoJuly31,2012. ThefacilityhasaNorthAmerican tranche of $1.57 billion, a European tranche of €300 million and an Asian tranche of $50 million. 
	Under the terms of the Company's operating and term credit agreements, it is permitted to make use of banker's acceptances and commercial paper to borrow at effective interest rates which are, from time to time, lower than those charged under the bank lines of credit. 
	[d] Interest (income) expense, net includes: 
	2010 2009 2008 
	Interest expense 
	Interest expense 
	Interest expense 

	Current 
	Current 
	$ 
	9 
	$ 
	11 
	$ 
	19 

	Long-term 
	Long-term 
	3 
	16 
	32 


	12 
	12 
	12 
	27 
	51 

	Interest income 
	Interest income 
	(22) 
	(20) 
	(113) 

	Interest (income) expense, net 
	Interest (income) expense, net 
	$ 
	(10) 
	$ 
	7 
	$ 
	(62) 


	[e] Interest paid in cash was $12 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 [2009 -$27 million; 2008 -$43 million]. 
	[f] AtDecember31,2010,theCompanyhadcommitmentsunderoperatingleaseswithMIDevelopmentsInc.["MID"][note25] and third parties requiring annual rental payments as follows: 
	Third MID parties Total 
	2011 $172 $123 $295 2012 171 99 270 2013 168 80 248 2014 159 62 221 2015 157 43 200 Thereafter 452 79 531 
	$ 1,279 $ 486 $ 1,765 
	FortheyearendedDecember31,2010,operatingleaseexpensewas$304million[2009-$280million;2008-$296million], of which $172 million related to MID [2009 -$149 million; 2008 -$156 million]. 
	[g] During2003,oneoftheCompany'sGermansubsidiariesenteredintoanoperatingleaseforafacilityconstructedatacost of approximately $12 million. The lessor in this arrangement leased the assets from a partnership that is substantially debt financed, which is owned directly and indirectly by the lessor. Although the Company's German subsidiary has optionstoacquireeitherthefacilityunderleaseorthepartnership,theCompany'sobligationsunderthisarrangementare limited to those in its operating lease agreement. Although thi
	17. OTHERLONG-TERMLIABILITIES 
	Other long-term liabilities consist of: 
	2010 2009 2008 
	Defined benefit pension plans and other [a] 
	Defined benefit pension plans and other [a] 
	Defined benefit pension plans and other [a] 
	$ 
	39 
	$ 
	35 
	$ 
	29 

	Termination and long service arrangements [b] 
	Termination and long service arrangements [b] 
	202 
	194 
	184 

	Retirement medical benefits plans [c] 
	Retirement medical benefits plans [c] 
	65 
	66 
	85 

	TR
	306 
	295 
	298 

	Asset retirement obligation 
	Asset retirement obligation 
	43 
	42 
	36 

	Long-term portion of fair value of hedges 
	Long-term portion of fair value of hedges 
	18 
	32 
	89 

	TR
	$ 
	367 
	$ 
	369 
	$ 
	423 


	[a] Definedbenefitpensionplans 
	TheCompanysponsorsanumberofdefinedbenefitpensionplansandsimilararrangementsforitsemployees. Allpension plans are funded to at least the minimum legal funding requirements, while European defined benefit pension plans are unfunded. 
	The weighted average significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Company's obligations and costs are as follows: 
	2010 
	2010 
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 

	Projected benefit obligation 
	Projected benefit obligation 

	Discount rate 
	Discount rate 
	5.5% 
	5.8% 
	6.3% 

	Rate of compensation increase 
	Rate of compensation increase 
	2.6% 
	3.6% 
	3.6% 

	Net periodic benefit cost 
	Net periodic benefit cost 

	Discount rate 
	Discount rate 
	5.9% 
	6.3% 
	6.4% 

	Rate of compensation increase 
	Rate of compensation increase 
	3.5% 
	3.6% 
	3.7% 

	Expected return on plan assets 
	Expected return on plan assets 
	7.7% 
	7.4% 
	7.8% 

	Information about the Company's defined benefit pension plans is as follows: 
	Information about the Company's defined benefit pension plans is as follows: 

	2010 
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 


	Projected benefit obligation 
	Projected benefit obligation 
	Projected benefit obligation 

	Beginning of year 
	Beginning of year 
	$ 
	310 
	$ 
	254 
	$ 
	305 

	Current service cost 
	Current service cost 
	11 
	9 
	19 

	Interest cost 
	Interest cost 
	18 
	16 
	16 

	Actuarial (gains) losses and changes in actuarial assumptions 
	Actuarial (gains) losses and changes in actuarial assumptions 
	(5) 
	32 
	(16) 

	Benefits paid 
	Benefits paid 
	(17) 
	(14) 
	(10) 

	Special termination benefit 
	Special termination benefit 
	8 
	– 
	– 

	Acquisition 
	Acquisition 
	5 
	– 
	– 

	Divestitures 
	Divestitures 
	– 
	– 
	(8) 

	Settlement 
	Settlement 
	– 
	– 
	(35) 

	Currency translation 
	Currency translation 
	2 
	13 
	(17) 

	End of year 
	End of year 
	$ 
	332 
	$ 
	310 
	$ 
	254 


	Plan assets at fair value 
	Plan assets at fair value 
	Plan assets at fair value 

	Beginning of year 
	Beginning of year 
	$ 
	218 
	$ 
	176 
	$ 
	279 

	Return on plan assets 
	Return on plan assets 
	25 
	37 
	(54) 

	Employer contributions 
	Employer contributions 
	21 
	13 
	17 

	Benefits paid 
	Benefits paid 
	(15) 
	(13) 
	(10) 

	Divestiture 
	Divestiture 
	– 
	– 
	(7) 

	Settlement 
	Settlement 
	– 
	(5) 
	(35) 

	Currency translation 
	Currency translation 
	4 
	10 
	(14) 

	End of year 
	End of year 
	$ 
	253 
	$ 
	218 
	$ 
	176 


	Unfunded amount 
	Unfunded amount 
	Unfunded amount 
	$ 
	79 
	$ 
	92 
	$ 
	78 

	Unrecognized actuarial losses 
	Unrecognized actuarial losses 
	(40) 
	(57) 
	(49) 

	Net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets 
	Net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets 
	$ 
	39 
	$ 
	35 
	$ 
	29 


	2010 2009 2008 
	Net periodic benefit cost 
	Net periodic benefit cost 
	Net periodic benefit cost 

	Current service cost 
	Current service cost 
	$ 
	11 
	$ 
	9 
	$ 
	19 

	Interest cost 
	Interest cost 
	18 
	16 
	16 

	Return on plan assets 
	Return on plan assets 
	(17) 
	(14) 
	(19) 

	Actuarial losses (gains) 
	Actuarial losses (gains) 
	2 
	2 
	(1) 

	Special termination benefit 
	Special termination benefit 
	8 
	– 
	– 

	Curtailment gain 
	Curtailment gain 
	– 
	– 
	(2) 

	Net periodic benefit cost 
	Net periodic benefit cost 
	$ 
	22 
	$ 
	13 
	$ 
	13 


	[b] Terminationandlongservicearrangements 
	Pursuant to labour laws and national labour agreements in certain European countries and Mexico, the Company is obligated to provide lump sum termination payments to employees on retirement or involuntary termination, and long service payments contingent upon persons reaching a predefined number of years of service. 
	All lump sum termination and long service payment arrangements are unfunded. However, pursuant to local tax laws, Austrian subsidiaries hold long-term government securities in connection with their unfunded obligations. Such assets amounted to $5 million at December 31, 2010 [2009 -$7 million] and are included in investments on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. 
	The weighted average significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Company's projected termination and long service benefit obligations and net periodic benefit cost are as follows: 
	2010 2009 2008 
	Discount rate Rate of compensation increase 
	Discount rate Rate of compensation increase 
	Discount rate Rate of compensation increase 
	4.9% 3.9% 
	6.2% 4.1% 
	6.2% 3.9% 

	Information about the Company's termination and long service arrangements is as follows: 
	Information about the Company's termination and long service arrangements is as follows: 

	TR
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 

	Projected benefit obligation Beginning of year Current service cost Interest cost Actuarial losses (gains) and changes in actuarial assumptions Benefits paid Currency translation End of year 
	Projected benefit obligation Beginning of year Current service cost Interest cost Actuarial losses (gains) and changes in actuarial assumptions Benefits paid Currency translation End of year 
	$ 210 13 11 33 (12) (12) $ 243 
	$ $ 
	208 13 12 (4) (25) 6 210 
	$ $ 
	211 17 10 11 (27) (14) 208 

	Unfunded amount Unrecognized actuarial losses Net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets 
	Unfunded amount Unrecognized actuarial losses Net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets 
	$ 243 (41) $ 202 
	$ $ 
	210 (16) 194 
	$ $ 
	208 (24) 184 

	Net periodic benefit cost Current service cost Interest cost Actuarial losses Net periodic benefit cost 
	Net periodic benefit cost Current service cost Interest cost Actuarial losses Net periodic benefit cost 
	$ 13 11 1 $ 25 
	$ $ 
	13 12 1 26 
	$ $ 
	17 10 – 27 


	[c] Retirementmedicalbenefitsplans 
	Historically, the Company sponsored a retirement medical benefits plan that covered eligible employees and retirees. Retirees age 60 or older with 10 or more years of service were eligible for benefits, and existing retirees as at August 1, 2000 that met the above criteria were also eligible for benefits. Benefits were capped based on years of service. During 2009, the Company amended these plans such that substantiallyall employees retiringonorafter August 1, 2009 will no longer participate in the plan and
	In addition, the Company sponsors a number of retirement medical plans which were assumed on certain acquisitions in prior years. These plans are frozen to new employees and incur no current service costs. 
	The weightedaveragediscountratesusedinmeasuring the Company'sprojectedretirementmedicalbenefit obligations and net periodic benefit cost are as follows: 
	2010 
	2010 
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 

	Retirement medical benefit obligations 
	Retirement medical benefit obligations 
	5.4% 
	5.7% 
	6.3% 

	Net periodic benefit cost 
	Net periodic benefit cost 
	5.7% 
	6.0% 
	6.3% 

	Health care cost inflation 
	Health care cost inflation 
	9.2% 
	9.3% 
	9.3% 

	Information about the Company's retirement medical benefits plans is as follows: 
	Information about the Company's retirement medical benefits plans is as follows: 

	2010 
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 


	Projected benefit obligation 
	Projected benefit obligation 
	Projected benefit obligation 

	Beginning of year 
	Beginning of year 
	$ 
	43 
	$ 
	73 
	$ 
	79 

	Current service cost 
	Current service cost 
	– 
	1 
	4 

	Interest cost 
	Interest cost 
	2 
	3 
	5 

	Actuarial losses (gains) and changes in actuarial assumptions 
	Actuarial losses (gains) and changes in actuarial assumptions 
	1 
	3 
	(7) 

	Benefits paid 
	Benefits paid 
	(3) 
	(3) 
	(2) 

	Curtailment 
	Curtailment 
	– 
	(36) 
	– 

	Currency translation 
	Currency translation 
	– 
	2 
	(6) 

	End of year 
	End of year 
	$ 
	43 
	$ 
	43 
	$ 
	73 


	Unfunded amount 
	Unfunded amount 
	Unfunded amount 
	$ 
	43 
	$ 
	43 
	$ 
	73 

	Unrecognized past service obligation 
	Unrecognized past service obligation 
	4 
	3 
	(9) 

	Unrecognized actuarial gains 
	Unrecognized actuarial gains 
	18 
	20 
	21 

	Net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets 
	Net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets 
	$ 
	65 
	$ 
	66 
	$ 
	85 


	Net periodic benefit cost 
	Net periodic benefit cost 
	Net periodic benefit cost 

	Current service cost 
	Current service cost 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	1 
	$ 
	4 

	Interest cost 
	Interest cost 
	2 
	3 
	5 

	Actuarial (gains) losses 
	Actuarial (gains) losses 
	(1) 
	2 
	(2) 

	Curtailment gain 
	Curtailment gain 
	– 
	(26) 
	– 

	Past service cost amortization 
	Past service cost amortization 
	– 
	– 
	1 

	Net periodic benefit cost 
	Net periodic benefit cost 
	$ 
	1 
	$ 
	(20) 
	$ 
	8 


	The effect of a one-percentage point increase or decrease in health care trend rates would not have a significant impact 
	on the Company's income. 
	on the Company's income. 
	on the Company's income. 

	[d] Futurebenefitpayments 
	[d] Futurebenefitpayments 

	TR
	Defined benefit pension plans 
	Termination and long service arrangements 
	Retirement medical benefits plans 
	Total 


	Expected employer contributions -2011 
	Expected employer contributions -2011 
	Expected employer contributions -2011 
	$ 
	10 
	$ 
	8 
	$ 
	2 
	$ 
	20 

	Expected benefit payments: 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter 
	Expected benefit payments: 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter 
	$ $ 
	10 12 12 13 13 81 141 
	$ $ 
	8 9 10 14 15 100 156 
	$ $ 
	2 2 2 3 3 12 24 
	$ $ 
	20 23 24 30 31 193 321 


	[e] Planassets 
	The asset allocation of the Company's defined benefit pension plans at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the target allocation for 2011 is as follows: 
	2011 2010 2009 
	Equity securities 50-75% 50% 65% Fixed income securities 5-45% 21% 33% Cash and cash equivalents 0-40% 29% 2% 
	100% 100% 100% 
	The expected rate of return on plan assets was determined by considering the Company's current investment mix, the historic performance of these investment categories and expected future performance of these investment categories. 
	18. STOCK-BASEDCOMPENSATION 
	[a] IncentiveStockOptionPlan 
	TheCompanycurrentlyhastwoincentivestockoptionplansineffect:(a)the2009StockOptionPlan,whichwasadopted by our shareholders on May 6, 2010; and (b) the Amended and Restated Incentive Stock Option Plan (the "1987 Stock Option Plan"), which was adopted by shareholders on December 10, 1987, and subsequently amended on May 18, 2000 and May 10, 2007. 
	Uponadoptionofthe2009Plan,newgrantsunderthe1987Planwerefrozen,butalloutstandingoptionswerepermitted to continue to vest and be exercisable in accordance with their terms. 
	2009StockOptionPlan 
	Underthe2009StockOptionPlan, theCompanymaygrantoptions topurchaseCommonShares tofull-timeemployees, outsidedirectorsorconsultantsoftheCompanyanditssubsidiaries. Themaximumnumberofsharesthatcanbereserved for issuance under the option plan is 16,000,000 shares. The number of shares available to be granted at December 31, 2010 was 9,659,000 [2009 -n/a]. All options granted are for terms of up to seven years from the grant date. Options issued under the 2009 Option Plan to employees and consultants generally ve
	1987StockOptionPlan 
	Under the 1987 Stock Option Plan, the Company granted options to purchase Common Shares to full-time employees, outsidedirectorsorconsultantsoftheCompany. ThenumberofsharesavailabletobegrantedatDecember31,2010was 230,824[2009 -62,824]. Alloptionsgrantedarefor terms of uptosevenyearsfromthegrantdateexceptfortheoptions granted prior to December 2003, which were generally for terms of up to 10 years from the grant date. Only options granted during 2009 remain unvested. Such options vest 33% on the first and se
	The following is a continuity schedule of options outstanding [number of options in the table below are expressed in whole numbers and the entire table has been restated to reflect the stock split [note 3]]: 
	Options outstanding 
	Table
	TR
	Weighted 

	TR
	average 
	Number 

	Number 
	Number 
	exercise 
	of options 

	of options 
	of options 
	price 
	exercisable 


	Outstanding at December 31, 2007 
	Outstanding at December 31, 2007 
	Outstanding at December 31, 2007 
	5,884,406 
	Cdn$41.33 
	5,825,754 

	Granted 
	Granted 
	20,000 
	27.57 
	– 

	Exercised 
	Exercised 
	(3,226) 
	27.50 
	(3,226) 

	Cancelled 
	Cancelled 
	(408,890) 
	45.18 
	(408,890) 

	Vested 
	Vested 
	– 
	– 
	34,652 

	Outstanding at December 31, 2008 
	Outstanding at December 31, 2008 
	5,492,290 
	Cdn$41.01 
	5,448,290 

	Granted 
	Granted 
	2,150,000 
	16.55 
	– 

	Exercised [i] 
	Exercised [i] 
	(93,578) 
	31.51 
	(93,578) 

	Cancelled [i] 
	Cancelled [i] 
	(398,168) 
	32.36 
	(378,168) 

	Vested 
	Vested 
	– 
	– 
	12,000 

	Outstanding at December 31, 2009 
	Outstanding at December 31, 2009 
	7,150,544 
	Cdn$34.26 
	4,988,544 

	Granted 
	Granted 
	6,341,000 
	34.04 
	– 

	Exercised 
	Exercised 
	(1,504,616) 
	34.31 
	(1,504,616) 

	Cancelled [ii] 
	Cancelled [ii] 
	(844,478) 
	33.04 
	(844,478) 

	Vested 
	Vested 
	– 
	– 
	722,666 

	Outstanding at December 31, 2010 
	Outstanding at December 31, 2010 
	11,142,450 
	Cdn$34.22 
	3,362,116 


	The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2010 was $14 million [2009 -$nil; 2008 -$nil]. 
	[i] On August 12, 2009, following approval by the Company's Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee and in accordance with the Amended and Restated Incentive Stock Option Plan, the Company granted stock appreciation rights ["SARs"] to certain executives in respect of 383,400 previously granted and unexercised stock options. 
	On August 14, 2009, 332,822 SARs were exercised and an equal number of previously granted and unexercised stockoptionsweresurrenderedandcancelled. OnexerciseoftheSARs, theexecutivesreceived,inaggregate, cash of $1 million, representing an amount equal to the difference between the aggregate fair market value of the shares covered bythesurrenderedoptionsandtheaggregate exerciseprice of suchsurrendered options. Fair marketvalue was determined based on the weighted average closing price of the Company's Common
	Inaddition,duringthethirdquarterof2009,50,578SARswerecancelleduponexerciseofthecorrespondingnumber of options. 
	[ii] On November 8, 2010, options to acquire 386,666 Common Shares were surrendered for cancellation in exchange forpaymentofthein-the-moneyvalueofsuchoptionsonsuchdate. Theaggregatein-the-moneyvalueoftheoptions surrendered was $8 million and was charged to contributed surplus. 
	On August 19, 2010, options to acquire 243,000 Common Shares were surrendered for cancellation in exchange for payment of the in-the-money value of such options on such date. The aggregate in-the-money value of the options surrendered was $4 million and was charged to contributed surplus. 
	At December 31, 2010, the outstanding options consist of [number of options in the table below are expressed in whole numbers and have been restated to reflect the stock split [note 3]]: 
	Options outstanding 
	Remaining 
	Remaining 
	Remaining 
	Number 

	Number 
	Number 
	contractual 
	of options 

	of options 
	of options 
	life [years] 
	exercisable 


	$15 to $20 1,796,670 5.2 363,336 $20to $25 – – – $25 to $30 5,384,700 5.8 334,700 $30 to $35 54,016 1.5 54,016 $35 to $40 81,320 6.0 9,320 $40 to $45 327,778 1.8 325,778 $45 to $50 2,225,000 1.0 2,223,000 $50 to $55 1,241,000 6.9 20,000 Over $55 31,966 1.5 31,966 
	11,142,450 
	11,142,450 
	11,142,450 
	3,362,116 

	Weighted average exercise price 
	Weighted average exercise price 
	Cdn$34.22 
	Cdn$42.06 

	Aggregate intrinsic value at December 31, 2010 
	Aggregate intrinsic value at December 31, 2010 
	$ 197 
	$ 33 


	The weighted average assumptions used in measuring the fair value of stock options granted or modified and the compensation expense recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses are as follows: 
	2010 2009 2008 
	Risk-free interest rate 
	Risk-free interest rate 
	Risk-free interest rate 
	2.26% 
	1.66% 
	2.71% 

	Expected dividend yield 
	Expected dividend yield 
	2.00% 
	2.05% 
	2.02% 

	Expected volatility 
	Expected volatility 
	35% 
	31% 
	27% 

	Expected time until exercise 
	Expected time until exercise 
	4years 
	4 years 
	4 years 

	Weighted average fair value of options granted 
	Weighted average fair value of options granted 

	or modified in year (Cdn$) [restated -note 3] 
	or modified in year (Cdn$) [restated -note 3] 
	$ 10.00 
	$ 3.60 
	$ 5.38 

	Compensation expense recorded in selling, 
	Compensation expense recorded in selling, 

	general and administrative expense [iii] 
	general and administrative expense [iii] 
	$ 43 
	$ 
	4 
	$ 
	– 


	[iii] During 2010, option agreements with three departing executives were modified resulting in a one-time charge to compensationexpenseof$20million. Thesechargesrepresentthefairvalueoftheoptionsatthedateofmodification net of originally measured compensation cost which has been reversed. 
	[b] Long-termretentionprogram 
	TheCompanyawardedcertainexecutivesanentitlementtoCommonSharesintheformofrestrictedstock. Suchshares become available to the executives, subject to acceleration on death or disability, after an approximate four-year holding period, provided certain conditions are met, and are to be released in equal amounts over a 10-year period, subject to forfeitureundercertaincircumstances. Thestock thathasnot been released to theexecutives is reflectedas a reduction in the stated value of the Company's Common Shares. 
	Information about the Company's long-term retention program is as follows: 
	2010 
	2010 
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 

	Common Shares awarded and not released [restated -note 3] 
	Common Shares awarded and not released [restated -note 3] 
	1,182,736 
	1,371,978 
	1,561,218 

	Reduction in stated value of Common Shares 
	Reduction in stated value of Common Shares 
	$ 39 
	$ 45 
	$ 51 

	Compensation expense recorded in selling, 
	Compensation expense recorded in selling, 

	general and administrative expense 
	general and administrative expense 
	$ 
	7 
	$ 
	8 
	$ 12 

	Unamortized compensation expense recorded 
	Unamortized compensation expense recorded 

	as a reduction of shareholders' equity 
	as a reduction of shareholders' equity 
	$ 23 
	$ 30 
	$ 36 


	[c] Restrictedstockunitprogram 
	In a number of different circumstances, the Company awarded restricted stock units ["RSUs"] to certain executives and other employees as part of the Company's compensation program. These RSUs are notional units, each of which is equivalenttooneMagnaCommonShare. Inmostcases,theRSUsareredeemablesolelyattheCompany'soption,either by delivery of the specified number of Common Shares or the cash value on the redemption date [based on the 20-day weighted average trading price]. Redemption ofthe RSUs generally occu
	19. CAPITALSTOCK 
	[a] At December 31, 2010, the Company's authorized, issued and outstanding capital stock is as follows: 
	Preferenceshares-issuableinseries-
	The Company'sauthorized capital stock includes99,760,000 preference shares, issuablein series. None of theseshares are currently issued or outstanding. 
	CommonSharesandClassBShares-
	In accordance with the Arrangement [note 4], Magna's Articles were amended to remove the Class B Shares from the authorized capital and to make non-substantive consequential changes to its Articles, including renaming the Class A SubordinateVotingSharesas CommonShares andeliminatingprovisionswhichno longerapplydue totheeliminationof the Class B Shares. 
	Common Shares without par value [unlimited amount authorized] have the following attributes: 
	[i] Each share is entitled to one vote per share at all meetings of shareholders. 
	[ii] Each share shall participate equally as to dividends. 
	[b] OnNovember9, 2010, theTSXacceptedtheCompany'sNoticeofIntentiontoMakeaNormalCourseIssuerBidrelating tothepurchaseforcancellationtooffsetdilutionresultingfromtheexerciseofstockoptions,aswellaspurchasestofund the Company's restricted stock unit program and/or the Company's obligations to its deferred profit sharing plans, of up to 8,000,000 Magna Common Shares [the "Bid"], representing 3.3% of the Company's issued and outstanding Common Shares. The Bid commenced on November 11, 2010 and will terminate no l
	TheCompanypreviouslyhadnormalcourseissuerbidsinplacefromNovember10,2007toNovember11,2008andfrom November 12, 2008 to November 11, 2009. 
	[c] Changesincapitalstockconsistofthefollowing[numberofsharesinthefollowingtableareexpressedinwholenumbers 
	and have been restated to reflect the stock split [note 3]]: 
	and have been restated to reflect the stock split [note 3]]: 
	and have been restated to reflect the stock split [note 3]]: 

	TR
	Common Number of shares 
	Stated value 
	Class B Number of shares 
	Stated value 


	Issued and outstanding at December 31, 2007 
	Issued and outstanding at December 31, 2007 
	Issued and outstanding at December 31, 2007 
	230,688,368 
	$ 
	3,708 
	1,453,658 
	$ 
	– 

	Release of restricted stock 
	Release of restricted stock 
	– 
	10 

	Issued under the RSU programs 
	Issued under the RSU programs 
	[i] 
	– 
	5 

	Issued under the DRIP 
	Issued under the DRIP 
	[ii] 
	55,984 
	2 

	Issued under the Incentive Stock Option Plan 
	Issued under the Incentive Stock Option Plan 
	3,226 
	– 

	Repurchase for restricted stock 
	Repurchase for restricted stock 

	and RSU programs 
	and RSU programs 
	[i] 
	– 
	(2) 

	Repurchased 
	Repurchased 
	– 
	(4) 

	Repurchase and cancellation under 
	Repurchase and cancellation under 

	normal course issuer bid 
	normal course issuer bid 
	[iii] 
	(6,989,460) 
	(114) 

	Issued and outstanding at December 31, 2008 
	Issued and outstanding at December 31, 2008 
	223,758,118 
	3,605 
	1,453,658 
	– 

	Release of restricted stock 
	Release of restricted stock 
	– 
	6 

	Issued under the DRIP 
	Issued under the DRIP 
	[ii] 
	14,366 
	– 

	Issued under the Incentive Stock Option Plan 
	Issued under the Incentive Stock Option Plan 
	93,578 
	2 


	Issued and outstanding at December 31, 2009 223,866,062 3,613 1,453,658 – 
	Repurchase and cancellation under the Arrangement [note 4] – – (1,453,658) 
	Issued under the Arrangement [note 4] 18,000,000 676 
	Costs of the Arrangement [note 4] – (10) 
	Release of restricted stock – 6 
	Issued under the Incentive Stock Option Plan 1,504,616 59 
	Issued under the DRIP [ii] 38,458 2 
	Repurchase and cancellation (391,020) (3) 
	Repurchase and cancellation under normal course issuer bid [iii] (453,500) (8) 
	IssuedandoutstandingatDecember31,2010 242,564,616 $ 4,335 – $ – 
	[i] During2008,theCompanypurchased65,304MagnaCommonSharesforaggregatecashconsiderationof$2million. A portion of these shares were awarded to certain executives under the restricted stock program and a portion of these shares are being held in trust for purposes of the Company's RSU program and are reflected as a reduction in the stated value of the Company's Common Shares. During 2008, the Company issued 99,208 Magna Common Shares from the trust to settle amounts owing under the Company's RSU program. 
	[ii] The Company has a Dividend Reinvestment Plan ["DRIP"] whereby shareholders have the option to receive their dividends in the form of Common Shares in lieu of cash. 
	[iii] During 2010, the Company purchased for cancellation 453,500 [2008 -6,989,460] Common Shares under a normal course issuer bid for cash consideration of $23 million [2008 -$245 million]. The excess of cash paid over the book value of the Common Shares repurchased of $13 million [2008 -$98 million] was charged to retained earnings. 
	[d] The following table presents the maximum number of shares that would be outstanding if all the dilutive instruments outstanding at March 14, 2011 were exercised or converted: 
	Common Shares 242,771,789 Stock options [note 18] 10,065,577 
	252,837,366 
	20. CONTRIBUTEDSURPLUS 
	Contributedsurplusconsistsprimarilyofaccumulatedstockoptioncompensationexpenselessthefairvalueofoptionsatthe grant date that have been exercised and credited to Common Shares and the accumulated restricted stock compensation expense. The following is a continuity schedule of contributed surplus: 
	2010 2009 2008 
	Balance, beginning of year 
	Balance, beginning of year 
	Balance, beginning of year 
	$ 
	63 
	$ 
	67 
	$ 
	58 

	Stock-based compensation expense [note 18] 
	Stock-based compensation expense [note 18] 
	51 
	10 
	19 

	Exercise of options 
	Exercise of options 
	(11) 
	– 
	– 

	Release of restricted stock 
	Release of restricted stock 
	(6) 
	(6) 
	(10) 

	In-the-money value of surrendered options [note 18] 
	In-the-money value of surrendered options [note 18] 
	(12) 
	– 
	– 

	Redemption of restricted stock units 
	Redemption of restricted stock units 
	– 
	(7) 
	– 

	Exercise of stock appreciation rights [note 18] 
	Exercise of stock appreciation rights [note 18] 
	– 
	(1) 
	– 

	TR
	$ 
	85 
	$ 
	63 
	$ 
	67 


	21. ACCUMULATEDOTHERCOMPREHENSIVEINCOME 
	The following is a continuity schedule of accumulated other comprehensive income: 2010 2009 2008 
	Accumulated net unrealized gains on translation of net investment in foreign operations Balance, beginning of year $ 854 $ 447 $ 1,360 Net unrealized gains (losses) on translation of net investment in foreign operations 18 407 (765) Reclassification of gain on translation of net investment in foreign operations to net income [a] – – (116) Repurchase of shares [note 19] (3) – (32) Balance, end of year 869 854 447 
	Accumulated net unrealized gains (losses) 
	Accumulated net unrealized gains (losses) 
	Accumulated net unrealized gains (losses) 

	on cash flow hedges [b] 
	on cash flow hedges [b] 

	Balance, beginning of year 
	Balance, beginning of year 
	(13) 
	(113) 
	(10) 

	Net unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges 
	Net unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges 
	81 
	41 
	(102) 

	Reclassification of net (gains) losses on cash flow hedges 
	Reclassification of net (gains) losses on cash flow hedges 

	to net income (loss) 
	to net income (loss) 
	(28) 
	59 
	(1) 

	Balance, end of year 
	Balance, end of year 
	40 
	(13) 
	(113) 


	Accumulated net unrealized gain 
	on available-for-sale investments Balance, beginning of year – –– Net unrealized gain on investments 11 –– 
	Balance, end of year 11 –– 
	Total accumulated other comprehensive income [c] $ 920 $ 841 $ 334 
	[a] In the normal course of business, the Company reviews its cash investment strategies, including where such funds are invested. Asaresultof thesereviews, during 2008, theCompanyrepatriatedfunds fromEuropeandasaresult recorded foreign currency gains in selling, general and administrative expense of $116 million. 
	[b] The amount of income tax (obligation) benefit that has been netted in the amounts above is as follows: 2010 2009 2008 
	Balance, beginning of year $ (2) $48 $4 Net unrealized (gains) losses on cash flow hedges (23) (27) 42 Reclassification of net (losses) gains on cash flow hedges 
	to net income (loss) 8 (23) 2 
	Balance, end of year $ (17) $ (2) $ 
	[c] The amount of other comprehensive income that is expected to be reclassified to net income during 2011 is $35 million [net of income tax of $10 million]. 
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	22. CAPITALDISCLOSURES 
	The Company manages capital in order to ensure it has adequate borrowing capacity and financial structure to allow financial flexibility and to provide an adequate return to shareholders. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, purchase shares for cancellation or increase or decrease the amount of debt outstanding. 
	The Company monitors capital using the ratio of debt to total capitalization. Debt includes bank indebtedness and long-term debt as shown in the consolidated balance sheets. Total capitalization includes debt, minority interest and all components of shareholders' equity. 
	The Company's capitalization and debt to total capitalization is as follows: 
	2010 2009 
	Liabilities 
	Liabilities 
	Liabilities 

	Bank indebtedness 
	Bank indebtedness 
	$ 
	26 
	$ 
	48 

	Long-term debt due within one year 
	Long-term debt due within one year 
	25 
	16 

	Long-term debt 
	Long-term debt 
	46 
	115 

	TR
	97 
	179 

	Minority interest 
	Minority interest 
	74 
	– 

	Shareholders' equity 
	Shareholders' equity 
	8,065 
	7,360 

	Total capitalization 
	Total capitalization 
	$ 
	8,236 
	$ 
	7,539 


	Debt to total capitalization 1.2% 2.4% 
	23. FINANCIALINSTRUMENTS 
	[a] Foreignexchangecontracts 
	AtDecember31, 2010,theCompanyhadoutstandingforeignexchangeforwardcontractsrepresentingcommitmentsto buy and sell various foreign currencies. Significant commitments are as follows: 
	For Canadian dollars For U.S. dollars 
	Table
	TR
	U.S. 
	Weighted 
	Weighted 
	Weighted 

	Buy 
	Buy 
	dollar 
	average 
	Euro 
	average 
	Peso 
	average 

	(Sell) 
	(Sell) 
	amount 
	rate 
	amount 
	rate 
	amount 
	rate 

	2011 
	2011 
	171 
	1.0282 
	15 
	1.3326 
	1,518 
	0.0736 

	2011 
	2011 
	(461) 
	1.0462 
	(68) 
	1.4314 
	(180) 
	0.0809 

	2012 
	2012 
	41 
	1.0551 
	9 
	1.3703 
	1,194 
	0.0708 

	2012 
	2012 
	(162) 
	1.0579 
	(31) 
	1.5366 
	– 
	– 

	2013 
	2013 
	34 
	1.0649 
	3 
	1.3771 
	349 
	0.0719 

	2013 
	2013 
	(94) 
	1.0588 
	(12) 
	1.4276 
	– 
	– 

	2014 
	2014 
	14 
	1.0698 
	1 
	1.3767 
	– 
	– 


	(457) (83) 2,881 
	For euros 
	Table
	TR
	U.S. 
	Weighted 
	Weighted 
	Czech 
	Weighted 
	Polish 
	Weighted 

	Buy 
	Buy 
	dollar 
	average 
	GBP 
	average 
	Koruna 
	average 
	Zlotys 
	average 

	(Sell) 
	(Sell) 
	amount 
	rate 
	amount 
	rate 
	amount 
	rate 
	amount 
	rate 

	2011 
	2011 
	130 
	0.7480 
	7 
	1.1760 
	91 
	0.0390 
	40 
	0.2383 

	2011 
	2011 
	(92) 
	0.7357 
	(58) 
	1.2327 
	(1,864) 
	0.0381 
	(130) 
	0.2443 

	2012 
	2012 
	42 
	0.7632 
	3 
	1.0992 
	– 
	– 
	25 
	0.2314 

	2012 
	2012 
	(13) 
	0.7133 
	(37) 
	1.2011 
	(1,599) 
	0.0386 
	(92) 
	0.2389 

	2013 
	2013 
	20 
	0.7615 
	1 
	1.1447 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	2013 
	2013 
	(10) 
	0.7208 
	(21) 
	1.1861 
	(686) 
	0.0396 
	(14) 
	0.2352 

	2014 
	2014 
	(8) 
	0.7460 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(4) 
	0.2248 


	69 (105) (4,058) (175) 
	BasedonforwardforeignexchangeratesasatDecember31,2010forcontractswithsimilarremainingtermstomaturity, the gains and losses relating to the Company's foreign exchange forward contracts recognized in other comprehensive income are approximately $98 million and $30 million, respectively [note 21]. 
	The Company does not enter into foreign exchange forward contracts for speculative purposes. 
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	[b] Naturalgasswapcontracts 
	The Company uses natural gas swap contracts to manage the cash flow risk of a portion of its forecasted natural gas purchasesinCanadaandtheUnitedStatesovertheperiodtoDecember2014. SwapsoutstandingatDecember31, 2010 have a total volume of 2.4 million Gigajoule ["GJ"] with a fixed price range of between $5.99 per GJ and $8.51 per GJ for per MMBTU and $8.32 per MMBTU for the United States. The unrealized losses on these natural gas swap contracts at December 31, 2010 were $11 million and are recognized in othe
	Canadaandatotalvolumeof1.8millionMMBTU["MillionBritishThermalUnits"]withafixedpricerangeofbetween$6.25 

	The Company does not enter into natural gas swap contracts for speculative purposes. 
	[c] Financialassetsandliabilities 
	The Company's financial assets and liabilities consist of the following: 
	2010 2009 
	Held-for-trading 
	Held-for-trading 
	Held-for-trading 

	Cash and cash equivalents 
	Cash and cash equivalents 
	$ 
	2,105 
	$ 
	1,334 

	Investment in ABCP [note 10] 
	Investment in ABCP [note 10] 
	84 
	85 

	TR
	$ 
	2,189 
	$ 
	1,419 


	Held-to-maturity investments Severance investments $5 $7 
	Available-for-sale investments Equity investments 
	Available-for-sale investments Equity investments 
	Available-for-sale investments Equity investments 
	$ 
	19 
	$ 
	5 

	Loans and receivables 
	Loans and receivables 

	Accounts receivable 
	Accounts receivable 
	$ 
	3,645 
	$ 
	3,062 

	Long-term receivables included in other assets [note 14] 
	Long-term receivables included in other assets [note 14] 
	77 
	50 

	TR
	$ 
	3,722 
	$ 
	3,112 


	Other financial liabilities 
	Other financial liabilities 
	Other financial liabilities 

	Bank indebtedness 
	Bank indebtedness 
	$ 
	26 
	$ 
	48 

	Long-term debt (including portion due within one year) 
	Long-term debt (including portion due within one year) 
	71 
	131 

	Accounts payable 
	Accounts payable 
	3,586 
	3,001 

	TR
	$ 
	3,683 
	$ 
	3,180 


	Derivatives designated as effective hedges, measured at fair value 
	Derivatives designated as effective hedges, measured at fair value 
	Derivatives designated as effective hedges, measured at fair value 

	Foreign currency contracts 
	Foreign currency contracts 

	Prepaid expenses 
	Prepaid expenses 
	$ 
	58 
	$ 
	49 

	Other assets 
	Other assets 
	40 
	14 

	Other accrued liabilities 
	Other accrued liabilities 
	(17) 
	(42) 

	Other long-term liabilities 
	Other long-term liabilities 
	(13) 
	(29) 

	TR
	68 
	(8) 

	Natural gas contracts 
	Natural gas contracts 

	Other accrued liabilities 
	Other accrued liabilities 
	(6) 
	(5) 

	Other long-term liabilities 
	Other long-term liabilities 
	(5) 
	(3) 

	TR
	(11) 
	(8) 

	TR
	$ 
	57 
	$ 
	(16) 


	[d] Fairvalue 
	The Company determined the estimated fair values of its financial instruments based on valuation methodologies it believes are appropriate; however, considerable judgment is required to develop these estimates. Accordingly, these estimatedfairvaluesarenotnecessarilyindicativeoftheamountstheCompanycouldrealizeinacurrentmarketexchange. Theestimatedfairvalueamountscanbemateriallyaffectedbytheuseofdifferentassumptionsormethodologies.Themethods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial instrum
	Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, bank indebtedness and accounts payable. 
	Duetotheshortperiodtomaturityoftheinstruments,thecarryingvaluesaspresentedintheconsolidatedbalancesheets are reasonable estimates of fair values. 
	Investments 
	AtDecember31,2010,theCompanyheldCanadianthirdpartyasset-backedcommercialpaper["ABCP"]withafacevalue ofCdn$127million[December31,2009 -Cdn$134million]. Thecarryingvalueandestimatedfairvalueofthisinvestment was Cdn$84 million [December 31, 2009 -Cdn$88 million]. As fair value information is not readily determinable for the Company's investment in ABCP, the fair value was based on a valuation technique estimating the fair value from the perspective of a market participant [note 10]. 
	AtDecember31,2010,theCompanyheldavailable-for-saleequityinvestmentsinpubliclytradedcompanies. Thecarrying value and fair value of these investments was $19 million, which was based on the closing share prices of these investments on December 31, 2010. 
	Term debt 
	The Company's term debt includes $25 million due within one year. Due to the short period to maturity of this debt, the carrying value as presented in the consolidated balance sheets is a reasonable estimate of its fair value. The fair value of theCompany'slong-termdebt,basedoncurrentratesfordebtwithsimilartermsandmaturities,isnotmateriallydifferent from its carrying value. 
	[e] Creditrisk 
	The Company's financial assets that are exposed to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, long-term receivables, held-to-maturityinvestmentsand foreignexchangeforwardcontractswithpositivefair values. 
	Cash and cash equivalents, which consist of short-term investments, are only invested in governments, bank term deposits and bank commercial paper with an investment grade credit rating. Credit risk is further reduced by limiting the amount which is invested in certain governments or any major financial institution. 
	TheCompany'sheld-for-tradinginvestmentsincludeaninvestmentinABCP [note10].Giventhecontinuinguncertainties regardingthevalueoftheunderlyingassets,theamountandtimingofcashflowsandtheriskofcollateralcallsintheevent that spreads widened considerably, the Company could be exposed to further losses on its investment. 
	The Company is also exposed to credit risk from the potential default by any of its counterparties on its derivative instruments. TheCompanymitigatesthiscreditriskbydealingwithcounterpartieswhoaremajorfinancialinstitutionsthat the Company anticipates will satisfy their obligations under the contracts. 
	In the normalcourseofbusiness, theCompanyis exposedto creditriskfrom its customers, substantiallyall of whichare in the automotive industry and are subject to credit risks associated with the automotive industry. For the year ended December 31, 2010, sales to the Company's six largest customers [including the Detroit 3] represented 81% of the Company's total sales; and substantially all of its sales are to customers in which the Company has ongoing contractual relationships. 
	[f] Currencyrisk 
	The Company is exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates when manufacturing facilities have committed to the deliveryofproductsforwhichthesellingpricehasbeenquotedincurrenciesotherthanthefacilities' functionalcurrency, or when materials and equipment are purchased in currencies other than the facilities' functional currency. In an effort to manage this net foreign exchange exposure, the Company employs hedging programs, primarily through the use of foreign exchange forward contracts [note 23[a]]. 
	As at December 31, 2010, the net foreign exchange exposure was not material. 
	[g] Interestraterisk 
	TheCompanyisnot exposedtosignificantinterestrateriskduetotheshort-termmaturity ofits monetarycurrentassets and current liabilities. In particular, the amount of interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents is impacted more byinvestmentdecisionsmadeandthedemandstohaveavailablecashonhand,thanbymovementsininterestratesover a given period. 
	In addition, the Company is not exposed to interest rate risk on its long-term debt instruments as the interest rates on these instruments are fixed. 
	24. INTERESTSINJOINTLYCONTROLLEDENTITIES 
	The following is the Company's combined proportionate share of the major components of the financial statements of the jointly controlled entities in which the Company has an interest [before eliminations]: 
	BalanceSheets 
	2010 2009 
	Current assets 
	Current assets 
	Current assets 
	$ 
	269 
	$ 
	216 

	Long-term assets 
	Long-term assets 
	$ 
	68 
	$ 
	73 

	Current liabilities 
	Current liabilities 
	$ 
	132 
	$ 
	99 

	Long-term liabilities 
	Long-term liabilities 
	$ 
	50 
	$ 
	39 

	StatementsofIncome 
	StatementsofIncome 
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 

	Sales Cost of goods sold, expenses and income taxes Net income 
	Sales Cost of goods sold, expenses and income taxes Net income 
	$ $ 
	709 558 151 
	$ $ 
	578 473 105 
	$ $ 
	757 618 139 

	StatementsofCashFlows 
	StatementsofCashFlows 
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 

	Cash provided from (used for): Operating activities 
	Cash provided from (used for): Operating activities 
	$ 
	165 
	$ 
	117 
	$ 
	134 


	Investment activities $ (7) $ (17) $ (7) Financing activities $ (133) $ (110) $ (126) TheCompany'sshareofequityinthejointlycontrolledentitiesincludesundistributedearningsof$102million[2009-$104million]. 
	25. TRANSACTIONSWITHRELATEDPARTIES 
	Mr. Frank Stronach, together with three other members of the Stronach family, are trustees and members of the class of potentialbeneficiariesoftheStronachTrust. Priortothecompletionofthe Arrangement [note4],the StronachTrustindirectly controlledMagnathroughtherighttodirectthevotesattachingto100%ofMagna'sClassBShares. Inaddition, theStronach Trust controls MID and controlled Magna Entertainment Corp. ["MEC"] prior to its bankruptcy, through the right to direct the votes attaching to approximately 66% of MID'
	The Company has agreements with affiliates of the Chairman of the Board for the provision of business development and consulting services. In addition, the Company has anagreementwith the Chairman of the Board fortheprovision of business development and other services. The cost of these agreements is measured at the exchange amount. In addition, the Arrangementsetaterminationdateanddecliningfeeschedulefortheconsulting,businessdevelopmentandbusinessservices contracts. Theaggregateamountexpensedundertheseagre
	During 2010, the Company sold an office building located in Vienna, Austria to the Company's former Co-Chief Executive Officer for $11.5 million [€8.4 million]. 
	During 2009, the Company purchased approximately 100 acres of real estate located in Oberwaltersdorf, Austria from MEC for $6.0 million [€4.6 million]. 
	During 2008, the Company purchased 225 acres of real estate located in Austria from MEC for $29 million [€20 million]. 
	These transactions were reviewed by the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee and approved by the independentmembersofMagna'sBoardofDirectorsfollowingtheunanimousrecommendationoftheCorporateGovernance and Compensation Committee. 
	During the year ended December 31, 2010, trusts, which exist to make orderly purchases of the Company's shares for employeeseitherfortransfertotheEmployeeEquityandProfitParticipationProgramortorecipientsofeitherbonusesorrights topurchasesuchsharesfromthetrusts, borrowedupto$31million[2009 -$30million;2008 -$35million]fromtheCompany tofacilitatethepurchaseofCommonShares. AtDecember31,2010,thetrusts'indebtednesstotheCompanywas$31million [2009 -$19 million]. 
	26. CONTINGENCIES 
	[a] In the ordinary course of business activities, the Company may be contingently liable for litigation and claims with customers, suppliers, former employees and other parties. In addition, the Company may be, or could become, liable to incurenvironmentalremediationcoststobringenvironmentalcontaminationlevelsbackwithinacceptablelegallimits. Onan ongoing basis, the Company assesses the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges of probable costs and losses.
	A determination of the provision required, if any, for these contingencies is made after analysis of each individual issue. The required provision may change in the future due to new developments in each matter or changes in approach such as a change in settlement strategy in dealing with these matters. 
	[i] InNovember1997,theCompanyandtwoofitssubsidiariesweresuedbyKSCentocoLtd.,anOntario-basedsteering wheel manufacturer in which the Company has a 23% equity interest, and by Centoco Holdings Limited, the owner of the remaining 77% equity interest in KS Centoco Ltd. In March 1999, the plaintiffs were granted leave to make substantialamendmentstotheoriginalstatementofclaiminordertoaddseveralnewdefendantsandclaimadditional remedies, andinFebruary2006,theplaintiffsfurtheramendedtheirclaimtoaddanadditionalremedy
	• 
	• 
	• 
	breach of fiduciary duty by the Company and two of its subsidiaries; 

	• 
	• 
	breach by the Company of its binding letter of intent with KS Centoco Ltd., including its covenant not to have any interest, directly or indirectly, in any entity that carries on the airbag business in North America, other than through MST Automotive Inc., a company to be 77% owned by Magna and 23% owned by Centoco Holdings Limited; 

	• 
	• 
	the plaintiff's exclusive entitlement to certain airbag technologies in North America pursuant to an exclusive licence agreement, togetherwithanaccountingofallrevenuesand profitsresulting fromthe allegeduseby the Company, TRW Inc. ["TRW"] and other unrelated third party automotive supplier defendants of such technology in North America; 

	• 
	• 
	a conspiracy by the Company, TRW and others to deprive KS Centoco Ltd. of the benefits of such airbag technology in North America and to cause Centoco Holdings Limited to sell to TRW its interest in KS Centoco Ltd. inconjunctionwiththeCompany'ssaletoTRWofitsinterestinMSTAutomotiveGmbHandTEMICBayernChemie Airbag GmbH; and 
	-



	• oppression by the defendants. 
	The plaintiffs are seeking, amongst other things, damages of approximately Cdn$3.5 billion. The Company has filed an Amended Statement of Defence and Counterclaim. Document production, completion of undertakings and examinations for discovery are substantially complete, although limited additional examinations for discovery may occur. The trial is not expected to commence until late 2011, at the earliest. The Company believes it has valid defences to the plaintiff's claims and therefore intends to continue 
	[b] In certain circumstances, the Company is at risk for warranty costs including product liability and recall costs. Due to the nature of the costs, the Company makes its best estimate of the expected future costs [note 15], however, the ultimate amount of such costs could be materially different. The Company continues to experience increased customer pressure to assume greater warranty responsibility. Currently, under most customer agreements, the Company only accounts for existing or probable claims. Und
	27. SEGMENTEDINFORMATION 
	[a] Magna, a diversified global automotive supplier, follows a corporate policy of functional and operational decentralization. It conducts its operations through divisions, which function as autonomous business units. As at December 31, 2010, Magna had 256 manufacturing operations and 82 product development, engineering and sales centres in 26 countries. Magna designs, develops and manufactures technologically advanced automotive systems, assemblies, modules and components,andengineersandassemblescompletev
	Magna's success is directly dependent upon the levels of North Americanand European[and currently to a lesser extent onRestofWorld]carandlighttruckproductionbyitscustomers. OEMproductionvolumesineachofNorthAmericaand Europe may be impacted by a number of geographic factors, including general economic conditions, interest rates, consumer credit availability, fuel prices and availability, infrastructure, legislative changes, environmental emission and safety issues, and labour and/or trade relations. 
	Given the differences between the regions in which the Company operates, Magna's operations are segmented on a geographic basis between North America, Europe and Rest of World. We maintain management teams in each of the Company'stwoprimarymarkets, NorthAmericaandEurope. TheroleoftheNorthAmericanandEuropeanmanagement teamsistomanageMagna'sintereststoensureacoordinatedeffortacrosstheCompany'sdifferentproductcapabilities. In addition to maintaining key customer, supplier and government contacts in their respe
	InconjunctionwiththecompletionoftheArrangement,theCompany'sE-CarSystemspartnershipismanagedseparately from the Company's other operations. Consistent with the above, the Company's internal financial reporting has been revised to separately segment key internal operating performance measures between North America, Europe, Rest of World and E-Car Systems for purposes of presentation to the chief operating decision maker to assist in the assessment of operating performance, the allocation of resources, and the
	The accounting policies of each segment are the same as those set out under "Significant Accounting Policies" [note 1] and intersegment sales and transfers are accounted for at fair market value. 
	The following table shows certain information with respect to segment disclosures: 
	2010 
	Depreciation 
	Depreciation 
	Depreciation 
	Fixed 
	Fixed 

	Total 
	Total 
	External 
	and 
	asset 
	assets, 

	sales 
	sales 
	sales amortization 
	EBIT[i] 
	Goodwill 
	additions 
	net 

	NorthAmerica 
	NorthAmerica 

	Canada 
	Canada 
	$ 5,486 
	$ 5,053 
	$ 133 
	$ 652 

	United States 
	United States 
	5,831 
	5,350 
	129 
	667 

	Mexico 
	Mexico 
	2,351 
	2,194 
	49 
	367 

	Eliminations 
	Eliminations 
	(911) 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	NorthAmerica 
	NorthAmerica 
	12,757 
	12,597 
	$ 360 
	$ 1,085 
	$ 646 
	311 
	1,686 

	Europe 
	Europe 

	Euroland [ii] 
	Euroland [ii] 
	8,389 
	8,219 
	180 
	999 

	Great Britain 
	Great Britain 
	813 
	813 
	5 
	58 

	Other European countries 
	Other European countries 
	1,395 
	1,295 
	131 
	479 

	Eliminations 
	Eliminations 
	(140) 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	Europe 
	Europe 
	10,457 
	10,327 
	241 
	102 
	401 
	316 
	1,536 

	RestofWorld 
	RestofWorld 
	1,185 
	1,097 
	31 
	92 
	140 
	51 
	239 

	E-Car 
	E-Car 
	20 
	18 
	4 
	(89) 
	– 
	47 
	76 

	CorporateandOther[iii], [iv] 
	CorporateandOther[iii], [iv] 
	(317) 
	63 
	25 
	(3) 
	1 
	59 
	352 

	Totalreportablesegments 
	Totalreportablesegments 
	$24,102 
	$24,102 
	$ 661 
	$ 1,187 
	$ 1,188 
	$ 784 
	3,889 

	Current assets 
	Current assets 
	7,814 

	Investments, goodwill 
	Investments, goodwill 

	and other assets 
	and other assets 
	2,195 

	Consolidatedtotalassets 
	Consolidatedtotalassets 
	$13,898 


	2009 
	Table
	TR
	Depreciation 
	Fixed 
	Fixed 

	TR
	Total 
	External 
	and 
	asset 
	assets, 

	TR
	sales 
	sales 
	amortization 
	EBIT[i] 
	Goodwill 
	additions 
	net 

	NorthAmerica 
	NorthAmerica 

	Canada 
	Canada 
	$ 3,597 
	$ 3,231 
	$ 65 
	$ 656 

	United States 
	United States 
	4,016 
	3,757 
	71 
	699 

	Mexico 
	Mexico 
	1,243 
	1,152 
	60 
	358 

	Eliminations 
	Eliminations 
	(550) 
	– 
	– 
	– 


	NorthAmerica 
	NorthAmerica 
	NorthAmerica 
	8,306 
	8,140 
	$ 
	412 
	$ 
	(72) 
	$ 
	634 
	196 
	1,713 

	Europe 
	Europe 

	Euroland [ii] 
	Euroland [ii] 
	6,835 
	6,687 
	187 
	1,067 

	Great Britain 
	Great Britain 
	748 
	748 
	4 
	67 

	Other European countries 
	Other European countries 
	1,145 
	1,026 
	103 
	367 

	Eliminations 
	Eliminations 
	(177) 
	– 
	– 
	– 


	Europe 
	Europe 
	Europe 
	8,551 
	8,461 
	274 
	(394) 
	421 
	294 
	1,501 

	RestofWorld 
	RestofWorld 
	786 
	735 
	26 
	43 
	76 
	32 
	186 

	E-Car 
	E-Car 
	14 
	12 
	3 
	(41) 
	– 
	13 
	20 

	CorporateandOther[iii], [iv] 
	CorporateandOther[iii], [iv] 
	(290) 
	19 
	22 
	(40) 
	1 
	94 
	391 

	Totalreportablesegments 
	Totalreportablesegments 
	$17,367 
	$17,367 
	$ 
	737 
	$ 
	(504) 
	$ 1,132 
	$ 
	629 
	3,811 

	Current assets 
	Current assets 
	6,303 

	Investments, goodwill 
	Investments, goodwill 

	and other assets 
	and other assets 
	2,189 

	Consolidatedtotalassets 
	Consolidatedtotalassets 
	$12,303 


	2008 
	Table
	TR
	Depreciation 
	Fixed 
	Fixed 

	TR
	Total 
	External 
	and 
	asset 
	assets, 

	TR
	sales 
	sales 
	amortization 
	EBIT[i] 
	Goodwill 
	additions 
	net 

	NorthAmerica 
	NorthAmerica 

	Canada 
	Canada 
	$ 5,480 
	$ 5,134 
	$ 87 
	$ 682 

	United States 
	United States 
	5,250 
	5,043 
	139 
	806 

	Mexico 
	Mexico 
	1,840 
	1,649 
	56 
	374 

	Eliminations 
	Eliminations 
	(653) 
	– 
	– 
	– 


	NorthAmerica 
	NorthAmerica 
	NorthAmerica 
	11,917 
	11,826 
	$ 
	535 
	$ 
	(106) 
	$ 675 
	282 
	1,862 

	Europe 
	Europe 

	Euroland [ii] 
	Euroland [ii] 
	9,608 
	9,383 
	278 
	1,107 

	Great Britain 
	Great Britain 
	1,160 
	1,157 
	13 
	66 

	Other European countries 
	Other European countries 
	903 
	761 
	53 
	191 

	Eliminations 
	Eliminations 
	(240) 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	Europe 
	Europe 
	11,431 
	11,301 
	291 
	241 
	409 
	344 
	1,364 

	RestofWorld 
	RestofWorld 
	611 
	560 
	23 
	32 
	75 
	47 
	173 

	E-Car 
	E-Car 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	CorporateandOther[iii], [iv] 
	CorporateandOther[iii], [iv] 
	(255) 
	17 
	24 
	99 
	1 
	66 
	302 

	Totalreportablesegments 
	Totalreportablesegments 
	$23,704 
	$23,704 
	$ 
	873 
	$ 
	266 
	$ 1,160 
	$ 
	739 
	3,701 

	Current assets 
	Current assets 
	7,351 

	Investments, goodwill 
	Investments, goodwill 

	and other assets 
	and other assets 
	2,137 

	Consolidatedtotalassets 
	Consolidatedtotalassets 
	$13,189 


	Notes: 
	[i] EBIT represents net income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest and interest (income) expense, net. 
	[ii] For purposes of segmentation, Euroland has been defined as those European countries that have adopted the euro as their common currency. 
	[iii] Included in Corporate and Other EBIT are intercompany fees charged to the automotive segments. 
	[iv] During the year ended December 31, 2010, equity income of $23 million is included in the Corporate and Other segment [2009 -$7 million; 2008 -$19 million], $8 million is included in North America [2009 -$nil; 2008 -$nil] and $2 million is included in Rest of World [2009 -$nil; 2008 -$nil]. 
	[b] The following table aggregates external revenues by customer as follows: 
	2010 2009 2008 
	General Motors 
	General Motors 
	General Motors 
	$ 4,835 
	$ 3,209 
	$ 5,008 

	Ford Motor Company 
	Ford Motor Company 
	3,409 
	2,564 
	3,286 

	Fiat / Chrysler Group 
	Fiat / Chrysler Group 
	3,127 
	1,842 
	3,164 

	BMW 
	BMW 
	3,029 
	2,763 
	4,442 

	Volkswagen 
	Volkswagen 
	2,725 
	2,139 
	1,899 

	Daimler AG 
	Daimler AG 
	2,271 
	1,792 
	2,335 

	Other 
	Other 
	4,706 
	3,058 
	3,570 

	TR
	$ 24,102 
	$ 17,367 
	$ 23,704 


	[c] The following table summarizes external revenues generated by automotive products and services: 2010 2009 2008 
	Exterior and interior systems 
	Exterior and interior systems 
	Exterior and interior systems 
	$ 8,912 
	$ 6,092 
	$ 7,974 

	Body systems and chassis systems 
	Body systems and chassis systems 
	4,798 
	3,376 
	4,618 

	Powertrain systems 
	Powertrain systems 
	3,630 
	2,560 
	3,361 

	Complete vehicle assembly 
	Complete vehicle assembly 
	2,163 
	1,764 
	3,306 

	Tooling, engineering and other 
	Tooling, engineering and other 
	1,956 
	1,555 
	1,856 

	Vision and electronic systems 
	Vision and electronic systems 
	1,593 
	1,238 
	1,476 

	E-Car systems 
	E-Car systems 
	10 
	1 
	– 

	Closure systems 
	Closure systems 
	1,040 
	781 
	1,113 

	TR
	$ 24,102 
	$ 17,367 
	$ 23,704 


	28. UNITEDSTATESGENERALLYACCEPTEDACCOUNTINGPRINCIPLES 
	The Company's accounting policies as reflected in these consolidated financial statements do not materially differ from U.S. GAAP except for: 
	[a] Principlesofconsolidation 
	The Company has certain interests in jointly controlled entities that have been proportionately consolidated in the Company's financial statements [note 24]. For U.S. GAAP, theseinterestswould beaccounted for by the equity method. 
	As more fully described in note 4, the Company has a 73% equity interest in E-Car, but does not control the partnership. For accounting purposes, the partnership is a variable interest entity. Under Canadian GAAP, Magna is considered the primarybeneficiaryandasaresultmustconsolidatethepartnership. UnderU.S. GAAP,AccountingStandardsCodification 810, "Consolidation" ["ASC810"]the Company isnot theprimarybeneficiary of E-Carandthereforewould notconsolidate the partnership. Under U.S. GAAP, the Company's intere
	The use of the equity method of accounting for the above entities under U.S. GAAP as opposed to consolidation or proportionate consolidation under Canadian GAAP has no impact on the Company's net income, earnings per share, and shareholders' equity. 
	In addition, as a result of deconsolidating the E-Car partnership in accordance with ASC 810, the Company recorded its investment in the E-Car partnership at its fair value on August 31, 2010 and recognized a $16 million gain in income. 
	[b] Financialinstruments 
	Prior to redemption, the Company's subordinated debentures were recorded in part as debt and in part as shareholders' equity. Under U.S. GAAP, the subordinated debentures would be recorded entirely as debt. 
	[c] In-housetoolingandengineering 
	ForU.S. GAAPpurposes,in-houseengineeringserviceandtoolingcontractsenteredintopriortoJanuary1,2004,provided in conjunction with subsequent assembly or production activities, were regarded as a single arrangement. The revenue andtherelatedcostofgoodssoldfortheseactivitiesarerecognizedovertheestimatedlifeoftheassemblyorproduction arrangement. 
	[d] Stock-basedcompensation 
	UnderU.S. GAAPrulescontainedinAccountingStandardsCodification718, "Compensation -StockCompensation" ["ASC 718"] the Company is required to measure and record compensation expense for stock options and other share-based payments based on the instruments' fair value on the grant date. The standard requires the cost of awards to be recognized in the consolidated statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) over the vesting period. In addition, forfeitures are required to be estimated on the grant
	TheCompanyhadprospectivelyadoptedthenewCanadianGAAPrecommendationsrelatedtostock-basedcompensation foralloptionsgrantedtoemployeesonorafterJanuary1,2003. TheCanadianGAAPrecommendationsweresubstantially harmonized with the U.S. GAAP rules contained in ASC 718, which were also adopted by the Company prospectively for all options granted on or after January 1, 2003. 
	For options granted prior to January 1, 2003, the Company measures compensation cost prior to January 1, 2006 under 
	U.S. GAAP using the intrinsic value-based method of accounting as prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for StockIssuedtoEmployees" forawardsgrantedtoemployeesandthefairvalue-basedmethodofaccountingasprescribed by ASC 718 for awards granted to non-employees. The same treatment is applicable under Canadian GAAP but only for options granted between January 1, 2002 and December 31, 2002. 
	Under U.S. GAAP, the Company's restricted stock plans and restricted share unit plans granted on or after January 1, 2006areamortizedtocompensationexpenseoverthesubstantivevestingperiod. Thesubstantivevestingperiodforthe Company's restricted stock plans is the 4 year holding period, whereas under Canadian GAAP, the Company's restricted stock plans are amortized to compensation expense from the date of grant to the end of the four-year holding period and the 10 year release period. 
	[e] Cumulativetranslationadjustment 
	Under U.S. GAAP, Accounting Standards Codification 830, "Foreign Currency Matters" ["ASC 830"], the Company would only realize a gain or loss on the portion of the currency translation adjustment included as a separate component of the net investment in a foreign operation upon a sale or complete, or substantially complete, liquidation of the related investment. Under ASC 830, no gains or losses are recognized as a result of capital transactions, including the payment of dividends. Under Canadian GAAP, the 
	[f] Accountingforuncertaintaxpositions 
	ForU.S. GAAPpurposes,theCompanyappliesAccountingStandardsCodification740, "IncomeTaxes" ["ASC740"]which clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing a "more likely than not" minimum recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements, and clearly scopes income taxes out of Accounting Standards Codification 450, "Contingencies" ["ASC 450"]. ASC 740 also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement,classification, interestandpenalties,and
	Under ASC 740, uncertain tax positions for which the timing of their resolution is not expected in the current year should be recognized as long-term liabilities. 
	[g] Derivativeinstruments 
	The Company reviewed its other commercial contracts outstanding as at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 in relation to Accounting Standards Codification 815, "Derivatives and Hedging" ["ASC 815"] and determined that there are no embedded derivatives as defined therein. 
	[h] Pensionsandpostretirementbenefits 
	UnderU.S.GAAP,AccountingStandardsCodification715,"Compensation-RetirementBenefits"["ASC715"]theCompanyis requiredtorecognizethefundedstatusofeachdefinedbenefitpostemploymentplanonthebalancesheet.Theaggregated under funded plans are recognized as either a current liability or a non-current liability. The current liability is the amount by which the actuarial present value of benefits included in the benefit obligation in the next 12 months exceeds the fair value of plan assets, determined on a plan-by-plan b
	[i] Changeinreportingcurrency 
	Effective December 31, 1998, the Company changed its reporting currency to the U.S. dollar. Under Canadian GAAP, the Company'sconsolidatedfinancialstatementsforallperiodspresentedthroughDecember31, 1998weretranslatedfrom Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect at December 31, 1998, whereas for U.S. GAAP, the current rate method under ASC 830 was used. 
	[j] Relatedpartytransactions 
	For U.S. GAAP purposes, transfers of assets between entities under common control should be valued at historical cost or market, if lower. The difference between the carrying amount of the assets received and the consideration paid on acquisitions from MEC [note 25] is treated as a reduction in capital. 
	[k] BusinessCombinations 
	On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the new accounting principles for business combinations in Accounting Standards Codification 805 "Business Combinations" ["ASC 805"]. The principles change how an acquirer recognizes and measures assets acquired, liabilities assumed, non-controlling interest and goodwill in a business combination. Key changes include: (i) recognition of transaction costs in current period earnings; (ii) recognition of the estimated fair value ofall contingentconsiderationattheacquisit
	[l] The following tables present net income (loss) following U.S. GAAP: 
	2010 
	In-house Uncertain 
	In-house Uncertain 
	In-house Uncertain 
	Business 

	Canadiantoolingand 
	Canadiantoolingand 
	tax 
	combi-
	Consoli-
	U.S. 

	GAAPengineering positions 
	GAAPengineering positions 
	nations 
	dations 
	Other 
	GAAP 

	Sales 
	Sales 
	$24,102 
	$ 61 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	– 
	$ (721) 
	$ 
	– 
	$23,442 

	Costsandexpenses 
	Costsandexpenses 

	Cost of goods sold 
	Cost of goods sold 
	20,924 
	49 
	– 
	– 
	(520) 
	9 
	20,462 

	Depreciation and amortization 
	Depreciation and amortization 
	661 
	– 
	– 
	8 
	(12) 
	(1) 
	656 

	Selling, general and administrative 
	Selling, general and administrative 
	1,340 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(59) 
	(15) 
	1,266 

	Interest (income) expense, net 
	Interest (income) expense, net 
	(10) 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(1) 
	– 
	(11) 

	Equity income 
	Equity income 
	(33) 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(118) 
	– 
	(151) 

	Impairment charges 
	Impairment charges 
	23 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	23 

	Income (loss) from operations 
	Income (loss) from operations 

	before income taxes 
	before income taxes 
	1,197 
	12 
	– 
	(8) 
	(11) 
	7 
	1,197 

	Income taxes 
	Income taxes 
	236 
	– 
	(9) 
	(1) 
	(23) 
	(9) 
	194 

	Minority interest 
	Minority interest 
	(12) 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	12 
	– 
	– 

	Net income (loss) 
	Net income (loss) 
	973 
	12 
	9 
	(7) 
	– 
	16 
	1,003 

	Other comprehensive income (loss): 
	Other comprehensive income (loss): 

	Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) 
	Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) 

	on translation of net investment in 
	on translation of net investment in 

	foreign operations 
	foreign operations 
	18 
	– 
	– 
	(1) 
	– 
	3 
	20 

	Repurchase of shares 
	Repurchase of shares 
	(3) 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(3) 

	Net unrealized gains (losses) 
	Net unrealized gains (losses) 

	on cash flow hedges 
	on cash flow hedges 
	81 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	81 

	Net unrealized gains on 
	Net unrealized gains on 

	available-for-sale investments 
	available-for-sale investments 
	11 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	11 

	Reclassifcation of net (gains) losses on 
	Reclassifcation of net (gains) losses on 

	cash flow hedges to net income (loss) 
	cash flow hedges to net income (loss) 
	(28) 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(28) 

	Pension and post retirement benefits 
	Pension and post retirement benefits 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(14) 
	(14) 

	Comprehensiveincome(loss) 
	Comprehensiveincome(loss) 
	$ 1,052 
	$ 12 
	$ 
	9 
	$ 
	(8) 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	5 
	$ 1,070 


	2009 
	In-house Canadian tooling and GAAP engineering 
	In-house Canadian tooling and GAAP engineering 
	In-house Canadian tooling and GAAP engineering 
	Uncertain tax positions 
	Business combinations 
	-

	Consolidations 
	-

	Other 
	U.S. GAAP 

	Sales 
	Sales 
	$17,367 
	$ 87 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	(578) 
	$ 
	– 
	$16,876 

	Costsandexpenses Cost of goods sold Depreciation and amortization Selling, general and administrative Interest (income) expense, net Equity income Impairment charges 
	Costsandexpenses Cost of goods sold Depreciation and amortization Selling, general and administrative Interest (income) expense, net Equity income Impairment charges 
	15,697 737 1,261 7 (7) 183 
	72 – – – – – 
	– – – – – – 
	– 4 (34) – – – 
	(396) (14) (53) – (105) – 
	7 (2) (4) – – – 
	15,380 725 1,170 7 (112) 183 


	Income (loss) from operations 
	before income taxes (511) 15 – 30 (10) (1) (477) Income taxes (18) 6 – (1) (10) (1) (24) Minority interest – – – – – – – 
	Net income (loss) 
	Net income (loss) 
	Net income (loss) 
	(493) 
	9 
	– 
	31 
	– 
	– 
	(453) 

	Other comprehensive income (loss): 
	Other comprehensive income (loss): 

	Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) 
	Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) 

	on translation of net investment in 
	on translation of net investment in 

	foreign operations 
	foreign operations 
	407 
	(7) 
	– 
	1 
	– 
	(1) 
	400 

	Repurchase of shares 
	Repurchase of shares 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	Net unrealized gains (losses) 
	Net unrealized gains (losses) 

	on cash flow hedges 
	on cash flow hedges 
	41 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	41 

	Net unrealized gains on 
	Net unrealized gains on 

	available-for-sale investments 
	available-for-sale investments 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	Reclassifcation of net (gains) losses on 
	Reclassifcation of net (gains) losses on 

	cash flow hedges to net income (loss) 
	cash flow hedges to net income (loss) 
	59 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	59 

	Pension and post retirement benefits 
	Pension and post retirement benefits 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	15 
	15 

	Comprehensiveincome(loss) 
	Comprehensiveincome(loss) 
	$ 14 
	$ 
	2 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 32 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 14 
	$ 62 

	TR
	2008 

	TR
	In-house 
	Uncertain Cumulative 

	TR
	Canadian tooling and 
	tax 
	translation 
	Consoli-
	U.S. 

	TR
	GAAP engineering 
	positions adjustment 
	dations 
	Other 
	GAAP 

	Sales 
	Sales 
	$23,704 
	$ 82 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	(758) 
	$ 
	– 
	$23,028 

	Costsandexpenses 
	Costsandexpenses 

	Cost of goods sold 
	Cost of goods sold 
	20,982 
	76 
	– 
	– 
	(554) 
	58 
	20,562 

	Depreciation and amortization 
	Depreciation and amortization 
	873 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(14) 
	(1) 
	858 

	Selling, general and administrative 
	Selling, general and administrative 
	1,319 
	– 
	– 
	116 
	(38) 
	– 
	1,397 

	Interest (income) expense, net 
	Interest (income) expense, net 
	(62) 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(62) 

	Equity income 
	Equity income 
	(19) 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(139) 
	– 
	(158) 

	Impairment charges 
	Impairment charges 
	283 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	283 

	Income (loss) from operations 
	Income (loss) from operations 

	before income taxes 
	before income taxes 
	328 
	6 
	– 
	(116) 
	(13) 
	(57) 
	148 

	Income taxes 
	Income taxes 
	257 
	1 
	2 
	– 
	(13) 
	(58) 
	189 

	Minority interest 
	Minority interest 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	Net income (loss) 
	Net income (loss) 
	71 
	5 
	(2) 
	(116) 
	– 
	1 
	(41) 

	Other comprehensive income (loss): 
	Other comprehensive income (loss): 

	Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) 
	Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) 

	on translation of net investment in 
	on translation of net investment in 

	foreign operations 
	foreign operations 
	(881) 
	– 
	– 
	116 
	– 
	2 
	(763) 

	Repurchase of shares 
	Repurchase of shares 
	(32) 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(32) 

	Net unrealized gains (losses) 
	Net unrealized gains (losses) 

	on cash flow hedges 
	on cash flow hedges 
	(102) 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(102) 

	Net unrealized gains on 
	Net unrealized gains on 

	available-for-sale investments 
	available-for-sale investments 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	Reclassifcation of net (gains) losses on 
	Reclassifcation of net (gains) losses on 

	cash flow hedges to net income (loss) 
	cash flow hedges to net income (loss) 
	(1) 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(1) 

	Pension and post retirement benefits 
	Pension and post retirement benefits 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(57) 
	(57) 

	Comprehensiveincome(loss) 
	Comprehensiveincome(loss) 
	$ 
	(945) 
	$ 
	5 
	$ 
	(2) 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	(54) 
	$ 
	(996) 


	[m] Thefollowingtablepresentsearnings(loss)pershareinformation[restatedtoreflectthestocksplit [note3]]followingU.S. GAAP: 
	2010 2009 2008 
	Earnings(loss)perCommonorClassBShareunderU.S.GAAP: Basic Diluted 
	Earnings(loss)perCommonorClassBShareunderU.S.GAAP: Basic Diluted 
	Earnings(loss)perCommonorClassBShareunderU.S.GAAP: Basic Diluted 
	$ $ 
	4.36 4.30 
	$ $ 
	(2.03) (2.03) 
	$ $ 
	(0.18) (0.18) 

	Earnings (loss) per share data were computed as follows: 
	Earnings (loss) per share data were computed as follows: 

	Basicearnings(loss)perCommonorClassBShare: 
	Basicearnings(loss)perCommonorClassBShare: 

	Net (loss) income under U.S. GAAP 
	Net (loss) income under U.S. GAAP 
	$ 
	1,003 
	$ 
	(453) 
	$ 
	(41) 

	Average number of Common and Class B Shares outstanding during the year 
	Average number of Common and Class B Shares outstanding during the year 
	230.0 
	223.6 
	225.6 

	Basic earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share 
	Basic earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share 
	$ 
	4.36 
	$ 
	(2.03) 
	$ 
	(0.18) 

	Dilutedearnings(loss)perCommonorClassBShare: 
	Dilutedearnings(loss)perCommonorClassBShare: 

	Net income (loss) under U.S. GAAP 
	Net income (loss) under U.S. GAAP 
	$ 
	1,003 
	$ 
	(453) 
	$ 
	(41) 


	Average number of Common and Class B Shares 
	Average number of Common and Class B Shares 
	Average number of Common and Class B Shares 

	outstanding during the year 
	outstanding during the year 
	230.0 
	223.6 
	225.6 

	Adjustment for stock options 
	Adjustment for stock options 
	3.0 
	– 
	– 

	TR
	233.0 
	223.6 
	225.6 


	Diluted earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share 
	Diluted earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share 
	Diluted earnings (loss) per Common or Class B Share 
	$ 4.30 
	$ 
	(2.03) 
	$ 
	(0.18) 

	[n] The following tables present cash flows following U.S. GAAP: 
	[n] The following tables present cash flows following U.S. GAAP: 

	TR
	Canadian GAAP 
	2010 Consolidations 
	U.S. GAAP 

	Cashfromoperatingactivities 
	Cashfromoperatingactivities 
	$ 1,872 
	$ 
	(103) 
	$ 
	1,769 

	Cashusedforinvestmentactivities 
	Cashusedforinvestmentactivities 
	(744) 
	106 
	(638) 

	Cashusedforfinancingactivities 
	Cashusedforfinancingactivities 
	(355) 
	(160) 
	(515) 

	Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
	Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
	(2) 
	(2) 
	(4) 

	Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year Cashandcashequivalents,endofyear 
	Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year Cashandcashequivalents,endofyear 
	771 1,334 $ 2,105 
	$ 
	(159) (65) (224) 
	$ 
	612 1,269 1,881 

	TR
	Canadian GAAP 
	2009 Consolidations 
	U.S. GAAP 

	Cashfromoperatingactivities 
	Cashfromoperatingactivities 
	$ 527 
	$ 
	(12) 
	$ 
	515 

	Cashusedforinvestmentactivities 
	Cashusedforinvestmentactivities 
	(876) 
	17 
	(859) 

	Cashusedforfinancingactivities 
	Cashusedforfinancingactivities 
	(1,164) 
	7 
	(1,157) 

	Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
	Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
	90 
	(7) 
	83 

	Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the year Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year Cashandcashequivalents,endofyear 
	Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the year Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year Cashandcashequivalents,endofyear 
	(1,423) 2,757 $ 1,334 
	$ 
	5 (70) (65) 
	$ 
	(1,418) 2,687 1,269 


	2008 
	Canadian 
	Canadian 
	Canadian 
	U.S. 

	GAAP 
	GAAP 
	Consolidations 
	GAAP 

	Cashfromoperatingactivities 
	Cashfromoperatingactivities 
	$ 1,054 
	$ 
	(2) 
	$ 1,052 

	Cashusedforinvestmentactivities 
	Cashusedforinvestmentactivities 
	(1,063) 
	7 
	(1,056) 

	Cashprovidedfromfinancingactivities 
	Cashprovidedfromfinancingactivities 
	89 
	(5) 
	84 

	Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
	Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
	(277) 
	8 
	(269) 

	Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the year 
	Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the year 
	(197) 
	8 
	(189) 

	Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 
	Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 
	2,954 
	(78) 
	2,876 

	Cashandcashequivalents,endofyear 
	Cashandcashequivalents,endofyear 
	$ 2,757 
	$ 
	(70) 
	$ 2,687 


	[o] The following tables indicate the significant items in the consolidated balance sheets that would have been affected had the consolidated financial statements been prepared under U.S. GAAP: 
	2010 
	Pensions 
	Pensions 
	Pensions 

	In-house Uncertain 
	In-house Uncertain 
	andpost 

	Canadian toolingand 
	Canadian toolingand 
	tax retirement 
	Consoli-
	U.S. 

	GAAPengineering positions 
	GAAPengineering positions 
	benefits 
	dations 
	Other 
	GAAP 

	ASSETS 
	ASSETS 

	Currentassets 
	Currentassets 

	Cash and cash equivalents 
	Cash and cash equivalents 
	$ 2,105 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	– 
	$ (224) 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 1,881 

	Accounts receivable 
	Accounts receivable 
	3,645 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(117) 
	– 
	3,528 

	Inventories 
	Inventories 
	1,896 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(74) 
	– 
	1,822 

	Income taxes receivable 
	Income taxes receivable 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	Prepaid expenses and other 
	Prepaid expenses and other 
	168 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(6) 
	– 
	162 

	TR
	7,814 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(421) 
	– 
	7,393 

	Investments 
	Investments 
	277 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	282 
	16 
	575 

	Fixed assets, net 
	Fixed assets, net 
	3,889 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(141) 
	(6) 
	3,742 

	Goodwill 
	Goodwill 
	1,188 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	6 
	1,194 

	Future tax assets 
	Future tax assets 
	150 
	– 
	(4) 
	2 
	– 
	– 
	148 

	Other assets 
	Other assets 
	580 
	– 
	– 
	22 
	30 
	– 
	632 

	$13,898 
	$13,898 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	(4) 
	$ 24 
	$ (250) 
	$ 16 
	$13,684 

	LIABILITIESANDEQUITY 
	LIABILITIESANDEQUITY 

	Currentliabilities 
	Currentliabilities 

	Bank indebtedness 
	Bank indebtedness 
	$ 26 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	(6) 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 20 

	Accounts payable 
	Accounts payable 
	3,586 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(107) 
	– 
	3,479 

	Accrued salaries and wages 
	Accrued salaries and wages 
	462 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(17) 
	– 
	445 

	Other accrued liabilities 
	Other accrued liabilities 
	909 
	1 
	– 
	8 
	(20) 
	– 
	898 

	Income taxes payable 
	Income taxes payable 
	192 
	– 
	(129) 
	– 
	(8) 
	– 
	55 

	Long-term debt due within one year 
	Long-term debt due within one year 
	25 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(6) 
	– 
	19 

	TR
	5,200 
	1 
	(129) 
	8 
	(164) 
	– 
	4,916 

	Deferred revenue 
	Deferred revenue 
	15 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	15 

	Long-term debt 
	Long-term debt 
	46 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(5) 
	– 
	41 

	Other long-term liabilities 
	Other long-term liabilities 
	367 
	– 
	116 
	73 
	(4) 
	– 
	552 

	Future tax liabilities 
	Future tax liabilities 
	131 
	– 
	– 
	5 
	(6) 
	4 
	134 

	TR
	5,759 
	1 
	(13) 
	86 
	(179) 
	4 
	5,658 

	Minority interest 
	Minority interest 
	74 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(71) 
	(3) 
	– 

	Shareholders'equity 
	Shareholders'equity 

	Common Shares 
	Common Shares 
	4,335 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	165 
	4,500 

	Contributed surplus 
	Contributed surplus 
	85 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	(29) 
	56 

	Retained earnings 
	Retained earnings 
	2,725 
	7 
	9 
	(4) 
	– 
	(22) 
	2,715 

	Accumulated other comprehensive income 
	Accumulated other comprehensive income 
	920 
	(8) 
	– 
	(58) 
	– 
	(102) 
	752 

	TR
	8,065 
	(1) 
	9 
	(62) 
	– 
	12 
	8,023 

	Non-controlling interest 
	Non-controlling interest 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	– 
	3 
	3 

	TR
	8,065 
	(1) 
	9 
	(62) 
	– 
	15 
	8,026 

	TR
	$13,898 
	$ 
	– 
	$ 
	(4) 
	$ 24 
	$ (250) 
	$ 16 
	$13,684 
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	84 


	2009 
	Table
	TR
	Pensions In-house Uncertain and post Canadian tooling and tax retirement GAAP engineering positions benefits 
	Consolidations 
	-

	Other 
	U.S. GAAP 

	ASSETS Currentassets Cash and cash equivalents Accounts receivable Inventories Income taxes receivable Prepaid expenses and other 
	ASSETS Currentassets Cash and cash equivalents Accounts receivable Inventories Income taxes receivable Prepaid expenses and other 
	$ 1,334 $ – $ – $ – 3,062 – – – 1,721 – – – 50 – 125 – 136 – – – 6,303 – 125 – 
	$ (65) (79) (56) 4 (4) (200) 
	$ – – – – – – 
	$ 1,269 2,983 1,665 179 132 6,228 

	Investments Fixed assets, net Goodwill Future tax assets Other assets 
	Investments Fixed assets, net Goodwill Future tax assets Other assets 
	238 – – – 3,811 – – – 1,132 – – – 168 – (3) 6 651 – – 23 $12,303 $ – $ 122 $ 29 
	145 (69) – – 32 $ (92) 
	– (1) 6 – – $ 5 
	383 3,741 1,138 171 706 $12,367 

	LIABILITIESANDEQUITY Currentliabilities Bank indebtedness Accounts payable Accrued salaries and wages Other accrued liabilities Income taxes payable Long-term debt due within one year 
	LIABILITIESANDEQUITY Currentliabilities Bank indebtedness Accounts payable Accrued salaries and wages Other accrued liabilities Income taxes payable Long-term debt due within one year 
	$ 48 $ – $ – $ – 3,001 – – – 372 – – – 862 13 – 6 – – – – 16 – – – 4,299 13 – 6 
	$ (3) (56) (11) (14) – (2) (86) 
	$ – – – – – – – 
	$ 45 2,945 361 867 – 14 4,232 

	Deferred revenue Long-term debt Other long-term liabilities Future tax liabilities 
	Deferred revenue Long-term debt Other long-term liabilities Future tax liabilities 
	19 – – – 115 – – – 369 – 122 67 141 – – 4 4,943 13 122 77 
	– (5) (1) – (92) 
	– – – 5 5 
	19 110 557 150 5,068 

	Minority interest 
	Minority interest 
	– – – – 
	– 
	– 
	– 

	Shareholders'equity Common Shares Contributed surplus Retained earnings Accumulated other comprehensive income 
	Shareholders'equity Common Shares Contributed surplus Retained earnings Accumulated other comprehensive income 
	3,613 – – – 63 – – – 2,843 (5) – (4) 841 (8) – (44) 
	– – – – 
	166 (31) (31) (104) 
	3,779 32 2,803 685 


	7,360 (13) – (48) – – 7,299 Non-controlling interest – – – – – – – 
	7,360 (13) – (48) – – 7,299 
	$12,303 $ – $ 122 $ 29 $ (92) $ 5 $12,367 
	29. SUBSEQUENTEVENTS 
	On February 8, 2011, the majority shareholder of a company in which Magna has a 40% equity interest, exercised its option to purchase Magna's equity interest. During 2010, Magna recorded equity income of $23 million from this investment and as at December 31, 2010 the carrying value of Magna's 40% investment was $125 million. Proceeds from disposition are projected to exceed Magna's carrying value and closing of the transaction is expected to occur during the first half of 2011. 
	30. COMPARATIVEFIGURES 
	Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's method of presentation. 
	MAGNAINTERNATIONALINC. 
	SupplementaryFinancialandShareInformation 
	FINANCIALSUMMARY 
	(U.S. dollars in millions, except per share figures) (unaudited) 
	Years ended December 31, 
	Years ended December 31, 
	Years ended December 31, 

	2010 
	2010 
	2009 
	2008 
	2007 
	2006 
	2005 
	2004 
	2003 
	2002 
	2001 

	Total sales 
	Total sales 
	24,102 
	17,367 
	23,704 
	26,067 
	24,180 
	22,811 
	20,653 
	15,345 
	12,422 
	10,507 

	Depreciation and amortization 
	Depreciation and amortization 
	661 
	737 
	873 
	872 
	790 
	711 
	598 
	506 
	423 
	399 

	Net income (loss) from continuing operations 
	Net income (loss) from continuing operations 
	973 
	(493) 
	71 
	663 
	528 
	639 
	676 
	567 
	556 
	511 

	Net income (loss) 
	Net income (loss) 
	973 
	(493) 
	71 
	663 
	528 
	639 
	676 
	500 
	540 
	515 

	Diluted earnings (loss) per Share 
	Diluted earnings (loss) per Share 

	from continuing operations (restated) 
	from continuing operations (restated) 
	4.18 
	(2.21) 
	0.31 
	2.93 
	2.39 
	2.95 
	3.48 
	2.95 
	3.12 
	3.03 

	Diluted earnings (loss) per Share (restated) 
	Diluted earnings (loss) per Share (restated) 
	4.18 
	(2.21) 
	0.31 
	2.93 
	2.39 
	2.95 
	3.48 
	2.60 
	3.03 
	3.05 

	Average number of shares outstanding (restated) 
	Average number of shares outstanding (restated) 
	230.0 
	223.6 
	225.6 
	222.8 
	217.2 
	213.4 
	193.4 
	191.8 
	177.4 
	160.2 

	Cash dividends paid per share (restated) 
	Cash dividends paid per share (restated) 
	0.42 
	0.09 
	0.63 
	0.58 
	0.76 
	0.76 
	0.74 
	0.68 
	0.68 
	0.68 

	Cash flow from operations 
	Cash flow from operations 
	1,872 
	527 
	1,054 
	1,593 
	1,596 
	1,698 
	1,381 
	1,184 
	1,404 
	934 

	Capital expenditures 
	Capital expenditures 
	784 
	629 
	739 
	741 
	793 
	848 
	859 
	801 
	833 
	486 

	Working capital 
	Working capital 
	2,614 
	2,004 
	2,258 
	3,112 
	2,277 
	2,215 
	2,183 
	1,937 
	1,433 
	1,314 

	Fixed assets, net 
	Fixed assets, net 
	3,889 
	3,811 
	3,701 
	4,307 
	4,114 
	4,124 
	3,967 
	3,313 
	3,676 
	3,020 

	Total assets 
	Total assets 
	13,898 
	12,303 
	13,189 
	15,343 
	13,154 
	12,321 
	11,615 
	9,871 
	8,910 
	6,939 

	Long-term debt 
	Long-term debt 
	46 
	115 
	143 
	337 
	605 
	700 
	984 
	766 
	608 
	945 

	Shareholders' equity 
	Shareholders' equity 
	8,065 
	7,360 
	7,363 
	8,642 
	7,157 
	6,565 
	5,335 
	4,533 
	5,095 
	3,829 

	Long-term debt to equity ratio 
	Long-term debt to equity ratio 
	0.01:1 
	0.02:1 
	0.02:1 
	0.04:1 
	0.08:1 
	0.11:1 
	0.18:1 
	0.17:1 
	0.12:1 
	0.25:1 


	ShareInformation 
	TheCommonSharesarelistedandtradedinCanadaontheTorontoStockExchange("TSX")andintheUnitedStatesontheNewYork Stock Exchange ("NYSE"). As of February 28, 2011, there were 1,693 registered holders of Common Shares. 
	DistributionofSharesheldbyRegisteredShareholders 
	DistributionofSharesheldbyRegisteredShareholders 
	DistributionofSharesheldbyRegisteredShareholders 

	Common 
	Common 

	Canada 
	Canada 
	84.8% 

	United States 
	United States 
	14.8% 

	Other 
	Other 
	0.4% 


	Dividends 
	Dividends for 2010 on Magna's Common Shares [formerly Class A Subordinate Voting Shares] were paid on each of June 15, September 15 and December 15, 2010, at the rate of US$0.18, US$0.30 and US$0.18 [post-stock split]. Dividends for 2010 on Magna's Class B Shares were paid on June 15, 2010 only, at the rate of US$0.18. Magna's Class B Shares were cancelled on August31,2010,andwerethereforenoteligibleforanyfurtherdividends.Magna'sdividendshavebeendesignatedas"eligibledividends" for purposes of subsection 89(
	www.magna.com

	PriceRangeofShares 
	The following table sets forth, for the years indicated, the high and low sale prices and volumes of Common Shares traded in each case as reported by the TSX and NYSE, respectively. 
	CommonShares(TSX)(Cdn$) YearendedDecember31,2010 Year ended December 31, 2009 
	Quarter 
	Quarter 
	Quarter 
	Volume 
	High 
	Low 
	Volume 
	High 
	Low 

	1st 
	1st 
	38,306,240 
	32.42 
	26.55 
	40,554,134 
	21.16 
	12.72 

	2nd 
	2nd 
	54,752,790 
	39.41 
	31.23 
	46,892,510 
	24.69 
	16.24 

	3rd 
	3rd 
	41,300,522 
	44.97 
	32.75 
	38,452,210 
	27.63 
	21.84 

	4th 
	4th 
	32,649,723 
	53.88 
	41.49 
	38,348,792 
	27.33 
	21.02 

	CommonShares(NYSE)(U.S.$) 
	CommonShares(NYSE)(U.S.$) 

	YearendedDecember31,2010 
	YearendedDecember31,2010 
	Year ended December 31, 2009 

	Quarter 
	Quarter 
	Volume 
	High 
	Low 
	Volume 
	High 
	Low 

	1st 
	1st 
	80,628,814 
	31.82 
	25.58 
	130,770,298 
	17.92 
	9.82 

	2nd 
	2nd 
	126,099,390 
	38.23 
	30.84 
	144,994,694 
	21.25 
	12.81 

	3rd 
	3rd 
	89,129,494 
	43.11 
	30.98 
	96,810,818 
	25.98 
	20.04 

	4th 
	4th 
	65,690,113 
	52.98 
	40.52 
	91,780,676 
	25.98 
	19.50 


	Magna's Common Shares began trading on a 2-for-1 split basis on November 12, 2010 on the TSX and on November 26, 2010 on the NYSE. 
	All numbers havebeenrestatedtoreflecttrading pricesandvolumes, asifthe stock splitappliedfor theentire years 2009and2010. 
	Corporate Directory 
	Directors Executive Officers 
	Frank Stronach 
	Chairman 
	Michael D. Harris 
	Lead Director 
	J. Trevor Eyton Lady Barbara Judge Louis E. Lataif Donald Resnick Franz Vranitzky Donald J. Walker Lawrence D. Worrall 
	Corporate Office 
	Frank Stronach 
	Chairman of the Board 
	Donald J. Walker 
	Chief Executive Officer 
	Vincent J. Galifi 
	Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer 
	Jeffrey O. Palmer 
	Executive Vice-President and Chief Legal Officer 
	Other Officers 
	Günther Apfalter 
	President, Magna Europe 
	Manfred Eibeck 
	Executive Vice-President, Magna Europe and President, Magna Russia 
	Herbert H. Demel 
	Executive Vice-President and President, Magna China, India, South East Asia, South America and Africa 
	Marc J. Neeb 
	Executive Vice-President, Global Human Resources 
	Alon S. Ossip 
	Executive Vice-President 
	James J. Tobin, Sr. 
	Chief Marketing Officer and President, Magna Japan and Korea 
	Tom J. Skudutis 
	Chief Operating Officer, Exteriors, Interiors, Seating, Mirrors and Closures 
	Burkhard Göschel 
	Chief Technology Officer 
	Magna International Inc. 
	337 Magna Drive Aurora, Ontario Canada L4G 7K1 Telephone: (905) 726-2462 
	www.magna.com 

	Transfer Agent and Registrar 
	Paul H. Brock 
	Vice-President and Treasurer 
	Gary M. Cohn 
	Vice-President, Mergers and Acquisitions 
	Patrick McCann 
	Vice-President, Finance 
	Robert D. Merkley 
	Vice-President, Internal Audit 
	Scott E. Paradise 
	Vice-President, Marketing and New Business Development – The Americas 
	Thomas A. Schultheiss 
	Thomas A. Schultheiss 
	Thomas A. Schultheiss 
	Louis B. Tonelli 

	Vice-President and 
	Vice-President and 
	Vice-President, 

	General Counsel – Europe 
	General Counsel – Europe 
	Investor Relations 

	Bassem A. Shakeel 
	Bassem A. Shakeel 
	David M. Williamson 

	Vice-President and Secretary 
	Vice-President and Secretary 
	Vice-President, Taxation 

	Michael G.R. Sinnaeve 
	Michael G.R. Sinnaeve 
	Robert Cecutti 

	Vice-President, Operational 
	Vice-President, Operational 
	Controller 

	Improvement and Quality – 
	Improvement and Quality – 

	The Americas 
	The Americas 

	Riccardo C. Trecroce 
	Riccardo C. Trecroce 

	Vice-President and General 
	Vice-President and General 

	Counsel – North America 
	Counsel – North America 

	Exchange Listings 
	Exchange Listings 


	Computershare Trust Company of Canada 
	Computershare Trust Company of Canada 
	Computershare Trust Company of Canada 
	Computershare Trust Company N.A. 
	Common Shares 

	100 University Avenue, 9th Floor 
	100 University Avenue, 9th Floor 
	250 Royall Street 
	Toronto Stock Exchange 
	MG 

	Toronto, Ontario, Canada  M5J 2Y1 
	Toronto, Ontario, Canada  M5J 2Y1 
	Canton, MA, USA 02021 
	New York Stock Exchange 
	MGA 

	Telephone: 1-800-564-6253 
	Telephone: 1-800-564-6253 
	Telephone: (781) 575-3120 

	www.computershare.com 
	www.computershare.com 


	As a "foreign private issuer" listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), Magna is required to disclose the significant ways in which our corporate governance practices differ from those to be followed by U.S. domestic issuers under the NYSE listing standards. Please see the corporate governance section of our website () for our Statement of Significant Corporate Governance Differences (NYSE). Additionally, please refer to the Management Information Circular/Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of 
	www.magna.com

	Shareholders wishing to communicate with the non-management members of the Magna Board of Directors may do so by contacting the Lead Director through the office of Magna's Secretary at 337 Magna Drive, Aurora, Ontario, Canada L4G 7K1 (905) 726-7072.  
	Shareholders wishing to obtain a copy of Magna's Notice of Intention to Make a Normal Course Issuer Bid, referred to in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this Annual Report may also do so by contacting Magna's Corporate Secretary.  
	The 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders 
	The 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at Hilton Suites Toronto/Markham Conference Centre, 8500 Warden Avenue, Markham, Ontario, Canada on Wednesday, May 4, 2011 commencing at 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) 
	2010 Annual Report 
	Additional copies of this 2010 Annual Report or copies of our quarterly reports may be obtained from: The Secretary, Magna International Inc., 337 Magna Drive, Aurora, Ontario, Canada L4G 7K1 or . Copies of financial data and other publicly filed documents are available through the internet on the Canadian Securities Administrators' System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) which can be accessed at  and on the United States Securities and Exchange Commission's Electronic Data Gathering, 
	www.magna.com
	www.sedar.com
	www.sec.gov. 
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